
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Yolande Myers 
 

Email: yolande.myers@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Monday 3 October 2022 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Cabinet 
 

The Cabinet will meet in the Council Chamber - Town Hall, Huddersfield at 

3.00 pm on Tuesday 11 October 2022. 
 
This meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the Council’s 
website at the time of the meeting and follow the instructions on the page. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 

Cabinet Members:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Member Responsible For: 

Councillor Shabir Pandor 
 

Leader of the Council 
 
 

Councillor Paul Davies 
 

Cabinet Member - Corporate 
 
 

Councillor Eric Firth 
 

Cabinet Member - Transport 
 
 

Councillor Viv Kendrick 
 

Cabinet Member - Children (Statutory responsibility for 
Children) 
 
 

Councillor Musarrat Khan 
 

Cabinet Member - Health and Social Care 
 
 

Councillor Naheed Mather 
 

Cabinet Member - Environment 
 
 

Councillor Carole Pattison 
 

Cabinet Member for Learning, Aspiration and Communities 
 
 

Councillor Cathy Scott 
 

Deputy Group Leader and Cabinet Member - Housing and 
Democracy 
 
 

Councillor Will Simpson 
 

Labour - Secretary & Cabinet Member - Culture and 
Greener Kirklees 
 
 

Councillor Graham Turner 
 

Cabinet Member - Regeneration 
 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of Cabinet 
 
To receive apologies for absence from Cabinet Members who are 
unable to attend this meeting. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Declarations of Interest 
 
Cabinet Members will be asked to advise if there are any items on 
the Agenda in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
which would prevent them from participating in any discussion or 
participating in a vote upon the item, or any other interests. 
 

 
 

1 - 2 

3:   Minutes of Previous Meetings 
 
To approve the Minutes of the Meetings of the Cabinet held on 5 
September and 21 September 2022.  
 

 
 

3 - 14 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items will be considered in public session, however, it 
shall be advised whether Cabinet will consider any matters in 
private, by virtue of the reports containing information which falls 
within a category of exempt information as contained at Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Cabinet will receive any petitions and hear any deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities. 

 



 

 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 
Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation. 
 

 
 

6:   Questions by Members of the Public 
 
To receive any public questions. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11 (5), the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes.  
 
 
 

 
 

 

7:   Questions by Elected Members (Oral Questions) 
 
Cabinet will receive any questions from Elected Members. 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule 2.3 (2.3.1.6) a period 
of up to 30 minutes will be allocated.  
 

 
 

 

8:   Kirklees Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise) 
Investment Strategy and 'We are Working Alongside' 
Shared Values 
 
To consider the approval of the Kirklees VCSE Investment Strategy 
and ‘We are Working Alongside’ shared values. 
 
Contact: Noreen Abbas, Community Investment Manager 
 

 
 

15 - 58 

9:   Food Safety Service Plan 2022 
 
To consider the approval of the Food Safety Service Plan 2022. 
 
Contact: Judith Stones, Public Protection and Environmental Health 
 

 
 

59 - 100 

10:   Proposals for Additional Household Support in 2022/23 
 
To consider the approval of proposals to provide support for 
households in 2022/23. 

101 - 
106 



 

 

 
Contact: Julian Hobson, Welfare and Exchequer Services  
 

 
 

11:   2022/23 - 2023/24 Corporate Landlord Asset Investment 
Capital Plans - Proposed Allocation of Capital Funding 
 
To consider the approval of the proposed allocation of capital 
funding. 
 
Contact: David Martin, Corporate Landlord and Capital  
 

 
 

107 - 
118 

12:   UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
 
To consider the approval of the Kirklees UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
Programme. 
 
Contact: Chris Duffill, Head of Business, Economy and Growth 
 

 
 

119 - 
130 

13:   The refurbishment and redevelopment of the George in 
Huddersfield Town Centre to transform this building into 
a new hotel as part of the Huddersfield Blueprint 
 
To consider approval of the redevelopment of the George Hotel site. 
 
Contact: Sarah Collins, Programme Manager – Town Centres  
 

 
 

131 - 
218 

14:   Fieldhouse, 15, Wellington Road Dewsbury - Grant offer 
to Mood Developments Limited/Station Apartments 
Limited 
 
To consider the approval of grant support for the Fieldhouse project.  
 
Contact: Peter Thompson, Economic Resilience  
 

 
 

219 - 
248 

15:   Exclusion of the Public 
 
To resolve that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following item of business, on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in Part 1 of 

 



 

 

Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 
 

16.   Fieldhouse, 15, Wellington Road Dewsbury - Grant offer 
to Mood Developments Limited/Station Apartments 
Limited  
 
(Exempt information in accordance with Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 namely it contains information 
relating to the financial and business affairs of third parties (including 
the Authority holding that information).  It is considered that the 
disclosure of the information would adversely prejudice those third 
parties commercial interests including the Authority and therefore the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption, which would protect the 
rights of an individual or the Authority, outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information and providing greater openness and 
transparency in relation to public expenditure in the Authority’s decision 
making.)   
 
Exempt information in relation to Agenda Item 14. 
 

249 - 
252 

17.   The refurbishment and redevelopment of the George in 
Huddersfield Town Centre to transform this building into 
a new hotel as part of the Huddersfield Blueprint  
 
(Exempt information in accordance with Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 namely it contains information 
relating to the financial and business affairs of third parties (including 
the Authority holding that information).  It is considered that the 
disclosure of the information would adversely prejudice those third 
parties commercial interests including the Authority and therefore the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption, which would protect the 
rights of an individual or the Authority, outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information and providing greater openness and 
transparency in relation to public expenditure in the Authority’s decision 
making.)  
 
Exempt information in relation to Agenda Item 13. 
 

253 - 
342 

 
 



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2:



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 2



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Monday 5th September 2022 
 
Present: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Davies 

Councillor Eric Firth 
Councillor Viv Kendrick 
Councillor Musarrat Khan 
Councillor Naheed Mather 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Will Simpson 
Councillor Graham Turner 

  
Observers: Councillor John Taylor  
   
Apologies: Councillor Cathy Scott 
 

 
50 Membership of Cabinet 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor Scott. 
 

51 Minutes of Previous Meetings 
RESOLVED - That the Minutes of the Meetings held on 26 July 2022 and 9 August 
2022 be approved as a correct record. 
 

52 Declarations of Interest 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

53 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

54 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

55 Questions by Members of the Public 
No questions were asked. 
 

56 Questions by Elected Members (Oral Questions) 
Cabinet received the following oral questions, in accordance with the provision of 
Executive Procedure Rule 2.3; 
 
Question from Councillor J Taylor 
 
“We’ve recently seen the announcement from the Mayor of West Yorkshire about 
the £2 maximum fare for buses, which is great, its good to see the government is 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3:



Cabinet -  5 September 2022 
 

2 
 

also funding a freeze on bus prices of £2 during the winter period, but for people to 
benefit from that they need buses in the first place. Farnley Tyas, Stocksmoor and 
Thurstonland currently have no buses. My question is, is the Council aware of that 
and what are we doing to work with and lobby WYCA to make sure some provision 
is provided for people who are very isolated?” 
 
A response was provided by the Leader of the Council. 
 
Question from Councillor J Taylor  
 
“One of the things that the Democracy Commission was about to look at pre covid 
was the relationships with Parish and Town Councils. We do have an agreement 
with Town and Parish Councils but it is probably long overdue a refresh. We are 
coming up to elections for Town and Parish Councils and I wondered what plans 
Councillor Scott has, as Chair of the Democracy Commission, to pick up that piece 
of work again? In terms of cost of living, there is potentially a role for Town and 
Parish Councils as well as ourselves.” 
 
A response was provided by the Leader of the Council. 
 

57 Update of the medium term financial plan 2023-24 and following years 
Cabinet gave consideration to the Council budget strategy update, prior to the 
submission of the report to Cabinet on 7 September 2022, which set out the 
framework for the subsequent budget setting process and future financial planning. 
 
Cabinet noted that the report reflected upon financial challenges which had arisen in 
recent months, and forecast the impact upon the Council’s future planning. The 
report advised that the financial settlement during the Autumn, and the potential for 
an emerging national spending review would have a significant impact upon any 
assumptions.  
 
The report provided an overview of the national context, including the UK economic 
outlook, national government policy developments, financial planning framework 
2023/2024, government funding changes and cost of living pressures. 
 
It was noted that work would continue to take place to reduce the in-year forecast 
£18.8m general fund revenue overspend as far as possible and that the updated 
budget plans provided the planning framework to deliver a balanced budget for 
2023/2024, indicative forward plan budget forecasts, and updated multi year capital 
plans and associated funding. Appendix D to the report set out the key budget 
timetable milestones.  
 
The following amendments to the considered report were noted during the meeting; 
(i) para.1.5.2 to read ‘… additional pressure in 2022/2023 on energy costs’ and (ii) 
para. 1.5.4 to read ‘…increase more incrementally at 10%...’ 
 
RESOLVED - That the report be referred to the meeting of Council on 7 September 
2022 with a recommendation that; 
 

Page 4



Cabinet -  5 September 2022 
 

3 
 

1) The funding and spend assumptions informing the updated budget forecasts 
as set out in the report, including the minimum usable reserve requirement 
advised by the S151 officer, being £47m (para 2.2.7 refers), and the budget 
gap figures (para 1.3.9 refers), be noted. 

2) That the current and forecast earmarked reserves and general balances as 
set out at Appendix A be noted. 

3) That approval be given to the financial planning framework (section 1.3 
refers) for the general fund revenue and Housing Revenue Account (section 
1.9 refers). 

4) That approval be given to the financial planning framework for general fund 
and HRA capital (section 1.10 refers). 

5) That the corporate budget timetable, as set out at Appendix D to the report, 
refers. 

6) That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council, 
in consultation with the Director of Finance and Corporate portfolio holder, to 
consider expression of interest to continue to participate in the Leeds City 
Region business rate pool for 2023/2024, by the Government deadline of 22 
September 2022. 

7) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Environment and 
Climate Change) in consultation with the Cabinet Member (Corporate 
Services), the Service Director (Finance) and the Service Director (Legal, 
Governance and Commissioning), to conclude contract negotiations and, on 
behalf of the Council, enter into a new contractual arrangement in a timely 
manner for Council electricity supplies either directly or through a preferred 
broker, from 1 April 2023 onwards. (Delegated authority is requested to (i) re-
procure the Council’s electricity supply contract via a call off from a 
framework from an established central purchasing body and (ii) grant 
authority to award a contract for the Council’s electricity supply from April 
2023). 

8) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Corporate Strategy, 
Commissioning and Public Health) to agree the approach to budget 
consultation and relevant timescales in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
(Corporate Services). 

 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Wednesday 21st September 2022 
 
Present: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Davies 

Councillor Eric Firth 
Councillor Viv Kendrick 
Councillor Musarrat Khan 
Councillor Cathy Scott 
Councillor Will Simpson 
Councillor Graham Turner 

  
Observers: Councillor Bill Armer 

Councillor David Hall 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal  

   
Apologies: Councillor Naheed Mather 

Councillor Carole Pattison 
 

 
58 Membership of Cabinet 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Mather and Pattison. 
 

59 Declarations of Interest 
No interests were declared. 
 

60 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that exempt information was submitted in relation to Agenda Items 15 
and 16 (Minute No.s 72 and 73 refer). 
 

61 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

62 Questions by Members of the Public 
No questions were asked. 
 

63 Questions by Elected Members (Oral Questions) 
Cabinet the following received oral questions under the provision of Executive 
Procedure Rule 2.3; 
 
Question from Councillor Armer  
 
“In recent years in my ward of Kirkburton, we’ve witnessed two unauthorised 
encampments by members of the travelling community, one of which was on a 
Kirklees play area. Given recent changes to the law relating to such encampments, 

Page 7



Cabinet -  21 September 2022 
 

2 
 

in what ways has the Council reviewed its policies, especially in liaising with police 
to regain early possession of KMC land?” 
 
A response was provided by the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services (Councillor 
P Davies). 
 
Question from Councillor D Hall 
 
“With regards to the recent announcements to bus changes, which have heavily 
affected my ward, has Kirklees been consulted about any of these changes, the 
public don’t seem to have been consulted?” 
 
A response was provided by the Leader of the Council. 
 

64 Communities Partnership Plan 2022-2027 (Reference to Council) 
Cabinet received the Kirklees Communities Partnership Plan 2022-2027. The report 
provided an overview of the plan and set out the key priorities of (i) reducing 
violence and tackling exploitation and abuse (ii) reducing anti-social behaviour and 
neighbourhood crime (iii) building resilient and inclusive communities and (iv) 
reducing risk. It was noted that the priorities were aimed at making Kirklees 
communities safer and more cohesive. The report sought the endorsement of 
Cabinet of the proposed plan, prior to its submission to Council on 12 October. 

 
Cabinet were advised that the 2018-2021 Communities Partnership Plan had 
expired and that the newly plan had been developed using insight, data and 
analysis from the most recent partnership strategic intelligence assessment, and 
engagement with stakeholders and partners. It was noted that the plan had been 
agreed by the Communities Board on 14 June 2022 and that it was intended for the 
Board to review the document on a quarterly basis, and that there would be an 
annual review of the plan in response to the strategic intelligence assessment.  
 
RESOLVED – 

 
1) That the Communities Partnership Plan 2022-2027 be endorsed and referred 

to the meeting of Council on 12 October 2022, with a recommendation of 
approval. 

2) That, subject to approval at Council, a report be submitted to Cabinet 
annually detailing (i) any changes to the delivery of priorities and (ii) progress 
on delivery. 

 
65 Kirklees Social Value Policy 

Cabinet received the Social Value Policy, which was an update to the policy 
statement that had been adopted in 2013 following the Social Value Act 2012. 
The report advised that the Social Value Policy, along with the Procurement 
Strategy, supported the key corporate objective of delivering holistic benefits for 
residents and communities. It was noted that the Procurement Strategy would be 
submitted to a later meeting of Cabinet.  
 
The report advised that, since 2013, the Council had developed its understanding of 
social value and the opportunities to achieve it and that it had become evident that 

Page 8



Cabinet -  21 September 2022 
 

3 
 

areas of council work, including employment practices, use of assets and the role of 
the local authority in local development planning processes provided significant 
opportunities to achieve social value. Cabinet noted that the new policy aimed to 
articulate these opportunities and explain how the Council intended to capitalise 
upon them. 
 
The report provided an overview of the content of social value policy, capacity to 
deliver social value, performance reporting and measuring impact. It was noted that 
the social value policy key performance indicators would be incorporated into the 
corporate reporting framework.  
 
RESOLVED - That the Social Value Policy be approved. 
 

66 Community Plus Investment Scheme "Do Something Now" Amendments 
Cabinet gave consideration to a report that sought approval for amendments to the 
existing Community Plus Investment Scheme, which provided for investment in 
community activities delivered by individuals and community organisations in the 
Kirklees voluntary, community and social enterprise sector. 
 
The proposed amendments were set out at paragraph 2 of the report, along with a 
rationale as to why each change was proposed.  
 
RESOLVED - That approval be given to the amendments to the existing scheme, as 
set out at paragraph 2 of the report. 
 

67 Resource and Waste Strategy Delivery Update 
Cabinet received a report which requested that authority be delegated to the 
Strategic Director to draw capital funding from the waste strategy reserve and 
associated revenue reserves for the delivery of the Waste Transformation 
Programme, for 2022/2023 to 2024/2025 in order to deliver projects associated with 
the resources and waste strategy adopted by Council earlier this month. 

 
The report advised that good progress was being made on the Resources and 
Waste Strategy Action Plan and set out the timeframe for several projects. It was 
noted that a capital sum of £33m had been provisionally set for the delivery of 
improved waste and recycling facilities and that, to enable the delivery of the 
projects, it was requested that the following capital funds be drawn down for 
delivery; (i) Community Reward Scheme Phase 2 - £50,000 (ii) Reuse shop, 
Huddersfield - £70,000 (iii) Improved litter bin facilities - £2,000,000 (iv) Investment 
in innovation to target environmental enforcement - £100,000 (v) Glass collection 
£150,000 (vi) Bulky collections - £100,000 (vii) Depot review - £500,000. 

 
RESOLVED –  

 
1) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Environment and 

Climate Change) for expenditure of capital sums up to £2,970,000 maximum 
(section 2 of the report refers) in order that the projects associated with the 
Kirklees Resource and Waste Strategy can be delivered in a responsive way 
that is in keeping with the timeline set out in the strategy. 

Page 9



Cabinet -  21 September 2022 
 

4 
 

2) That, pursuant to (1) above, (i) the delegated authority includes the ability to 
vary the budget lines within the overall capital allocation in conjunction with 
approval from the Service Director (Finance) and that it be acknowledged 
that several of the projects are in the planning stage and that exact costs may 
vary from those estimated as the projects develop and (ii) the delegated 
authority enables the Strategic Director (Environment and Climate Change) 
to draw on revenue transformation reserve with agreement from the Service 
Director (Finance).   

 
68 Hot Food Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Cabinet received a report which sought approval of the adoption of the Hot Food 
Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document, as attached at Appendix 1 of the 
report. It was noted that the document provided clear guidance as to how the 
Council would implement Local Plan Policies LP16 and LP47, and how decisions 
would be made which would balance the need to consider the vitality and viability of 
centres whilst promoting healthy, active and safe lifestyles. The report advised that 
the document was considered to be an important tool in supporting the Council’s 
health objectives and promoting healthy eating and healthy lifestyles. 

 
Cabinet were advised that the Supplementary Planning Document would provide 
improved clarity in the determination of planning applications in accordance with the 
Local Plan and had been appropriately amended following public consultation in 
November and December 2021. 

 
RESOLVED -  

 
1) That the consultation responses, as set out at appendices 2 and 3, be noted. 
2) That the Hot Food Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document be 

adopted. 
3) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Growth and 

Regeneration) to make any further minor modifications to the document that 
relate exclusively to factual updates, grammatical and formatting corrections 
for the purposes of publishing the SPD and supporting documents.  

 
69 Huddersfield Decentralised Energy Network (HDEN) Outline Business Case 

Approval 
Cabinet received a report which (i) provided an update on the outcome of the 
Huddersfield District Energy Network Outline Business Case Study and requested 
approval to progress to the full business case stage and (ii) requested that support 
be given to progressing the capital requirements of the scheme for consideration as 
part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2023/2024 onwards. 

 
The report summarised the work that had been undertaken to date regarding a 
Huddersfield District Energy Network, which was one of the Council’s key carbon 
reduction projects, following the Cabinet decision to undertake an outline business 
case in February 2021. It set out the results of this stage of the work and explained 
how the Council could achieve the successful delivery of a heat network.  

 
It was noted that, in terms of timescales, the commercialisation stage workstreams 
would take place between October 2022 and January 2024, which would be 

Page 10



Cabinet -  21 September 2022 
 

5 
 

followed by the full business case approval at the beginning of 2024 and with the 
construction of Huddersfield District Energy Network scheduled for April to 
December 2024. 

 
(Cabinet gave consideration to exempt information at Agenda Item 15 (Minute No. 
72 refers) prior to the determination of his item.)  

 
RESOLVED –  
 
1) That the results of the Outline Business Case, dated 30 March 2022, be 

noted, along with the considerations relating to the Green Heat Network Fund 
application timing (sections 2.38 and 2.42 refer). 

2) That approval be given to the proposed commercial delivery model, 
procurement and funding strategy up to full business case as set out in the 
outline business case. 

3) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Environment and 
Climate Change) to apply for, in retrospect, and to accept in principle external 
funding of the Huddersfield District Energy Network (HDEN) from the Green 
Heat Networks Fund (GHNF) and other appropriate sources of external 
funding necessary to progress the project to full business case, in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 22.  

4) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Environment and 
Climate Change) in consultation with the Cabinet Member (Environment) and 
the Cabinet Member (Culture and Greener Kirklees), in order to progress the 
next steps as set out in Commercial and Management Cases, specifically; (i) 
a detailed assessment of the Energy from Waste(EfW) power export value (ii) 
alignment with procurement of Waste Services Contract (including EfW) to 
agree the supply of heat and power (iii) to agree the compliant procurement 
route, prepare and undertake the procurement exercise for the delivery of the 
HDEN, as set out in the Commercial Case of the OBC (iv) customer 
acquisition – preparation and agreement in principle of heat and electricity 
supply arrangements with District Energy Network customers (including 
Council owned sites) (v) securing funding for the HDEN commercialisation 
stage (vi) procurement and operation of HDEN assets (vii) HDEN operational 
arrangements (viii) heat offtake agreement between HDEN and EfW (ix) to 
prepare and submit full planning application/s for the construction of the 
proposed Energy Centre and the other elements of HDEN falling with the 
scope of Planning Permission regulations and (x) any further steps to 
progress the scheme from outline business case to full business case, which 
could reasonably be anticipated.  

5) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Environment and 
Climate Change), in consultation with the Cabinet Member, to delivery any 
minor alterations to what is set out in the outline business case and which are 
in the interests of the Council to ensure that the project is delivered up to full 
business case completion, and that any significant alterations be referred to 
Cabinet. 

6) That the funding requirements for the HDEN, as set out in the financial case 
of the outline business case, be noted and that approval be given to 
supporting the Council investment and borrowing requirements as set out in 
the financial and management cases (sections 3.15 to 3.22 refer) in 

Page 11



Cabinet -  21 September 2022 
 

6 
 

conjunction with (and anticipating) a successful application to the Green Heat 
Networks Fund. 

7) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Environment and 
Climate Change) to make all necessary preparations to set up the special 
purpose vehicle (ESCo) and that a further report be submitted to Cabinet 
following detailed evaluation by the Solicitor to the Council and the Chief 
Finance Officer to agree the establishment of the special purpose vehicle for 
the Huddersfield District Energy Network. 

8) That a report be submitted to Cabinet following the completion of the 
commercialisation stage of work, in order to consider the resulting full 
business case for the HDEN and determine whether to progress the scheme 
to construction and delivery. 

9) That authority be delegated to the Service Director (Legal, Governance and 
Commissioning) to sign any legal agreements, documents or instruments 
which the Council is required to enter into up to the full business case stage 
(this does not extend to the transaction documents which will be entered into 
at financial close for which specific authority will be sought as part of the 
approval of the final business case).  

10) That the Service Director (Development) be authorised to appropriate the 
Council owned land at 37 Old Leeds Road for the purposes of the proposed 
Energy Centre for the Huddersfield District Energy Network. 

 
70 Delivering the Cultural Heart - Gateway 2: Outline Business Case 

Cabinet received a report which provided an update on the development of the 
cultural heart programme following the approval of the strategic outline case in 
November 2021. The report requested that Cabinet give consideration to the outline 
business case and the associated Royal Institute of British Architects stage 2 
masterplan at this Gateway 2 stage.  
 
The report sought approval for the Gateway 2 proposals and further development of 
the preferred masterplan option, and approval to proceed to Gateway 3. In order to 
progress to Gateway 3, the report requested that Cabinet release up to £10.5m to 
enable the Council to carry out necessary work with partners to progress the 
scheme, the costs of which were set out at paragraph 2.8 of the considered report. 

 
The report detailed information in regards to (i) programme development to date (ii) 
a comprehensive overview of the outline business case (iii) design development 
achieved during stage 2 (iv) ongoing resource requirements (v) the preferred 
method for the procurement of construction and other contractors and (vi) an 
itemised cost breakdown of the resources required to progress to Gateway 3. The 
report also provided an overview of progress made on sustainability and social 
value strategies. 

 
Cabinet noted that, as part of Gateway 3 and further milestones, there would be an 
opportunity to consider updated reporting on market conditions, phasing and design 
detail before progressing to further phases of the programme, including 
construction.  

 
 
 

Page 12



Cabinet -  21 September 2022 
 

7 
 

Cabinet gave consideration to the exempt information at Agenda Item 16  
(Minute No. 73 refers) prior to the determination of this item.) 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
1) That approval be given to proceed to the next stage, in line with the 

proposals and recommendations as set out in the Outline Business Case. 
2) That approval be given to proceed in line with the Preferred Way Forward 

masterplan, and the associated RIBA Stage 2 design. 
3) That approval be given to the Gateway 2 to Gateway 3 budget of up to 

£10.5m. 
4) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Growth and 

Regeneration), in consultation with the Cabinet Member (Regeneration), to 
take decisions on the programme timeline so that the Cultural Heart 
masterplan and the associated strategic objectives can be completed within 
an appropriate timescale, reflecting the Council’s financial position. 

5) That necessary Council staff and resources be allocated to support the 
programme, and that it be noted that, in the absence of sufficient internal 
resources, additional resources will be sourced from existing/future 
framework agreements. 

6) That approval be given to extend the appointment of the Strategic 
Development Partner/Project Manager to Gateway 3 under direct award from 
the SCAPE, Place Shaping Framework in compliance with Contract 
Procedure Rules and Financial Procedure Rules. 

7) That approval be given to extending the appointments of the architect and the 
engineer to Gateway 3 in compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules and 
Finance Procedure Rules. 

8) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Growth and 
Regeneration) to conclude the construction contractor strategy, as set out at 
section 2.5, and to progress that strategy for the Cultural Heart to the next 
stage. 

9) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Growth and 
Regeneration) to conclude the strategy on all necessary third party operators, 
as set out at section 2.6, and to progress that strategy for the Cultural Heart 
to the next stage. 

10) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Growth and 
Regeneration), in consultation with the Cabinet Member (Regeneration) and 
the Cabinet Member (Corporate Services), to conclude the Social Value 
Strategy, and then implement the same for the Cultural Heart, to include the 
mechanism for administration of the trust fund. 

11) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Growth and 
Regeneration), in consultation with the Cabinet Member (Regeneration), the 
Service Director (Legal, Governance and Commissioning) and the Service 
Director (Finance), to appoint third parties in compliance with Contract 
Procedure Rules and Financial Procedure Rules. 

12) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Growth and 
Regeneration), in liaison with the Head of Procurement, to work within 
approved budgets to deliver the programme to Gateway 3.  

 
 

Page 13



Cabinet -  21 September 2022 
 

8 
 

71 Exclusion of the Public 
 
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following items 
of business, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information, as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

72 Huddersfield Decentralised Energy Network (HDEN) Outline Business Case 
Approval 
(Exempt information in accordance with Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006, namely it contains information relating to the financial and business affairs of 
third parties (including the Authority holding that information). It is considered that 
the disclosure of the information would adversely affect those third parties including 
the Authority and therefore the public interest in maintaining the exemption, which 
would protect the rights of an individual or the Authority, outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information and providing greater openness and 
transparency in relation to public expenditure in the Authority’s decision making.) 
 
The exempt information was noted prior to the consideration of Agenda Item 12 
(Minute No. 69 refers). 
 

73 Delivering the Cultural Heart - Gateway 2: Outline Business Case 
(Exempt information in accordance with Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 namely it contains information relating to the financial and business affairs of 
third parties (including the Authority holding that information). It is considered that 
the disclosure of the information would adversely affect those third parties including 
the Authority and therefore the public interest in maintaining the exemption, which 
would protect the rights of an individual or the Authority, outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information and providing greater openness and 
transparency in relation to public expenditure in the Authority’s decision making.) 
 
The exempt information was noted prior to the consideration of Agenda Item 13 
(Minute No. 70 refers).  
 
 

Page 14



 
 

Name of meeting:  Cabinet 
Date:     11 October 2022   
Title of report:  Kirklees Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise 

(VCSE) Investment Strategy and ‘We are Working 
Alongside’ shared values 

 
Purpose of report:  
 
To seek approval of the Kirklees VCSE Investment Strategy and ‘We are Working 
Alongside’ shared values. 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?   

Yes  
 
Impact in 2 or more wards 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Yes published  Here 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning? 
 

Rachel Spencer Henshall, Director of 
Corporate Strategy, Commissioning and 
Public Health – 26.09.22 
 
 
Eamonn Croston, Service Director – Finance 
27.09.22 
 
 
Julie Muscroft – Service Director Corporate, 
Legal, Governance and Commissioning – 
27.09.22 

Cabinet member Housing and Democracy 
Portfolio 

Councillor Cathy Scott 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All 
 
Ward councillors consulted: Briefings have been offered to all Political Groups  

 
Public or private: Public.   

 

Has GDPR been considered?  Yes 

 
 
  

Page 15

Agenda Item 8:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=28135&PlanId=178&RPID=3114127


Kirklees Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Investment 
Strategy and ‘We are Working Alongside’ shared values 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 The VCSE Investment Strategy is a jointly commissioned piece of work by Kirklees 

Council and Third Sector Leaders, building on the coordinated community response 
throughout the Covid pandemic.  
 

1.2 The development of the strategy took place alongside VCSE organisations, council 
teams and health partners. We examined ways that we could work better together.  
 
Our main lines of enquiry were focussed on: 

 More than just funding  

 Commissioning and grants 

 Community Asset Transfers 

 Social enterprises 

 Access to specialist support and skills sharing 

 Working with local business 
 

1.3 We invited organisations to focus groups and one to one meetings, as well as 
engaging people from voluntary and community organisations during planned 
meetings such as the Community Anchors meetings. 
 

1.4 The strategy has been co-produced following feedback from over 30 VCSE 
organisations. Participants represent the diversity of the sector in terms of the 
ethnicity and age of the citizens who participate or who are supported by the work, 
the size of organisations and the themes of their work. Kirklees Council officers and 
services also participated. We had additional input from other regional VCSE 
organisations and specialist support organisations. 
 

1.5 We have also engaged 66 organisations who manage community buildings in 
Kirklees and 219 community groups, to ensure representation and to inform priorities.  

 
 
2. Background 

 
2.1 Kirklees Council recognises the crucial role that the VCSE sector plays in the local 

economy - creating jobs, delivering services, connecting people in neighbourhoods, 
improving community cohesion and reducing social isolation and loneliness, as well 
as improving people’s general health and wellbeing. Our shared experiences since 
the beginning of the pandemic have brought this into even sharper focus. 
 

2.2 More recently, as a response to rises in the cost of living, the council has been 
provided £3.702m of Household Support Fund monies by central government.  This 
Fund is intended to support vulnerable residents with payments and grants such as 
vouchers, to help meet daily needs such as food, clothing, and utilities.  
 

2.3 Kirklees Council recognises the vital role which the VCSE has in supporting residents 
who are experiencing poverty and financial crisis. Therefore, £650k of this budget will 
be utilised by working the local VCSE in order to enable place-based support within 
local communities and with residents who may not access 'traditional' support routes.   
 

Page 16



2.4 In October 2020, the Executive Team within Kirklees Council received a paper 
entitled ‘The Third Sector in Kirklees – A Strategic approach to funding and 
investment’ which outlined the significant role the sector is playing in supporting 
communities during the pandemic, whilst also recognising some of the issues facing 
the sector as a result of it.  
 

2.5 Based on this paper, the Executive Team agreed to commission work to co-produce 
and develop an Investment Strategy to identify how Kirklees Council can further 
support the VCSE (including the faith sector) within Kirklees.  
 

2.6 The development of this Strategy built on the vision and shared outcomes set out in 
the Kirklees Council Plan for 2018/20 to work with ‘people, and partners using a 
place-based approach to achieve our shared outcomes and ultimately our vision’. It 
also strongly reflects the ambition in the 2021/23 Council Plan to ‘work alongside the 
voluntary and community sector in Kirklees to create a relationship that best delivers 
our outcomes’.  
 

2.7 The aims of the strategy are to harness the strengths and diversity of the VCSE 
within Kirklees – to welcome, capture and maximise their ability to innovate and be 
agile in response to changing need and to be easily accessible to the communities 
they serve. It is about supporting the sector to develop their own resources and build 
resilience so they can continue to address increasing health, economic and social 
inequalities and work to improve outcomes for the residents of Kirklees.  
 

2.8 The development of this strategy is underpinned by the ‘We are Working Alongside’ 
shared values. “We are working alongside” is our way of describing how people from 
VCSE organisations, Kirklees Council and Health partners want to work together to 
make our local places even better. This includes a co-created statement of our 
shared principles and values: ‘The way we want to do things around here’. This is 
designed to influence and encourage more productive and trusting relationships, 
based on our commitment to working with and alongside each other in our local 
places. Our method of commissioning the work, the collaborative approach to 
strategy development and the strategy content itself all clearly demonstrate our 
shared values in action. The shared values are attached at Appendix 1 
 

 
3. Information  
 
3.1 In March 2019 the National Lottery released a Yorkshire and Humber funding 

ecology research report which stated that Yorkshire & Humber ‘had proportionally the 
lowest level of voluntary sector funding of any region in England’, with funding per 
person less than half the England average and only 14% of that secured by the 
London region. Of 53 funders analysed, very few of the national funders had made 
awards locally in the preceding three years. Of the 21 Local Authorities in the 
Yorkshire & Humber area, Kirklees is 14th in terms of the funding awarded per head 
of population, with only Wakefield below it from the West Yorkshire region. When 
National Lottery funding is removed from this calculation Kirklees falls to 16th and is 
the lowest area in West Yorkshire for non-National Lottery grant awards.  
 

3.2 The more recent Yorkshire & Humber voluntary sector funding ecology research 
2021 report reveals that in proportional terms, Yorkshire and Humber’s voluntary 
sector income remains one of the lowest in England and that funding to charities in 
Kirklees remains low compared to neighbouring authorities. Kirklees is now in 17th in 
terms of funding per head of population and drops further to 19th or 20th when 
deprivation and population levels are taken into consideration.  

Page 17

https://www.yorkshirefunders.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/YH-Funding-Ecology-report.pdf
https://www.yorkshirefunders.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/YH-Funding-Ecology-report.pdf
https://www.yorkshirefunders.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Yorkshire-Humber-funding-ecology-research-report-2021_FINAL.pdf
https://www.yorkshirefunders.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Yorkshire-Humber-funding-ecology-research-report-2021_FINAL.pdf


3.3 Council grant funding opportunities for the VCSE in 2019/20 totalled approximately 
£800k. In 2020/21 this increased to £2.1million, primarily as a result of Covid-19 
emergency funding. Funding so far 2021/22 is £3.24 million. 
 

3.4 Work is already underway to streamline the council funding process and to improve 
information that is available to the sector. Work is also underway to capture the 
percentage of contracts commissioned to local VCSE organisations and to improve 
insight into how this relates to other areas of West Yorkshire. The Kirklees VCSE is 
linking to regional work capturing the value of, and current investment in, the sector. 
 

3.5 Establishing an understanding our current funding position will be an important (but 
not the sole) element in being able to measure the success of any investment 
strategy. However, this strategy is about more than just funding the sector. It aims to 
cover a range of other investment options for Kirklees Council and partners, 
developing a range of options for strengthening a diverse group of organisations. 
 

3.6 The draft VCSE Investment Strategy is attached at Appendix 2.  
 
A summary of the key themes that have emerged from discussions to date are: 
 
3.6.1 Building trust and working together - the development of a VCSE 

investment strategy has highlighted that this is about working in a different 
way, increasing the understanding between sectors, and appreciating the 
roles everyone plays in making our local places even better and working with 
each other to overcome potential barriers or risks. The single word mentioned 
most throughout conversations with the VCSE sector was ‘trust’ – “trust us to 
do a good job, trust in our ability, trust that we know our communities, trust 
that we will spend money wisely”. It was also recognised, by both the VCSE 
and council officers that the pandemic is enabling significant progress in this 
area, through the efforts of so many VCSE organisations and the Community 
Anchors as part of the Covid-19 Coordinated Community Response work. 
 

3.6.2 How we can work together to attract more non-council funding – invest in 
further development of VCSE infrastructure support. Provide support to the 
VCSE sector to develop alliances and partnerships, to respond to local 
tenders, and proactively attract external funds.   
 

3.6.3 Funding principles – multi-year, stop circular or repetitive 
conversations. Encourage transparency, help build capacity and 
resilience – develop a commitment to a set of ‘funding principles’ to help 
improve capacity and resilience. We also need to develop a joint 
understanding of what funds are available to the VCSE in Kirklees and identify 
the best way to maximise impact to achieve Kirklees outcomes. The need to 
combine, consolidate and coordinate funds is important – we need to 
understand how much is being invested into the VCSE already across our 8 
shared outcomes and where the need is now. It is also important that we 
involve other strategic partners such Locala and Health (ICS) to maximise this 
opportunity, and proactively identify outcomes, where working with the VCSE 
could help attract more external funds. 

 
3.6.4 Focus for increasing social enterprise start up and support - we need to 

recognise the value of, and create conditions for, more Kirklees based 
community businesses (social enterprises, enterprise activity and 
cooperatives). This is already part of the Inclusive Economy with the Kirklees 
Local Economic Recovery Plan.  

Page 18



 
3.6.5 Communication - we need to create more opportunities to get know each 

other better, listen and share skills, resources, and knowledge with each 
other, know what’s happening locally and share our stories. 

 
 

4. Action Plan 
 
4.1 In order to achieve effective and meaningful impact and outcomes, the VCSE 

investment strategy is proposing 3 overlapping priorities, with an action plan and 
measures of success, to support the sector: 

 
Priority 1 - Invest to build trust and transparency:  
creating an environment for partners to work alongside each other 

 
Priority 2 - Invest in whoever is best placed to provide the service or support:   
recognising & valuing each other’s strengths 

 
Priority 3 - Invest to increase VCSE capacity and resilience:  
empowering the VCSE to help themselves 

 
4.2 In order to ensure that as many organisations as possible can contribute to the 

development of the action plan, we have held further engagement activities to inform 
the priorities and actions: 
 
4.2.1 Community Buildings Support Survey – organised by Third Sector Leaders 

Kirklees, this has helped us to better understand the current needs of those 
organisations who run or manage community spaces. The results highlighted 
the financial challenges organisations are facing, with increasing utility and 
maintenance costs at a time when income is still below pre-pandemic levels.  
 

4.2.2 Community Organisations Support Survey – organised by the council’s 
Third Sector Team, this has helped us to engage with smaller grassroots 
organisations, many of whom are re-opening after a period of closure. We 
found that income and finance are causing the greatest concern to groups, 
with nearly 40% of participants being concerned and uncertain about how 
they will manage over the next year. 
 

4.2.3 The feedback from VCSE organisations and Kirklees Council officers, along 
with feedback from the community buildings and community organisations 
support surveys, will be used to inform the VCSE investment strategy action 
plan priorities. We expect this phase to be complete by September 2022. 
However, further engagement will take place as the action plan progresses. 

 
 

5. Information required to take a decision 
 
5.1  Along with this report, we have provided: 
 

5.1.1 Appendix 1: We are Working Alongside shared values 
 

5.1.2 Appendix 2: VCSE Investment Strategy 
 

5.1.3  Appendix 3: Breakdown of VCSE organisations per locality 
 

Page 19



 
6. Implications for the council 
 

 Working with People 
Working with and supporting the development of our local VCSE helps us to work 
with and alongside our citizens and communities, identifying solutions to local issues 
and working together to make our local places even better. 
 

 Working with Partners 
The development of the strategy is centred around closer working with the VCSE. 
Approximately 4% of the local workforce are employed by VCSE organisations, in 
addition to the hours of volunteering provided by people in the sector. A healthy, 
vibrant, active and sustainable VCSE sector is therefore integral to the economic 
recovery of Kirklees. 

 

 Place Based Working  
This strategy demonstrates our place-based principles in action, showing how we 
can invest in our relationships with the VCSE for the benefit of everyone in Kirklees. 
Delivery of the identified priorities is closely linked to the development of local Anchor 
Organisations, who are working to create links with our Primary Care Networks and 
Elected Members, with a focus on local health improvement. Further engagement 
with grassroots organisations will continue around the specific priorities.  

 

 Climate Change and Air Quality 
No specific impact in the context of this paper 
 

 Improving outcomes for children 
No specific impact in the context of this paper, however the VCSE clearly has an 
important role in supporting the delivery of this shared outcome. 

 

 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
The council is required to have regard to its public sector Equality duty under section 
149 Equality Act 2010. Also any procurements of goods ,works or services must be 
in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and the emerging Procurement Bill .The council must comply with 
its Best Value duty under section 3 Local Government Act 1999 requires a     best 
value authority must make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the 
way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness and have regard to the revised Best Value  statutory 
guidance (march 2015) .  In addition, any support for the VCSE must comply with 
Subsidy Control rules. 

 
Do you need an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)  

An IIA has been carried out and can be viewed via this link. In summary, officers 
have judged that the impact will be neutral on the environment and very positive 
on employees, residents, and service-users across all protected characteristics 
(age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage/civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, sexual orientation, and unpaid carers) 
and those who live in poverty or have low-incomes. Because of this, a Stage 2 
assessment was not required.  The completed Integrated Impact Assessment 
can be found Here 

 
 
 

Page 20

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/iias/public-health/VCSE-Investment-Strategy-IIA.xlsx


7. Consultees and their opinions 
 
7.1 The development of the VCSE investment strategy and action plan has involved 

engagement with a wide range of organisations. 
 

7.2 The approach and work undertaken to develop the strategy has been shared with 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, their comments and 
recommendations have been taken onto account and an update reported to the 
Committee as the strategy was developed: 
 
7.2.1 We have engaged an additional 209 groups across Kirklees, of which 50% 
are local grassroots groups, helping us to understand the current challenges for our 
vital community organisations.  
 
7.2.2 We have shared information with councillors about our engagement plans 
and provided information to share with local groups via their social media platforms, 
to help encourage groups to respond. In addition, we have offered a briefing on the 
development of the VCSE Investment Strategy to all political groups. 
 
7.2.3 Kirklees Council’s Third Sector Team, Third Sector Leaders Kirklees, One 
Community and Anchor Organisations are working together to help raise awareness 
about funding and how groups can find out what’s available. The Third Sector Team 
have also organised a funding masterclass to help groups attract more participants 

and to share tips on funding: Footfall & Funding Workshop for VCS Groups  
 

7.3 This approach has been shared with the Housing and Democracy portfolio holder, 
has been identified as a priority by the Scrutiny Place Based Working subgroup and 
has been discussed at the Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel. 
 

7.4 To date the approach has been discussed with the Customer and Communities and 
Environment and Climate Change senior leadership teams, for their comments and 
input. 

 
 
 
 
8. Next steps and timelines 
 
8.1.1 The development of the VCSE Investment Strategy has been informed by feedback 

from Kirklees Council, third sector partners, health partners and Councillors. It has 
been submitted to Cabinet for a decision.  
 

8.1.2 Feedback from our engagement activities will help inform the action plan priorities. 
The action plan will be co-produced with a view to addressing immediate priorities 
during 2022-23 and working towards longer-term priorities for the future that will 
support the sector to develop their own resources, help to increase capacity and 
resilience so they can continue to improve outcomes for the residents of Kirklees. 
 

 
9. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
We ask that Cabinet approves the VCSE Investment Strategy (Appendix 2) and ‘We are 
Working Alongside’ shared values (Appendix 1), for the following reasons: 
 

Page 21

https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/footfall-funding-workshop-for-vcs-groups-tickets-382951376877?aff=ebdssbdestsearch


 The strategy recognises the crucial role that the VCSE sector plays in the local 
economy - creating jobs, delivering services, connecting people in 
neighbourhoods, improving community cohesion and reducing social isolation 
and loneliness, as well as improving general health and wellbeing  
 

 The strategy recognises how important it is to support the third sector to develop 
their own resources and build resilience so they can attract external funds and 
address increasing health, economic and social inequalities and work to improve 
outcomes for the residents of Kirklees.  
 

 The strategy and ‘We are Working Alongside’ shared values have been co-
produced and informed by feedback from a wide range of organisations and 
partners. 

 

 Subject to any consultation requirements delegate authority to Strategic Director 
for Corporate Strategy, Commissioning & Public Health in consultation with the 
Housing and Democracy Portfolio Holder to amend the strategy as necessary 
(and report significant amendments back to cabinet). 
 

10. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder has been consulted throughout the development of the VCSE 
Investment Strategy and recognises the importance of building strong and effective 
partnership working with the VCSE sector in order to achieve better outcomes for our 
communities.  
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder accepts the officer recommendations of the Strategy and the 
‘We are Working Alongside’ shared values.  
 
 
11. Contact officers  
 
Noreen Abbas, Community Investment Manager noreen.abbas@kirklees.gov.uk   
 
Diane Sims, Engagement and Communications Lead for Democracy 
diane.sims@kirklees.gov.uk   
 
Vina Randhawa, Democracy Manager vina.randhawa@kirklees.gov.uk  
 
Emily Parry-Harries, Head of Public Health emily.parry-harries@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
 
12. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 

 Appendix 1: We are Working Alongside shared values 

 Appendix 2: VCSE Investment Strategy 

 Appendix 3: Breakdown of VCSE organisations per locality 

 Agenda for Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee on Tuesday 
9th November 2021, 2.00 pm | Kirklees Council 

 
 
13. Strategic Director responsible  

 
Rachel Spencer Henshall, Director of Corporate Strategy, Commissioning and Public Health. 

Page 22

mailto:noreen.abbas@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:diane.sims@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:vina.randhawa@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:emily.parry-harries@kirklees.gov.uk
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6780&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6780&Ver=4


We are working alongside   Appendix 1 

 
Kirklees Council, our partners and citizens are working together to make 

the local places where we live, work and play better.  

 

The way we do things around here 
 

We are coming from a different place 

We’re working with and alongside each other in our local places. We know that our 

local places, and each of us, are unique. We know that people who are closer to 

things are best placed to know what will work. If we have our feet on the ground, we 

can see and value what we have. We’re meeting each other where we are - in our 

lives, in our work and in our neighbourhoods - so that we can work together to make 

our local places even better. This is where the links between local organisations and 

local citizens are the strongest. So this is where we will begin.  

 

We are learning by doing 

We’re acting on people’s ideas and testing things out together in our local places. 

We are prepared to start and not know what we’ll end up with. We want to create 

more opportunities for action, and fewer hoops for people to jump through. We will 

keep learning from what we’re already doing and supporting each other to do new 

things. We will not be frightened of getting things wrong sometimes.  

 

We are working on trust 

We’re getting to know each other and to trust one another. We trust that everyone 

wants to achieve the best. Nobody is here to trip each other up. Our relationships are 

strong enough that we can be open about how one person or organisation affects 

another. We will create more opportunities for people to get to know each other 

better. 

Page 23



 

We are growing confidence 

We’re working out who is best placed to do something. We know that there are 

brilliant people in our local places. We know who to ask to get things done. We feel 

confident to step back when we aren’t needed and to step up when we can help. We 

understand each other’s constraints and are patient with each other. We give people 

time and space to grow the small things that can go a long way. 

 

We are taking courage from kindness 

We’re being kinder to each other. We are creating stronger relationships and making 

new connections, so that we collaborate more and compete less. We are thinking 

about what’s really important to us. We will focus on what people value and have the 

courage to do the less obvious. We will look for ways to bottle the kindness that we 

show to one another so that it doesn’t get lost.   

 
We are sharing with each other 

We’re thinking imaginatively about how we can share. By working together, we’re 

finding practical ways to share people’s time, skills and knowledge. We recognise 

the importance of our social connections for everyone’s wellbeing. We are here for 

each other and will actively connect people with others.  

 

We are listening with curiosity 

We’re interested in what people have to say. We want people to feel able to ask the 

questions they’ve always wanted to. We’re keen to listen to others, especially people 

who aren’t often heard. We are curious to know what people feel right now about 

where they live. We go into conversations with an open mind, listening without an 

agenda. We are putting citizens’ voices first.  

 

We are open and honest 

We’re open with each other and open to new ideas. We encourage other people to 

share their ideas and to be honest and open. We will have honest conversations 

about what’s possible. We will tell each other the truth. We will talk about what didn’t 

go so well, so that we can learn from it.  

 

We are involving others early 

We’re thinking, designing and doing things together. We all have a role in making our 

local places even better. When we do something, we want to be clear where we’re 

starting from, so we need to start together. We’ll start the conversation early and 

keep it going. We know that thinking of others first, not as an afterthought, is how 

we’ll get to where we want to be.  

 
We are recognising everyone 

We’re here to help everyone become an active citizen and be part of our local 

democracy and civic life. We want people to have a say in what happens in our local 

places and to feel that getting involved makes a difference. We value the contribution 

that each of us makes, in whatever way we want to be involved.  

Page 24



We recognise that it’s harder for some people to get involved. We will find ways to 

include everyone. Together we are doing what we believe in our hearts will make our 

local places even better. We are making it happen by working alongside. 

 

 

 

Why we’re working alongside 

We believe that we all have something to offer in helping the places where we live, 
work and play thrive and be successful. To make this happen we need to draw on 
the talents of all. We also know that the way we do things is important. The working 
alongside approach has been developed with a wide range of people, from different 
organisations. It includes our shared values and principles about how we work 
together. We are also sharing examples of this approach in action, as we know there 
is great work happening already. You are welcome to share your own examples to 
help inspire others. 

Our shared values will influence how we work together in communities and help 
guide the action to make our places thrive. This includes how we recruit staff and 
support volunteers, how we fund and organise things, how we share our skills and 
knowledge, and how we make decisions about what happens in our local places. If 
we each put these values into action, it will change the way we do things. We will be 
working not separately in our own organisations, groups or services, but with and 
alongside each other in our local places, everyday. 
 

Find out more and get involved 

Watch our video animation and share your working alongside stories at: 

www.WorkingAlongside.org.uk 

 

Page 25

http://www.workingalongside.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Appendix 2 

  

Investing in Kirklees Voluntary, Community 

& Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector, 

working alongside partners 

 

March 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Version control 

Date Version 

number 

Author or 

reviewer 

Comments 

10/05/2021 1 Helen Orlic Full draft report issued, subject to final approval by 
Kirklees Council. 

6/10/2021 2 Helen Orlic Updated to include feedback from Housing and 
Democracy Portfolio Holder Briefing: 

• Wording updated to more clearly reflect that 
the Covid     pandemic is continuing (not ended) 

• Addendum included with an overview of VCSE 
organisations by area of work, to provide more 
information about inclusivity. 

12/08/2022 
 

3 Diane Sims Shared outcome icons updated to include the Shaped by 
People foundational shared outcome. 

    

 

Page 27



 

 

Executive summary  

When we talk about the VCSE sector in Kirklees, we are really talking about lots of different 

organisations who are driven by a passion to help others, and who want to work together to 

help our people and places thrive. They value their independence, ability to innovate and 

act quickly - they are (rightly) proud of the work they do. They also recognise that, with the 

right support, they can do so much more to help our citizens and communities. 

We will all benefit by strengthening this diverse group of organisations who are so vital for 

people’s wellbeing and for our local economy. But this strategy is about far more than just 

funding the sector. We also need to invest our time, skills, assets and understanding into the 

VCSE. This strategy is, above all, about our connections with each other – as VCSE 

organisations, our council, health partners and local businesses, and as individuals who are 

passionate about the places where we live, work and play. 

Trust is what really matters most for all of us. New and more trusting ways of working 

together in our local places have flourished during Covid-19. Community, voluntary and 

mutual aid groups in all our local places, the anchor organisations network and Third 

Sector Leaders Kirklees have been at the heart of our Coordinated Community Response. 

The VCSE have worked alongside Kirklees Council, Health partners and local businesses 

during this time. Their local skills, insight and understanding are essential for our collective 

response. 

 

Building on our place-based approach to Covid-19, Kirklees Council can (and should) now 

look for other opportunities to recognise and value the strengths of the sector, and 

recognise where the VCSE are best placed to support and enable local communities. 

Our recommendations demonstrate how we can strengthen the different kind of 

relationship that we have begun to grow as we work alongside each other - as equals - to 

make our local places even better. It’s a relationship in which we are more open and honest 

in our conversations, where whoever is the best placed to do something is trusted and 

enabled to do it, and which achieves better outcomes for our citizens and organisations. 

We can achieve meaningful impact and outcomes together by Investing to build trust and 

transparency (creating an environment for partners to work alongside each other) by 

Investing in whoever is best placed to provide the service or support (recognising and 

valuing each other’s strengths) and by Investing to increase VCSE capacity and resilience 

(empowering the VCSE to help themselves). 

Through this place based approach, we will all be investing in meaningful outcomes – from 

individual citizens who are giving locally and helping to decide what happens in their 

community, to supporting the organisations who are best placed to provide support. A 

strong VCSE will help secure more investment from outside Kirklees. 

Over 40 people and organisations have co-produced this strategy. We are putting our 

shared values for working together (“We are working alongside”) into action, both in our 

way of working and through the recommendations we’re making together for the future. 

Page 28



 

 

 

Priority 1 

Invest to build trust and transparency : 
creating an environment for partners to work 

alongside each other 

Priority 2 

Invest in whoever is best placed to 
provide the service or support:  

recognising & valuing each other’s strengths 

Priority 3 

Invest to increase VCSE capacity, 
resilience and sustainability: 

 empowering the VCSE to help themselves 

Our shared values - Working alongside  

8 Shared Outcomes for Kirklees           

VCSE Investment Strategy overview 

Measures of success 

• Evidence of improved working together 

• New partnerships and alliances 

• Clear view of total funding available to VCSE 

• Social value demonstrated by VCSE 

• Partners know what’s happening in their areas 

Measures of success 

• Number of new and sustained community 
businesses - social value achieved 

• Value of non-council funding secured  

• £ + social value of businesses working with VCSE 

• Implement principles + evidence of impact 

Measures of success 

• Effective grants programme with no duplication 

• More active community buildings meeting 
community needs – case studies 

• Examples of Kirklees Council and partners using 
local social enterprises for support and services 

 

Objectives 

• Jointly agree the best process or organisations 
to mange funding, moving funding closer to the 
community 

• Invest in further development of VCSE 
infrastructure support   

• Don’t divest assets, invest in communities – 
work together to develop a needs led approach 
to community asset transfers  

• Look within Kirklees first 
 

Objectives 

• Create more opportunities to get to  know each 
other better, listening and sharing skills, 
resources and knowledge with each other 

• Develop a joint understanding of what funds are 
available to the VCSE in Kirklees and identify the 
best way to maximise impact 

• Collaborate more and compete less. Start the 
conversations early and keep them going 

• Jointly assess social value within the VCSE 
 

Objectives 

• Recognise the value of, and create conditions 
for, more Kirklees based community business 
(social enterprises, enterprise activity and 
cooperatives) 

• Develop a commitment to a set of ‘funding 
principles’ to help improve VCSE capacity and 
resilience 

• Invest in resource within the VCSE to enable 
the VCSE to attract more non Council funds. 

 

P
age 29



 

 

Background 

In October 2020 the Executive Team within Kirklees Council received a paper entitled ‘The 

Third Sector in Kirklees – A Strategic approach to funding and investment’ which outlined 

the significant role the sector is playing in supporting communities during the pandemic, 

whilst also recognising some of the issues facing the sector as a result of it. Based on this 

paper the Executive Team agreed to commission work to produce and develop an 

investment strategy to identify how Kirklees Council can further support the Voluntary, 

Community, and Social Enterprise Sector including the faith sector (VCSE) within Kirklees. 

 

Introduction 

The VCSE Investment Strategy builds on the vision and shared outcomes set out in the 

Kirklees Council Plan 2020/21, and the aim to work with ‘people, and partners using a place-

based approach to achieve our shared outcomes and ultimately our vision’.  Work over the 

past two years has set the intention to support the sector, and as outlined in Appendix 1 

there are already some excellent examples of how VCSE organisations have worked 

alongside Kirklees Council to address local need and improve outcomes.   

This strategy aims to harness the strengths and diversity of the VCSE within Kirklees – to 

welcome, capture and maximise their ability to innovate and be agile in response to 

changing need and to be easily accessible to the communities they serve. It is about 

supporting the sector to develop their own resources and build resilience so they can 

continue to address increasing health, economic and social inequalities and work to improve 

outcomes for the residents of Kirklees. With approximately 4% of the local workforce being 

employed by VCSE organisations, a healthy, vibrant, active and sustainable VCSE sector is 

integral to the economic recovery of Kirklees post Covid. 

In March 2019 the National Lottery released a ‘funding ecology’ report for Yorkshire & 

Humber which stated that Yorkshire & Humber ‘had proportionally the lowest level of 

voluntary sector funding of any region in England’, with funding per person less than half 

the England average and only 14% of that secured by the London region. Of 53 funders 

analysed, very few of the national funders had made awards locally in the preceeding 3 

years. Of the 21 Local Authorities in the Yorkshire & Humber area, Kirklees is 14th in terms 

of the funding awarded per head of population, with only Wakefield below it from the West 

Yorkshire region. When National Lottery funding is removed from this calculation Kirklees 

falls to 16th and is the lowest area in West Yorkshire for non-National Lottery grant awards. 

Council grant funding opportunities for the VCSE in 2019/20 totalled approximately £800k. 

In 2020/21 this is forecast to have increased to £2.3million, primarily as a result of Covid 19 

emergency funding. Work is already underway to consolidate funding and improve 

information that is available to the sector. As yet we do not have data regarding the 

percentage of contracts commissioned to local VCSE, or insight into how this relates to 

other areas of West Yorkshire. The Kirklees VCSE is however linking to regional work relating 

to capturing the value of, and current investment in, the sector. 

Page 30



 

 

Establishing an understanding our current funding position will be an important (but not the 

sole) element in being able to measure the success of any investment strategy. However, 

this strategy is about more than just funding the sector. It aims to cover a range of other 

investment options for Kirklees Council and partners, developing a range of options for 

strengthening a diverse group of organisations.  

Over 30 VCS organisations and 14 different Kirklees Council officers and services have been 

involved in the co-production of this strategy, with additional input from other regional VCS 

organisations and specialist support organisations. 

Implementation of the strategy will require elements of process, practice and culture 

change not only within the council but also with wider partners such as health services and 

local business. An immediate and important action from this strategy will be to establish the 

most appropriate approach or mechanism for involving Health and local Business. Given the 

current health and economic challenges, our health services (with the exception of Locala as 

a social enterprise) and local business were not approached directly as part of this work. 

This Investment Strategy covers the period 2021 - 2024. 

 

VCSE Investment Strategy aims - what this strategy is and isn’t about 

This Strategy is about…. 

 

 

Partners working together to make our local places even better, building an equitable 

partnership. It is about the council relinquishing power and bringing about cultural change. It is 

about partners and Kirklees Council building trust and transparency, being honest and open in 

our conversations so that the council becomes an enabler for the VCSE. 

It is about the whole ‘system’ and those within it working together – Kirklees Council, Health and 

the 3rd Sector (and business).  

It’s not about Kirklees Council being paternalistic or ‘doing to’ the VCSE. 

Ensuring that whoever is best placed to provide a service or support is providing it - ‘the right 

people are doing the right things.’ 

It is about being community led, linking to local people and plans and recognising the need for 

equity - some communities need more support than others. 

It’s not about Kirklees Council giving the VCSE things or services to do ‘on the cheap’. 

Enabling VCSE organisations to help themselves to attract more external funding, to be able to 

invest to develop resources and resilience. It is about supporting the VCSE to access and develop 

a diversity of grant and income streams (grants, contracts, enterprise, fundraising). 

It’s not about creating a VCSE that are grant or contract dependent on Kirklees Council. 

Page 31



 

 

 

 

Our VCSE Investment Strategy has 3 priority areas 

In order to achieve effective and meaningful impact and outcomes, this strategy proposes 

Kirklees Council and partners invest across the following 3 overlapping priorities to support 

the sector:  

 

• Priority 1 - Invest to build trust and transparency: 

creating an environment for partners to work alongside each other 

 

• Priority 2 - Invest in whoever is best placed to provide the service or support: 

recognising and valuing each other’s strengths  

 

• Priority 3 - Invest to increase VCSE capacity and resilience: 

empowering the VCSE to help themselves 

Building community capacity and resilience in VCSE to enable longer term planning and time to 

address increasingly complex or entrenched issues in communities. It is about being able to 

support a wide range of activity to help local people, creating impact and real long term 

outcomes that support residents of Kirklees, whilst recognising the need to be accountable for 

the use of public funds.  

It’s not about ‘quick wins’ and short term funding. 

Recognising and maintaining the diversity of VCSE organisations and the communities they work 

with. It is about enabling local organisations, local assets, services and projects to respond to 

needs of local people (place) or the communities they serve (communities of interest).  

It’s not about having a ‘one size fits all’ approach. 

Generating action, testing out new ways of working and new ideas, and not being frightened of 

getting things wrong sometimes - we will still gain insight and learning.  

It’s not about being a piece of paper that sits on a shelf. It’s not about blame, when new ideas 

don’t work. It’s not about ignoring the opportunity to learn. 

Kirklees Council, along with other stakeholders, investing time, skills, assets and money into the 

VCSE.  

It’s not about just investing money. 

Building on the foundations of what’s already begun to happen.  

It’s not about all new ideas. 

Page 32



 

 

Priority 1 

Invest to build trust and transparency:  

creating an environment for the partners to work alongside each other 

 

Overview  

The single word mentioned most throughout conversations with the VCSE sector was ‘trust’ 

– ‘trust us to do a good job, trust in our ability, trust that we know our communities, trust 

that we will spend money wisely’. The need for individual VCS organisations to feel like 

trusted partners of Kirklees Council underpins all the priorities within this strategy – it’s the 

building block for our ability to effectively work alongside each other. It was also recognised, 

by both the VCSE and council officers that the pandemic had enabled significant progress in 

this area, through the efforts of so many VCSE organisations and the Community Anchors as 

part of the Covid-19 Coordinated Community Response work. 

Building trust and transparency requires both partners to be open and honest in their 

conversations, to be able to express concerns, share problems, be open about what went 

well and what didn’t, and to be able to work on solutions together. It is about knowing who 

to talk to, developing these relationships and involving each other earlier in conversations 

about the needs of our local communities and the outcomes we all want to see, 

encouraging and developing a willingness to try new things and accepting a shared risk - not 

everything will work but we will learn together. 

 

Objectives 

1. Create more opportunities to get know each other better, listening and sharing skills, 

resources and knowledge with each other 

 

• Understand that we are coming from different places and find ways to make it 

easier to work together, ensuring there are meaningful interfaces and points of 

access between the council and VCSE. This will help us all navigate and connect 

with each other easier. 

• Build relationships both between the council, partners and individual VCSE 

organisations, and within the VCSE and faith sector. Listen and invest time in 

strategic and operational conversations with VCSE organisations, for example 

through Senior Leaders Networks, Community Anchor networks, place based 

coordination and communities of interest. Understand the role of the VCSE on 

strategic boards to ensure mutual benefit and sharing of knowledge.  

• Invest in joint workforce development opportunities to enable individuals at all 

levels to share their time, skills and knowledge and get to know each other, 

including secondment of skilled staff (for example, social workers and family 

support workers) into VCSE for mutual benefit; increased flexibility in Employee 

Page 33



 

 

Supported Volunteering to enable those with specific skills to better meet needs 

of the VCSE; develop and enable multi agency training for skills as well as 

knowledge, including management and leadership courses, professional 

development or safeguarding training (as provided by Kirklees Safeguarding 

Children’s Board) (See Appendix 1 for case studies) 

• Develop community business, charity and social enterprise hubs or centres (using 

existing VCSE assets) providing an opportunity for the sector to meet like-minded 

organisations, share learning, offer mutual support and generate ideas as well as 

access cost effective office or meeting space.   

• Increase place-based communication, coordination and partnerships, 

encouraging local VCSE organisations, Councillors, the Active Citizens and Places 

team and other, community based council teams to work better together 

through a mechanism that enhances communication of what is happening 

where, by who and when. 

• Build on each other’s stories – use corporate and internal communications to 

share more VCSE stories and the outcomes they achieve. Help raise the profile of 

what the VCSE are doing and achieving within the council, within Kirklees as a 

whole and regionally or nationally. 

 

2. Develop a joint understanding of what funds are available to the VCSE in Kirklees, and 

identify the best way to maximise impact to achieve Kirklees outcomes  

 

• Combine, consolidate and coordinate funds - understand how much is being 

invested into the VCSE already across the 8 shared outcomes and where the 

need is now. Involve other strategic partners such Locala and Health (CCGs) to 

maximise this opportunity, and proactively identify outcomes, where working 

with the VCSE could help attract more external funds. 

 

3. Collaborate more and compete less. Involve and start the conversations early and 

keep them going 

 

• Provide support to VCSE to develop alliances and partnerships to respond to local 

tenders, and proactively attract external funds. 

• Assess the need for a more strategic vehicle for procurement, for example 

consisting of TSL, KYA, Health and Kirklees Council, to enable contracts to be 

commissioned by this alliance or procurement vehicle solely to local VCS 

organisations (a model which already exists in Calderdale). 

• Make it easier for Kirklees Council to work with relevant sector organisations 

within the systems and structures we have to consult, share information, bring 

lived experience to the fore, and shape pre-tender discussions through informal 

conversations.  

• Overcome VCSE barriers and attitudes towards contracts and commissioning – 

look at development routes to help grow organisations to be contract ready, 

Page 34



 

 

build on early relationships to provide open, honest and supportive feedback to 

unsuccessful tenders, provide clarity on why the choice of contract not grant has 

been made as the preferred funding mechanism. 

• Work together to identify alternative ways the VCSE can fund themselves to help 

achieve outcomes for Kirklees, such as through the use of social investment, 

social impact bonds, crowdfunding or community shares (see also Priority 3). 

 

4. Jointly assess and develop a mechanism to assess Social Value at a VCSE level 

 

• VCSE to be involved in the development of a Social Value Strategy, to develop a 

joint understanding of how Kirklees assesses and values social impact. 

• Raise awareness within the VCSE of Social Value and how to measure outcomes 

and impact so the VCSE can start to effectively measure the impact of its own 

work. 

• Involve the VCSE in assessing social impacts and outcomes in other corporate 

tenders - for example, for capital projects - in order to help maximise and ensure 

their realistic achievement. 

• Link to wider regional partners to develop understanding, and impact of Social 

Value 

 

Measures of success 

• Evidence and examples of improved working together. For example, networks 

exist, feedback from sector and Kirklees Council regarding working relationships. 

• New partnerships and alliances – securing more Council, Health and other 

external funding. 

• Clear view of the total funding currently available for VCSE in Kirklees across the 

Council, Health and other local funders. 

• A method and mechanism in place for VCSE to understand and assess social 

value, with case studies and examples in support of this. 

• Partners report that they know what’s happening in their area regarding funding 

and activities. 

  

Page 35



 

 

Priority 2 

Invest in whoever is best placed to provide the service or support: 

recognising and valuing each other’s strengths 

 

Overview 

Learning from the first wave of the pandemic showed that by enabling and facilitating the 

community’s response, and the council ‘getting out of the way’ of this work, a more 

effective and efficient service was created. Within the Covid-19 Coordinated Response work 

there developed a clear understanding (and appreciation) of the roles and responsibilities of 

the community and mutual aid organisations, VCS infrastructure and Anchor organisations 

and Kirklees Council; a reduction in confusion and duplication, and a very local based 

response reflective of the differing needs of the different communities. Building on this 

approach the council can look for other opportunities to recognise and value the strengths 

of the sector and where it is best placed to support and enable communities.  

 

Objectives 

1. Jointly agree the best process for organisations to manage grant funding (who is best 

placed to do what) moving funding closer to the community 

 

Traditionally the council has been involved in issuing grants, for example from £500 to 

£50,000 per year. In most cases the process to issue these grants is the same, making it 

time and cost inefficient for the council to be involved in smaller grant processes, 

especially when the knowledge of the many and varied VCS organisations involved is 

limited.  

 

• Bring funding closer to local communities and empower those working in the 

communities. For example: 

o Micro grants – those closest to the community are best placed to 

manage micro grant funds, where very local knowledge, agility and speed 

of response are often important factors. 

o Small grants – Local infrastructure organisations such as One Community, 

KYA and TSL are best placed to issue these funds which are often project 

or theme specific, and can act as seed funding, acting on people’s ideas 

and testing things out in local places. Again, knowledge of the smaller 

VCSE who work in or with these specific communities is essential to the 

process. For example, Kirklees Youth Alliance Healthy Holiday grants and 

the Financial Hardship Fund administered by TSL. (see Appendix 1) 

o Medium or large grants – These more strategic based grants, linking to 

the Kirklees outcomes and key themes would be best managed by 

Page 36



 

 

Kirklees Council, with shared decision making panels across the council, 

Health and VCSE. For example, the larger ‘Do Something Now’ grants 

offered by Community Plus. 

• Continue to work alongside organisations during the pre-application process to 

increase the chance of success, building supportive, iterative processes which are 

accepting of the project, trust in their knowledge and don’t attempt to change it. 

Be clear on what co-production is and isn’t to ensure it is accurately captured in 

the process.  

• Ensure that resources are appropriately located to support the funding process - 

but avoid transferring bureaucracy. 

 

2. Invest in further development of VCSE infrastructure support   

 

• Ensure there is a clear understanding of the roles and responsibilities of those 

involved in supporting the VCSE infrastructure (for example, KYA, TSL, One 

Community and Kirklees Council) and that resources and activities are shared to 

avoid duplication. Establish clear communication mechanisms and consider if a 

more formal alliance structure is needed involving the council and Health. 

• Identify gaps in infrastructure support linked to social, economic and health 

inequalities and equity, and develop workstreams of specific support. For 

example, to widen membership from Black communities and South Asian 

communities to ensure their voices are heard,  increase involvement of faith 

communities, to encourage access and offer peer support. 

• Identify where there are places, communities or themes of work where we need 

VCSE organisations to meet local need, and support existing Kirklees based VCSE 

to fill the gaps. 

• Continue to help build individual organisation capacity, tailoring the support 

offered to the many and varying needs of the sector. For example, digital, and IT, 

promotion, public relations, fundraising, marketing, financial planning, 

governance, writing a good application and insurance. Encourage business and 

other VCSE organisations to help and support with the sharing of knowledge, 

skills and resources. (See also Priority 3, objective 3) 

 

3. Don’t divest assets, invest in communities - Develop a needs-led approach to 

Community Asset Transfers, working together across communities, VCSE and Kirklees 

Council 

 

• Adopt a needs-led approach to community asset transfers, being clear on why 

ownership matters, where the needs are and avoiding duplication with other 

community resources.  

• Increase awareness of Community Asset Transfers within the whole VCSE sector, 

encouraging partnerships to develop new community businesses. Integrate into 

Page 37



 

 

VCSE offer and be proactive in the approach to encourage and support. Change 

the narrative from ‘liability’ transfer to ‘asset’ transfer. 

• Provide a bespoke package of support for each asset transfer linked to the needs 

of the community as well as the building (consider including financial, building 

and marketing expertise), allow some ‘commercial’ use to balance community 

support and support overall sustainability. 

• Invest in the expertise that already exists to support this process, such as the 

Local Services 2 You and Locality partnership. 

• Further develop the Community Buildings network group for mutual support 

(especially post Covid) to share ideas and learning, and work together. Include 

Kirklees Council and partner community buildings, faith buildings and access to 

external local expertise for guidance as needed. Recognise that non-council run 

community and faith buildings offer a safe non-judgemental space for the 

delivery of community services and support. 

 

4. Look within Kirklees first 

 

• Ensure external specialists work with local VCSE organisations to develop local 

knowledge and expertise on work relevant to VCSE. 

• Keep it local – Kirklees Council and other key stakeholders use and promote local 

social enterprises, community business, and charities for their own support and 

services. 

 

Measures of success 

• Effective grants programmes delivering outcomes with no duplication. 

• More active community buildings meeting community needs. 

• Examples of Kirklees Council using local social enterprises for support and 

services. 

  

Page 38



 

 

Priority 3 

Invest to increase VCSE capacity, resilience and sustainability: 

empowering the VCSE to help themselves  

 

Overview  

The VCSE and those within these organisations are driven by a passion to help, they value 

their independence, ability to innovate and act quickly, and are (rightly) proud of the work 

they do. They also recognise that with the right support they can do so much more to help 

the communities they work with, and that by working together with other VCSE, Kirklees 

Council and Health they can be even more effective in reducing inequalities and achieving 

improved outcomes for even more people. By enabling, encouraging and creating the 

conditions to help VCSE organisations to invest in themselves we aim to generate an 

improved and far greater return for Kirklees in terms of both VCSE sustainability and 

improved outcomes for residents.   

 

Objectives 

1. Recognise the value of, and create conditions for, more Kirklees based community 

businesses (social enterprises, enterprise activity and cooperatives)  

 

This is already part of the Inclusive Economy with the Kirklees Local Economic Recovery 

Plan. The recommendations from this report are to: 

 

• Support what we have already - Define and identify current community 

businesses in Kirklees, and assess the need for re-start grants as support for 

existing enterprise activity affected by the pandemic, in order to prevent closure 

and maintain current employment. 

• Build on work which had started in 2019 to grow more social enterprises - 

Develop local expertise and dedicated support through a joint funded role (VCSE 

and Kirklees Council) working with external experts (for example, SEYH, Social 

Enterprise mark, Locality, Cooperative specialists) to identify opportunities for 

new community business (such as with the Blueprint projects, Health & Social 

care, Youth work and the environment) raising awareness across Kirklees of the 

support available. Develop easy access to start up funding and support. 

Acknowledge also that there are many aspects of VCSE work that cannot be 

funded by self-generated income. 

• Raise awareness of, and develop opportunities for, cooperatives within Kirklees 

via Employee or Community Share Ownership so that individuals, businesses and 

communities can build confidence and invest in cooperative community 

businesses sharing in ‘the risk, the power and the reward’ and in doing so secure 

Page 39



 

 

longer term sustainability. Offer advice, incentives and support for these 

cooperatives. 

• Encourage more ‘cross business type’ working, removing the ‘silo’ operating 

between business, community business and the voluntary and community sector 

to create a truly inclusive economy which generates start up and support options 

for new and existing organisations of any type. 

• Develop an ambition for some of those groups worse affected by the pandemic 

(including young people and women) to be proactively supported in developing 

social enterprises and cooperatives. 

 

2. Develop a commitment to a set of ‘funding principles’ to help improve capacity and 

resilience 

 

Work has already begun to ensure easier access to Kirklees Council grant funding, 

information and agree a standardised process for accessing it. Designing and jointly 

agreeing a set of principles which underpin the practical elements of funding the VCSE 

will be important to ensure clarity, consistency and transparency in the process of 

applying for council funds (including Councillor Ward Project budgets). As a minimum it 

is recommended that the following form the basis of some of those principles, and 

commitments are made to the following: 

 

• Multi year funding. This not only supports the stability of the organisation or 

project and helps with planning and project development but, more importantly, 

helps those organisations unblock issues that are now entrenched in many 

communities.   

• A ‘Funding front door’ where all potential funds are visible and in one place, and 

with links to wider funding opportunities (building on work already started). 

• Focus on funding local organisations, clearly connected to the local community 

and that funds existing activities and developments that come from these not 

just new ideas. 

• Support for funding of ‘overheads’ – Making a meaningful and realistic 

contribution towards the overheads of a VCSE organisation helps them invest 

and grow capacity and reserves which in turn supports their resilience and 

sustainability.   

• Developing grants that are needs led and outcome – not output – focussed. 

• Open and transparent communication – identify standard and consistent routes 

that all funders will use to raise awareness of funding opportunities as well as 

ensuring local groups and communities are aware of what has been funded and 

the associated outcomes. 

• Transparency and standardisation in the application, assessment and decision 

making processes for all Kirklees Council grants, with support from the VCSE in 

the development process.  

• Develop a clear position regarding access to funds for faith based organisations. 

Page 40



 

 

• Proportionate financial accountability and outcomes monitoring which 

acknowledges the use of public funds but is proportionate to the funding issued. 

• A single Kirklees Council and Health mechanism for Quality Assurance, jointly 

developed by representatives from Health, Kirklees Council and the VCSE that 

supports the diversity of the sector. 

• Recognises (and if possible avoids) the ‘recycling’ of Kirklees Council money or 

budgets – for example, rent payments from Kirklees Council grants which are 

used to pay for the use of a council property. 

 

3. Invest in resource within the VCSE to enable them to attract more external  

(non-council) funds  

 

Providing additional capacity and expertise to help VCSE organisations of all sizes 

improve the diversity of the funding streams attracts more funds into Kirklees, helps 

develop more sustainable organisations with less reliance on the council, and enables 

them to help more people.  

 

• Development work and bid writing support – grants and contracts - TSL already 
have some capacity to support the VCSE in the development of partnerships and 
the subsequent bid writing activity, especially for larger grants and tender 
responses. These roles are undoubtedly valued by many within the VCSE as they 
help address the immediate capacity issues with many organisations in the 
development and subsequent writing of funding applications but also, by 
working closely with the relevant organisations helps support the development 
and understanding of the grant or bid writing process and approach. Within the 
last 2 years these resources have helped the sector secure £1.3m funding from 
external sources generating a return of £25 for every £1 invested in bid writer 
support. As a straightforward return on investment the financial value of this 
approach is clear. In addition, identifying easier ways for the council to match 
fund or endorse external applications will further add to this success. 

• Support to engage with local business – work is already underway by both TSL 
and One Community to increase engagement with local business and link into 
their social responsibility agendas. This work focuses on helping match local 
businesses with local VCSE according to the needs of both, and then encouraging 
them to develop direct long term relationships. In most cases it does not start as 
direct financial donations, an important point to note given the current economic 
climate. To date this work has been part of an existing role but with increased 
investment into a ‘Business or Community Connector’ role across both North and 
South Kirklees, this work could be expanded to have a far greater impact for both 
local business and the community, increasing the financial and non-financial 
support (for example, volunteering, skills workshops, practical help and advice) 
given to local, rather than national charities, to help them achieve their 
outcomes. Offering access to business support alongside grant funding can 
further help build VCSE capacity (as seen in the National Lottery Building 
Capabilities fund or the Lloyds Bank Foundation Enhance Fund). 

Page 41



 

 

• Action ‘Give local’ fundraising campaigns – develop and action local giving 
campaigns to encourage local citizens to give to local charities, and ensuring they 
see the benefit of their donation locally is a compelling message, yet it is 
estimated that the majority of Kirklees citizens donating to charity are still 
supporting national campaigns such as Children in Need, Comic Relief or national 
charities.  Identifying and developing a way where local giving could be 
supported will further help keep the Kirklees £ in Kirklees.  
Crowdfunding - strengthen opportunities to lever additional funds for local 
projects through civic crowdfunding and explore how we can integrate 
crowdfunding into existing funding schemes or programmes. There is a need to 
invest in crowdfunding skills and capacity building, including support to run 
crowdfunding campaigns. 

 

Measures of success 

• Number of new and sustainable community businesses and social value 

achieved. 

• Value of external, non-council funding secured by VCSE  

• Number of local businesses working with VCSE and the estimated financial 

equivalent value of this work (for example, the equivalent cost of Trustees time 

or business expertise). 

• Implementation of agreed funding principles can be evidenced and the impact 

demonstrated via case studies. 

  

Page 42



 

 

 

 

 

  

VCSE Investment Strategy action plan  
 
 

High level DRAFT - 6 workstreams 

2  

Community Businesses 

• Draft role profile, identify and 

agree joint funding for 

dedicated post to support 

development of community 

business (social enterprises and 

cooperatives) 

 

• Re-establish Social Enterprise 

working group to help identify 

and promote existing social 

enterprises, and support with 

re-start funding if needed 

 

• TSL and Business & Skills to 

work together to identify 

‘routes’ into business support 

 

1 

Enablers 

• Data – agree data capture 

requirements for all 

workstreams. Initiate project to 

capture. Link to WYHHP work 

 

• Quantify measures of success 

 

• Agree and action approach for 

Health involvement 

 

• Agree and action approach for 

Business involvement 

 

• Finalise Programme Steering 

Group 

 

• Identify links to other 

partnerships and strategic 

boards 

3 

Community Assets 

• Arrange meeting of 

‘Community Buildings’ 

network – gain 

understanding of current 

issues and support 

needed 

 

• Link to Place Based 

Working – identify 

current community assets 

and gaps 

 

• Develop plan to address 

these gaps 

 

 P
age 43



 

 

  

4 

Infrastructure 

Identify and agree funding for resources  

linked to: 

 

• Development and bid writers 

• Business Connector role 

• Give Local fundraising campaign 

• Arrange meeting of infrastructure orgs 

and teams to agree ways of working. 

Agree roadmap of ’infrastructure support 

work’ to include: 

• Development of meaningful interfaces 

between Kirklees Council and VCSE 

• Funding Principles and protocols – to 

include any transfer of resources to 

support 

• VCSE hubs in North & South Kirklees 

• New workstreams re infrastructure 

support for eg. specific BAME groups 

• Links to other workstreams 

 

5 

Engagement and 

communications 

Develop joint Communications 

and Engagement plans – TSL and 

Kirklees Council, which aim to: 

• Share the strategy, linking 

to shared outcomes and 

our shared values 

• Promote VCSE across 

Kirklees 

• Link to Community Asset 

Transfer and Community 

Business workstream 

• Encourage Kirklees 

Council staff to work 

differently with the VCSE 

• Link to Place Based 

Working and coordination 

of local engagement and 

communications 

 

6 

Commissioning  

and procurement  
(including social value) 

• Joint workshops to develop 

joint understanding of different 

finance models for 

commissioning, being contract 

ready and routes to do this 

 

• Jointly assess need for strategic 

procurement vehicle 

 

• Develop joint understanding of 

Social Value Portal, and 

improve local VCSE knowledge 

of how to assess social impact 

 

• VCSE involved in tender 

assessment for large capital or 

corporate tenders 

 

VCSE Investment Strategy action plan  continued… 

P
age 44



 

 

Appendix 1 – Case studies  

Priority 1 - Invest to build trust and transparency:  

creating an environment for the partners to work alongside each other 

 

Skills sharing – Secondment of a Family Support Worker from the Early Help team to the 

Brunswick Centre, with mutual benefit 

The Brunswick Centre works across all of Kirklees providing support to LBGT young people 

aged 11-24, their parents and carers.  They understand that by working holistically with the 

whole family and encouraging parental or carer involvement, then outcomes for LGBT 

young people will be improved.  

On a monthly basis the Brunswick Centre run a Trans Parents Group, which both young 

people and their parents attend in separate safe spaces. At the end of each session the 

young people are encouraged to share what they have been doing and discussing with their 

parents. However, some young people have reduced contact (or loss of contact) with 

parents or carers as a result of their sexual orientation or gender identity. This was 

recognised as a gap in provision within Kirklees and was placing increased pressure on 

existing resource trying to address it. 

The Brunswick Centre identified that a solution to this would be the employment of a Family 

Support Worker (FSW) to work with these young people and their parents or carers and 

discussions began with Kirklees Council about funding a full time FSW. The council’s Early 

Support Service had also identified a lack of knowledge and experience within their team in 

relation to working with LGBT young people and their parents or carers. An alternative 

solution to direct funding was therefore proposed, and it was agreed that a FSW from 

Kirklees Council would be seconded to The Brunswick Centre for 12 months, and work as 

part of The Brunswick Centre staff with access to all associated training, support and 

resources. In return, the FSW would then develop and deliver training to FSWs located in 

Kirklees Support Service and support their upskilling and ability to work with LGBT young 

people and their families. 

An additional benefit was also identified in terms of the time saved by the FSW having 

quicker and easier access to Kirklees Council staff, and an easier referral route into the Early 

Support. 

Recruitment for this secondment has now closed and this pilot project will be reviewed after 

the initial 12 months. 

When asked what made this possible now, Russell Oxley at The Brunswick Centre identified 

a number of factors 

• Leadership with Kirklees Council that was willing to listen, acknowledge gaps and 

look at  different ways of working. 

Page 45



 

 

• A relationship between the Brunswick Centre and Kirklees Council that was built on 

trust and a reputation for delivering in an outcomes focussed way. 

• Continuing support and understanding for what The Brunswick Centre were trying to 

achieve throughout Covid enabling them to change the nature of their delivery to be 

less face to face. 

• A mutual understanding of who is best placed to do the work. 

 

Skills sharing – A different type of support – Huddersfield Mission supported with their 

financial planning by Kirklees Council Internal Audit & Risk team  

Huddersfield Mission provide advice and support to anyone who needs it. They have been 

based in Huddersfield town centre for over 100 years and are particularly well known for 

advising and supporting those struggling with multiple and complex needs such as 

homelessness, mental health, addiction and more. 

During the early months of the Covid-19 pandemic, with their year-end (August) 

approaching trustees recognised an increasing need and difficulty to plan for future financial 

years. The Mission spoke to their named officer Public Health about some of the challenges 

they were facing through the pandemic and asked if they knew of anyone who could help 

them with the process of financial and business planning. The particular challenges of Covid 

mean that their usual forecasting process was not sufficient and additional skills were 

required. Huddersfield Mission were put in touch with the Audit and Risk team within the 

Council and a member of that team was subsequently asked to support the development of 

financial plans for the Mission.  

The Manager and Trustees were really pleased with the resulting financial plans, which 

include financial projections for 4 different scenarios, and which helped give the board 

confidence in their decision making. 

When asked what made this such a valuable piece of work, Paul Bridges at Huddersfield 

Mission identified the following factors: 

• It had the support of a senior manager who could identify, and recognise the need 

for the work to be completed. 

• It was developed as a ‘proper’ piece of work, not a bolt on to someone’s job. They 

were given the time to complete the work properly and to the standard needed for 

Trustees to make informed decisions.  It felt like it was given the same level of 

importance as an internal (Kirklees Council) piece of work. 

• The right person, at the right level, was allocated to do the work. The importance of 

accurate and informed financial planning for an organisation like Huddersfield 

Mission meant this was not a job for a new or junior member of staff. It needed an 

individual with experience and financial understanding to complete it. Several 

conversations were held with the Manager at Huddersfield Mission to ensure they 

had captured and understood all the preparatory information.   

 

Page 46



 

 

Priority 2 - Invest in whoever is best placed to provide the service or support: 

recognising and valuing each other’s strengths 

 

TSL – Distribution of £100k financial hardship fund to almost 100 organisations in a matter 

of weeks 

Kirklees Council has worked with Third Sector Leaders on a creative scheme to get funds for 

essentials to the most vulnerable families in Kirklees. 

The £170 million Government Covid Winter Grant Scheme was made available to local 

authorities in early December 2020 to assist vulnerable families with children and other 

households most affected by the pandemic. 

The aim was to give vulnerable households peace of mind in the run up to Christmas and 

over the winter months during the pandemic by helping provide food and other essentials, 

to ensure every child was warm and well fed this winter. 

Support was not restricted to households in receipt of benefits and councils were urged to 

use a wide range of data and information to support to a broad cross section of vulnerable 

households in their area. 

Kirklees Council opted to work with local charity Third Sector Leaders, making use of TSL’s 

connections with very small community groups across the borough, to ensure the funding 

reached as many people as possible in Kirklees. 

Working with small community groups, food banks and food share schemes, TSL approved 

almost 100 grants, totalling around £100,000 over less than a 3 month period. Funding 

ranged from £300 to £1,000 and projects included providing supplies for food banks, food 

parcel and cooked meal deliveries, school holiday meal schemes. Several groups also 

organised online cooking sessions, with ingredient packs to delivered participants, to help 

them develop skills to better manage their household budgets and cook affordable healthy 

family meals. 

 

Kirklees Youth Alliance CIO (KYA) – Healthy Holidays Programme – an example of the VCSE 

and local communities working together 

Towards the end of 2018, KYA, supported by TSL, led on a funding application to the 

Department for Education (DfE) in order to secure funding to address holiday hunger for 

children in Kirklees. Although this application was unsuccessful, Kirklees Council decided to 

fund their own programme – using the original application and programme as the basis of 

their support. The success of the 2019 Healthy Holidays programme led to a 3 year grant 

being awarded to KYA for delivery of future Healthy Holiday programmes.  

The KYA–coordinated Healthy Holidays Programme is a school holiday activity programme 

to engage children in informal learning in the 6 weeks holiday period, Easter holidays, and at 

Page 47



 

 

half term breaks. It aims to provide fun enrichment programmes, varied physical activities 

and healthy food. The programme is designed to support better learning, health and social 

outcomes for Kirklees children – especially those living in areas of high deprivation. 

A key part of the KYA’s coordination responsibility is the management and administration of 

a grant programme and ensuring providers adhere to minimum standards.  

However, just as this agreement was signed the Covid 19 and lockdown happened and the 

original plans for Summer 2020 had to change.  Over the subsequent months, the Healthy 

Holidays steering group considered ways to meet the needs of local children and young 

people in an ever-changing context of full lockdown, schools slowly re-opening, restrictions 

being relaxed and last minute directives from central government about school meal 

vouchers. This made it incredibly difficult for organisations like KYA across the country to 

plan effectively. It was not until mid-June that a plan for 2020’s Healthy Holidays 

Programme was agreed with the Council and Public Health. 

As a result of Covid 19 restrictions and a lastminute decision by Government to extend FSM 

provision through the holidays using food vouchers, it was agreed that this year’s Healthy 

Holidays Provision should have a slightly different focus. The programme for the 7 week 

Summer holiday consisted of a universal offer for all school age children and young people 

as well as a targeted offer for those more vulnerable and/or disadvantaged by the 

pandemic.   

A huge strength of the Healthy Holidays Programme is its ability to mobilise large numbers 

of statutory partners, local VCSE organisations and volunteers for fixed periods of time in 

school holidays. With outcomes that align with partners’ priorities, it is not difficult to get 

people onboard! The core paid team co-ordinating the effort is very small; one manager and 

one administrator, working on this for around four months of the year in total. In summer 

2020 however there were around 337 others involved in all aspects of the projects delivery 

including the production, collection and delivery of activity packs and the development of 

the online offer.  Funding from the grant was distributed by KYA to 22 local organisations to 

make this happen. 

To receive a copy of the full evaluation of the Summer 2020 programme and for information 

about future plans please contact Susan Greenwood on susan@tslkirklees.org.uk (or from 

April www.kirkleesyouthalliance.org ) 

 

Priority 3 - Invest to increase VCSE capacity, resilience and sustainability: 

empowering the VCSE to help themselves 

 

A new partnership in North Kirklees to empower South Asian Women – Ravensthorpe 

Community Centre, Indian Muslim Welfare Society and PERS (Pay and Employment Rights 

Service) 

Page 48

mailto:susan@tslkirklees.org.uk
http://www.kirkleesyouthalliance.org/


 

 

Recognising that women’s involvement, leadership and support is needed to enable us to 

survive and recover socially and economically, this partnership of 3 local charities supported 

by the TSL grant writer developed and were successful in a funding application to The Tudor 

Trust. 

Working from the ground up, and starting within their own organisations, they will enable 

women to take-on central and influential roles commanding status and respect. They then 

aim to spread this approach throughout civic life in North Kirklees and more broadly. They 

will invest in skills and opportunities for Asian women, address the race and gender-based 

discrimination faced by Asian women in employment, education and in life generally, 

challenge that prejudice, equip women to challenge it for themselves, and support women 

to deal with it as constructively as possible. They also want to spread the story of their 

project and inspire the same courage to confront the deep-set cultural patterns and 

counteract prejudice in other predominantly Asian communities, and in other 

disadvantaged communities. 

The partnership was successfully awarded £150k funding in February 2020. 

 

Thornton Lodge Action Group in partnership with Crosland Moor Community Learning 

Centre and CUP (Communities United Project) working to address inequalities in the local 

area, and building on learning from the pandemic. 

In August 2020 Thornton Lodge Action Group (TLAG) was awarded National Lottery Covid 

Response funding to work in partnership with Crosland Moor Community Learning Centre 

(CMCLC) to deliver a programme of support to local BAME residents affected by both the 

health and economic impacts of the pandemic. This support included delivery of culturally 

appropriate food parcels and essentials, activities to promote wellbeing, access to benefits 

and welfare advice and support to volunteer or gain employment. This was the first time the 

2 organisations had worked ‘formally’ together but it is the success in delivery of this initial 

funding has led to a further and much larger application to the National Lottery Partnership 

fund.  

Now joining up with CUP, this partnership has taken learning from their work with the 

whole community to develop a project to support unemployed or economically inactive 

women to learn new skills and be more enterprising. If the application to the National 

Lottery Partnership funding is successful (Stage 2 information has been submitted and is 

currently being assessed by National Lottery) each organisation will be working to their 

strengths delivering specific, but complimentary support to women in the Crosland 

Moor/Thornton Lodge area – engaging women in enterprise activity, developing their digital 

skills, and helping build leadership and volunteering skills. 

When asked about the process to get this far with the application and what has been key to 

it happening, Ibrar Hussain, Chair of Thornton Lodge Action Group highlighted the following: 

Page 49



 

 

- The support from the ward officer to help bring the organisations together, 

suggesting the partnership working so they can work together to meet community 

need during the pandemic. 

- The support from TSL in the writing of the applications to the National Lottery, and 

their ability to encourage, motivate and bring the partners together to share and 

build on ideas as the application developed, and enable each to play to their 

strengths 

- The local knowledge of all the partners involved and how they could develop a 

service in response to local need. 

The VCSE helping itself 

The Chair of TLAG has also been instrumental in supporting several other local groups 

develop and access funding. During the pandemic TLAG were approached by Masoom Care 

and Gap Shap Chai, operating in Fartown and Birkby, for support to help their local residents 

with delivery of culturally appropriate food parcels. Instead of picking this work up 

themselves, TLAG supported both groups to develop their own services; providing volunteer 

training, DBS checks, developing policies, and guidance on all aspects of managing a project. 

As a result of this support both groups received Do Something Now funding from Kirklees 

Council to support their food project during the pandemic. 

The support offered recognises that as VCSE organisations we can’t do it all ourselves, and 

that the issues we each address are often part of much wider and far reaching social, 

economic and health issues or inequalities.  By specialising in what we are good at, and 

supporting other organisations to develop their specialisms we are ultimately supporting 

communities, often bridging the gap between residents and mainstream services. 

  

Page 50



 

 

Appendix 2 – Participants 

List of individuals and organisations involved in the co-production of this 

strategy 

 

From the VCSE sector in Kirklees: 

• Andi Briggs & Andy Petrie – LS2Y 

• Paul Bridges – Huddersfield Mission 

• Mark Farmer – Yorkshire Children’s Centre 

• Michael Crowther – The Kirkwood 

• Susan Greenwood & Alasdair Brown – KYA 

• Tom Taylor – Northorpe Hall Child & Family Trust 

• Portia Roberts Popham – Locorum 

• Ibrar Hussain – Thornton Lodge Action Group 

• Paveen Butt – Jo Cox Foundation 

• Saied Laher – IMWS 

• Christine Stephen – KVIN 

• Simon Ashbee – Paddock Trust 

• Russell Oxley – The Brunswick Centre 

• Heidi Dawson - Glint 

• Mr Aslam – Ravensthorpe Community Centre 

• Lorna Peacock, Emma Dickens & Karen Jackson – Locala 

• Rev Canon Rachel Firth – Vicar of Huddersfield, Bishops officer for Community 

Engagement Kirklees 

• People Helping People Network meeting participants 

• Community Anchor meeting participants 

• TSL Board Meeting participants 

• Hilary Thompson, Val Johnson, Sean Leonard, Bridget Hughes & Alison Archer - TSL 

 

From Kirklees Council: 

• Rachel Spencer Henshall – Strategic Director Corporate Strategy, Commissioning and 

Public Health 

• Mel Meggs – Director for Children’s Services 

• Jill Greenfield – Service Director Customer and Communities 

• Jo Richmond – Head of Communities 

• Carol Gilchrist – Head of Local Integrated Partnerships 

• Michelle Wheatcroft – Head of Service, Early Support 

• Chris Dufill – Head of Service, Business and Skills 

• Jane Lockwood & Stacey Gilman – Procurement 

• Andy Simcox – Service Director for Strategy and Innovation 

Page 51



 

 

• Kate McNicholas – Head of Policy, Partnerships and Corporate Planning 

• Jonathan Nunn - Strategy and Policy Officer (Sustainable Economy) 

• Funding managers 

• Commissioning managers 

• Active Citizens and Places team 

• Carl Whistlecraft, Head of Democracy and Place Based Working 

 

Other participants: 

• Ali Ward – Social Enterprise Yorkshire and Humber 

• Rachel Dodson – Leeds Community Spaces 

• Maddie Sutcliffe – Chief Executive, Nova, Wakefield 

• Dipika Kaushal – Chief Executive, Calderdale Voluntary And Community (CVAC) 

• Steve Brennan – Kirklees Place Programme Director, North Kirklees CCG 

• Emma Woods-Bolger – One Community 

• Jeff Scales – Head of Services North and Central, Locality 

• Jo Baker – Programme Lead – Third Sector, Harnessing Power of Communities, West 

Yorkshire & Harrogate Health and Care Partnership 

• Graham Mitchell – Cooperatives (Green Valley Grocer & Colne Valley Care) 

  

Page 52



 

 

Addendum: Inclusivity 

 

Profile of organisations consulted: 

Black African Caribbean Community 

• Portia Roberts Popham - Locorum 

South Asian Community 

• Saied Laher – IMWS 

• Ibrar Hussain – Thornton Lodge Action Group 

• Mr Aslam – Ravensthorpe Community Centre 
 

 LGBTQ 

• Russell Oxley – The Brunswick Centre  

Faith 

• Rev Canon Rachel Firth – Vicar of Huddersfield, Bishop’s officer for 
Community    Engagement, Kirklees 

 

Poverty and Homelessness 

• Paul Bridges – Huddersfield Mission   

 

Physical disability 

• Christine Stephen – KVIN  

Mental Health 

• Tom Taylor – Northorpe Hall Child & Family Trust  

Young People 

Susan Greenwood & Alasdair Brown – Kirklees Youth Alliance 

Small or Micro organisations 

• People Helping People Network meeting participants – smaller micro community 

organisations 

• Heidi Dawson - Glint  

Medium  or Large organisations 

• Andi Briggs & Andy Petrie – Local Services 2 You 

• Mark Farmer – Yorkshire Children’s Centre 

• Michael Crowther – The Kirkwood 

• Paveen Butt – Jo Cox Foundation 

Page 53



 

 

• Simon Ashbee – Paddock Trust 

• Lorna Peacock, Emma Dickens & Karen Jackson – Locala 

• Community Anchor meeting participants 
 

These organisations are intended to be representative of the communities in which the 

VCSE work within Kirklees but are NOT representing the views of the entire community. 

 

There are currently no formal mechanisms in place for capturing the views of these 

varying communities and the report makes recommendations within Priority 2 to 

‘invest in further development of the VCSE infrastructure support’ in an attempt to 

address this: 

“Identify gaps in infrastructure support linked to social, economic and health 

inequalities and equity, and develop workstreams of specific support. For example, to 

widen membership from Black communities and South Asian communities to ensure 

their voices are heard, increase involvement of faith communities, to encourage access 

and offer peer support” 

 

This is further supported by Priority 1 ‘investing to build trust & transparency’ which 

highlights the need to create more opportunities to get know each other better 

“Build relationships both between the council, partners and individual VCSE 

organisations, and within the VCSE and faith sector. Listen and invest time in strategic 

and operational conversations with VCSE organisations, for example through Senior 

Leaders Networks, Community Anchor networks, place-based coordination and 

communities of interest. 

Understand the role of the VCSE on strategic boards to ensure mutual benefit and 

sharing of knowledge.” 

 

Work has already begun via the Community Champions programme to develop a 

(Learning & Physical) Disability Network and to understand how the legacy of the 

Champions programme can be supported. We are also working to understand how 

Kirklees Council can support the development of Community Networks as a whole. 

 

Page 54



Appendix 3 
 
 

VCSE Investment Strategy participants 
 

Breakdown of VCSE organisations per locality 
 

30 groups and organisations took part in engagement activities to develop the VCSE 
Investment Strategy. However, we recognise that there was not an equal distribution 
of groups engaging across all places in Kirklees. We have carried out further 
engagement activities to address this, through the Community Buildings Support 
Survey and the Community Organisations Support Survey. The findings of these 
activities are directly influencing our action planning and will influence future 
infrastructure commissions.   
 
 
Batley, Birstall and Spen 
 
Indian Muslim Welfare Society  
Jo Cox Foundation 
Yorkshire Children’s Centre 
Pluss 
1st Spen Valley Scout Group 
Indian Muslim Welfare Society (IMWS) 
Trinity Centre, Batley Carr 
Soothill Community Association / Friends of Soothill 
Birstall Community Trust 
Batley Community Outreach Centre 
Heckmondwike United Reformed Church 
The Salvation Army Batley 
 
+ an additional 55 groups from the Community Organisations Support Survey 
 
  
Dewsbury & Mirfield 
 
Ravensthorpe Community Centre 
Northorpe Hall Child & Family Trust 
Here to Help hub 
Chickenley Community Centre 
Saville Town Community Assn 
Whitley Community Association 
TIME together 
St Mary’s Community Centre 
Upper Hopton Community Association 
Dewsbury and District League of Friendship (Howlands) 
20:20 Foundation 
The United Church Kirkheaton 
Ravensthorpe Community Centre Ltd 

Page 55



Mirfield Community Centre 
Dewsbury Table Tennis Club 
Dewsbury Elim Church 
 
+ an additional 29 groups from the Community Organisations Support Survey 
 
 
Rural Kirklees 
 
Glint  
Marsden Community Trust 
Good Footing (Holmfirth) 
Made in Clayton West 
Cowlersley Community Out of School Club 
Meltham specialist tuition Services CIC  
Livpac 
Wooldale Community Association 
Holmfirth Civic Hall Community Trust 
Linthwaite Methodist Church 
Meltham Methodist Church 
Friends of Honley Library 
The United Church Marsden 
Kirkburton & Highburton Community Association 
Holmfirth Civic Hall Community Trust 
The Denby Dale Centre 
Slaithwaite Brass Band 
Milnsbridge Village Hall 
Holmfirth Civic Hall Community Trust 
Meltham Carlile Ltd 
Christ Church New Mill 
St Paul's Church, Armitage Bridge 
Longwood Village Group 
 
+ an additional 63 groups from the Community Organisations Support Survey 
 
 
Huddersfield 
 
Locurum 
Brunswick Centre 
Huddersfield Mission  
Thornton Lodge Action Group 
LS2Y 
RiverTree Trust 
OASIS Care Support Services 
Huddersfield North Scouts 
Ambrys Community Cafe 
Pakistan Association Huddersfield 
Moldgreen United Reformed Church 
Bradley Methodist Church 

Page 56



St Thomas's Church Huddersfield 
Birkby Together 
Uniform Exchange 
Growing Works 
Paddock Tust  
Almondbury Support and Care / Almondbury Carnegie Library 
Lepton Methodist Church 
Netherton Community Centre 
Huddersfield Parish Church 
Friends of Beaumont Park 
Hepworth Community Association 
St John's Community Room 
Central Youth Club 
Elim Church Huddersfield 
Hive Community 
Friends Association 
Platform 1 
Parent Sanctuary  
Brian Jackson College 
Huddersfield Mission 
Almondbury Methodist Church   
Huddersfield Laund Hill Community Club 
Almondbury Disabled Leisure Group  
Gledholt Methodist Church 
Healthy Hearts Women’s Wellbeing CIC 
15th Huddersfield (St Hilda's) Cowcliffe Scout Group 
Birchencliffe Parish Church Council 
 
+ an additional 63 groups from the Community Organisations Support Survey 
 
 
Kirklees wide 
 
Locala 
Community Anchors meeting – including local mutual aid groups 
KVIN 
Yorkshire Children's Centre 
Kirklees Youth Alliance 
Huddersfield Town Foundation 
The Kirkwood Hospice 
Grow to school 
Talkthru 
 
+ an additional 9 groups who participated in the Community Organisations Support 
Survey anonymously 
 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Name of meeting:  Cabinet Meeting  
Date:  11 October 2022  
Title of report:  Food Safety Service Plan 2022 
 
Purpose of report 
 
For Members to approve the Food Safety Service Plan produced in accordance with the 
expectations of the Food Standards Agency and as contained in the Food Law Code of 
Practice 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral wards?   

No 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Key Decision – No 
 
Private Report/Private Appendix – No 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & name 
 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning? 
 

Colin Parr 
Date: 11.08.22 
 
 
Eamonn Croston  
Date: 09.08.22 
 
John Chapman 
Date: 09.08.22 

Cabinet member  Cllr. Simpson 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All wards 
 
Ward councillors consulted:  N/A 

 
Public or private: Public 

 

Has GDPR been considered? Yes no personal data included and any sensitive data 
anonymised.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9:



1. Summary  
 
The Food Standards Agency (FSA) has a key role overseeing local authority activities 
concerning food safety enforcement.  As a result, the FSA is proactive in setting and 
monitoring standards and auditing local authorities’ enforcement activities in order to 
ensure enforcement is effective and undertaken on a more consistent basis nationwide.  
Powers to enable the FSA to monitor and audit local authorities are contained in the 
Food Standards Act 1999.  

  
Food Safety Service Plans are seen by the Agency as an important part of the process 
to ensure that national priorities and standards are addressed and delivered locally.  
Development plans will also: 

 

 focus debate on key service delivery issues; 

 provide an essential link with financial planning; 

 set objectives for the future, and identify major issues that cross service 
boundaries; and 

 provide a means of managing performance and making performance 
comparisons. 

 
 Guidance issued by the Food Standards Agency provides local authorities with a 

service plan template which is designed to ensure that local authorities include in their 
service plans: 

 

 information about the services they provide 

 the means by which they will provide those services 

 the means by which they will meet any relevant performance targets or 
performance standards set out under, for example, National Indicators (NI) 

 
2. Information required to take a decision 
 
 In developing the plan, consideration has been given to a balance of enforcement 

measures depending on prevailing circumstances, level of risk, stakeholder 
engagement, and other external influences. 

 
 The Food Safety Service Plan for 2022 is attached.  
 
 The Food Safety Service Plan for 2022 plan will summarise main 

actions/issues/outcomes to date (using the 2021/22 Local Authority Returns Data) as 
well as providing an outline of future work priorities and direction. 

 
 The Plan has been heavily influenced by the FSA ‘Recovery Plan’ which has identified 

minimum requirements for local authority food safety teams to meet, in relation to the 
recovery of their food hygiene inspection programmes as a result of the impacts of the 
Covid-19 pandemic (that resulted in the cessation of undertaking routine official 
controls, except in certain circumstances) and the subsequent, significant backlog in 
inspections. 

 
 During the period of the 2021 Food Safety Service Plan, COVID-19 continued to have 

significant impacts on the delivery of food official controls, due to a number of Food 
Safety Officers continuing to be diverted to the enforcement of Coronavirus business 
restrictions and the impacts social distancing and other health and safety controls have 
had upon the speed and efficiency of undertaking inspections and other official controls. 

 
 Since the last service plan was completed (2021), the Food Safety team has undergone 

a number of personnel changes.  The team has a new Team Manager - acting up since Page 60



September 2021 and recently made substantive.  Staffing levels are stable, with just 
one member of staff leaving the Service.  
 
Due to the lack of Environmental Health Officers/Senior Technical Officers in the market 
(who meet the competency requirements to undertake official controls), this officer will 
shortly be replaced by an officer who holds the appropriate qualifications but who is 
inexperienced and will therefore be working towards full competency.   
 
In recognising the difficulties of recruitment of appropriately qualified officers, the Food 
Safety Team is currently ‘growing their own’.  This includes two officers undertaking a 
BSc Apprenticeship in Environmental Health and a third officer who is commencing 
studies for the Higher Certificate in Food Safety Inspections.  The aim is to future-proof 
staffing levels in this important area of public health work, to ensure that Kirklees 
Council continues to meet its statutory obligations to deliver official controls for food 
safety. 
 

 The Food Safety Team continue to follow the advice issued by the Food Standards 
Agency and through the Food Law Code of Practice and Practise Guidance, to ensure 
that the team is correctly applying guidance and regulatory requirements in a consistent 
manner.  

 
3. Implications for the Council 
 

3.1 Working with People 
 
The food safety team recognises the importance of engaging with business and how 
successful business can impact and increase local and council wide economic 
development.  A consistent approach to food safety ensures a level playing field, with 
compliant businesses receiving recognition (through higher Food Hygiene Rating 
Scores) and failing businesses requiring proportionate enforcement action to secure 
compliance.   The Public Protection Enforcement Policy outlines the graduated 
approach to enforcement, which starts at education and can ultimately lead to 
enforcement action where there is repeated failure to comply with legal requirements 
and/or the seriousness of the risk associated with non-compliance requires formal, 
enforcement action.  This Enforcement Policy has been prepared in-line with the 
Regulators’ Code. 
 
Given the increase in awareness of food safety, and food hygiene rating scores, it is 
anticipated that customers to compliant businesses will increase and make the 
businesses more resilient.  Having a satisfactory food hygiene rating is also a 
requirement for businesses to trade on online food ordering platforms (e.g. Just Eat) 
therefore it is in a business’ economic interests to comply with food hygiene 
requirements.  Similarly, it is anticipated that a consistent approach to enforcement will, 
in the longer term, ensure greater compliance and reduce the need for enforcement 
action.   
 
Greater compliance should result in safer food and therefore the protection of public 
health of the residents of Kirklees. 
  
New initiatives are also being developed to address non-compliance through the 
provision of a targeted, educational offer to businesses with unsatisfactory food hygiene 
ratings (0,1,2).  Commercial consultancy work is also being developed in relation to the 
provision of food safety sampling contracts to high risk business, which includes will 
include tailored food safety advice.  
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 
 
3.2 Working with Partners  

  
 The food safety team works collaboratively with other areas of the Council, where 
appropriate.  For example, there are strong links with the Infection Prevention and 
Control Team, throughout the Covid-19 pandemic and infectious disease outbreaks in 
certain settings; School Catering to provide advice and guidance on legislative 
requirements; and with the Council’s Pest Control Service etc.  There is also strong 
collaboration with our neighbouring food safety teams in West Yorkshire to ensure that 
we are applying the law consistently.  This is particularly relevant for businesses that 
have other outlets in other areas of West Yorkshire. 

 
3.3  Place Based Working 
 
The food safety function is required to follow the Food Law Code of Practice, which 
requires that all businesses be risk rated according to a national scoring system.  This 
risk-based approach means that the businesses that pose the highest risk (whether that 
is because of undertaking high risk activities or due to poor levels of compliance) are 
inspected the most frequently.  This targets resources to those areas which pose the 
greatest risk, based on intelligence and information.   
 
It is proposed to further develop our place-based working approach through the review 
of data on poor levels of food hygiene compliance and localities to identify and focus 
resources appropriately.  This has the significant potential to address inequalities within 
communities, as it has been recognised that there is a correlation between areas of 
high deprivation and food businesses with poor food ratings.  This focus will aim to 
improve health in these localities through improved food safety with the introduction of 
a low-cost workshop available to businesses with a poor food hygiene rating.  This will 
also aim to improve engagement from businesses within these localities to achieve 
greater compliance with food hygiene requirements and to also provide them with 
additional skills at low cost.  This is also in recognition of the cost-of-living pressures 
affecting businesses. 

 
3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality  
 
The food safety team, as part of Public Protection, follows the Council’s Travel 
Hierarchy for business travel.  This has been impacted by officers being based at home, 
due to the Covid-19 pandemic and using their own cars more than prior to the 
pandemic.  However, the team is now working in more of a hybrid way (mixture of 
working from home and the office) and as part of this, officers have access to a fleet of 
fully electric vehicles.  Officers are encouraged to do multiple visits in a locality to 
maximise productivity as well as resources and to minimise emissions.  The new fleet 
of electric vehicles is likely to have resulted in a reduction in air emissions, resulting 
from the food safety function. 
 
3.5    Improving Outcomes for Children 
 
The Food Safety Team has been significantly involved in the ‘Healthy Holidays’ 
programme, which provides free activities and a meal during the school holidays to 
children who qualify for free school meals. Their involvement has been through vetting 
and inspecting all the individual schemes to ensure that food is being prepared safely 
for our children and young people.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



3.6 Financial Implications for the people living or working in Kirklees Council 
 
There are no known financial implications for people living or working in Kirklees from 
the Food Safety Service Plan.  The Plan outlines the scope and function of the Food 
Safety Team, the staffing levels within it and identifies the priorities for the period of the 
Plan.  The Plan is based upon the existing budget for Food Safety and does not request 
additional funding. 
 
3.7 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources) Consultees and their 

opinions  
 

Section 2 of the Food Law Code of Practice, 2021, (with reference to the Framework 
Agreement on Official Feed and Food Controls by Local Authorities), expects food 
safety service plans to be submitted to the relevant member forum for approval to 
ensure local transparency and accountability.  Cabinet has previously considered the 
Food Safety Service Plan on an annual basis. 

 
Kirklees, along with all Local Authorities signed up to a framework agreement with the 
Food Standards Agency for the regulation of food premises.  In accordance with this 
agreement, the Local Authority has a duty to appoint a sufficient number of authorised 
officers to carry out the functions required by the Food Law Code of Practice (England).   
 
In cases where local authority failure is identified (i.e. failure either to discharge 
functions adequately or failure to meet statutory obligations to apply the law), the 
agency has legal powers of intervention of direction and default. 
 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, during the period of the previous Food Safety Service 
Plan 2021, three officers continued to be diverted to Coronavirus enforcement duties 
and COVID-19 outbreak investigations etc.  In July 2021, the Food Standards Agency 
published a ‘Recovery Plan’, which identified minimum expectations (with milestones 
for completion) for all food safety departments in England to meet.  The aim is for all 
food safety inspection programmes to be back in-line with the requirements of the Food 
Law Code of Practice by 2024.  At the time of writing, Kirklees Food Safety Team has 
exceeded these minimum requirements and is working ahead of the schedule to be 
back in-line with the frequency of inspection as set out in the Code of Practice. 
 
No other comments have been received by other consultees    

 

4.  Next steps 
  

The Food Safety Service Plan will need official sign off at Cabinet in line with the food 
law code of practice. The Portfolio Holder will be briefed prior to cabinet.  
 
This Food Safety Service Plan will be reviewed in late spring 2023, to further assess 
compliance with the FSA Recover Plan and to review the priorities within the 2022 plan 
to determine whether these have been met and what new priorities will need to be set. 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
 That the Food Safety Service Plan 2022 be adopted.  
 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 
 That the Officer Recommendation be approved. 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



8. Contact officer  
 

Judith Stones, Operational Manager, Public Protection, Environmental Health,  
PO Box 1720, Huddersfield, HD1 9EL 
Tel: 01484 221000.    
Email: judith.stones@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
  

Food Standards Agency Service Plan Template 
 Food Law Code of Practice 2021 

 
10. Director responsible   
  

Katherine Armitage – Service Director Climate Change and Environmental Strategy  
  

Page 64



 

 
 

  Page 65



 

 

 

 

Page 66



 

 

CONTENTS 

1. SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 

COVID-19 Impact statement 

1.1 Aims and Objectives 

1.2 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans 

1.3 Sustainable Economy 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 Profile of the Local Authority 

2.2 Organisation Structure 

2.3 Scope of the Food Service 

2.4 Demands of the Food Service 

2.5 Regulation Policy 

3. SERVICE DELIVERY 

3.1 Interventions of Food and Feeding Stuffs Establishments 

3.2 Food and Food Premises Complaints 

3.3 Compliance and Enforcement Action 

3.4 Advice to Business 

3.5 Food Sampling 

3.6 Control and Investigation of Food Related Infectious Disease and Outbreaks 

3.7 Food Safety Incidents 

3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations 

3.9 Home Authority Principle and Primary Authority Scheme 

3.10 Food Safety Promotional Work and Non-Official Controls Intervention 

4. RESOURCES 

4.1 Financial Allocation 

4.2 Staffing Allocation 

4.3 Staff Development Plan 

5. QUALITY ASSESSMENT 

5.1 Quality Assessment and Internal Monitoring 

6. REVIEW 

6.1 Review against the Food Safety Service Plan 2021 

6.2 Identification of Any Variation from the Service Plan 2021 

6.2.1 Inspections 

6.2.2 Requests for a Revisit under the National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) 

6.2.3 Revisits to Non-compliant Premises 

6.3 Areas of Improvement for 2022/23 

Appendix 1 – Organisational Structure 
Appendix 2 – Food Hygiene Rating Scheme, Number of Compliant or Failed Premises 
Appendix 3 – Infectious Diseases Data  

Page 67



 

 

 

1. SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 

COVID-19 Pandemic Impact Statement 

The Covid-19 pandemic resulted in the Food Standards Agency issuing guidance to Local Authority  
(LA) Food Safety Departments (in March 2020), to pause their inspection programmes and focus on  
a number of priorities. As a result of this, a significant backlog developed of premises that are now 
overdue for inspection. At all times during the pandemic, Kirklees Food Safety Team has complied  
with the requirements of the FSA to ensure the safety of food in the borough and to respond to any  
food safety risks. 

This Food Safety Service Plan for 2022 has been structured around the Food Standards Agency (FSA) 
“Local Authority Recovery Plan for the period from 1 July 2021 to 2023/24”. The recovery plan sets  
out a framework for re-starting the delivery of official controls with a focus on new businesses and  
those that are highest risk, to ensure that food safety departments realign with the Food Law Codes  
of Practice (for England, Wales and Northern Ireland) for new food establishments and for high-risk 
and/or non-compliant establishments while providing flexibility for lower risk establishments. This  
should be implemented alongside delivery of: 

• official controls where the nature and frequency are prescribed in specific legislation and official 
controls recommended by FSA guidance that support trade and enable export. 

• reactive work including enforcement in the case of non-compliance, managing food incidents  
and food hazards, and investigating and managing complaints. 

• sampling; and 

• ongoing proactive surveillance. 

 

The aim is that LA inspection programmes should be back in-line with the Food Law Code of Practice’s 
minimum inspection frequencies by the end of the period specified within the recovery plan. The first 
milestone required local authorities to have undertaken an on-site intervention at all risk category A 
premises by 31st March 2022. Kirklees has met this first milestone and does not foresee any current 
problems in meeting the requirements of the next milestones on 30 th June 2022 and 30th September 
2022. At the time of writing, the current forecast is that we should significantly exceed the minimum 
expectations of the FSA Recovery Plan. 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



 

 

1.1 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 

To seek to ensure that all food prepared, offered or exposed for sale is what it says it is and that it is  

safe and will not cause ill health  

To meet the requirements of the FSA Local Authority Recovery Plan and exceed these requirements 
wherever possible. 

To inspect all unrated premises (new registrations). 

1.2 LINKS TO CORPORATE OBJECTIVES AND PLANS 

The Council’s vision is for Kirklees to be a district that combines a strong, sustainable economy with  
a great quality of life – leading to thriving communities, growing businesses, high prosperity and low 
inequality where people enjoy better health throughout their lives. This vision is underpinned by the 
Council’s shared outcomes which are: 

• Best Start 

• Sustainable Economy 

• Well 

• Safe and Cohesive 

• Independent  

• Clean and Green 

• Aspire and Achieve 

• Efficient and Effective 

• Shaped by People 

In addition, the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment identifies Food and Nutrition as one of its priorities. 
Furthermore, the link between unsafe food and public health is clear, and therefore, it is important  
to ensure that food processed, produced and sold in Kirklees is safe and fit for human consumption.  

Timely, programmed and risk-based interventions will ensure that food businesses are inspected,  
and where necessary, proportionate enforcement action is taken. This approach will aim to ensure that 
problem premises are dealt with before their practices and procedures can have a detrimental impact  
on public health.  

Climate Emergency is a key strategic priority for the Council. Climate change has the potential to 
significantly impact on food security due to negative impacts on food production (both crops and 
livestock). It may also have a detrimental impact on food safety through the increased growth and 
proliferation of pathogenic foodborne micro-organisms both in the UK but also in developing countries 
where foods may be imported from. It will be necessary for the Food Safety Team to remain vigilant and 
aware of any new evidence, which indicates food safety issues because of climate change. This should 
also incorporate increased sampling of imported foods on a more regular and programmed way. 

Another significant impact on food supply and the delivery of official controls in relation to food safety  
is the UK’s exit from the EU. From 31st December 2020, the UK has been a ‘third country’ and some 
food exports are required to meet EU imported food entry checks.  

It also means that some foods coming from the EU now need to meet third country import checks in  
the UK (though the full requirements intended to commence on 1st July 2022 have been postponed).  
The other impact from a UK perspective is that foods from outside the EU (third countries) that are 

Page 69



 

 

destined for the UK, will no longer be checked at the first point of entry into the EU, this will lead to 
increased import checks at UK Border Control Points. 

The additional controls on imports and exports of certain foods, may also impact on businesses  
within Kirklees and their ability to operate. Significant work was undertaken in 2019 to contact all food 
manufacturers within Kirklees to signpost them to the relevant places for information on import/exports  
to and from the EU in preparation for UK’s withdrawal from the EU. We are not currently aware of any 
businesses in Kirklees who export food subject to third country import controls and therefore do not 
believe that this is a significant risk.  

To date, there have not been any significant impacts from the UK's exit from the EU; however not all 
import controls for food emanating from the EU are in place. There remains, therefore, the potential  
for the following impacts upon Kirklees Food Safety Department: 

There may be an increase in the requests to Food Safety for export certificates from manufacturers 
located in Kirklees.  

There will be an increase in the quantities of third country imported foods in circulation in the UK  
(as EU foods will now be third country imports) that may lead to an increased need to inspect  
/ sample / seize / detain etc. imported foods, more than we previously experienced as EU members.  

Where third country, imported foods are allowed to leave port (pending results of analysis) to be  
stored at an External Temporary Storage Facility (ETSF), if results are unsatisfactory, Kirklees food 
safety officers may be required to take appropriate action to deal with those foods. (Currently there  
are 2 ETSF facilities located within Kirklees, however neither are currently registered for food storage). 

The situation will need to be monitored, especially when full import controls on food emanating from  
the EU begin. 

1.3 SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY 

The Food Safety Team recognises the importance of engaging with business and how successful 
business can impact and increase local and council wide economic development. A consistent approach 
to food safety ensures a level playing field, with compliant businesses receiving recognition (through 
higher food hygiene rating scores) and failing businesses requiring proportionate enforcement action  
to secure compliance. The Public Protection Enforcement Policy outlines this graduated approach.  
This has been prepared in-line with the Regulators’ Code. 

Given the increase in awareness of food safety, and food hygiene rating scores, it is anticipated that 
customers to compliant businesses will increase and make the businesses more resilient. Similarly,  
it is anticipated that a consistent approach to enforcement will, in the longer term, ensure greater 
compliance and reduce the need for enforcement action.  

The Service works closely with the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) and undertakes a food 
sampling programme that focuses on national/international food safety concerns and trends. We 
continue to work with colleagues from the Public Health Team (formerly NHS Kirklees) in relation  
to Covid-19 and infection prevention and control. 

The Food Information and Nutritional Education (FINE) team was previously positioned within the  
Public Protection Service and worked with the Food Safety Team on a number of projects to promote 
healthy eating. One such project was ‘Healthy Holidays’ that was introduced during the Covid-19 
pandemic in response to the problem of children not being at school and therefore not being able to 
access a nutritionally balanced lunch due to school closures and poverty. This project has continued 
during school holidays since that time and the Food Safety Team ensures that providers are compliant 
with food hygiene legislation and are providing safe food.  

 

Page 70



 

 

 

Since 1st April 2022, the FINE Team has now moved under the Public Health Directorate, however the 
joint working on Healthy Holidays continues, as will future projects, where appropriate. 

The Food Safety Team maintains its links with the Consultant in Public Health Medicine in infectious 
disease control, particularly in connection with food poisoning and foodborne illness. Links have also 
been maintained with the Consultant in Public Health Medicine in infectious disease control, particularly 
in connection with food poisoning outbreaks and surveillance, including quarterly operational and 
strategic meetings, which aim to identify and adopt solutions to larger, more regional issues. Officers 
from Kirklees Infection Prevention and Control Team also sit on these meetings, which have recently 
been reinstated, following their suspension during the COVID-19 pandemic. During the pandemic,  
in the absence of regular meetings, UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) officers continued to be 
consulted in relation to individual infectious disease notifications/investigations and suspected  
outbreaks of food poisoning.   

As part of the COVID-19 response, Public Protection collaborated with UKHSA (and Kirklees Public 
Health) in relation to COVID-19 outbreaks, attending at least weekly Incident Management Team 
meetings.  

Food Safety (and other Public Protection) officers have worked closely with Kirklees Infection Prevention 
Control officers to investigate outbreaks of COVID-19 in workplaces, particularly those associated with 
food businesses. These links have been maintained and will ensure continued collaborative working 
between the departments. 
 
  

 

 

 

 

Page 71



 

 

 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 PROFILE OF THE LOCAL AUTHORITY 

Kirklees is the third largest Metropolitan District with an area of 157 square miles (40,860 Hectares)  
and measured in population terms is the fourteenth largest local authority (in the UK) with a population 
currently estimated to be 441,300.  

Kirklees is an area of diverse communities, topography, settlement and industrial development. Current 
ONS figures suggest that 23.3% of the total population are from minority ethnic groups (compared to 
19.5% nationally), the largest group being Asian or British Asian (16% of total population). 

Under the political structures, the principal executive decision-making body of the Council is a cabinet  
of councillors, which includes the Leader, and the Lead Members for the Service groupings. 

The council employs approximately 6,809 Full-time Equivalent (FTE) staff, as of 2021. (This excludes 
schools). 

Kirklees is a very large food authority and currently supports over 4,200 food premises. 

2.2 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

The Food Safety and Infectious Diseases team sits within Public Protection. Please see appendix 1  

for the organisational structure. 

In accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice (England) we have appointed the UK Health Security 
Agency Food, Water and Environmental Microbiology Services Laboratory in York as our food examiner 
and through West Yorkshire Joint Services, Lancashire Analytical Services as our food analyst, both of 
whom are suitably qualified.   

2.3 SCOPE OF THE FOOD SERVICE 

The food safety and infectious disease function is dedicated wholly to food related activities and sits 
alongside the other core environmental health functions of pollution and noise control and health and 
safety. 

The food safety and infectious diseases team is responsible for undertaking the following work activities:  

• Programmed food hygiene interventions 

• Provision of advice to food businesses 

Page 72



 

 

• Food sampling (including milk and dairy products) 

• Investigation of food complaints  

• Investigation of food poisoning and outbreak control 

• Responding to food standards agency food alerts 

• Inspection of food 

• Monitoring licensed/approved premises 

• Imported food control 

 

 

West Yorkshire Joint Services are responsible for food standards, feed hygiene and inspection of 
primary production premises in the Kirklees area. 

Kirklees Council’s Animal Health Team support the Food Safety Team through the inspection of farms 
and small holdings; the investigation of animal welfare complaints; and attendance at livestock markets 
etc.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

 

2.4 DEMANDS ON THE FOOD SERVICE 

As of 1st April 2022, there were 4,276 food businesses registered with the Food Safety Team. 

The table below shows the number of food businesses registered with Kirklees Food Safety Department 
on the 1st of April 2022. The pie chart below also represents this information. 

FOOD BUSINESSES REGISTERED WITH THE FOOD SAFETY TEAM ON 
1ST APRIL 2022 
 

Business type Number 

Producers and farmers 13 

Manufacturers and 
packers 

109 

Importers and exporters 7 

Distributors and 
transporters 

49 

Retailers 886 

Restaurant/Caterers 3212 

Total 4276 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Producers and farmers
0.30%

Manufacturers and 
packers 2.55% Importers and 

exporters 0.16%

Distributors and 
transporters 1.15%

Restaurants /Caterers
75.12%

Retailers 20.72%

Food Business Registered with the Food Safety Team 1 April 2022

Page 74



 

 

The risk rating relative to the number of food business is provided. The table below shows a breakdown 
of the number of food businesses that fall into the different risk categories A to E, as detailed within the 
Food Law Code of Practice. Businesses in risk category A are deemed the highest risk and are therefore 
inspected the most often; through to category E premises that are deemed the lowest risk and are 
therefore inspected the most infrequently. 

Rated premises profile 1st April 2022 

Type of Risk Type of Premises Number 

A  20 

B  140 

C  779 

D  1625 

E  1540 

Outside programme  7 

Unrated premises  136 

Approved premises Meat/minced meat or meat 
preparations products 

14 

 Fishery Products 1 

 Cold Stores 11 

 Egg Packing 4 

 Dairy products 5 

Specialist processes On-darn pasteurisers and dairy 
products 

5 

 Bottled water producers 1 on 2 sites 

 

Compared to many authorities, we have a large number of on-farm pasteurising dairies within the  
district and consequently we have two officers specifically trained for this area of work. 

The budget allocated to delivering the Food Safety and Advice function is shown in section 4.1. 

 

1540

1625

779

140

20

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800

E

D

C

B

A

Rated Premises Profile 1 April 2022

Page 75



 

 

Service delivery points 

Environmental Health operates from Flint Street, Fartown, Huddersfield, HD1 6LG. 

Opening hours are Monday to Thursday from 8.45am to 5.15pm, Fridays from 8.45am to 4.45pm. 

The public may also access the service from Information Centres located in Huddersfield and Dewsbury.  

2.5 REGULATION POLICY 

The Enforcement Policy was reviewed and updated in 
2019 and incorporates the Enforcement Concordat. 

The Policy may be viewed on the Council’s website at:  

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-
enforcement/pdf/enforcement-policy.pdf 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-enforcement/pdf/enforcement-policy.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-enforcement/pdf/enforcement-policy.pdf


 

 

3. SERVICE DELIVERY 

The Foods Standards Agency issued a revised Code of Practice in 2021. The code of practice  
continues to support local authorities in using a range of interventions that allow local authorities  
to target resources more effectively on those premises that pose the highest risk.  

In 2010 a series of alternative interventions was introduced for premises that were risk rated as category 
C or D; however, this approach is not currently being followed due to the FSA Recovery Plan and, 
instead, full, on-site inspections or audits are being undertaken.  The alternative interventions for 
category C and D premises will be reviewed, prior to them being reintroduced.  

We continue to follow an alternative intervention approach for low risk, category E premises, which  
have previously been inspected, whereby a ‘low risk survey’ form is sent to a business asking the  
food business operator about the types of foods handled and what food safety procedures are in-place  
at the business.  From this, an assessment will be made of the food safety risk. Where there has  
been a change in food business operator, or if the information provided indicates an increase in risk,  
an on-site intervention shall be undertaken. Where the form is not returned, an officer will call the  
business to complete the assessment or will visit to assess the risk. These will also result in a full 
inspection, should the information indicate an increase in the food safety risk.    

The following tables shows the number of interventions undertaken during the 2020/21 and 2021/22 
financial years and these are listed according to the type of intervention. 

Interventions undertaken 2021/22 

The following table shows the number of interventions undertaken during the 2020-2021 financial year 
and these are listed according to the type of intervention. 

Intervention type Number 

Inspection or audit 210 

Verification or surveillance (including onsite visits and 
some remote assessment) 

147 

Sampling* 11 

Advice or education (remote only) 409 

Information/intelligence gathering 1 

Food Hygiene Rating re-assessments 10 

COVID-19 remote assessments** 629 

 

Page 77



 

 

Interventions undertaken 2021/22 

The following table shows the number of interventions undertaken during the 2021-2022 financial year 
and these are listed according to the type of intervention. 

Intervention type Number 

Inspection or audit 1195 

Verification or surveillance (including onsite visits 
including revisits, information/intelligence and 
complaint investigation visits and also some remote 
assessment 

193 

Sampling* 147 

Advice or education 151 

Information/Intelligence gathering 1 

Food Hygiene Rating re-assessments 52 

COVID-19 remote assessments** 40 

* Excluding routine dairy sampling 

** Remote assessments were brought in by the Food Standards Agency to identify food safety risks that 
would give rise for the need for an on-site visit during the COVID-19 pandemic:  

• Monitor compliance at businesses which had a food hygiene rating of 0, 1 or 2 to ensure that food 
hygiene problems had been satisfactorily addressed (note - an on-site visit would be undertaken if 
concerns remained). 

• Assess any risks posed by newly registered businesses. 

• Contact businesses to identify any changes in how they would normally operate during COVID-19 
pandemic, e.g.  

It can be seen that in 2021/22, the Food Safety Team significantly increased its delivery of official 
controls and not only met the Food Standards Agency’s Recovery Plan minimum requirements,  
but the numbers of interventions were almost back to pre-pandemic levels. 

3.1 INTERVENTIONS OF FOOD AND FEEDING STUFFS 
ESTABLISHMENTS 

During 2021/22 all inspections were undertaken by Environmental Health staff (rather than contractors).  

We place high value in the importance of consistency in our approach and amongst officers, which is 
better supported using in-house staff. 

The food safety interventions for the 2022/23 period will be based on ensuring that the minimum 
requirements of the FSA Recovery Plan are met but aiming to exceed these requirements by completing 
onsite interventions for category D rated premises that are broadly compliant and category E premises.  
We will continue to prioritise new, unrated businesses for on-site inspections and, based on figures for 
the last 3 years, we would expect approximately 550 new businesses to register. 

 

 

Page 78



 

 

 
The following table shows the number of programmed interventions that are due to be completed up to 
the 31st of March 2023: 

* Please note that category E businesses will usually receive a low-risk survey either by post or 
conducted over the phone. Where this identifies that there have been no changes to the businesses and 
the risks are not deemed to have increased, then an on-site visit is not undertaken. Where there has 
been a change of food business operator or a change in their business operation an on-site inspection 
will be undertaken. 

The total number of inspections due, in order to meet the minimum requirements of the FSA Food 
Recovery Plan, is 1,327 This is based on the rated businesses, already in the inspection programme  
that must be inspected (Category A, B and C premises and category D premises that are less than 
broadly compliant - as per the table above), the unrated businesses carried over from 2021/22 (136)  
and the estimate of the number of businesses that will register over the next financial year 
(approximately 550 based on previous years). 

There are currently 9.5 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) officers authorised to undertake official controls.  
There is a further 1 FTE in training who will be able to assist in information/intelligence gathering  
visits etc. 

With the estimated number of inspections due, it is anticipated that the requirements of the FSA 
Recovery Plan will be met comfortably. Depending on the number of new business registrations  
that we receive over the period, it is also anticipated that, in addition to meeting the FSA’s minimum 
requirements, the on-site inspection of category D premises that are broadly compliant will also be 
undertaken. It is aimed that at least 50% of these businesses will be inspected.   

There are also a number of revisits planned, to ensure that businesses who were less than broadly 
compliant have made the required food safety improvements. The current number due to be completed 
over the period is 69, but the total for the year will increase as premises are inspected and non-
compliances identified. It is anticipated that the total will be around 200, based on data for previous 
years. These should be completed with the resources available. 

The Food Safety Team will also continue to prioritise the new allergen requirements in food businesses, 
during on-site inspections. These new requirements, commonly known as ‘Natasha’s Law’ require 
businesses who wrap food for sale (pre-packed for direct sale e.g., packaged sandwiches) must provide 
ingredients and allergen information on the packaging to inform consumers. This has been a significant 

Risk Category of Establishment 
Number of premises due inspection in this 
category to 31.3.23 

A due before 31.3.23 18 

B due before 30 June 2022 (FSA Recovery Target) 47 

B due between 1.7.22 and 31.3.23 88 

C less broadly compliant (with a Food Hygiene Rating 
(FHR) of 0,1,2 due before 30.9.22 (FSA Recovery 
Target) 

37 

C that are broadly compliant (with an FHR 3,4,5) and 
others due before 31.3.23. (FSA Recovery Target) 

443 

D less than broadly (compliant with an FHR) of 0,1,2 
due before 31.12.22 

8 

Ds that are broadly compliant with an FHR 3,4,5 due 
before 31.3.23 and others due before this date 

1264 

E* due before 31.3.23 1124 

Page 79



 

 

change in the requirements relating to allergens and therefore emphasis is being placed on this during 
inspections to assist businesses in complying and to keep consumers safe. 

Staff resources are organised on a north/south district basis. In addition, some staff have responsibility 
for specialist areas of work including infectious diseases; meat and dairy products premises etc. We 
continue to operate the national ‘Food Hygiene Rating Scheme’ (FHRS). The scheme is supported and  
promoted nationally by the Food Standards Agency. It helps consumers choose where to eat out or shop 
for food, by giving them information about the hygiene standards in food premises at the time they were 
inspected to check compliance with legal requirements, and through this, it encourages businesses  
to improve their standards.  

The map “Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme, Number of Compliant or 
failed Premises” in Appendix 2 shows 
that there appears to be a correlation 
between areas of worst deprivation 
and low food hygiene ratings.  

This is an area of work we plan to look 
at more closely, to try and identify 
some of the reasons for this and to 
focus resources to attempt to work with 
businesses/communities to improve 
food hygiene ratings in these most 
deprived areas and also to raise 
awareness of the food hygiene rating 
scheme amongst consumers, so that 
they can make informed choices about 
the businesses they buy food from.  

Part of this will include low-cost training aimed at food businesses, which have a poor food hygiene 
rating.  

A workshop-type approach will be taken and will take place within localities where there is a 
disproportionate number of businesses with a low food hygiene rating. It is anticipated that this will 
commence in autumn 2022. 

We will also consider the implications of, and wider public health priorities relating to the Food 
(Promotion and Placement) (England) Regulations 2021, also known as the new High Fat, Salt and 
Sugar (HFSS) legislation that was due to come into force in October 2022. However, this has now  
been delayed by the Government.  The new legislation places restrictions on businesses in relation to  
in-store promotions, product location and marketing activities. This is part of the Government’s ‘Obesity 
Strategy’ and the HFSS legislation aims to encourage adults to change their purchasing behaviour,  
diet and overall lifestyle. Further promotional work that was planned for 2022/23 with the assistance  
of West Yorkshire Joint Services, will now be postponed until the legislation comes into force.  

Food team officers have been specifically authorised to enforce legislation relating to Imported Food. 
There are no ports of entry within Kirklees. There are two External Temporary Storage Facilities (ETSF) 
in Kirklees (ETSFs are HMRC controlled warehouses where foods may be stored until import clearance 
is given), but neither of these currently receive food goods; therefore, there is only a low level of work 
involved.  

Officers look for imported food on inspections and take appropriate action if required. In 2019/20  
officers undertook an imported food sampling exercise (funded by the Food Standards Agency) to  
check the safety of imported foods being sold in Kirklees. All samples were satisfactory.  

There is also a requirement for Food Safety Departments to undertake the sampling of imported foods 
as part of their sampling programme. 

Page 80



 

 

Primary producers (food growers) are inspected in West Yorkshire by West Yorkshire Joint Services 
Food Feed and Standards officers. Additional support for this is undertaken by animal health officers  
in conjunction with their farm inspections. 

Since the introduction of smoke-free legislation in 2007 premises and vehicles are also assessed for 
compliance at each inspection and the necessary action(s) taken. 

 

3.2 FOOD AND FOOD PREMISES COMPLAINTS 

It is the policy of the food team that complaints received by the Service in relation to food and food 
premises are investigated in accordance with the relevant guidelines and Public Protection Enforcement 
Policy. 

Complaints which are of a minor nature, and therefore, unlikely to result in formal action receive a limited 
response. 

When a complaint is, or may be, associated with the business’ central policies or procedures, where 
appropriate, the primary, home and/or originating authority are contacted for advice if it is outside 
Kirklees. 

Any complaints received relating to food standards issues are referred to West Yorkshire Joint Services. 

In 2020/21 the Food Safety Team received 633 complaints relating to the condition of either food or food 
premises. In 2021/22, 524 complaints relating to the condition of food or food premises were received 
(this is consistent with previous years). The type of complaints varied, ranging from bits of plastic in  
food to complaints of rats in premises. All complaints require a degree of investigation. However,  
those considered to pose the greatest risk to public health are afforded more time and resources. 

The resources allocated to the Food Safety Team are sufficient to enable all complaints relating to food 
or food premises to be triaged and action taken according to risk and our work instructions regarding 
such complaints.  

Page 81



 

 

3.3 COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

The tables below detail the enforcement action undertaken by the Food Safety Team during 2020/21  

and 2021/22. 

ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS 2020/21 

Enforcement action type 2020/21 Number 

Voluntary closure 3 

Seizure of food 1 

Suspension/revocation of approval/license 0 

Emergency prohibition 0 

Simple caution 3 

Improvement notices 5 

Remedial Action and detention notices 2 

Written warnings Data not available 

Prosecutions 1 

ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS 2021/22 

Enforcement Action type Number 

Voluntary closure 13 

Seizure of food 0 

Suspension/revocation of approval/licence 0 

Emergency prohibition 0 

Simple caution 3 

Improvement notices 93 

Remedial action and detention notices 2 

Written warnings 972 

Prosecutions 1 

The enforcement option used depends very much on the risk present at the time of the inspection and 
varies from a simple report, outlining corrective actions needed, to the service of a hygiene emergency 
prohibition notice, which requires the business to close immediately. Enforcement, in accordance with 
the Food Law Code of Practice and Public Protection Enforcement Policy, follows a graduated approach. 
Our enforcement actions have, historically, been within the top 15 local authority food safety 
departments nationally. 

The enforcement actions during the 2020/21 period reflect the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic upon 
the work of the Food Safety Team, who undertook far fewer interventions, due to those officers playing  
a crucial role in the Council’s Coronavirus response. 

3.4 ADVICE TO BUSINESS 

The Food Safety and Infectious Diseases Team is committed to providing advice to food businesses; 
 this may involve carrying out a visit to assist food businesses to comply with food hygiene legislation. 
During the 2021/22 period, 151 requests for advice were received. Given the limited resources, and 

Page 82



 

 

following Council priorities, we’ve placed greater information and detail on the Kirklees website, which, 
coupled with information available on the FSA website, gives prospective businesses all the information 
they require.  

For unique/high risk businesses, officers still visit and provide the advice needed. Ultimately, however, 
the responsibility to operate and produce food safely remains with the business.  

We have also begun to provide advice to food businesses when they register a new business with us. 
This is done by sending the food business operator an email with advice on how to comply with the  
legal requirements, with links to further sources of information. The intention is to provide them with  
the information they need to make sure they are complying with the main elements of food safety law, 
including the need for documented food safety management procedures. The aim is that this will enable 
them to get things in place before the inspection so that they can achieve the highest food hygiene rating 
possible and, of course, to produce safe food.  

As part of our commitment to support new food businesses, the Food Safety Team previously operated  
a ‘Getting It Right First Time’ course. This has been on-hold due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, 
the principal was that we encouraged newly registered businesses to attend this course. It would provide 
them with information in relation to food safety but other legal requirements e.g., health & safety, fire 
safety, waste, business support and licensing etc. 

However, as a result of the pandemic and from reviewing our data regarding food business compliance 
and localities, it has been identified that there is a significant correlation between poor levels of food 
hygiene compliance and businesses being located in areas/wards with high levels of deprivation (please 
see Appendix 2 – Food Hygiene Rating Scheme, Number of Compliant or Failed Premises). We are 
therefore, refocusing our resources to supporting these businesses by developing a low-cost training 
workshop that will be focused on businesses that are less than broadly compliant, particularly those with 
food hygiene ratings of 0, 1 or 2.  

These workshops will take place in localities where compliance is low so that the workshops are easy to 
access and will provide an opportunity for the food business operators to get one-to-one help and 
advice. 

This will be targeted towards businesses where enforcement action is likely to be taken, should 
standards not improve. Each business that attends will also receive a free printed copy of Safer Food, 
Better Business. This approach also links in with the Council’s priority of place-based working. 

 

Page 83



 

 

3.5 FOOD SAMPLING 

It is the policy of the food team to carry out routine sampling and to take samples where problems  
with food production have been identified. Other sampling is linked to our food premises interventions 
programme and where problems associated with high-risk foods are anticipated or are revealed during 
routine inspections. There is also a focus on sampling at premises that pose a higher risk due to the  
type of food and the quantities of food produced, e.g., approved premises that manufacture meat/dairy 
products etc. 

This sampling of both food and environmental swabbing provides reliable information regarding the 
hygiene standards in premises and the safety of food products. 

 

Due to the number of farm dairies in Kirklees, we offer an economical chargeable service for the 
collection and analysis of dairy products on their behalf. This is considered to be an important area  
of work given past experience of infections in milk and the high-risk nature of the product. This work  
has continued during the COVID-19 pandemic. We are also looking to expand this service to other 
approved premises and manufacturers of high-risk food, such as meat products premises, to assist  
such businesses in verifying that their food safety management procedures (based on the HACCP 
principles) are effective.  Due to a reduction in the availability of local food microbiology services,  
we see this as an important area of work that requires development. 

The Food team also participates in cross regional and national surveys organised through UKHSA.   

In addition, samples are taken following referrals of sample failures from other local authorities;  
by officers following or during routine inspections; and/or in response to complaints. All sampling  
is undertaken by officers in accordance with quality procedures and relevant sampling protocols.  
Formal samples are taken in accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice. Samples are submitted  
to either the UKHSA Food and Water Laboratory or Lancashire Analytical Services Laboratories. 

In 2020/21, 213 samples were taken which includes those taken for sample studies as well as those 
taken to verify process/environmental hygiene within businesses. In 2021/22, 248 samples were taken  
in total. Of this number 147 were non- dairy sampling and were undertaken as part of studies or for 
surveillance at food businesses. It is anticipated that once the food inspection programme is fully 

Page 84



 

 

recovered (following the Covid-19 pandemic) we will increase our sampling to be more in-line with 
previous years. We will also begin to increase our sampling for surveillance purposes due to having 
additional staffing resources available in the form of 3 officers undertaking studies to become 
Environmental Health Officers/Senior Technical Officers who, once competent, will undertake  
sampling as part of our surveillance of food hygiene standards and food safety at businesses. 

3.6 CONTROL AND INVESTIGATION OF FOOD RELATED 
INFECTIOUS DISEASE AND OUTBREAKS 

The Food Safety Team’s policy concerning investigation of food poisoning notifications and outbreak 
control is contained in a joint procedure manual, produced in conjunction with UKHSA and other West 
Yorkshire Authorities. The document is known as the “Protocol for investigation and management of 
sporadic cases and outbreaks” and “Kirklees Infectious Disease Outbreak Protocol”. 

Communicable diseases investigated up to the years 2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 can  
be found in Appendix 3. 

In the event of a serious outbreak, staff resources are utilised from the food team and across the  
whole Service if necessary. In 2020/2021 we investigated one suspected outbreak of food poisoning.  
In 2021/22 we dealt with three suspected outbreaks of food poisoning, one of which required significant 
investigation and resource allocation. During these instances, we work closely with UKHSA and Kirklees 
Public Health colleagues. There is also a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the West 
Yorkshire authorities that would permit colleagues from neighbouring authorities to assist us, should 
there be the need. 

From a review of Appendix 3, it can be identified that the number of total communicable diseases 
reported has declined, particularly during the period 2020/21, which has been replicated in 2021/22.  
It is unclear whether this correlates to the Covid-19 pandemic, in that fewer people travelled overseas 
(travel often being a factor associated with some diseases); people were required to remain at home for 
significant parts of those periods and may therefore have been less-exposed to food-related infections; 
and/or the public health messaging regarding handwashing as part of the pandemic, may have led to a 
reduction in cases. It will be interesting to see how the trend in the overall incidence of food-related 
infectious diseases develops over the coming year.  

3.7 FOOD SAFETY INCIDENTS 

Procedures for dealing with Food Alerts and food safety incidents are clearly documented in a specific 
quality guideline in order to comply with the Food Law Code of Practice (England). All food officers are 
required to be signed up to the FSA Smarter Comms system, whereby officers will receive food alerts 
directly. Those food alerts that are ‘for action’ will be acted upon by officers and the Food Lead Officer 
will co-ordinate the response and direct officers to take appropriate action should a food alert be 
received that relates to food or premises located within Kirklees. 

Where the Food Safety Team are contacted directly by the FSA in relation to a food incident, relating to 
a business within Kirklees, action will be taken immediately. This will also extend to responding to urgent 
food standards issues, in order to assist West Yorkshire Joint Services in responding quickly to an issue. 
This will be to identify whether the affected item is present and to take steps to remove it from sale etc. 

Where a significant food safety incident occurs, all of the Food Safety Team would be made available  
to respond. This might include a national recall etc.However, these incidents are generally infrequent 
and, as such, all necessary resources are available.  Should this not be the case, other officers from 
Environmental Health would be called upon to assist and/or other West Yorkshire colleagues would  
be requested to assist under the MOU. 

Page 85



 

 

3.8 LIAISON WITH OTHER ORGANISATIONS 

This authority has liaison arrangements with other West Yorkshire authorities through the West 
Yorkshire Food Lead Officers Group (WYFLOG) and also at Chief Officer level with West Yorkshire 
Authorities. 

The Environmental Health Group Leader attends the WYFLOG meetings on a six-weekly basis. Other 
agencies also attend these meetings, namely: UKHSA Food, Water & Environmental Microbiological 
Laboratory; Food Standards Agency (FSA) Imported Food; and FSA Relationship Manager and West 
Yorkshire Joint Services (Trading Standards). 

This enables consistency between the five West Yorkshire authorities, which is particularly important for 
businesses who may have outlets in more than one of the West Yorkshire authority areas to ensure that 
there is consistency in enforcement. To this end, all five authorities use the same aide memoire and 
other documentation for inspections, including approved premises to ensure consistency.  

Regular liaison takes place with the 
Council’s Licensing department in 
response to proposals for new food 
premises, whereby licensing officers 
notify us of any changes to licensees at 
food businesses.   

There are also close links established 
with the UKHSA colleagues and 
internally, with Kirklees Public Health, in 
relation to communicable diseases and 
infection prevention and control. 

 

 

3.9 HOME AUTHORITY PRINCIPLE AND PRIMARY AUTHORITY 
SCHEME 

There are a number of large food manufacturing businesses within Kirklees’ borough that distribute 
foodstuffs nationally and some internationally. There are also a number of food businesses that operate 
multiple outlets. However, there are currently no primary authority agreements, relating to food safety, 
between Kirklees Council and businesses. 

We do, however follow the Home Authority Principle, in that we provide assistance to other competent 
authorities in relation to facilitating the sharing of intelligence or investigating any concerns regarding  
a product produced within Kirklees or by a company located within Kirklees. 

The Food Safety Team follows the Home Authority (HA) principal when undertaking regulatory duties 
and would contact the HA should there be any concerns regarding the food safety compliance at the 
business or in relation to a complaint.   

The Food Safety Team also verifies whether there is a Primary Authority Agreement in place at 
businesses, prior to undertaking official controls and would verify whether there was any relevant 
assured advice/inspection plans etc. to be considered prior to on-site visit. Any proposed enforcement 
action would be considered following consultation with the primary authority, except in emergency 
situations where there was an imminent risk to health.  

Page 86



 

 

The lack of any food safety Primary Authority Agreements means that this area does not currently 
require any resource. The Service would openly consider establishing a primary authority partnership 
should it be approached.  

Resourcing both the Home Authority Principle and Primary Authority Scheme does not require significant 
resource at this time, as officers undertake their duties with reference to these principles when 
undertaking official controls at businesses. 

 

 

3.10 FOOD SAFETY PROMOTIONAL WORK AND NON-OFFICIAL 
CONTROLS INTERVENTIONS 

To assist businesses with the introduction of the new allergen requirements in food businesses, 
commonly known as ‘Natasha’s Law’ all food businesses were written to advising them of this significant 
change to labelling requirements of foods that are pre-packed for direct sale. Further promotional work  
is planned for 2022/23 through producing materials to leave with businesses and possible workshops 
 to assist businesses. This will be undertaken with the assistance of West Yorkshire Joint Services. 
Officers also spend time explaining these requirements to businesses during onsite interventions. 

In relation to non-official controls interventions, the Service also undertakes compliance interviews  
with businesses that have been found to be failing over a period of time. The aim is to try to achieve  
an improvement in standards, without the need to take enforcement action. The focus of the interview  
is to discuss the food hygiene contraventions with the Food Business Operator (FBO), away from the 
business where they have time to discuss and understand the issues at the business and for food  
safety officer and Environmental Health Group Leader (EHGL) to understand the reasons for the 
contraventions and for the FBO to provide some pledges as to how they intend to rectify the problems 
and to maintain an hygienic and compliant business. These pledges are recorded at the time of the 
interview and both the FBO and the EHGL both sign the agreement. Should future interventions  
identify that the business has failed to implement the required improvements or maintain previous 
improvements, then formal enforcement action will be taken. 

Page 87



 

 

 
 

4. RESOURCES 

 

4.1 FINANCIAL ALLOCATION 

The Service has, as have all local authorities continued to face financial constraints. The team continue 
to focus limited resources in a proportional risk-based approach. The budget allocated to delivering the 
Food Safety and Infectious Disease functions for 2021/22 and 2022/23 is shown below. 

 2021/22 2022/23 

Expenditure Food Team Budget Food Team Budget 

Staffing  £610,997 £615,102 

Training  £2000 £2000 

Travel and other subsistence £3083 £3083 

Supplies and services £702 £702 

ICT* £0 £0 

Sampling £8650 £8650 

Total Expenditure £625,432 £629,537 

* No actual IT budget as forms part of the corporate charges.  However, £4,000 committed to trial a 

mobile working solution for food safety interventions.  

The 2021/22 budget was reprofiled to provide extra resources for this important area of work. This has 
continued into the 2022/23 budget with a view to finalising recruitment and to assist with staff retention.  
It is hoped that this will bring the FTE more in-line with the national average (average number of food 
premises to Full Time Equivalent officers (FTEs): Nationally is 416:1; in Kirklees, this ratio has previously 
been 560:1, but is now at 451:1.  

It should be noted that due to the Food Law Code of Practice qualification and Competency Framework 
requirements for food safety inspectors, it is very difficult to recruit suitably qualified and experienced 
officers.  In the previous Food Safety Service Plan, it was intended to engage external contractors to 
assist with the delivery of official controls to meet any shortfall in the inspection programme. As a result 
of the Covid-19 pandemic, most LAs are now experiencing a significant backlog of inspections and  
these contractors are in high demand and availability is low. Therefore, Kirklees will continue to train  
and develop in-house members of staff to meet these recruitment needs. This is also part of the wider 

Page 88



 

 

workforce planning, in response to expected retirements in the coming years. There are currently three 
officers training to be either EHOs (2) or a STO (1).  

The sampling element within the above budget information, relates to sampling income from undertaking 
the sampling service that is provided for dairies and other ‘approved’ premises.   

We receive sampling credits from the UK Health Security Agency’s Food, Water and Environmental 
Laboratory in relation to sampling as part of surveillance or as part of a formal investigation, which 
enables the Food Safety Team to undertake good levels of sampling.  As previously described in Section 
3.5, it is intended that sampling levels will increase to pre-Pandemic levels, as we progress through the 
FSA’s Recovery Plan.  

 

 

4.2 STAFFING ALLOCATION 

The current staff resources covering Food Safety and Infectious Diseases work at 1st April 2022: 

1 Environmental Health Group Leader (Food Lead Officer)  

1.76 Full Time Equivalent Senior Environmental Health Officers (SEHO) 

5.74 FTE Environmental Health Officers (EHO) 

2.0 FTE Senior Technical Officer (1 officer in training and not able to undertake official controls at  
the time of writing) 

1 Business Support Officer 

The staffing resource to the Food Safety Team has increased in recent years and, as can be seen  
in 4.4 above, the ratio of food businesses per food safety officer has significantly reduced. Having 
reviewed the trends in relation to the number of businesses registering and the risk rating distribution  
of food businesses within Kirklees, it is proposed to provide further resources to the team to ensure  
that all statutory obligations are met. It is also hoped that this will enable the team to undertake more  
proactive work as well as surveillance and intel gathering to minimise food safety risks to the public. 

When all posts are recruited to, it is intended to have 11 FTE delivering official controls.   

Page 89



 

 

4.3 STAFF DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

Each individual staff member has an annual appraisal meeting with their line manager (plus a six-
monthly review) to evidence individual contributions in achieving our stated goals and identifying  
any development needs. This is in addition to regular, ongoing 1-2-1s.  

Nationally, food safety officers are required to be competent according to the Food Law Code of Practice 
and the FSA’s Competency Framework, which identifies the key areas of skills and knowledge that  
a food safety officer must have in order to be deemed competent for the delivery of official controls.  
The Competency Framework covers a wide range of food safety disciplines, with officers now requiring 
authorisation for each specific section. 

The new competency framework is a fluid document, requiring regular updates but also acting as a guide 
as it identifies development and training needs to ensure officers remain competent in relevant areas. 
Officers are required to review this document at least annually, usually prior to their annual appraisal. 
The new Competency Framework and new Food Law Code of Practice and associated Practice 
Guidance were published in March 2021 and all officers who were not deemed ‘competent’ before  
1st March 2021 have been through the new competency framework. Their knowledge and skills have 
been assessed by the Food Lead Officer through discussion and from observation during accompanied 
visits and where this has been identified as satisfactory, they have been deemed competent and 
authorised accordingly. 

As part of the competency framework and requirements of the Food Law Code of Practice, all officers 
are required to maintain at least 20 hours Continuing Professional Development (CPD).  This is also 
reviewed at the annual appraisal. 

Importance is given to the need to ensure continuing professional competence in technical areas  
of work. Training/development was challenging due to the Pandemic; however, CPD has been 
maintained through online training and from in-house training.   

In-house training consists of regular consistency meetings as well as undertaking training focused  
on specific areas of official controls, e.g., inspection of approved premises. These training sessions  
are led by the Food Lead Officer or other senior member of staff to impart their knowledge and 
experience  
to colleagues. 

Regionally organised training also takes place, twice a year, focusing on national drivers as well  
as regional training needs and requirements. e.g., UKHSA undertake microbiology training for the  
five West Yorkshire authorities at least annually. There is also £2,000 allocated towards staff training  
in the budget. 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

 

 

 

5. QUALITY ASSESSMENT 

5.1 QUALITY ASSESSMENT AND INTERNAL MONITORING 

In addition to training, the Food Lead Officer and/or Senior EHOs ensure the competency of officers 
delivering official controls, through accompanied visits (minimum annual frequency) and ongoing by 
conducting monthly audits of officers’ work  

These monthly quality checks comprise the supervisor reviewing 10% of an officer’s completed 
worksheets and assesses them against a number of parameters, focusing on consistency and accuracy 
in the application of legal requirements, updating of information and consistency in the application of the 
Food Hygiene Rating Scheme and risk rating of businesses. Where inconsistencies are identified, these 
will be discussed with the officer and training provided.This process may also identify a wider training 
need within the team and will inform the subject area for internal or external training.  

In addition, ‘accompanied visits’ are also undertaken to ensure officers are undertaking the role in 
accordance with the Code of Practice and that actions are consistent with our Enforcement Policy.  

The Food Safety Team also takes part in the FSA’s National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme Consistency 
Exercises.  The Team’s findings have always been in-line with the published results. This supports our 
internal checks that officers are correctly administering the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme.   

During the first year of the Covid-19 pandemic, routine food hygiene inspections were temporarily 
suspended. This significantly affected the percentage of the inspection programme achieved for the 
period 2020/21 as can be seen below. Since then, the Food Safety Team has been following the FSA’s 
Recovery Plan and has met its obligations in relation to this. Therefore, the percentage of the inspection 
target completed is not relevant for the period 2021/22.  As detailed in point 3.1, it is anticipated that  
we will comfortably meet the minimum requirements of the FSA Recovery Programme and expect to 
significantly exceed the requirements. The data for the periods 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21 are listed 
below. The impact of COVID-19 on the 2020/21 inspection programme can clearly be seen from these 
figures. Data for the 2021/22 period is not relevant due to the requirements for the Food Safety Team  
to follow FSA Recovery plan.  

Percentage of the Food Safety Inspection Programme Achieved 

 

2018/19 93.46% 

2019/20 95.11% 

2020/21 9.93% 

2021/22 Data not 
relevant 

Page 91



 

 

 

6. REVIEW 

6.1 REVIEW AGAINST THE FOOD SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 2021 

At the time the 2021 Food Safety Service Plan was approved, the requirements of the FSA’s Recovery 
Plan were not yet published. It was therefore, identified that we would continue to meet the requirements 
of the FSA. We have met the requirements of the recovery plan almost entirely, with only 5 premises  
still being outstanding for inspection. At the time of writing these have all now received an onsite 
intervention.  

The following table provides the data on the interventions undertaken during 2021/22 that were under 
the scope of the FSA Recovery Plan to be completed by the first milestone of the Plan on 31st March 
2022: 

FSA Recovery Plan 
Milestone 
Requirement 

Date for 
completion of the 
milestone 

Number of 
premises  Number completed  Outstanding 

Prioritisation of all 
new businesses 
based on risk 

30 September 2021 Data not available  0 

All category A 
establishments to 
receive onsite 
intervention 

31 March 2022 20 26* 0 

All new businesses 
prioritised as higher 
risk to receive onsite 
intervention 

31 March 2022 489** 450 5 

* As category A premises are inspected every 6 months, some category A premises were inspected 
twice within the 12-month period so there are more interventions listed than the number of category A 
premises. 

**This total includes new businesses that were regarded as low risk and therefore did not require an 
onsite intervention before the milestone under the Recovery Plan.  
 

 

Page 92



 

 

 

The Food Safety 
Team delivered 
beyond the 
minimum 
requirements of 
the FSA 
Recovery Plan 
and the following 
table shows the 
number of 
interventions 
undertaken at 
existing 
businesses with 
a risk category 
that was not part 
of the FSA 
Recovery Plan 
up to 31st March 
2022: 

 

Risk Category of Business Number of Interventions Undertaken 

Category B 127 

Category C 262 

Category D 204 

Category E 126 

Details of enforcement action taken are detailed in section 3.3 above.  It has been noted that some 
enforcement actions for the 2021/22 period are lower than in pre-pandemic years, e.g., service of 
Hygiene Improvement Notices. However, other enforcement actions are higher than in previous years, 
e.g., voluntary closure of businesses due to there being an imminent risk to health. This is believed to be 
as a result of the need to prioritise onsite interventions according to risk and a focus on ensuring all new 
businesses are inspected.   

The increase in the number of voluntary closures is likely to be as a result of us focusing on high-risk 
businesses, but also prioritising complaints relating to businesses that have resulted in a business being 
required to close. 

With regards to the decrease in the number of Hygiene Improvement Notices, this is a reflection on the 
priority to inspect all new businesses. As we follow a graduated approach to enforcement, it would be 
unlikely that a new business would receive legal notices upon first inspection. Instead, an educative 
approach would be taken, with a detailed report being provided to the food business operator detailing 
the necessary actions to rectify any contraventions found. Only if they then failed to make the required 
improvements, would a legal notice be served. 

 

 

 

Page 93



 

 

6.2 IDENTIFICATION OF ANY VARIATION FROM THE SERVICE 
PLAN 2021 

6.2.1 INSPECTIONS 

The Food Safety Team undertook 1,195 inspections or audits over the 2021/22 period. This was a 

significant achievement in considering the need to ensure inspections were undertaken in a Covid-

secure way, which often made inspections longer and sometimes required officers to return on a second 

occasion to ensure the inspection could be undertaken safely. This obviously impacted on the number  

of inspections that could be undertaken. 

The FSA Food Recovery Plan was not fully met, in that, five businesses which had been identified  

as higher risk and required an onsite intervention were not completed before the 31st March 2022.  

However, some of these premises had registered in March 2022 and therefore they were still within  

the 28-day period for inspection as detailed in the Food Law Code of Practice. It should be noted that  

at the time of writing, all these interventions have now been completed. 

The team exceeded the Recovery 

Plan in terms of undertaking onsite 

interventions at premises that were 

not under the scope of the Recovery 

Plan. These inspections were 

undertaken to focus on risk – 

category B premises and category 

C premises that were less than 

broadly compliant.  

There were also a number of 

inspections undertaken at premises 

that were not within the scope of  

the Recovery Plan, but where 

complaints had been received and it 

was deemed appropriate  

to inspect. 

A good number of category E premises were also assessed by officers needing to work at home due to 

self-isolation etc by following our alternative intervention strategy for category E premises.   

A total of 524 complaints were received by the Service. All complaints receive some level of response 

and officers follow a work instruction in relation to when action, including an onsite visit to the premises 

needs to be taken. As a minimum, complainants will be contacted and be given information about the 

action that will be taken.   

In cases where the complaint is of a low-risk nature (e.g., food being sold beyond its best before date) 

the complainant will be informed that a note will be placed on the premises file and the officer will look at 

this at the next routine inspection.  

For anything more serious, e.g., contaminated food; poor hygiene practices observed by a customer or 

undercooked foods then an onsite intervention will be undertaken.   

A total of 972 written warnings were issued to businesses for various contraventions of the hygiene 

regulations. This is approximately 81% of businesses receiving a written warning, following an on-site 

intervention. This is consistent with pre-pandemic years. 

Page 94



 

 

6.2.2 REQUESTS FOR A REVISIT UNDER THE NATIONAL FOOD 
HYGIENE SCHEME (FHRS) 

During the 2021/22 period, 55 requests for a revisit (reassessment of their food hygiene rating) were 
received. This demand remains high, as a low food hygiene rating can impact on a business’ ability to 
trade e.g. on online food platforms, such as Just Eat and also from the negative publicity that a low food 
hygiene rating can attract, particularly on social media or in local media who regularly publish the details 
of businesses with a 0 or 1 food hygiene rating. On 31st March 2022, all but 2 of these businesses had 
received their reassessment inspection. The remaining two were still within the 3-month period, 
permitted under the FHRS, for the reassessment to be undertaken. 

6.2.3 REVISITS TO NON-COMPLIANT PREMISES 

During 2021/22, a total of 183 revisits were undertaken at food premises to ensure compliance with 
contraventions identified during a previous inspection or complaint visit. Revisits are undertaken in 
accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice and all businesses that are less than broadly compliant 
receive a revisit. This high number of revisits reflects the focus of officers in ensuring any risk-related 
matters are addressed and to ensure that a food business is operating hygienically and is being well-
managed. 

6.3 AREAS OF IMPROVEMENT FOR 2022/23 

The following priorities for improvement have been identified for the Food Safety & Infectious Disease 
Team. They take into account the requirements of the FSA Recovery Plan and our own ambitions  
to ensure that food that is produced or sold in Kirklees is safe for our residents and visitors. We will 
achieve this through improving the hygiene standards at food businesses by better focusing our 
resources on areas and businesses with low levels of compliance and by providing additional  
support to such businesses: 

Continue to delivery official food controls in accordance with the FSA Recovery Plan and any other 
instruction that is received during the year. 

Maintain the implementation of the National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme and ensure that the 
requirements of the ‘Brand Standard’ are followed and that food hygiene ratings are being correctly 
issued across Kirklees.  

Review the alternative intervention approach to ensure food official controls are being delivered  
in line with the Food Law Code of Practice for category C, D and E premises. 

Maintain staffing levels as per the budget and consider additional resources to ensure compliance  
(an additional 1 FTE food safety officer and through engaging a contractor and/or by offering additional 
hours to existing staff etc. to address any shortfalls). 

Ensure officer development continues as required in the FSA competency framework and officer 
authorisations reflect the individual competency matrix.  

1. Increase business resilience by improving the information that we have available for businesses  
on the website. 

2. Continue to develop/sharing expertise across WYFLOG. 

3. Continue to respond to, and where necessary, lead on FSA issued alerts and requests for action. 

4. To develop and begin to deliver a low-cost food hygiene workshop aimed at food businesses  
with 0, 1 or 2 food hygiene ratings. 

Page 95



 

 

5. To develop our place-based working approach through the review of data on poor levels of food 
hygiene compliance and localities to identify focus resources appropriately. 

6. To explore and develop potential commercial opportunities in relation to the skills and expertise 
within the Food Safety Team. E.g., consultancy service work; primary authority agreements etc.  
This will look to enhance the support to businesses both within and outside of Kirklees. 

7. Further promote the changes to food labelling requirements through the introduction of ‘Natasha’s 
Law’ by producing materials for businesses and in partnership with West Yorkshire Joint Services. 

8. To complete the trial of a mobile working solutions with a view to roll it out to all officers to improve 
efficiency and to provide a high-quality report to food business officers at the time of inspection.  

 

Page 96



 

 
 

APPENDIX 1 – ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

 

Jaacqui Gedman
Chief Executive

Colin Parr
Strategic Director, Environmental Strategy and Climate Change

Katherine Armitage
Service Director, Environmental Strategy and Climate Change

Martin Wood
Head of Public Protection

Judith Stones
Operational Manager 

Pollution and Noise Control Business Support
Leanne Perry

Food Safety and Infectious 
Diseases Group Leader

Senior Environmental 
Health Officer

EHO (0.65 FTE)

EHO (1FTE)

EHO (1FTE)

EHO (1FTE)

Senior Environmental 
Health Officer 1 FTE

EHO (1FTE)

EHO (1FTE) 
Vacant

EHO (1FTE)

EHO (0.5FTE)

Senior TO 
(1FTE)

Senior TO 
(1FTE)

Animal Health
Health & Safety Pest Control

P
age 97



 

 

APPENDIX 2 – FOOD HYGIENE RATING SCHEME, NUMBER OF COMPLIANT OR FAILED 
PREMISES 

P
age 98



 

 
 

APPENDIX 3 - INFECTIOUS DISEASES DATA 

Disease  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Viral Hepatitis 
A 

 1 4 2 0 

Cholera  1 0 0 1 

Dysentery Entamoeba 
Histolytica 

1 0 0 0 

 Shigella Boydii 1 1 0 1 

 Shigella 
Dysenteriae 

1 0 0 1 

 Shigella flexneri 2 1 0 1 

 Shigella sonnei 9 6 2 2 

 Not typed 0 0 0 0 

Food 
Poisoning 

Bloody 
diarrhoea 

0 0 0 0 

 B.cereus 0 0 0 0 

 C.botulinum 0 0 0 0 

 C.perfringens 0 0 4 0 

 Campylobacter 374 273 184 182 

 E.coli 0157 3 4 8 6 

 Listeria 0 1 0 1 

 Salmonella 70 48 19 9 

 Suspected food 
poisoning 

5 0 1 3 

 Yersinia 0 0 0 0 

 Not typed 0 0 0 2 

Gastro 
Enteritis 

Cryptosporidium 53 29 7 5 

 Giardia 9 12 5 4 

Respiratory 
Disease 

Legionella 10 7 1 4 

Paratyphoid 
Fever 

Salmonella 3 5 0 0 

Typhoid Fever Salmonella 3 5 0 0 

Total  543 390 233 225 

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



$rqsmtbbx.docx 

 

 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet  
  
Date:  11 October 2022 
  
Title of report: Proposals for additional Household Support in 2022/23   
  
Purpose of report: To set out proposals to provide support for households in 
2022/23  in accordance with funding and associated guidance issued by 
Government. 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or 
to have a significant effect on two or 
more electoral wards?   

Yes 
 
If yes give the reason why – indicative 
Government funded assistance package 
Borough wide, totalling £ 3.7m 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s 
Forward Plan (key decisions and 
private reports)? 

Key Decision – yes 
 
Private Report/Private Appendix – No 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in 
by Scrutiny? 
 

Yes  

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Legal Governance and 
Commissioning? 
 

26/09/22 Rachel Spencer-Henshall  
 
 
Yes Eamonn Croston 28/09/22 
 
 
Yes Julie Muscroft 28/09/22 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Paul Davies 28/09/22 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All Ward councillors consulted:  None 
 
Public or private: Public 
 
Has GDPR been considered? Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


$rqsmtbbx.docx 

 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 On 26th May 2022, the then Chancellor announced further measures to 
households as part of the Government’s Economy Statement to address the 
still emerging Cost of Living Crisis, he stated “To support them and others, 
we will extend the household support fund delivered by local authorities by 
£0.5 billion from October”. In the previous round of funding this Council’s 
share was £3.702m. This Fund is intended to support vulnerable people with 
payments and grants such as vouchers to help meet daily needs such as 
food, clothing, and utilities.   
 

1.2 To date we have received draft guidance which unlike the last iteration does 
not require that one third be targeted at pensioner household, in every other 
respect the guidance reflects the previous two iterations. There is a 
requirement that every authority has an application process so that 
individuals can make their needs known and receive appropriate support.  

 
1.3 Other measures announced by the chancellor in that statement on the 26th 

May 2022 provided direct support to individuals through the social security 
system. This funding package requires authorities to identify those in need 
that didn’t benefit from those other measures. 

 
1.4 In addition to this package of funding the authority will continue to deliver the 

discretionary Council Tax Energy rebate for the period up to and including 
the 30th November 2022. Individuals will be able to access support from both 
funds as appropriate and officers will decide which fund is most appropriate 
in the circumstances to maximise support. 

 
1.5 This report seeks approval to provide targeted support that will supplement 

the support already provided by Kirklees directly and the measures 
announced by the Government which are already in train.  

 
1.6 In addition this report seeks approval for specific grant funding to establish a 

further 5 food distribution hubs in collaboration with The Bread & Butter 
Thing. That funding does not come from the Household Support Fund but 
has become available as part of the Councils own Local Welfare Provision 
Scheme (LWP).  

 
2. Information required to take a decision 

 
2.1  The Chancellor announced on 26th May 2022 as part of his Economy Update, 

an extension of the 2021/22 Household Support Fund with a further £500m 
national funding allocation for 2022/23. This funding allocation broadly 
follows the same Government grant guidance as the 2021/22 Household 
Support Fund; namely supporting vulnerable people with payments and 
grants such as vouchers to help meet daily needs such as food, clothing, and 
utilities.   

 
2.2 The Council’s share is as yet unknown but our share of the previous £500m 

allocation was £3.702m This is a working assumption with the money 
needing to be allocated and spent by end of March 2023. 

 
 

Page 102



$rqsmtbbx.docx 

2.3 This is effectively an extension of the previous two funds notwithstanding that 
each fund has a distinct grant period with no facility to transfer funds beyond 
each fund closing date. 

 
2.4 Using LWP funding to support The Bread & Butter Thing (TBBT). TBBT is 

currently operating in 4 hubs with a 5th coming online shortly. All of the hubs are 
proving successful with membership exceeding the number of families that can 
be supported each week, although not all members would want to access the 
food offer each week. This report seeks a decision to fund a further 5 hubs for 
one year, after which each hub is self sustaining. It is a proven concept in the 
borough which has been extremely well received in communities, not only does 
address issues around food poverty it also helps address issues around food 
waste.  

 
  

3. Implications for the Council 
 
3.1 Working with People 
 

The payments will provide financial assistance to residents that qualify.  
 

The Council will continue to ensure that households and individuals are aware of what 
the Council can do to provide advice, guidance and support at this time with the 
resources it has available.  
 
To seek opportunities to work with people, partners and in places, to find alternative 
solutions and to provide resilience in communities with initiatives like “The Bread and 
Butter Thing” which has started in Chickenley, Dalton, Deighton, Howden Clough, with 
Dewsbury Moor on stream. This report seeks 5 more hubs in addition to the direct 
interventions set out. 

  
3.2 Working with Partners 
 
 Partners in the third sector will be critical in ensuring that those most vulnerable are 

aware of how they access this funding. We will ensure that partners are equipped to 
provide appropriate advice guidance and support  

   
3.3 Place Based Working  
 
 There will be a need to directly engage with some residents that are hard to reach. We 

will continue to work with partners to maximise our community reach. 
   
3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 
 
 Reduces food waste  
 
3.5 Improving outcomes for children 
 
 Increases available household income so potentially reducing poverty as well as help 

towards food and fuel costs, and warm clothing. 
 
3.6  Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 
 
 
 

Page 103



$rqsmtbbx.docx 

 Financial 
 
 Government will provide initial Grant Funding of £3.702m based on previous grants, the 

cost of the TBBT seed funding is circa £120,000 
 

Legal 
 
 The funding is a one-off contribution. It is to be treated as Local Welfare Provision for 

the purposes of any other decision though it is not itself a Local Welfare Provision 
payment. 

 
 It is important to note that any payments made out of this grant fund do not amount 

to payments made under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011. Ordinarily Local Welfare 
Provision payments are made under that section and then count as “public funds” for 
the purposes of immigration and would not therefore be available to those with no 
recourse to public funds. Payments made here will be made in accordance with the 
Grant Determination and are subject to the conditions set out by the Secretary of 
State in that determination.  
The Council must have regard to its public Sector Equality duty under section 149 
Equality Act 2010. 
 
 Human Resources 

 
 We will use the Local welfare Provision team to deliver these interventions we will 

also work with schools to purchase and distribute the vouchers  
 
3.7    Financial impact on people living and working in Kirklees  
 
         Key issues are picked up in “Human Resources” and “Working with People “ above  
 
4 Consultees and their opinions 
 

For the most part  payments are to be made in accordance with the scheme as set 
out by government and are not subject to consultation.  

 
5 Next steps and timeline. 
 

To commence payment activity as soon as is reasonably practicable. 
 
6 Officer recommendations and reasons 

 
It is recommended that     

        
(i) Households with Children: 
 
To explore making an award to families entitled to Free School Meals a one-off 
Cost of Living Payment of £50 per child. This will be badged as a one off cost of 
living payment rather than free school meal support. Whilst this increases support 
only for families with children of school age, those families will experience 
additional costs when children are not in school. Other households can receive 
support through the scheme available to all households. 
 
This would be paid by way of a voucher before Christmas 2022 cost in the region 
of £925,000 
 

Page 104



$rqsmtbbx.docx 

In addition explore whether Council Tax Reduction data can be used to identify 
households with children that are not of school age in order to include those in 
scope for a cost of living payment. The value of any payment to be decided with 
reference to volumes and those entitled though the mechanism identified above. 

 
(ii) All Households: 

 
Remaining balance to be utilised by: 
 
-  working with relevant partners/stakeholders/3rd sector organisations  
 
-  applications for support via Local Welfare Provision which will be assessed on a   
   case-by-case basis to support families and individuals in need. 
 
It is proposed that authority be delegated to the Strategic Director for Corporate 
Strategy, Commissioning and Public Health and Service Director for Children’s 
Services, in consultation with the Corporate portfolio holder, Learning, Aspiration and 
Communities portfolio holder, and Service Director-Finance agree the mechanism for 

how the remaining balance be used working with those relevant 
partners/stakeholders/3rd sector organisations, in accordance with the grant 
funding guidance. 
 
(iii) The Bread & Butter Thing:  
 
That approval be given to a spend of circa £125,000 from the Local Welfare 
Provision budget by way of a one off grant in order to establish 5 further TBBT 
hubs. 
 

7. Portfolio Holder Comments: 
 

The Portfolio Holders agrees with the proposals as set out in this report.  
 
8.  Contact officer  
 

Julian Hobson – Senior Manager, Welfare and Exchequer Services 
 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions  
 
 Cabinet HSF paper 5th April 2022 
 

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s45861/Household Support 2022-
23.pdf 
 
Cabinet decision 
 
Decision - Government proposals for additional Household Support in 2022/23 | 
Kirklees Council 
 
Cabinet HSF paper 5th July 2022 

 
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s46836/2022-07-05 Household 
support grant CAB004.pdf 
 
Economy Statement 

 
Economy Update - Hansard - UK Parliament 

Page 105

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s45861/Household%20Support%202022-23.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s45861/Household%20Support%202022-23.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=19715
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=19715
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s46836/2022-07-05%20Household%20support%20grant%20CAB004.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s46836/2022-07-05%20Household%20support%20grant%20CAB004.pdf
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2022-05-26/debates/00D0B309-467C-44F6-BC45-74E1EBA205B4/EconomyUpdate


$rqsmtbbx.docx 

 
10. Service Director responsible  
 
Eamonn Croston – Service Director - Finance 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 

1 
 

 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date:    11th October 2022 
 
Title of report: 2022/23 – 2023/24 Corporate Landlord Capital Investment Plan - 

Proposed allocation of capital funding 
  
Purpose of report: This report will outline themes of funding, for Member approval, to be 

funded from the 2022/23 and 2023/24 Corporate Landlord Asset 
Investment, Compliance and Suitability baseline programmes in the 
Council’s Capital Plan plus the Sustainability of Huddersfield Town Hall 
Programme line and seek Officer delegations to manage the 
programmes within the overall funding envelopes.  

 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Yes – this report proposes significant 
expenditure in excess of £250K. 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s 
Forward Plan (key decisions and private 
reports)? 
 

Key Decision – Yes 
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes  
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Legal Governance and 
Commissioning? 
 

David Shepherd – Strategic Director for 
Growth and Regeneration – 03/10/2022 
 
Eamonn Croston – Service Director for 
Finance – 30/09/2022 
 
Julie Muscroft – Service Director for Legal, 
Governance and Commissioning – 
03/10/2022 
 

Cabinet member Portfolio  
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-
howcouncilworks/cabinet/cabinet.asp 

Corporate – Cllr Paul Davies 
 

 
Electoral wards affected:  All 
 
Ward councillors consulted:   No 
 
Public or private:    Public 
 
Has GDPR been considered? There are no GDPR implications relating to this report. 
 
  

Page 107

Agenda Item 11:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/cabinet/cabinet.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/cabinet/cabinet.asp


 

2 
 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report will identify themes for programmes of work to be funded in financial years 

2022/23 and 2023/24 from the Corporate Landlord Asset Investment, Compliance and 
Suitability baseline programmes, as well as the Sustainability of Huddersfield Town Hall 
programme. All these referenced funding streams are contained in the Five-Year Capital 
Plan approved by Council on 16th February 2022.  

 
1.2 Members will be requested to consider and approve the baseline programmes along with 

the broad themes of investment as shown in Appendix A and to authorise delegated 
powers for officers to manage the programmes within the overall budget envelopes so that 
priority projects can be identified, designed and delivered. 
 

1.3 This baseline investment to maintain facilities and address urgent condition items is a two-
year rolling programme which runs alongside and complements the wider capital plan. 
Members are asked to note the connectivity between baseline investment, partners and 
strategic work programmes e.g., Way We Work, our Blueprints, Small Towns programme.  
 

1.4 To alleviate the budget pressures on the 2023/24 programme as illustrated later in this 
report, Members are asked to approve the re-profiling of the Corporate Landlord Asset 
Investment Five Year Capital Plan to bring funding forward from future years.  

  
2. Information required to take a decision 
 

(a) Background 
 
2.1 The Corporate Landlord portfolio of assets includes, for example, Office Accommodation, 

Libraries, Children’s Centres, Residential Homes, Town Halls, Public Halls, Sports and 
Leisure facilities, Museums, Crematoriums, Cemeteries, Car parks, Depots and Parks.  

 
2.2 On 16th February 2022 Council allocated funding from the approved Capital Plan to the 

baseline Corporate Landlord programmes as follows: 
 

• Asset Investment baseline of £10.286M for 2022/23 and £2.133M for 2023/24.  

• Compliance baseline of £1M for 2022/23 and £1.250M for 2023/24.  

• Suitability baseline of £1.5M in 2022/23 and £1.4M in 2023/24 and; 

• the Sustainability of Huddersfield Town Hall Programme was allocated £200K in 
2022/23 and £1M in 2023/24.  

 
This report details how it is proposed to spend the allocated funds described above. 

 
2.3 Due to the size and complexity of the Council’s portfolio, which includes many heritage 

assets, a system of prioritisation is required to ensure that the available funds are targeted 
at the buildings with the highest need. A rolling programme of condition surveys and fire 
risk assessments, together with local intelligence, is used to determine a prioritised list of 
schemes. Potential projects are brought forward for pre-scheme feasibility studies to 
identify more detailed cost estimates and scheme priority.  
 

2.4 The Asset Strategy team also considers the draft programme to ensure that the proposed 
investment aligns with the key objectives of the Council’s emerging Corporate Asset 
Strategy and complements strategic priority investments such the Cultural Heart, the 
Huddersfield and Dewsbury Blueprints and the Small-Town Centres programme. 

Page 108



 

3 
 

2.5 As a major land and building owner, the Council’s aims and ambitions go beyond simply 
delivering buildings that are warm, dry, safe and secure. We aim to add value and to utilise 
land holdings and properties to achieve our vision for Kirklees, which is to be a district 
which combines a strong, sustainable economy with a high quality of life – leading to 
thriving communities, growing businesses, high prosperity and low inequality where people 
enjoy better health and high-quality services throughout their lives. How we use our 
significant land and buildings portfolio can have a major impact on economic growth, 
regeneration and health and wellbeing, whilst helping to contribute to the Council achieving 
its Climate Emergency commitments. This key strategic priority is overseen and provided 
with strategic direction through the Council’s Transformation Board.  

 
2.6 The Corporate Landlord Asset Investment and Compliance baseline budgets address 

urgent and essential condition, health and safety and legislative issues within the Council’s 
extensive portfolio of land and buildings. The baseline suitability budget helps address 
identified shortfalls in the shape / form / layout of buildings which impacts on the ability of 
Council Services to deliver their operations / outcomes. This budget helps to deliver better 
outcomes by facilitating a programme of refurbishments, remodelling or furniture and 
fixtures changes to ensure that operational buildings remain fit for purpose and suitable for 
the delivery of the Council’s objectives. 

 
2.7 To aid strategic and operational planning, improve capital outturn and project delivery, two-

year programmes of work have been developed and proposed for approval. These consist 
primarily of themes of work for implementation, plus some generic pots that have been 
allocated for groups of buildings such as depots, children’s centres and libraries, with the 
detailed schemes to be agreed with the individual Services during the course of the 
financial year.  

 
2.8 The delegated powers proposed in paragraphs 2.24 to 2.26 will provide officers with the 

flexibility to be able to adjust delivery plans and project budgets whilst maximising our 
investments. This is particularly important given the challenging construction market at 
present. Increasingly, contractors are being more selective when picking the tenders that 
they wish to submit for and there has been a strong upward lift in the price of tenders 
received, which reflects the increasingly competitive market for skilled labour and the 
shortage of a range of key building materials. A balance needs to be struck between 
undertaking essential works and ensuring continuing value for money, and the proposed 
delegated powers will enable officers to take a flexible approach with the management of 
individual projects and the overall programmes. 

 
(b) Proposed Corporate Landlord Asset Investment Condition Programme allocations for 

2022/23 - 2023/24 
 
2.9 As previously mentioned, the five-year Capital Plan 2022/23 - 2026/27 was approved by 

Council on 16th February 2022 and allocated £10.286M in total to the Corporate Landlord 
Baseline Programme for 2022/23 and £2.133M for 2023/24. Since then, in-year re-profiling 
has occurred to better reflect delivery programmes and outturn exercises have taken place 
to identify schemes / funds to be rolled forward from the previous financial year, which has 
resulted in the updated budgets shown in the table below pending approval at Cabinet on 
11th October 2022.  

 
 
 
 

Page 109



 

4 
 

Programme Area Feb 22 Council 
Approved Budget 

In-year re-profiling New Budget 

Corporate Landlord Asset 
Investment 2022/23 

£10.286M -£0.302M 
 

£9.984M 

Corporate Landlord Asset 
Investment 2023/24 

£2.133M £2.020M £4.153M 

 
2.10 To enable essential lift replacement works to start on site in June 2022 at Dewsbury Sports 

Centre, an emergency scheme was added to the 2022/23 Corporate Landlord Asset 
Investment programme using existing Cabinet approved delegated authority from July 
2021. The scheme is to be funded from the Strategic Priorities Dewsbury Sports Centre 
budget. Members are requested to approve a virement of £275K in capital funding from 
the Dewsbury Sports Centre budget to the Corporate Landlord Asset Investment 
programme to support the scheme.  

 
2.11 The proposed condition programme themes for the next two financial years, as shown at 

Appendix A, target investment at buildings and land holdings that align to the Council’s 
Asset Strategy and other major investment programmes and concentrate on the following:  

 

• Urgent condition works to address or prevent the deterioration of the asset e.g., 
replacement roofs and roof coverings, boilers and heating systems, fabric repairs 
and electrical works. 
 

• Health and safety work to address legislative requirements and ensure that assets 
remain safe for use e.g., repairs to boundary walls, demolition of failed structures, 
improvements to parks, depots, car parks.  

 
2.12 As shown in Appendix A, the current 2023/24 Corporate Landlord Asset Investment 

programme is showing a deficit in budget of around £7M. Officers request that Members 
approve the proposed forward re-profiling to 2023/24 of £7M from the Corporate Landlord 
Asset Investment baseline years 2024/25 to 2026/27 (as shown below) to enable all 
proposed schemes to be delivered. This transfer of capital between financial years has 
been approved in principle by the Chief Finance Officer as per Financial Procedure Rule 
3.14. 

 
GENERAL FUND CAPITAL 
PLAN 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

2026/27 
£’000 

Corporate Landlord Asset 
Investment  

10,286 2,133 2,800 2,800 4,300 

  
 This would leave a budget of £2.9M to be re-distributed across the three years from 

2024/25 going forward. This shortfall in capital funding from 2024/25 to 2026/27 will be 
considered as part of the budget process to subject the baseline multi-year capital plan to 
a more fundamental corporate review and affordability assessment, in light of the scale of 
financial challenges facing the Council, in particular relating to Cost of Living pressures. 
 

2.13 The Council has many listed heritage assets and as a responsible asset owner, it has a 
duty to ensure that these buildings remain in good repair and safe for their intended 
purpose. The next two years will include proposed investment in buildings such as Byram 
Arcade, Cleckheaton Town Hall, Dewsbury Mansion House, Oakwell Hall and Tolson 
Museum to address essential works that deliver on our duty to maintain and protect our 

Page 110



 

5 
 

heritage, and which complements key Council priorities such as the Cultural Heart 
redevelopment and the relevant Huddersfield / Dewsbury Blueprints / Small Centres 
programmes.  

   
2.14 Works are proposed to a number of buildings in the Council’s Commercial Estate to fulfil 

our landlord obligations to tenants and partners delivering key Council objectives. A 
number of demolitions are planned in relation to life expired buildings, which will deliver 
revenue savings and provide potential development sites that will boost housing and 
regeneration aims. 

 
2.15 Many schemes will tackle a mixture of condition, compliance and suitability issues in order 

to deliver fit for purpose accommodation that meets the future needs of the Council. This 
includes the ongoing refurbishment of Civic Centre One, which will deliver a fully compliant, 
accessible and flexible building that will facilitate a new way of hybrid working for Council 
staff in a post COVID environment. This scheme will also enable a rationalisation of the 
Council’s office portfolio that will deliver revenue and capital benefits. A rolling programme 
of improvements to Adult Services Care Homes, Children Centres, Community Centres 
and Libraries will make a noticeable difference to public facing buildings that the Council 
delivers its services from. When undertaking such works due consideration is given to how 
the Council’s Dementia friendly design aspirations are incorporated into the proposed 
schemes. 
 
(c) Proposed Corporate Landlord Compliance programme for 2022/23 and 2023/24 
 

2.16 The February 2022 five-year Capital Plan allocated £1M in total to the Corporate Landlord 
Compliance Programme for 2022/23 and £1.250M for 2023/24. Since then, in-year re-
profiling to better reflect programme delivery and an outturn exercise to roll forward 
schemes / funds from the previous financial year have taken place that has resulted in the 
updated budget profiles shown in the table below pending approval at Cabinet on 11th 
October 2022.  

 
Programme Area Feb 22 Council 

Approved Budget 
In-year re-profiling  New Budget  

Corporate Landlord 
Compliance 2022/23 

£1M £0.786M 
 

£1.786M 

Corporate Landlord 
Compliance 2023/24 

£1.250M £0.0M 
 

£1.250M 

 
 
2.17 The compliance programme for the past three years has been focused on fire safety 

measures in the Council’s sleeping risk accommodation. Extensive works have been 
undertaken throughout our portfolio of Children’s Homes and Aged Person’s Homes and a 
major refurbishment of our residential outdoor adventure facility at Cliffe House.  

 
2.18 The next two years will focus on the Council’s core office accommodation portfolio and 

buildings leased to third parties for the delivery of social care and commercial activities. In 
addition, a rolling programme of works involving our portfolio of maintained schools will 
begin on a risk assessed basis. A constant theme of the compliance programme is to 
ensure that the requirements of regulatory bodies such as OFSTED and the Care Quality 
Commission are identified and addressed.  

 

Page 111



 

6 
 

2.19 All works will be based on a building-by-building Fire Risk Assessment (FRAs), supported 
where necessary by a fire compartmentation study. A new rolling programme of FRAs has 
started in 2022, which will identify prioritised works to be tackled through the fire safety 
programme. Typical works will include improved fire compartmentation, repair or 
replacement of fire doors, new fire alarms and improvements to means of escape. 
Individual projects will be developed and designed as FRAs are received on a rolling 
programme using the delegated powers requested in paragraphs 2.24 to 2.26 of this report. 

 
(d) Proposed Corporate Landlord Suitability Programme for 2022/23 and 2023/24 
 

2.20 This budget will be used to improve the suitability of existing accommodation to enable it 
to be fit for purpose for the services being delivered from the location as well as providing 
modern welfare facilities for staff and visitors. Typical works would include improved 
disability provision, ensuring that kitchens, toilets, and showers are provided or refurbished 
to modern standards and installing modern furniture, fittings and equipment to facilitate 
mobile and agile working across the Council. A rolling programme of works will be 
prioritised at Council depots to improve facilities for staff working from these facilities.  

 
2.21 As previously mentioned, the five-year Capital Plan 2022/23 - 2026/27 allocated £1.5M for 

2022/23 and £1.4M for 2023/24 for suitability purposes. Since then, in-year re-profiling to 
better reflect programme delivery and an outturn exercise has taken place which has 
resulted in a revised budget profile of £1.531M for the 2022/23 programme budget pending 
Cabinet approval on 11th October 2022. Further details of the proposed allocations of 
funding are provided at Appendix A. Officers from Corporate Landlord and Asset Strategy 
will work with Services to determine the allocation of funding across the Council’s portfolio 
of buildings using the delegated powers requested in paragraphs 2.24 to 2.26 of this report. 
 
(e) Proposed Corporate Landlord Sustainability of Huddersfield Town Hall Programme for 

2022/23 and 2023/24 
 

2.22 Significant investment has been undertaken in Huddersfield Town Hall in previous years 
including major re-roofing works over the main performance hall and a new fire alarm. 
However, the size, age and listing of the building means that further works are always 
required. A second phase of re-roofing works is needed to compete the external weathering 
proofing of the whole building, combined with further works to the external fabric including 
repointing, stone and window repairs. Limited internal repairs and redecoration will also be 
undertaken following some damage resulting from water ingress.  

 
2.23 As previously mentioned, the five-year Capital Plan 2022/23 - 2026/27 allocated £200k for 

2022/23 and £1M for 2023/24 for works at the Town Hall. Since then, in-year re-profiling 
and an outturn exercise have taken place that have amended the 2022/23 allocation to 
£800K and £400K for 2023/24 pending Cabinet approval on 11th October 2022 as shown 
at Appendix A.  

 
(f) Financial Delegations  

 
2.24 In order to aid the implementation of the Corporate Landlord Capital programmes 

described in this report and build upon the improving capital outturn performance of the 
last two years, Members are requested to delegate authority in accordance with the 
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules 3.13 dated May 2022, to the Service Director - 
Development to manage the implementation of the programme areas within the respective 
agreed total programme budgets.  

Page 112



 

7 
 

2.25 Delegated powers would include the authority to:  
 

• Add to or delete projects from the programmes detailed in this report without prior 
Cabinet approval providing that the total cost of the programmes remains within the 
approved capital allocations set by Council. 

 

• transfer resources between the Corporate Landlord programmes without restrictions to 
enable efficient delivery of projects. 
 

• Slip, delete or reallocate budget between projects during the course of the two financial 
years providing that the total cost of the programmes remains within the approved 
capital allocations set by Council to enable the effective management of the 
programmes concerned over the two-year period.  

 
2.26 Significant amendments to the approved programmes under delegated powers will be 

reported to Cabinet through the Quarterly Financial Monitoring process or through 
delegated decision notices on the Council’s website.  

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 Working with People 
 

Schemes developed in the condition and compliance element of the programmes are 
designed to prevent severe disruption to service delivery e.g., by preventing part or total 
failure of boilers, roofs, electrical systems. These works ensure that our buildings and 
facilities are warm, dry, safe, secure and fit for purpose in line with our corporate asset 
strategy key objectives. The impact of such works on the operation of individual buildings 
is discussed and agreed in consultation with the relevant Services to limit the effect on 
day-to-day operation of front-line services.  

 
The themes named within the suitability element of the programme have been developed 
together with Directorates to enhance service delivery and deliver improved outcomes for 
communities. These schemes fit with our strategic asset strategy objectives to provide 
operational assets that value our staff, enable the delivery of effective and efficient services 
and work closely with partners and residents. 
 

3.2 Working with Partners 
 

Collaboration and working together with partners has been key to ensuring we are 
constantly improving accommodation for staff and service delivery. Many partners share 
space with the Council in key buildings that we are wishing to invest in and therefore 
collaborative discussions with partners are key to providing solutions that facilitate 
increased integration of services to provide a better intelligence led, outcome focused 
service delivery. 

 
3.3 Place Based Working 
 

We continue to invest in the creation of community assets to facilitate place-based working 
for council staff, partners and communities. The proposed modernisation of key Council 
buildings will enable more locality-based services to operate from them, serving the 
communities in which they are based, and enable closer working with a key partner such 

Page 113



 

8 
 

as Locala. Investment in Libraries and Town Halls will ensure that these much-valued 
buildings continue to be available to serve their local communities. 
 

3.4  Climate Change and Air Quality 
 

A key objective of our corporate asset strategy is to ensure that we invest and manage our 
assets to ensure that the Council’s Carbon Neutral Vision is supported and enhanced. The 
condition and refurbishment schemes identified in this report will ensure that we are 
replacing inefficient roofs, boilers, heating and electrical systems with modern, energy 
efficient materials and equipment that will contribute to an ever-reducing carbon footprint 
for the Council. The refurbished buildings will be fit for purpose, modern, energy efficient 
buildings with consideration given to green technologies where feasible and appropriate.  
 

3.5      Improving outcomes for children 
 

Investment in assets such as our Parks, Libraries and Children’s Centres through the 
Corporate Condition programme will help deliver better services for children and young 
people.  

 
3.6      Financial / Regulatory 

 
The Corporate Landlord Asset Investment programmes are funded through Council 
prudential borrowing. All the funding streams are identified in the Council’s Five-Year 
Capital Plan that was approved by the Council on 16th February 2022 and the revenue 
impact has been incorporated into the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan, approved 
at the same meeting. 

 
 All works will be procured in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. The 

Council has a public sector equality duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 and 
an integrated impact assessment will be considered at the appropriate stages of delivery 
of the programme of individual projects. The Council will comply with its landlord 
obligations in relation to properties / land leased to third parties.  

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 
 

The programmes outlined in this report have been subject to consultation with officers from 
the Council Services impacted by the proposed works. The Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Services and the Council’s Executive Team have been consulted as part of the approval 
process.  
 

5. Next steps and timelines 
 
 Subject to approval of the proposed 2022/23 – 2023/24 capital programmes, officers from 

Corporate Landlord and the Council’s Technical Services will ensure that the programmes 
are updated, and the projects concerned are identified, developed, designed, procured and 
implemented. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

9 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
 Members are requested to:  

 
(a) Consider and approve the themes of work for 2022/23 – 2023/24 as detailed in 

Appendix A of this report. 
 

(b) Consider and approve the proposed delegated powers as outlined in paragraphs 
2.24 to 2.26 of this report and detailed below: 

 

• Add to or delete projects from the programmes detailed in this report without 
prior Cabinet approval providing that the total cost of the programmes remains 
within the approved capital allocations set by Council. 

 

• transfer resources between the Corporate Landlord programmes without 
restrictions to enable efficient delivery of projects. 

 

• Slip, delete or reallocate budget between projects during the course of the two 
financial years providing that the total cost of the programmes remains within 
the approved capital allocations set by Council to enable the effective 
management of the programmes concerned over the two-year period.  

 
(c) Authorise the virement of £275K in capital funding from the Strategic Priorities 

Dewsbury Sports Centre budget to Corporate Landlord Asset Investment budget. 
 
(d) Authorise officers to identify, design, tender and implement the delivery of projects 

aligned with the work themes identified in Appendix A. 
 
(e) Consider and approve the proposed re-profiling of the Corporate Landlord Asset 

Investment Baseline Five Year Capital Plan to bring funding forward from future 
years as described in paragraph 2.12 to enable the 2023/24 proposed programme 
to be delivered. 

 
This programme of investment will ensure that the Council can continue to deliver key 
services and outcomes from buildings that are fit for purpose whilst protecting and securing 
the future of important heritage assets.  

 
7. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 

 
This report sets out the Council’s investment proposals for its large portfolio of assets, 
many of which are heritage, over the next two years. As the Portfolio Holder with 
responsibility for corporate services and finance, it is important that the Council maintains 
and improves its buildings for the benefits of residents and staff. The capital spends 
proposed is significant and wide ranging and will provide opportunities for local contractors, 
suppliers and workers. It will help support the local economy, build confidence and play an 
important part in the economic regeneration and recovery of the borough and the region. 
For these reasons, I recommend to Cabinet that the stated recommendations in Section 6 
of this report are approved.  
 

8. Contact officer  
 
Emma Griff – Strategic Manager for Facilities – Corporate Landlord - Tel: 01484 221000 

Page 115



 

10 
 

Email: emma.griff@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
Chris Watson – Strategic Manager for Asset Data & Compliance – Corporate Landlord -   
Tel: 01484 221000 – Email: chris.watson@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
David Martin - Head of Service for Corporate Landlord and Capital – Tel: 01484 221000 - 
Email: david.martin@kirklees.gov.uk 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

 
Council 16 February 2022: Five Year Capital Plan 
 

10. Service Director responsible  
 
Joanne Bartholomew - Service Director - Development - Tel: 01484 221000 
Email: joanne.bartholomew@kirklees.gov.uk  
 

11. Attachments  
 

Appendix A – Proposed Corporate Landlord Condition, Compliance, Suitability and 
Sustainability of Huddersfield Town Hall Programmes for 2022/23 and 2023/24.  

 

Page 116

mailto:emma.griff@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:chris.watson@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:david.martin@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.bartholomew@kirklees.gov.uk


PROPOSED ALLOCATIONS FOR THE 2022/23 AND 2023/24 VARIOUS CORPORATE 
LANDLORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLANS  Appendix A 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Project 2022/23 2023/24 

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY - CORPORATE LANDLORD 
ASSET INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - CONDITION 

    

Essential condition works to stabilise, protect and 
restore heritage assets. 

£1,039,032 £3,103,463 

Remodelling and refurbishing buildings aligned to the 
Way We Work programme to deliver new hybrid 
ways of working. 

£3,639,091 £1,152,000 

Essential works to address urgent condition issues 
across a range of buildings e.g. replacement roofs, 
external weatherproofing, new boilers, replacement 
cremators, electrical rewires, replacement lifts.  

£1,832,047 £1,270,000 

Landlord investment in tenanted buildings aligned to 
our objectives of wellbeing, culture and health. 

- £1,000,000 

Urgent compliance and H&S works to upgrade 
supporting walls, structures, lighting, automatic 
doors and ventilation 

£1,077,808 £2,745,000 

Investment in Bereavement Services buildings, 
Cemeteries and Crematoriums. 

£221,732 £500,000 

Investment in Adult Services Care Homes and front-
line delivery buildings 

£475,000 £500,000 

Rolling programme of refurbishment for Libraries. £474,286 £500,000 

Capital Plan preparation costs - advance surveys / 
feasibility studies / asbestos surveys / condition 
surveys / programme management. 

£236,000 £250,000 

Risk pot for emergency additions to the Capital Plan / 
balance for high tenders 

£63,720 £100,000 

Rollover schemes from 2021/22 previously approved 
by Cabinet.  

£925,576 - 

TOTAL £9,984,292 £11,120,463 

  
 

-£6,967,463 

CORPORATE LANDLORD - COMPLIANCE 
PROGRAMME 

  

Rolling programme of Fire Risk Assessments and 
compartmentation surveys.  

£375,000 £375,000 

Fire safety improvements in the Council's office 
accommodation estate. 

£790,443 £625,000 

Replacement fire alarms and doors, emergency 
lighting and compartmentation works.  

£358,574 250,000 

Risk pot for emergency additions to the Capital Plan / 
balance for high tenders. 

£261,830 £0 

TOTAL £1,785,847 £1,250,000 

Page 117



Page 2 of 2 
 

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY - CORPORATE LANDLORD 
SUITABILITY PROGRAMME  

  

Project 2022/23 2023/24 

Wellbeing improvements linked to the Way We Work 
programme - provision of modern furniture, fittings 
and equipment to facilitate hybrid working, better 
collaboration and place-based activities. 

£609,656 - 

Programme of improvements to the suitability 0f 
Council depots including works to Beck Lane, 
Greenhead Park and Cawley Lane depots.   

£920,970 £904,230 

Fund for future suitability led improvements schemes 
at sites and buildings to be determined.  

- £495,770 

TOTAL £1,530,626 £1,400,000 

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY - CORPORATE LANDLORD 
SUSTAINABILITY OF HUDDERSFIELD TOWN HALL  

£800,000 £400,000 

Project 2022/23  2023/24 

Final phase of major re-roofing, external 
weatherproofing works including stone and window 
repairs, ironmongery, flagpoles. Internal repairs to 
the Mayor’s Parlour following water ingress.  

£800,000 £400,000 

TOTAL £800,000 £400,000 

 

Page 118



 
 

Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date:    11 October 2022    
Title of report:  UK Shared Prosperity Fund  
  
Purpose of report:  
 
This report sets out how the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF), the Government’s 
replacement for the European Structural and Investment Funds, will be managed in West 
Yorkshire. The proposals include allocating a package of UKSPF funding from the Mayoral 
Combined Authority to the five West Yorkshire local authorities to deliver local communities and 
place and business initiatives, and also for the delivery of the Multiply adult numeracy 
programme.  
 
The report seeks Cabinet approval to receive and act as accountable body to the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority for these funds; to approve the Kirklees UKSPF and Multiply 
programmes and put in place the necessary officer delegations for delivery. 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral wards?  

Yes  
 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan 
(key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
 
 
Private Report/Private Appendix - No 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & name 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning?   
 

David Shepherd – 30 September 2022 
 
 
Eamonn Croston – 30 September 2022 
 
 
Julie Muscroft – 30 September 2022 

Cabinet member portfolio Councillor Graham Turner – Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration  
   
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All wards  
 
Ward councillors consulted: Ward councillors have not been consulted because of the need 
to establish the scheme as soon as possible. 
 
Public or private: Public.  

 

Has GDPR been considered?  Yes.   

Page 119

Agenda Item 12:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


Page 2 of the report 
  
1. Summary 

 
1.1 The Government has established the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) as the replacement 

for the European and Structural Investment Programme, which previously supported enterprise, 
business growth and employment and skills initiatives. A number of ESIF-funded projects in West 
Yorkshire are due to cease delivery before the end of 2023. 
 

1.2 The fund is tied firmly to the Government’s Levelling Up agenda and has the dual objectives to 
“Build pride in place and increase life chances across the UK.” West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA) will act as lead authority for the purpose of managing UKSPF funding. Just 
over £68m has been allocated for West Yorkshire over the three years from 2022/23. Delivery will 
involve a balance of West Yorkshire-wide initiatives and local UKSPF programmes 
commissioned through local authorities with funded devolved from the Combined Authority. 
£5.824m of UKSPF funding will be allocated to Kirklees Council to support local delivery, along 
with an additional £790,000 to deliver the Multiply adult numeracy programme. 
 

1.3 The report seeks Cabinet approval to receive and act as accountable body to WYCA for these 
funds;  to approve the draft Kirklees/Multiply programmes and put in place the necessary officer 
delegations to deliver both programmes. 
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
Background 
 
Context 

2.1 The UKSPF is the successor to the European Union Structural and Investment Funds that was 
promised by Government following the UK’s departure from the EU. The fund is linked to the 
Government’s Levelling Up agenda and aims to support delivery of the levelling up missions set 
out in the White Paper. £2.6bn has been allocated to the fund over the three years from 2022/23, 
including £460m for the Multiply adult numeracy programme. 

 
2.2 The primary goal of the UKSPF is to “build pride in place and increase life chances across the 

UK” which is translated into three UKSPF investment priorities or pillars: 
 

• Communities and place (Pillar 1) 
• Supporting local business (Pillar 2) 

• People and skills (Pillar 3). 
 

2.3 Although business and employment and skills programmes were a focus of previous ESIF 
programmes, the UKSPF’s focus on community and place creates a significant new opportunity 
to support related activity including community infrastructure/capacity building and engagement, 
cultural initiatives, green infrastructure and safer communities initiatives. Table 2.1 overleaf 
details all fifteen community and place interventions that are eligible for support under the 
programme: 
 

  

Page 120



Table 2.1: Communities and place interventions 
 

E1: Funding for improvements to town centres and high 
streets, including better accessibility for disabled people, 
including capital spend and running costs.  
 

E9: Funding for impactful volunteering and/or social 
action projects to develop social and human capital in 
local places.  
 

E2: Funding for new, or improvements to existing, 
community and neighbourhood infrastructure projects 
including those that increase communities’ resilience to 
natural hazards, such as flooding. This could cover 
capital spend and running costs. 
 

E11: Investment in capacity building and infrastructure 
support for local civil society and community groups 
 

E3: Creation of and improvements to local green 
spaces, community gardens, watercourses and 
embankments, along with incorporating natural features 
into wider public spaces.  
 

E12: Investment in community engagement schemes to 
support community involvement in decision making in 
local regeneration.  
 

E4: Enhanced support for existing cultural, historic and 
heritage institutions that make up the local cultural 
heritage offer.  
 

E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living, 
including through measures to improve energy 
efficiency, and combat fuel poverty and climate change.  
 

E5: Design and management of the built and 
landscaped environment to ‘design out crime’.  
 

E14: Funding to support relevant feasibility studies.  
 

E6: Support for local arts, cultural, heritage and creative 
activities.  
 

E15: Investment and support for digital infrastructure for 
local community facilities.  
 

E7: Support for active travel enhancements in the local 
area.  
 

 

E8: Funding for the development and promotion of wider 
campaigns which encourage people to visit and explore 
the local area.  
 

 
2.4 Funding for the full range of initiatives under Pillar 3 is not being made available until the third 

year of the programme (2024/25). Instead, the Department for Education is rolling out the Multiply 
adult numeracy programme, with funding through UKSPF, to engage adults with low numeracy 
skills in informal learning to boost their functional numeracy skills.  
 

2.5 The Multiply programme will complement rather than displace existing numeracy activities 
supported through the Adult Education Budget legal entitlement, through a menu of interventions 
that target confidence building; money management; numeracy skills required in the workplace; 
courses for parents and other support.  
 

2.6 Multiply will act as a feeder for more formal AEB-funded provision and deliver predominantly non-
accredited learning programmes to ensure there is no duplication of activity. Delivery will be 
predominantly through West Yorkshire-wide activity commissioned through WYCA and focused 
on business-related and capacity building activities.  
 

2.7 A small programme of local activity has been devolved to the five West Yorkshire local authorities 
and centred on community-focused activities.  In Kirklees, Multiply funding will be used to provide 
money management and budget support; family learning designed to support children with 
numeracy; and to target the hardest to reach learners, with provision predominantly delivered 
through community organisations. 

 
2.8 West Yorkshire has been allocated £68m UKSPF and £12.5m under the Multiply programme. 

The allocation is lower than under the previous ESIF programme. The West Yorkshire allocation 
was derived through a bottom-up process of allocating funding to constituent local authorities on 
the basis population and a needs-based index.  
 

  

Page 121



Role of the Combined Authority 
2.9 In West Yorkshire, WYCA will act as accountable body to Government for UKSPF and Multiply 

with responsibility for  

• developing and submitting Investment Plans to Government for UKSPF and Multiply;  
• contracting with delivery partners;  

• grant payments to project delivery partners, including the five local authorities; and  

• monitoring and assurance activity. 
 

Up to 4% of the UKSPF and 10% of the Multiply allocation may be used to fund management and 
administration costs.  
 

2.10 WYCA has acknowledged that there is a risk that the transition from ESIF to UKSPF funding may 
create a funding ‘cliff edge’ for some projects and particularly those delivered by voluntary/ 
community sector partners. Discussions are ongoing to identify those organisations that are most 
at risk of loss of delivery capacity and WYCA is undertaking further due diligence and exploring 
use of other funding streams, rather than UKSPF, to provide interim support. 

 
2.11 WYCA has established formal governance arrangements including a Local Partnership Advisory 

Group that will provide overall programme management and oversight for the West Yorkshire 
UKSPF programme, reporting to the Finance, Resources and Corporate Committee (FRCC) of 
the Authority and ultimately to the Combined Authority. An MP Engagement group has also been 
established. 
 

2.12 WYCA was required to submit Local Investment Plans (LIP) to Government covering both the 
Multiply and wider UKSPF programmes and delivery arrangements for West Yorkshire. The 
Multiply LIP has subsequently been approved by Government and approval of the UKSPF 
programme is anticipated in Autumn 2022. 
 
Balance of regional/local UKSPF programmes  

2.13 As part of the process of developing the LIPs, the West Yorkshire Leaders and WYCA agreed to 
allocate £30m to the five West Yorkshire local authorities – including £5.824m to Kirklees - to 
support UKSPF programme development and delivery at local/neighbourhood level. In this 
context, the devolved programmes would have a particular focus on UKSPF Pillar 1 – 
Communities and Place – although activities under Pillar 2 (supporting local business) and Pillar 
3 (people and skills, for 2024/25 only) could also be supported. 
 

2.14 This leaves further £35m (excluding programme management and administration costs) to 
support West Yorkshire-wide programmes predominantly under Pillar 2, and via Pillar 3 from 
2024/25. WYCA is developing proposals for commissioning support under each Pillar that will 
optimise alignment with the Gainshare funding secured from Government. 
 
Kirklees UKSPF programme 

2.15 Within a relatively short timeframe dictated by Government/WYCA submission deadlines, Officers 
have developed a draft local UKSPF programme, based on the following criteria: 

 

• fit with UKSPF objectives and eligibility criteria  
 

• strategic fit with Council outcomes and the emerging strategic framework including the draft 
Inclusive Communities Framework, health and wellbeing strategy, environment strategy and 
inclusive economy strategy 
 

• achievement of UKSPF outcomes/outputs 
 

• project deliverability and related risks 
 

• availability of funding - i.e., activities proposed for inclusion are currently unfunded or would 
enable effective redeployment of committed resources. 

 

Page 122



2.16 It is proposed that the locally commissioned programme will be focused on the ‘community and 
place’ pillar of UKSPF, with a complementary focus on regionally commissioned activity against 
the business and skills pillars. The draft proposals include: 

 

• developing the existing Community Anchor and Community Champions programmes to 
develop shared organisational capacity/support and learning; and to develop community 
skills, leadership and infrastructure with Black African and Caribbean communities and other 
groups underrepresented in circles of influence 

 

• implementing a small community grants programme to support voluntary/community sector 
projects which meet UKSPF Communities and Place objectives 

 

• support to address the cost of living crisis, including benefits/fuel poverty advice, though 
extending our Local Area Coordination model 

 

• expanding the network of VCS-run Digital Hubs in our most deprived communities to increase 
access to digital services, training and employment opportunities and support inclusion. 

 

• Safe and Inclusive Town Centres: a major programme of investment to improve community 

safety in the main centres of Huddersfield/Dewsbury and Batley, including CCTV 

infrastructure 

 

• public realm improvements to the St Peter’s Gardens area of Huddersfield town centre which 

remains a focus for anti-social behaviour but, as a key local greenspace, has the potential to 

support delivery of the Huddersfield Blueprint 

 

• Participation in the Arts and Creative Economy (PACE), a programme to increase 

participation and opportunities in the local arts and creative economy through a range of 

activities that remove barriers in accessing these sectors, as part of the Kirklees Year of 

Music legacy 

 

• a programme of investment in new community sports facilities and related physical activity 

initiatives to improve community health and wellbeing through the Everybody Active asset-

based community development and Dewsbury Playzone projects 

 

• New to English, a programme of support to engage excluded communities and individuals 

without English language skills in activities that act as a first step to ESOL provision  

 

• funding to take forward implementation of the Local Centres masterplans for Batley, 

Cleckheaton, Heckmondwike and Holmfirth through related feasibility studies 

 

• a small supporting local business (Pillar 2) programme consisting of the development of 

business incubator/start-up support for the Glass Box business centre in Huddersfield and  

rolling out a place-based approach to business support for town centre-based businesses, 

aligned with the Council’s major regeneration programmes for Huddersfield, Dewsbury and 

the Local Centres. 

 
2.17 Key stakeholders including Third Sector Leaders have been consulted on the development of the 

draft programme. It is proposed that a significant proportion of the overall programme will be 
commissioned through voluntary/community delivery partners. This will include several different 
elements of the ‘Building Community Infrastructure’ programme, PACE and New to English.  
 

2.18 It is also proposed to establish one or more small community grant schemes to enable 
voluntary/community sector partners to bid for funding to support local/neighbourhood level 
projects which are in accord with UKSPF objectives. There will be a further opportunity for 
stakeholders to shape the programme through the next stage of development work. 
 

  Page 123



Options 
 

2.19 The Council could have chosen not to participate in the arrangements to devolve UKSPF funding 
to local authorities to support commissioning of local Communities and Place activities and relied 
on a centrally commissioned programme of support through WYCA. This approach would almost 
certainly favour larger delivery partners with the capacity and resources to deliver at West 
Yorkshire level but potentially without the necessary community links to ensure effective, targeted 
local delivery.  

 
2.20 The ability to target Communities and Place funds at specific communities or voluntary/ 

community sector organisations would also be limited and there is a risk that the area would 
secure less funding through this route than through the preferred option which is to deliver a 
devolved local programme administered through the Council.  
 
Costs  
 

2.21 It is proposed that WYCA will allocate £5,824,858 of UKSPF funding to the Council to deliver the 
local UKSPF programme, subject to approval of the West Yorkshire UKSPF Local Investment 
Plan by Government and approval of the local authority proposals through WYCA’s assurance 
process. The Council will enter into a grant agreement with WYCA in relation to the Kirklees 
UKSPF allocation that will provide the framework for management of the Kirklees programme 
and the achievement of the contracted outputs, outcomes and spend profiles. 
 

2.22 The Kirklees funding package will be expected to reflect the overall West Yorkshire funding 
profile in terms of annual allocations and the split between capital and revenue funding - table 2.2 
below and Appendix 1 present further details: 
 
Table 2.2: Draft Kirklees UKSPF programme – funding profile: 
 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Capital Revenue Total Capital Revenue Total Capital Revenue Total 

£88,690 £1,052,500 £1,141,190 £223,794 £1,289,645 £1,513,439 £682,831 £2,487,398 £3,170,229 

 

2.23 Just over 83% of the available funding is revenue with the balance (17%) capital. The funding 
profile is relatively uneven, with the bulk of both revenue and capital funding available in year 3 
and, in consequence, less funding available in year 2, with implications for the delivery of multi-
year projects/activities. It is understood that there will be no scope to vire funding between 
financial years. 
 

2.24 The overall/West Yorkshire funding profile submitted to Government through the Local 
Investment Plan allocates funding against specific UKSPF interventions, linked to delivery of 
outputs/outcomes. It is anticipated that this approach will also be reflected in the grant agreement 
between WYCA and the Council. This may impact to some extent on the Council’s flexibility to 
vire funding between projects to ensure programme-wide financial and output targets are 
achieved. Appendix 1 illustrates the current, indicative funding allocated to the various projects 
within the draft Kirklees programme. 
 

2.25 £790,000 has been allocated by WYCA to the Council to support delivery of the local Multiply 
interventions outlined in paragraph 2.7. 

 
Expected impact/outcome/benefits 
 

2.26 It is anticipated that the programme will deliver the following UKSPF outputs/outcomes over the 
period to March 2025: 

• 128 m2 of public realm created or improved 

• 1 premises rehabilitated 

• 563 volunteering opportunities supported 

• 760 people undertaking training sessions 

• 75 jobs created and 95 jobs safeguarded Page 124



• 380 organisations receiving non-financial support 

• 109 VCS organisations and 30 businesses receiving grants 

• 450 potential entrepreneurs assisted to be business ready.  

 
Risks 
 

2.27 There are several potential risks associated with the scheme, including: 
 

• the wider economic climate could impact on the ability to achieve some of the output/results 
targets, with the potential risk of clawback of funding 

 

• the challenging timeframe for commissioning and delivery of the programme in year 1 could 
raise the risk of financial clawback, if the financial and output targets to be stipulated in 
WYCA’s grant agreement with the Council are not met  
 

• in acting as Accountable Body to WYCA for the local UKSPF grant, the Council will be 
required to ensure compliance with relevant eligibility, Subsidy Control,  procurement and 
branding/publicity requirements, including by delivery partners, again with the potential risk of 
clawback in the event of non-compliance 

 

• the challenging timeframe to develop the draft Kirklees programme to meet WYCA/ 
Government bid deadlines has limited the scope for widespread engagement and 
consultation.  

 
2.28 These risks will be managed and mitigated by the Council on an ongoing basis throughout the 

delivery period. The Council has extensive experience of managing external funding streams 
over many years, including complex European funding programmes, and has the resources in 
place to manage any related compliance risks.  
 

2.29 The current economic conditions could impact on the Council’s ability to achieve some project 
outputs – for example, those capital projects that may be subject to further increases in 
construction cost inflation. Where appropriate, construction inflation costs have been built into 
project cost estimates and this issue will continue to be monitored closely. Participation in some 
of the projects could also be impacted by the current economic situation – but these risks will be 
mitigated by the Council working closely with and supporting engagement by community-based 
delivery partners that are best placed to access hard to reach clients. 
  

2.30 Year 1 delivery timeframes are challenging given that the necessary approvals by Government, 
WYCA and Cabinet will not all be in place until late October 2022 at the earliest. The Council will 
mitigate this risk by utilising UKSPF funding as flexibly it can, for example supporting the 
extension of existing/commissioned activities or utilising direct purchasing systems or other 
appropriate procurement routes to accelerate the process. A pipeline of additional projects will be 
developed to support flexible implementation and mitigate the risk of clawback during the 
programme. 
 

2.31 Subsidy Control matters are considered in Section 3.9 of the report. 
 

2.32 Bid timeframes have limited the scope for widespread engagement in developing the Kirklees 
UKSPF programme to date, although key community stakeholders including Third Sector 
Leaders have been consulted. This risk will be mitigated through further engagement with 
voluntary/ community sector partners to inform commissioning and delivery of the programme. As 
highlighted in paragraph 2.18 it is intended that a significant proportion of the Kirklees 
programme will be commissioned through voluntary/community sector delivery partners or 
facilitated through community grant programmes. 

 
  

Page 125



3. Implications for the Council 
 
Working with people 
 

3.1 The proposals will support the Council’s efforts to work together with people and communities to 
find shared solutions. The Council has drawn on learning from the implementation of previous 
European grant programmes and from the innovative approach to working with Community 
Anchor organisations during the COVID-19 pandemic, and this will inform delivery of the UKSPF 
programme. 
 
Working with Partners 
 

3.2 The Council has engaged with key voluntary/community sector partners during development of 
the proposals and further, more extensive engagement will follow to inform commissioning and 
delivery of the programme.  
 
Place Based Working 
 

3.3 The local UKSPF programme will play a direct role in supporting and accelerating the Council’s 
proposals for place-based working – through provision of capacity building and other resources to 
be targeted at those VCS organisations that are best placed to support local communities/ 
residents; and increasing access to business support for town centre-based businesses across 
Kirklees. 

 
Climate Change and Air Quality 
 

3.4 The UKSPF programme will afford the opportunity to engage more voluntary/community sector 
organisations and businesses on the climate change/net zero and how they can contribute to 
efforts to reduce emissions and make Kirklees carbon neutral by 2038. 
 
Other (legal/financial/human resources) 
 

3.5 Financial matters are addressed in section 2 of the report. The Council will be required to provide 
regular reports to WYCA on the implementation of the scheme. 
 

3.6 The Council can rely on section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to accept grants and provide grants to 
third parties. The general power of competence enables the Council to do anything an individual 
can do subject to restrictions and limitations in other legislation. 
  

3.7 The Council will comply with its Financial Procedure Rules when awarding all grants and 
Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 when awarding contracts 
to third parties. 
 

3.8 The Council must also comply with its public sector equality duty under section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2011. As part of the proposed governance for the delivery of the Council’s UKSPF 
programme there will be a requirement for projects and services to complete an Integrated 
Impact Assessment. This will also relate to any grant programmes developed . 
 

3.9 UKSPF will also be subject to the Government’s Subsidy Control arrangements. The Subsidy 
Control Act 2022 has received the  Royal Assent, but the Act is not yet fully in force. It will be 
underpinned by statutory guidance and secondary legislation, which is currently being consulted 
on, and the new regime is expected to become operational by early 2023. Under the new regime, 
public authorities will be required where subsidy is not prohibited or exempt to self-assess 
whether the financial assistance they grant is consistent with seven common  principles where 
applicable and will be required to publish information about subsidies in certain circumstances. 
This approach will also be applied to scheme delivery partners.  
 

  

Page 126



3.10 The Council will establish an UKSPF Programme Board, chaired by the Senior Responsible 
Officer, the Service Director for Skills and Regeneration. This will include both Council and 
external/stakeholder representation as appropriate and will have responsibility for oversight and 
management of the Council’s UKSPF allocation to ensure achievement of the financial and 
output targets to be set out in the grant agreement with WYCA. This will  include 
recommendations in relation to any proposed changes in programme or project level outputs, 
outcomes or funding profiles.  
 

3.11 The Programme Board will report to the Council’s Major Projects Board (which has Combined 
Authority representation). Risks and issues by exception will be reported both to the Growth and 
Regeneration Portfolio Senior Leadership Team, chaired by the Strategic Director, and reported 
to Elected Members via regular Portfolio Holder briefings. This approach will ensure the Council 
is accountable, open and transparent with WYCA and other local partners. 
 

3.12 There will be a requirement to create a small number of additional programme management and 
delivery roles to ensure effective delivery of the local UKSPF and Multiply programmes. Any 
related roles will be 100% externally funded and recruited on a fixed-term basis. 
 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 

4.1 Engagement with key stakeholders will continue as the scheme is developed and  implemented. 
 
5. Next steps and timelines 

 
5.1 Next steps will include: 

 

• approval, with conditions as appropriate, of the West Yorkshire UKSPF Local Investment Plan 
by Government 
 

• approval by WYCA of the West Yorkshire local authorities proposals for devolving UKSPF 
funding, through the WYCA assurance framework, and entering into the grant agreement with 
WYCA 

 

• commissioning of year 1 UKSPF programme, including finalisation of project specification and 
commencement of related procurement activities. 

 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

 
1. Cabinet notes the content of this report and approves the delivery of the Kirklees UKSPF 

programme. 
 

2. Cabinet agrees to accept external funding of £5,824,858 from the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority to support delivery of the Kirklees UKSPF programme, and for the Council to act as 
Accountable Body for the grant, subject to final approval by Government/WYCA. 
 

3. Cabinet agrees to accept external funding of £790,231 from the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority to support delivery of the Kirklees Multiply programme, and for the Council to act as 
Accountable Body for the grant, subject to final approval by WYCA. 
 

4. Cabinet delegates authority to the Strategic Director Growth and Regeneration and the 
Service Director Legal, Governance and Commissioning to finalise and execute all necessary 
legal agreements with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the Council’s project 
delivery partners and to put in place the necessary governance arrangements for the local 
UKSPF/Multiply programmes. 
 

5. Cabinet delegates authority for implementation of the Kirklees UKSPF programme to the 
Strategic Director Growth and Regeneration and the Strategic Director Adults and Health, 
including the commencement and award of any related procurement exercises. 

 

Page 127



6. Cabinet delegates authority for implementation of the Kirklees Multiply programme to the 
Strategic Director Growth and Regeneration, including the commencement and award of any 
related procurement exercises. 
 

7. Cabinet delegates authority to the Strategic Director Growth and Regeneration and the 
Service Director Finance, to submit grant claims and to undertake related project monitoring 
and reporting. 

 
Reasons 
 
1. To ensure Kirklees residents, community organisations and businesses  can access the 

support available through the project as soon as practicable. 
 

2. To enable the Council to receive external funding for the programme via the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority. 

 
3. To enable the Council to receive external funding for the programme via the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority 
 

4. To ensure rapid and efficient implementation of the project in accordance with the scheme of 
delegations. 
 

5. To ensure rapid and efficient implementation of the project in accordance with the scheme of 
delegations. 

 
6. To ensure rapid and efficient implementation of the project in accordance with the scheme of 

delegations. 
 
7. To ensure rapid and efficient implementation of the project in accordance with the scheme of 

delegations. 
 

7. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder supports the recommendations, which have been developed to 
ensure residents, community organisations and businesses can access support through the 
UKSPF and Multiply programmes as soon as practicable. 

 
8. Contact officer(s)  

 
Chris Duffill, Head of Business, Economy & Growth chris.duffill@kirklees.gov.uk  
Gillian Wallace, Head of Employment and Skills gillian.wallace@kirklees.gov.uk 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

UKSPF prospectus: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-
prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus 
 
Multiply prospectus: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil
e/1068822/Multiply_Investment_Prospectus.pdf 
 
 

10. Service Director responsible  
 
Edward Highfield, Service Director Skills and Regeneration  

 
  

Page 128

mailto:chris.duffill@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:gillian.wallace@kirklees.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1068822/Multiply_Investment_Prospectus.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1068822/Multiply_Investment_Prospectus.pdf


Appendix 1: Summary of UKSPF capital and revenue funding ask 2022/23-2024/25 
 

UKSPF intervention 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

Capital Revenue Capital Revenue Capital Revenue  

E1 – Improvements to 
town centres & high 
streets 

£50,690 £132,500 £170,000 £200,000 £279,310 £247,500 £1,080,000 

E2 – Community & 
neighbourhood 
infrastructure projects 

£20,000 - £23,794 £98,000 £45,206 £100,000 £287,000 

E3 – Creation of and 
improvements to local 
green spaces 

£18,000  £30,000  £332,000 £75,000 £455,000 

E4 – enhancing existing 
cultural, historic and 
heritage institutions 

- -  £60,000  £65,000 £125,000 

E6 local arts, cultural, 
heritage and creative 
activities 

- £300,000 - £252,718 - £350,000 £902,718 

E9 – Impactful 
volunteering or social 
action projects 

- £450,000 - £236,002 £6,000 £491,398 £1,183,400 

E11 – Capacity building 
and infrastructure 
support for local groups 

- £110,000 - £262,925 - £560,500 £933,425 

E13 – Community 
measures to reduce the 
cost of living 

- £60,000 - £80,000 - £50,000 £190,000 

E19 – Investment in 
R&D at the local level 

- - - £50,000 - £248,000 £298,000 

E23 – Strengthening 
local entrepreneurial 
ecosystems 

- - - £50,000 £20,315 £300,000 £370,315 

Total £88,690 £1,052,500 £233,794 £1,289,645 £682,831 £2,487,398 £5,824,858 

 
 

 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 17 

 

 
 

Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date:  11 October 2022    
Title of report: The refurbishment and redevelopment of the George Hotel site in Huddersfield Town 

Centre to transform this building into a new hotel as part of the Huddersfield Blueprint Regeneration 
Programme. 
  
Purpose of report: To seek cabinet approval to support the redevelopment of the George Hotel site 
as a 91 bed hotel with an associated food and beverage offer. To seek approval to enter into a Hotel 
Management Agreement (HMA) and any other ancillary formal legal documentation with the hotel 
operator Radisson Hotel Group utilising the Radisson Red brand and to authorise officers to explore 
options as regards to the commercial structure of the hotel ownership.   
 
In addition, Cabinet is asked to agree to the capital allocation of £20,205,000 and to authorise officers to 
prepare and submit any necessary planning and listed building consent applications (as well as any 
other statutory consents that may be required to ensure delivery) for the hotel development outlined in 
the report and for officers to be authorised to undertake the necessary procurement exercise to appoint  
a construction contractor to deliver the hotel in accordance with the agreed programme set out at 
Appendix H. 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral wards?   

Yes 
 
Expenditure >£250,000 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan 
(key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Key Decision – Yes 
 
Public Cabinet report with public and private 
Appendices  

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning? 
 

David Shepherd – 27.09.22 
 
Eamonn Croston – 30.09.22 
 
 
Julie Muscroft – 30.09.22 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Graham Turner 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: Newsome 
 
Ward councillors consulted: None  

 
Public or private: Public Cabinet report with public and private Appendices  
Appendices to the Cabinet Report are set out below: 
 

Appendix A  George Hotel Brochure – Colliers (Public) 
Appendix B  Summary of Final Offers and Letter of Recommendation - Colliers (Private) 
Appendix C  Draft Heads of Terms (Private) 
Appendix D  RIBA Stage 2 Concept Design Report (Public) 
Appendix E  Stage 2 Cost Plan (Private) 
Appendix F  Queensberry Report on Viability (Private) 

Page 131

Agenda Item 13:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 

Page 2 of 17 

 

Appendix G  Risk Register (Private) 
Appendix H  Programme (Public) 

 
The private Appendices are recommended for consideration in private in accordance with Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 namely they contain information relating to the financial and business 
affairs of the council and a third party. It is considered that disclosure of the information would adversely 
affect the commercial interests of Radisson Hotel Group and therefore the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption, which would protect the rights of an individual or the council, outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information and providing greater openness in the council’s decision making. 

 
Has GDPR been considered? Yes 

 
1. Summary  

 
The Council purchased the George Hotel (the ‘George’) in August 2020 with the intention to 
bring it back into use as part of the Huddersfield Blueprint which focuses on regenerating 6 key 
areas of the town, including the Station Gateway which the George sits within.  

The George is in a highly prominent location with frontage on to St George’s Square and 
adjacent to Huddersfield Railway Station. The building also has historic significance as the 
birthplace of rugby league and is Grade II* listed. Once a popular hotel it has been closed and 
vacant since 2013. 

The Council would like to restore the building to bring it back into use as a upper upscale hotel 
with Radisson Hotel Group being the hotel operator utilising the Radisson Red brand and 
incorporating the following:  

• 91 bedrooms, with a broad mix of room types and sizes including suites and family rooms; 

• a banqueting / events space for approximately 140 covers (166 sqm) and a gym (40 sqm) 

at lower ground level; 

• bar/restaurant/dining experience for approximately 70 covers on the ground floor;  

• a conference room (76 sqm);  

• a guest lounge (32 sqm); and 

• a multi-purpose conference and private dining room (53 sqm) at first floor level.  

 

Based on the interest rate at the time of writing this report to be 4.34% this report asks Cabinet 
to allocate £20,205,000 into the capital plan to progress the project to completion and to agree 
to enter into a Hotel Management Agreement  (subject to further consideration of ownership 
structures such as an SPV) with Radisson Hotel Group representing Radisson Red  brand . 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 

2.1 Huddersfield Blueprint  
 

Kirklees Council launched its ambitious Huddersfield Blueprint (“Blueprint”) regeneration vision 
in June 2019. The Blueprint is a ten-year vision to create a thriving, modern-day town centre 
that will be accessible, busy, inclusive, family-friendly, sustainable and a safe environment that 
will stay open longer. The significant regeneration and investment planned for the town will 
transform Huddersfield, helping to stimulate and induce demand for domestic and international 
tourism. 

The Blueprint focuses on regenerating six key areas of Huddersfield Town Centre: Station 
Gateway, St Peter's, Kingsgate / King Street, New Street, the Civic Quarter and a new 
Cultural Heart in the Queensgate and Piazza area. 
 

The strategic aim of the Blueprint is to 

Page 132



 

Page 3 of 17 

 

• Create a busy town centre with thriving economy and a balanced offer 

• Increase residential living in the town centre 

• Have family and student friendly spaces, attractions, and activities. 

• Have an economically vibrant town with improved employment opportunities. 

• Refocus the retail core 

• Position Kirklees as a destination for tourism.  

• Join up disparate areas in the town centre. 

• Regenerate iconic architecture, complemented by new, modern buildings. 

• Bring back ‘civic pride’ 

• Encourage third party private investment 

 
The George sits within the Station Gateway key area and the reopening of the hotel was 
included as one of the key regeneration projects of the Blueprint. The George is in a highly 
prominent location with frontage on to St George’s Square and adjacent to Huddersfield 
Railway Station. The building also has historic significance as the birthplace of rugby league 
and is Grade II* listed. Once a popular hotel it has been closed and vacant since 2013. 

Also within the Station Gateway area is: 

• the Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade which will provide opportunities to enhance the 

station with good quality waiting areas and a choice of eating, drinking and 

convenience shopping 

• the potential for a new Station Square to provide an arrival space, drop off zone and 

new entrance to the station.  

• St George Warehouse being brought back into use. 

• Estates building –remedial works will commence early October 2022 with the intention 

it will then be refurbished with some commercial use on the ground floor and the 

majority of the building brought back into use for residential purposes, which will 

support the concept of attracting and retaining graduates with easy access of public 

transport. 

• Northumberland Street Regeneration Project currently seeking to secure Levelling Up 

Fund round 2 funding to rejuvenate the market offer in Huddersfield on the site of the 

Open Market and enhance the adjacent public realm.  

 

2.2 The Case for Change  
 
The Council purchased the George at a time when its condition was continuing to deteriorate 
in private ownership in order to secure and influence the future of this important gateway 
building. By bringing it back in to use and ensuring it supports the delivery of the blueprint it will 
kickstart the wider regeneration of St. George’s Square and the town as a whole. 

The aspiration is to restore the Grade II* listed George Hotel, and reinstate the George as a 
thriving, sustainable, hotel and hospitality development.  

Following acquisition of the building, the Council undertook an options analysis, exploring how 
to bring back the George into use using its previous layout of a 60 room hotel. This number of 
rooms was found to be commercially unviable. Further conclusions of this analysis showed 
that:  

i. In order to create a viable solution, it was essential that a hotel operator providing at least a 
mid to upper upscale level offer (equivalent to a 3 to 4 plus star hotel) needed to be 
attracted to generate sufficient income to ensure the new hotel could be viable long term.  
This level of quality is also one which reflects the historic importance of the building. In 

Page 133



 

Page 4 of 17 

 

addition, a widely recognised quality hotel brand will help to draw people to stay over in 
Huddersfield who are seeking accommodation in the wider area. 

 
ii. A minimum number of 90 rooms with ancillary hospitality offer would need to be pursued 

for the building to attract a branded mid to upper upscale hotel operator.  
 

iii. A hotel of this quality in the town centre will provide appropriate and fitting accommodation 
for visitors to local businesses and to the university to stay in the town centre.   

 
2.3 Investment to date – Council/High Streets Heritage Action Zone (HAZ)/Get Building Fund 

 

In March 2022 the Council secured £1,365,000 from the Get Building Fund from DLUHC which 
is managed by WYCA. This funding has been used to support the acquisition of the George  
as the freehold owner to undertake essential remedial works to make the building safe, 
watertight and ready for development.   

In addition, funding of £851,000 was also secured from Heritage Action Zone via Historic 
England in September 2020 which has contributed to these remedial works including the 
restoration of the windows, roof and façade.  

As part of developing the project to completion the Council have instructed the following 
consultants to provide necessary hotel advice and progress the design for the building to bring 
it back into use as a hotel. Given the Council have not delivered a hotel previously it was 
essential that we brought in hotel sector experts to advise and assist us.    

• Queensberry Real Estate – Development Manager and Project Manager 

• Colliers – Hotel Agent 
• Bowman Riley leading a multi disciplinary team consisting of: 

 
- Architect: Bowman & Riley  
- Heritage Consultant: Bowman & Riley  
- Cost Consultant: Turner & Townsend  
- Structural Engineer: Rambolls  
- Mechanical and Electrical Engineer: Rambolls  
- Fire Engineer: Mott MacDonald  
- Acoustic Engineer: Mott MacDonald  
- Sustainability: Mott MacDonald  

This expert team is advising and liaising with a range of internal services and disciplines. The 
intention is to novate both Architect (Bowman Riley) and Structural engineer (Rambolls) 
contracts to the Building Contractor when appointed with Mechanical and Electrical Engineers 
(Rambolls) and Cost Consultant (Turner and Townsend) retained as technical advisors to the 
Council.  

2.4 Overview of current hotel supply and demand in Huddersfield 
 
We have sought advice from Colliers in relation to demand for a hotel in Huddersfield. Their 
report and recommendations can be found in Appendix A and Appendix B. The key elements 
of their advice is set out below. 

They identified that there is a limited supply of upscale full-service branded hotels in 
Huddersfield which presents a strong market opportunity for an upscale lifestyle hotel concept, 
particularly in view of the major regeneration schemes either planned and/or underway which 
will undoubtedly drive interest and visitation to the town. They also identified there was an 
unmet need for good accommodation for visitors to local businesses and the university.  

Page 134



 

Page 5 of 17 

 

It must be noted though that the proposed hotel at the George will not be dependent on the 
delivery of other Blueprint projects to be successful. There is a clear requirement for the hotel 
which will bring inward investment for years to come into Huddersfield and the surrounding 
area. There is also an expectation that making a success out the George Hotel may generate 
further hotel investment into the town centre.   

There are currently 22 hotels with 10 or more bedrooms within a 4-mile radius of the George 
Hotel. Hotels in Huddersfield are predominately situated on the outskirts of Huddersfield and 
close to the M62. 

• The majority (64%) of hotels are independently owned and operated, with just over a 
third of hotels in the market area being nationally or internationally branded.  

• Luxury and upscale properties in Huddersfield represent 36% of the total hotel supply 
in the area, demonstrating high demand for this type of product.  

• There are currently no hotels in Huddersfield town centre positioned within the upper 
upscale hotel category, highlighting a market gap and potential opportunity for this type 
of hotel product at the George Hotel.  

 
As shown in Table 2.1 below there are 7 hotels within a 4 mile radius of Huddersfield, 
providing a total of 596 rooms, all positioned within the upper midscale to upper upscale 
sectors.  

Table 2.1:  Breakdown of existing hotels in 4 mile radius of Huddersfield 

HOTEL CLASS  HOTELS  ROOMS  % OF ROOMS  

Luxury  1  11  1.1%  

Upscale  7  277  28.0%  

Upper Midscale  6  319  32.3%  

Midscale  2  62  6.3%  

Economy  6  320  32.3%  

TOTAL  22  989  100%  
Source: George Hotel Brochure – Colliers  

 

2.5 Hotel Occupancy levels  
 
Prior to the onset of the global Covid-19 pandemic, occupancy of the hotels identified in Table 
2.1 was recorded at around 69% to 73% between 2017 and 2019. However, it is prudent to 
note that this data set comprised a broad mix in terms of quality and branding. It is 
Queensberry’s and Colliers’ opinion that the George will significantly outperform the local 
market given its high-quality appeal, branding and location. 

2.6 Room Rates 
 
Within the 4 mile radius of Huddersfield, the average daily rate (ADR) had been displaying 
positive growth prior to the pandemic, up from £50.98 in 2017 to £55.12 in 2019. Positively, 
2021 saw return to ADR growth, recorded at £58.86, surpassing that achieved in the few years 
prior to the pandemic.  

Overall, this resulted in revenue per available room (RevPAR) of £37.90 in 2021, reaching 
95% of 2019 levels. The consultants consider the future outlook for 2022 and 2023, in 
particular, to be highly positive for the local market, and especially moving beyond this as the 
regeneration of Huddersfield evolves. See Figure 2.1 below. 

 

Figure 2.1: ADR and RevPAR for hotels in Huddersfield from 2017 to 2021 

Page 135



 

Page 6 of 17 

 

 
 Source: George Hotel Brochure – Colliers  

As stated in section 2.5 above the data set comprises a broad mix in terms of quality and 
branding and Colliers would expect a nationally branded upper upscale lifestyle hotel to 
outperform this. 

2.7 Hotel Operator Selection 

As our representative for the project Colliers engaged initially with a total of 55 operators, all of 
whom had been pre-screened to ensure they were appropriate for the location, type of building 
and envisaged market positioning. It was our intention to attract hotel operators above 
midscale. We received a strong response with 10 expressions of interest from parties keen to 
brand and/or operate an upper upscale hotel at the George.  

The 10 expressions were then scored and evaluated under an agreed criteria and 5 selected 
for interview with the panel consisting of Queensberry, a range of Council officers including 
Procurement, Business Development as well as our hotel agent Colliers.  

The interviews were held in early June 2022 with each brand presenting their proposals with 
the following points discussed and additional information requested to enable the overall 
scoring to be updated:  

1. Quality and clarification of brand including the food and beverage (F&B) offer. 
2. How the brand would impact the wider town of Huddersfield.  
3. Employment structure and implementation of Real Living Wage. 
4. Sustainability. 
5. Technical and cost viability including fixtures, furniture and equipment (FF&E) / owner-

furnished equipment (OFE). 
6. Company attitude and incentives in supporting the local community. 
7. Design comments. 
8. Profit and Loss (P&L)/Financial proposals  
Full documentation of this process is included in Appendix B – Summary of Final Offers and 
Letter of Recommendation. 

2.8 Preferred Hotel Operator  

The preferred hotel operator, resulting from the selection process, is Radisson Hotel Group 
utilising the Radisson Red brand and we are now agreeing the Heads of Terms with them to 
form the basis of a Hotel Management Agreement (HMA).  

The Heads of Terms currently under negotiation includes: 

Page 136



 

Page 7 of 17 

 

• Term 

• Hotel Operator Fee 

• Performance test 

• Technical Fees 

• Area of Protection     

It should be noted that Radisson Hotel Group do not have a car parking policy and as such have 
not stimulated a need for car parking spaces as part of the HMA.  Generally, they will seek to 
secure an agreement with a local operator within a short walk from the hotel. 

 
The detail of this arrangement can be found in Private Appendix C - Heads of Terms. 

 
 Anticipated Concept for the George Hotel 
 

The George Hotel will be the best hotel in town by far and with an international and well 
renowned operator. In terms of an average daily rate (ADR) charged to the occupier, this 
would be circa £80-£90 as an average per night, however Queensberry state that the current 

data obtained does indicate an average of £100‐£110 per night gross rate is achievable in this 
location based on the proposed brand and quality especially considering the supporting 
facilities of quality F&B, banqueting and meeting rooms which have been allowed for within the 
capital costs. For further details see Appendix F. 

2.9 Hotel Ownership Structure  
 
The Council will be responsible for meeting the full costs of refurbishment of the external and 
internal structures of the George Hotel. It is also worth noting that as the George is a listed 
building, there would be some obligations to do some works, even if the building is not 
operational. 
 
There are a number of potential ownership structures that could operate between the Council 
as premises owner and the hotel operator, which might involve a Council wholly owned 
company (SPV) where the Council grants a long lease to the SPV and the SPV enters into the 
HMA. Officers are currently exploring the most appropriate structure. It may be that we enter 
into such a structural arrangement before initial operation, or at some time in the future, 
subject to the HMA Heads of Terms. 
 

2.10 Design Development 

A design team led by Bowman Riley Architects have been appointed to progress the design of 
the George.  

The proposed hotel will comprise of the restoration and renovation of the existing George 
Hotel building. The total Gross Internal Area (GIA) of the proposed hotel is 5,117 sqm. Based 
on earlier work with Queensberry and Colliers, the key aims and objectives for the restoration 
of building is for: 

• 91 bedrooms, with a broad mix of room types and sizes including suites and family rooms; 

• a banqueting / events space for approximately 140 covers (166 sqm) and a gym (40 sqm) 
at lower ground level; 

• bar/restaurant/dining experience for approximately 70 covers on the ground floor;  

• a conference room (76 sqm);  

• a guest lounge (32 sqm); and 

• a multi-purpose conference and private dining room (53 sqm) at first floor level;  

A RIBA Stage 2 Concept Design has been completed and the following solution has been 
identified as the basis for redeveloping the building, as identified in Figure 2.2 below:  

 

Page 137



 

Page 8 of 17 

 

• Retention of Block A (main building at the front) with internal structural alterations to 
accommodate the proposals. 

• Retention of the façade of Block C (John William Street elevation) removal of building 
behind the façade including internal courtyard, new build structure. 

• Demolition of Block B (facing station at rear) and new build structure. The new build upper 
floors (including block C) will be built up in a stepped back manner on the top floors to not 
detract from the historic metric of Block A & B  

Figure 2.2: Block identification for the George 

 
Source: Bowman Riley - Stage 2 Report  

 

This solution is seen as the most efficient approach to align with the initial design brief whilst de-
risking the project as far as possible at this stage in the following areas:  

 

• Overall financial risk and the risks associated with utilising existing structure. 

• To overcome levels and access issues to ensure the hotel is Equalities Act compliant. 

• Compliant as far as possible with operator requirements and initial furniture, fixtures, 
fittings and equipment (FFE) budgets. 

• Overall height of the extensions so not to exceed current height of the existing main 
building Block A and thus de-risking planning risk.  

Page 138



 

Page 9 of 17 

 

Discussions with Historic England have been pursued to ensure that any proposed changes 
are acceptable for this historic building. A number of meetings have been held with Historic 
England in 2022 to review the findings of the initial assessment and discuss the scope for 
removal of Block B in order to achieve a viable future for the building. At the next stage of 
design development, further structural survey work is to be undertaken to understand whether 
certain parts of the existing structure within Block C can be retained.  

The project team will ensure dialogue will be maintained with Historic England as the design 
progresses. 

 

A copy of the RIBA Stage 2 design information and report is included within Appendix D of the 
report.  

 
2.11 Overall Project Capital Costs 

The current projected construction costs at RIBA Stage 2 are £16,600,000 as set out in Appendix 
E. This includes a contingency of 15% to cover potential additional risks. In addition, there will be 
costs for fixtures and fittings, operational items, fees, and pre-opening costs, that might 
accumulate to a total cost position of £20,205,000. 

 
2.12 Overall operational income 

Based on the modelled projections from Queensberry factoring in reasonably prudent occupancy 
levels, room rates and operational costs, the estimated annual operational income attributable to 
the Council (before financing costs) is summarised below (at current prices): 
 
Table 2.2 Operational Income 

Year of Operation Modelled Council 
share of net income  

Year 1 £600,000 

Year 2 £750,000 

Year 3 (& thereafter) £900,000 

 
2.13 Financing charges 

At the time of writing this report, interest rates for Council loans from the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) are around 4.3%. However, in the last 6 months, they have been as low as 3.0%, 
and also as high as 5.5%.  

 

In addition to interest rate charges, capital financing cost attributable to the Council would also 
require an annual minimum revenue provision (MRP) requirement post-construction, to service 
the overall annual debt requirement for a £20million construction scheme.   

 

This element of the financing charge is based on an assumed post-refurbishment asset life for 
the hotel of 50 years. It’s also based on an annuity rate, in line with current Council treasury 
management policy. The estimated overall annual financing charges by year 3 of operation are 
indicated below for the different interest rate scenarios; 
 
Overall annual financing charges  
 

•   £788,000      (3% interest) 

•   £942,000      (4% interest) 

Page 139



 

Page 10 of 17 

 

•   £986,000      (4.4% interest) 

•   £1,105,000   (5% interest)        

The baseline modelled Council operational surplus share (year 3 operation) is £900,000. 
Illustratively, this indicates that in most scenarios above, the annual financing costs would be 
mostly covered off. However, the concept of self-financed scheme here also needs to take onto 
consideration the proposed operating model options for what is primarily a longer term 
regeneration scheme for the Council. As with many capital projects of this type, the regenerated 
hotel will have a value when completed. This is estimated to be in the region of £15million. At 
some stage the hotel may have a market value in excess of its debt outstanding, that would 
depend on the performance of the hotel, and the hotel market generally. As an example, at 3% 
interest rates in year 20 the hotel could still have approximately £11million of debt outstanding, 
which might align with its value at that time. 

 

It may be that, depending on financial performance, and the general hotel market that the 
opportunity to sell the hotel would arise at some stage where it may be possible to pay off the 
balance of debt from the proceeds of sale.  

 
2.14 Hotel performance and the effect of inflation. 

The net income figures included in the baseline business model (which are considered prudent 
by Queensberry) are also calculated on the basis of expectations about room rates, occupancy 
and costs of operating the hotel. If the occupancy rates are higher than predicted, or the room 
rates achievable are higher, or costs of operating are lower, the surplus to meet annual financing 
cost requirements will be higher. Conversely, a lack of demand, a need to discount charges to 
achieve occupancy, or rising operating costs (such as wages), will potentially make the financial 
performance worse than predicted above. 

 

Officers consider that the current projected surplus is relatively cautiously estimated, 
acknowledging that this is the first of this type of in Huddersfield for benchmarking purposes. 
After a long period of stability in inflation, prices are currently rising quickly. This will affect the 
costs of construction but may also impact in the longer term. The baseline business model is 
based on both expenditure and income at current price base. If inflation occurs equally on prices 
that are accepted in the market place, and costs, then inflation will also increase the amount of 
surplus that arises on the project.  

 

If inflation was running at 2%, then after 5 years the net income would rise from £900,000 to 
£994,000, and after 10 years £1.1million, this would help to redeem debt more quickly. Higher 
rates of inflation would mean that net income relative to the fixed debt would rise more quickly. 

  
2.15 Financial Implications to the Council 

 
Over the medium to longer term, the baseline modelled business case (Appendix F) and 
sensitivities around financing costs as set out in this report indicates that the Council’s annual 
financing costs should largely be covered, and that there is scope for enhanced performance 
over time around the baseline model. This also acknowledges that costs and demand may 
also fluctuate the other way.  
 
It is also worth noting that in the earlier years as the business builds up, the surplus generated 
by the project will, regardless of interest rate scenarios, not likely cover the minimum revenue 
provision that the Council will be required to set aside annually in respect of the capital 
borrowing.  
 
The Council will need to make some allowance for this, and that could involve targeted use of 
earmarked reserves; the quantum to be determined as the business model continues to evolve 
through to post-operational delivery. Depending on subsequent operational performance, there 
may be an opportunity to build back up earmarked reserves initially drawn down, in later years.  

Page 140



 

Page 11 of 17 

 

 
The Council’s 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) update report to Council on 7 
September included a high level provision for ‘Station Gateway next phase’ development, at 
£18m, and which was indicated to be self-financing in terms of funding. The updated estimated 
capital costs included in this report are £20,205,000 but the overall scheme is still considered 
to be self-financing, acknowledging that this report also includes a range of sensitivities and 
also puts the self-financing aspect in the context of potential longer term realisable value.   
 
Subject to Cabinet approval at this stage the principles of this project, it is intended that 
officers continue due diligence as the business model subsequently develops and build it onto 
the Council’s updated annual budget plans as appropriate.  
 

2.16 Role of the public sector (Council) 

This is a regeneration project and it is crucial that the public sector are involved in order to 
bring this building back into use. As can be seen over the last 9 years, in private ownership it 
had not been possible to create a commercially viable scheme and the building had been left 
to deteriorate further. 

The public sector such as the Council have the ability to source funding from central 
government for regeneration projects and bringing historic buildings back in to use. The public 
sector are also able to access cheaper borrowing than the private sector through the Public 
Works Loan Board and given Councils have the ability to claim back VAT on refurbishment 
projects it can help to reduce outgoings and create a more viable project than if the scheme 
was led by the private sector. 

Furthermore, the Council have the ability to accept long term investments given the additional 
benefits a regeneration scheme can help to support.   

2.17 Risks  

Included in Appendix G is the risk register produced by the design team which highlights the 
main risks at this stage as highlighted below:  

• Market conditions and inflation - these will be monitored as the design progresses and 
approach will be reflective of the conditions at the time. 

• Ground risk including contamination as a reduced level dig is required to accommodate 
the function suite’s floor to ceiling height. Specialist contractors will be consulted at the 
next stage to better understand how the navigate the findings of the, yet be undertaken, 
ground investigations. The current solution’s floor space does take account of the 
contiguous piled solution.  

• Party wall with adjoining wall of the station wall right to access is yet to be confirmed  

• Ground anchors are proposed within Network Rail’s land which may require significant 
access and approvals.  

• There are potential timing risks related to the Network Rail controlled adjoining car park, 
and access. This may impact on costs or timings for the project. 

• The planning and heritage risk is significant given the nature of the building and it’s 
historic merit.  We will continue to liaise with Historic England as the design develops and 
further justification such as structural surveys are undertaken.  

• 90 room minimum: The current design shows 91 rooms however 6 of these are slightly 
below the required 20m2 with numerous design issues affecting this. The m2 will be 
continually reviewed to make the most efficient use of the space as new information is 
gleaned.  

• In addition to construction risks, there will be some operator operational risks as we move 
through the next stages of design with these being reviewed with the operator once 
appointed. The main risk is operational occupancy levels and general revenue and 
ensuring the feasibility is not over estimated. In preparing the appraisals to date 

Page 141



 

Page 12 of 17 

 

Queensberry have taken a cautious view of the occupancy levels that could be achieved 
to mitigate this.  

• The Council is taking the risk on all matters of occupancy rates, price per room and 
operating costs. An inability to let rooms, or to let them at the prices anticipated in the 
analysis, or a rise in costs of operations that cannot be reflected in prices charged will 
adversely impact on the net surplus that can be generated through hotel operations 
affecting the funds available to pay interest and redeem debt. 

• The project has the prospect of being financially viable at low interest rates. However, it is 
not financially viable at higher interest rates. In the event of sustained inflation, this can 
make the value of historic debt relatively lower, improving viability. 

• There may be a need for the Council as landlord to inject additional capital in the project to 
address the need for further refurbishment and renewals at circa year 15 to 20, 
acknowledging that this is longer term and by then there will be a mature operating model 
assuming successful, alongside considerations of timing of potential realisable market 
value. 
 

2.18 Indicative Timescale 
 
The key milestones for the project have been provided below. The intention is to be able to open 
the new hotel prior to Christmas 2024.   

 
• Initial Concept Design      Dec 2021 -Feb 2022  

• Initial Procurement of Hotel operator    Mar 2022- Jun 2022  

• RIBA Stage 2 Concept Design      Jun 2022 - Aug 2022  

• Commence Stage 3 Detailed Design    Oct 2022 – Jan 2023 

• Commence negotiations in relation to the HMA  Oct 2022  

• Submit planning application & listed building consent  Nov 2022  

• Contractor Procurement      Feb 2023- April 2023  

• Contractor appointment      May 2023  

• Construction/Refurbishment     Jun 2023 – Nov 2024  

• Hotel Opening `      November 2024  

Please see Appendix H for the Programme  

2.19 Additionality 

Huddersfield has an established reputation for manufacturing and engineering and is a university 
town. The town will benefit from having an upper upscale hotel in the centre of the town as 
visitors to many of the business and the university will be able to obtain good quality 
accommodation. 
 
The hotel will provide between 20-30 full time equivalent jobs plus third party providers such as 
preparing foods offsite.  During construction it is anticipated that the development could create in 
the region of 250 jobs. 
 

2.20 Social Value 

Social Value (SV) is about using every means to get the best possible outcomes for local people. 
The Council’s SV objectives are: 

 

• Promoting employment in Kirklees and supporting youth employment. 

• Supporting the Kirklees economy – maximising the impact of the Kirklees Pound. 

• Investing in ways that benefit our local communities the most. 

• Growing our relationship with the voluntary and community sector and local business. 

In addition, social responsibility is at the core of what Radisson Hotel Group do as a company. 
They recognise their hotels have an important responsibility and undertake this responsibility by 

Page 142



 

Page 13 of 17 

 

contributing to fundraising and organising community actions. Radisson Hotel Group features 
regularly on the world’s most ethical companies list; companies on the list have met rigorous 
criteria across five categories covering the quality of their ethics and compliance program, 
organisational culture, corporate citizenship and responsibility, governance, and leadership and 
reputation.  Every year, Radisson Hotel Group introduces new sustainability features and 
programmes, some company-wide requirements, some regional, some optional.    

 

Council officers and the Council’s consultants are working with the Radisson Hotel Group to 
understand the social value benefits that can be obtained directly through the hotel such as: 

 

• Real national living wage;  

• career development – such as linkages to local colleges, student placements, scholarships, 
internships and apprentices in Radisson Hotel Group  locally and globally  

• linkages with local suppliers.  
 

2.21 Sustainability 

Further to the Climate Emergency declared in Kirklees, consideration is being given as to how 
this project can help support the movement towards a zero-carbon future and as far as 
reasonably possible reduce the carbon footprint of the George building. The Council and its 
design team are aiming on achieving a BREEAM Very Good Rating for the George. 

 

BREEAM good to very good can generally be achieved by ensuring early adoption of BREEAM 
focused management methodologies, and stringently adhering to the current building regulations 
whilst having due regard to the opportunities identified below which the design team are currently 
analysing as the design progresses. Examples of opportunities that may be incorporated include: 

 

• Air source heat pumps for heat recovery 

• Utilising MVHR systems (Mechanical Ventilation with Heat Recovery) 

• Installation of Photovoltaics if deemed meaningful. 

• Replacement of existing single glazing within Block A with Insulated glass 
units (IGUs) Vacuum Glass 

• Investigation of use of sustainable materials for the new structural frame 

• Consideration of the building fixtures, fittings, material choices and finishes 
specifications 

• Consideration of all mechanical and electrical systems’ 

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
The George remains one of the key Blueprint projects. Its renovation and re-use as a quality hotel 
will be a mark of the progress being made to change the town centre and will be a significant 
confidence boost for other potential investors in the town. 

 
3.1 Working with People 

 
This report deals with the delivery of one part of the Blueprint. The Blueprint was subject to a 
number of engagement exercises commencing in 2018 as part of the Blueprint development and 
then again late in 2019 after the Blueprint launch the council undertook a Place Standard 
exercise to benchmark public reaction to the approach and projects. The results from this 
exercise show there is a great desire to bring the George into active use. The key report for this 
can be found by accessing the following link: 
 

https://howgoodisourplace.org.uk/huddersfield-town-centre/ 
 
Moving forward the detailed designs will be subject to formal consultation through the planning 
stage where all parties, including members of the public will have access to detailed plans and 
will be able to make comment on the proposals. 

Page 143

https://howgoodisourplace.org.uk/huddersfield-town-centre/


 

Page 14 of 17 

 

 
3.2 Working with Partners 

 
Collaboration and working together with partners are the key to ensuring the Council get the best 
outcomes for citizens, communities and Kirklees as a whole. Early contact with experts working 
in the hotel field, stakeholders such as potential end users and technical advisors such as 
Historic England has been undertaken to help shape options for the hotel. This practice will 
continue throughout the life cycle of the project. 
 
As set out in the report earlier the George Hotel is already receiving funding from other external 
partners – primarily Historic England and DLUHC. The former is a rich source of partnership 
working as Huddersfield is part of the High Street Heritage Action Zone Programme 
concentrating on the George Hotel and Estates Building. As part of this a cultural programme led 
by a consortium, which includes: The Civic Society, The History Society, Kirklees Heritage Open 
Days and a number of local businesses; is being rolled out to raise awareness of Heritage and 
also explain the programme of work.  
 
In addition to this the Council are part of the Historic England Schools Heritage programme and 
are engaging with 8 schools in Huddersfield to raise the profile of heritage (including the George) 
in the town.     
 
There will be a third-party operator involved in the hotel. The preferred operator is recommended 
to Members as part of this report. This relationship will be an important one for the town. Officers 
will be giving consideration to additional resources which enable this relationship, along with 
other commercial operators, such as within the Cultural Heart, to be managed proactively and 
bring about the best interest for the Council and the town centre as a whole. 
 

3.3 Place Based Working  
 

The development of the Blueprint and the associated Place Standard exercise has already 
engaged town centre stakeholders, businesses, and users to help shape the overall approach to 
redeveloping Huddersfield Town Centre.  

  
3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 

 
The reduction of carbon emissions and the minimization of air quality problems is a key objective 
for the blueprint. As set out in Section 2.21 of this report this project will be aiming for a BREAAM 
rating of very good to help contribute to that objective.  
Both Climate Change and Air Quality are key parts of the project design. This in turn will inform 
the planning application and the future detailed design work. 
 
In addition, climate change initiatives are associated with the delivery and promotion of other 
projects and programmes across the town. For example the promotion of active travel facilities 
and better connectivity by public transport. Both help to reduce adverse transport derived impacts 
on communities and public health. 
 

3.5 Improving outcomes for children 
 
The Blueprint includes within it a key objective of providing a family friendly town centre. This 
means that uses, streets and places will favor all age groups including children. Part of the 
strategy to renew the town is to bring in new uses that attract families and young people in a way 
the town does not at present. This means that the introduction of cultural activities and 
associated food and beverage offers need to be managed in a way that appeals to all age 
groups. 
 
Additionally, streets and spaces will be designed with all generations in mind making them both 
safe and inclusive at the same time. 

 

Page 144



 

Page 15 of 17 

 

3.6 Cost of Living Crisis 
 
When the Hotel is operational it will create a variety of new job opportunities that are accessible 
by bus and train. This aspect is detailed in section 2.19 of this report. Increased activity in the 
town centre as a result of this development will increase footfall which in turn helps support the 
services and businesses that already exist. It is anticipated there will be increased spend in the 
town. 
 

3.7 Other (e.g. Integrated Impact Assessment/Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 

3.7.1   Integrated Impact Assessment 
 

Officers are in the process of progressing an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) in conjunction 
with the design team and hotel operator. 
 

3.7.2   Financial  
 

The financial implications arising from the George Hotel project is significant. This report sets out 
the overarching rationale for the resource implications moving forward. This is set out in section 
2.11 of this report. Cabinet are being requested at this stage to formally commit to the outlined 
Capital Project costs of £20,205,000 and make this available in the Council’s capital programme. 
Given the current volatile market of increasing prices and inflation we are currently seeing tender 
price increases officers are therefore also seeking to ensure that any costs increases of up to 
10% can be authorised.  

 
3.7.3  Legal  

 
Legal Services, Finance Services and an external framework firm, will be involved in the 
finalisation of the Hotel Management Agreement; and other ancillary contractual arrangements 
with Radisson Hotel Group; and exploration of ownership structures and exit strategy.    
 
The Council must have regard to its Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010. The 
Council has legal powers to enter into the HMA and other ancillary agreements under Section 1 
of the Localism Act 2011. This is a general power of competence to do anything an individual 
may do subject to any limitations or restrictions in other legislation; The Council has a general 
duty to make arrangements which secure   best value under section 3 of the Local Government 
Act 1999. This means it must consider how to secure continuous improvement in the way its 
functions are exercised having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness.  
The Council must exercise its powers reasonably in public law terms; and comply with the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules when procuring supplies, works and services. 
CPR 12 would require Cabinet approval for the formation of an SPV and supporting business 
case. 
 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 
Officers presented an update in private session to Ad-Hoc Scrutiny panel, chaired by Cllr Liz 
Smaje on 22nd September 2022. No specific requirements were requested at that meeting. 
 
Officers briefed Portfolio holders for Town Centres and Corporate. Cllr. Graham Turner, the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, supports the recommendations and was briefed on the 
6th and 21st September 2022, and Cllr Paul Davies, the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Corporate, 
was briefed on the 6th September 2022 and supports the officer recommendations. 

 
5. Next steps and timelines 

 
The key milestones for the project have been provided below. The intention is to be able to open 
the new hotel prior to Christmas 2024.   

Page 145



 

Page 16 of 17 

 

 
• Initial Concept Design      Dec 2021 -Feb 2022  

• Initial Procurement of Hotel operator     Mar 2022- Jun 2022  

• RIBA Stage 2 Concept Design     Jun 2022 - Aug 2022  

• Commence Stage 3 Detailed Design    Oct 2022 – Jan 2023 

• Commence negotiations in relation to the HMA  Oct 2022  

• Submit planning application & listed building consent  Nov 2022  

• Contractor Procurement      Feb 2023- April 2023  

• Contractor appointment      May 2023  

• Construction/Refurbishment      Jun 2023 – Nov 2024  

• Hotel Opening `      November 2024  
 

Please see Appendix H for the Programme  

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

 
General  
 

6.1 That Members of Cabinet note the report and agree to support the redevelopment of the George 
Hotel site as a hotel with an associated food and beverage offer. 

 
Hotel Operator 

 
6.2 That Members agree that the preferred hotel operator – Radisson Hotel Group utilising the 

Radisson Red brand – be appointed to operate the hotel once all the necessary agreements are 
in place. 
 

6.3 That the Strategic Director for Growth and Regeneration and Service Director for Finance be 
authorised to progress and conclude detailed negotiations with the recommended preferred hotel 
operator at recommendation 6.2 above and authorise Service Director Legal Governance and 
Commissioning to enter into the   Hotel Management Agreement (HMA) and any other ancillary 
formal legal documentation on behalf of the Council. 
 

6.4 That Service Director for Growth and Regeneration, Service Director for Finance, and Service 
Director for Legal, Governance and Commissioning explore and agree the preferred option 
relating to the potential commercial structure of the hotel ownership which could include a Special 
Purpose Vehicle (SPV) as described in section 2.9. This would be an alternative to the Council 
entering into the HMA directly with the preferred hotel operator.  
 
Cost, Design and Construction  

 
6.5 That Members agree to the capital allocation of up to £20,205,000 set out in section 2.11 of the 

Cabinet Report and make this available in the Capital Plan to deliver the project to completion as 
outlined in this report.  
 

6.6 Members agree to delegate to the Strategic Director of Growth and Regeneration in conjunction 
with the Service Director for Finance to apportion further funds if required of up to 10% over the 
pre tender estimate.  
 

6.7 That the Service Director for Development be authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Regeneration, to agree the final design of the Hotel.  

 
6.8 That Service Director for Development be authorised to prepare and submit any necessary 

planning and listed building consent applications (as well as any other statutory consents that 
may be required to ensure delivery) for the Hotel development outlined in the report. 
 

Page 146



 

Page 17 of 17 

 

6.9 That Service Director for Development be authorised to undertake the necessary procurement 
exercise to award the building contract to deliver the hotel project subject to planning, HMA and 
other necessary consents are being in place. 
 
Reasons 
 

6.10 The reason for the following recommendations is to progress the refurbishment and 
redevelopment of the George Hotel site in Huddersfield Town Centre to completion to transform 
this building into a new hotel as part of the Huddersfield Blueprint and to enter into a Hotel 
Management Agreement with Radisson Hotel Group utilising the Radisson Red brand.  

 
7. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 

 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Regeneration recommends that Cabinet accepts / endorses the 
officer recommendations – paragraph 6 of this report.   
 

8. Contact officer  
 
Sarah Collins  
Programme Manager – Town Centre Programmes 
sarah.collins@kirklees.gov.uk 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

 
See list of Appendices  

 
10. Service Director responsible  

 
Joanne Bartholomew 
Service Director - Development 
joanne.bartholomew@kirklees.gov.uk 

    

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Presented in partnership with

Operator / Tenant Search Opportunity

Huddersfield

The  
George 
Hotel.

Page 149



Welcome to  
The George

Colliers International has been 
retained by Queensberry and  
Kirklees Council (collectively  
"The Client") to conduct an operator 
and tenant search for a proposed 
hotel in central Huddersfield. 

The proposed hotel will be created 
by the redevelopment and extension 
of the former George Hotel, which 
closed in 2013. The hotel is also part of 
the redevelopment of the prestigious 
St. George’s Square – the traditional 
heart of the town, creating a new 
‘Station Gateway’ quarter, with new 
residential and office development,  
a modernised Railway Station and 
the Transpennine Upgrade. 

The hotel site benefits from an excellent 
accessibility, with Huddersfield railway station 
directly opposite the hotel. It is also situated 
within direct proximity of some of Huddersfield’s 
key demand drivers and visitor attractions. 

Huddersfield is one of the largest towns in 
the UK yet to be granted city status. It lies 
in the metropolitan area of Kirklees in West 
Yorkshire, northern England. It sits close to 
the Pennines, 14 miles south-west of Leeds, 12 
miles west of Wakefield and 24 miles north-east 
of Manchester. It’s location close to the M62 
provides strong access to popular regional 
visitor attractions such as the National Science 
and Media Museum (Bradford) and Yorkshire 
Sculpture Park (Wakefield). 

Huddersfield will undergo significant 
regeneration in the next ten years. The £500 
million “Huddersfield Blueprint” investment 
by the council and key partners will involve 
£250 million of direct investment in the town 
centre, with further investment in the Southgate 
Medical Campus and Transpennine Upgrade 
and deliver regeneration to six key areas,  
aimed at further enhancing the appeal of  
the town and acting as a catalyst for further 
inward investment.

The hometown of Rugby League and Harold 
Wilson, Huddersfield has a strong historical 
heritage. In fact the Rugby League was formed 
following a meeting at the George Hotel. 
The future growth potential for the town is 
significant, with it’s excellent geographical 
location and planned regeneration schemes 
fuelling increasing hotel demand.

Welcome to 
Huddersfield

View of The George Hotel looking down John William Street

P
age 150



This scheme includes the new “Cultural Heart” 
in the Queensgate and Piazza Area, the Civic 
Quarter and Station Gateway, which will 
collectively significantly raise the visitor appeal 
and sense of place within the town. 

Performance data for a sample of hotels within 
the local and wider surrounding area show 
occupancy of around 69% to 72% pre-pandemic, 
at an ADR of around £51 to £55. That said, 
given the very limited quality supply base within 
Huddersfield itself, we believe a new high-quality 
hotel will both induce demand and significantly 
outperform the local market performance. 

The project is promoted by Queensberry, a leader 
in both public and private sector regeneration 
schemes and refurbishments across the UK.

The proposed hotel will see the restoration and 
refurbishment of a former iconic hotel building 
which is owned by Kirklees Council. 

The limited supply of upscale full-service branded 
hotels in Huddersfield presents a strong market 
opportunity for an upscale plus lifestyle hotel 
concept in this excellent location, particularly in 
view of the major regeneration schemes either 
planned and/or underway which will undoubtedly 
drive interest and visitation to the town.

View of The George Hotel from St George’s Square

An exciting opportunity for a Hotel Management  
Agreement (HMA) or Lease in central Huddersfield.

The opportunity

P
age 151



The proposed hotel occupies a 
prominent location on St. Georges 
Square, placing it within easy access 
of both the road and rail network. 

It is situated approximately 190 miles from 
London and well located for other major northern 
conurbations such as Leeds/Bradford (c.14 miles), 
Sheffield (c. 23 miles) and Manchester (24 miles). 

Locally, it lies within close proximity to several key 
demand drivers including Huddersfield Town Hall, 
Kingsgate Shopping Centre and Huddersfield’s 
Business Improvement District (BID).

Site location  
and access

The George Hotel

Points of Interest

Trainline

Kirklees Cultural Heart

Roads

HUDDERSFIELD
TRAIN STATION

HUDDERSFIELD
BUS STATION

KAL LEISURE 
CENTRE

HUDDERSFIELD
LIBRARY

KIRKLEES 
CULTURAL 

HEART

KIRKLEES 
CULTURAL 

HEART UNIVERSITY OF HUDDERSFIELD  
QUEENSGATE  CAMPUS

KINGSGATE 
SHOPPING CENTRE

UNIVERSITY OF HUDDERSFIELD  
HEALTH  INNOVATION CAMPUS  

(2024)

PACKHORSE
SHOPPING CENTRE

HUDDERSFIELD
TOWN HALL

HUDDERSFIELD
OPEN MARKET

LEEDS RD

LE
ED

S 
RD

ST. PETERS ST

NORTHUMBERLAND ST

LO
R

D
 ST

ST. PETERS ST

KING ST

KING ST

Z
E

T
LA

N
D

 ST

N
E

W
 S

T

N
E

W
 S

T

N
E

W
 S

T

C
A

ST
LE

G
A

T
E

C
A

ST
LE

G
A

T
E

MARKET ST

M
A

R
K

ET
 S

T

MERTON ST

C
A

ST
LE

G
A

T
E

A640

NEW N RD

FITZWILLIAM ST

FITZWILLIAM ST

JO
H

N
 W

ILLIA
M

 ST

JO
H

N
 W

ILLIA
M

 ST

W
O

O
D

 ST

W
O

O
D

 ST

B
Y

R
A

M
 ST

KIRKGATE

KIRKGATE

WESTGATE
WESTGATE

Q
U

E
E

N
 ST

C
R

O
SS C

H
U

R
C

H
 ST

R
A

ILW
A

Y
 ST

ST
A

T
IO

N
 ST

HIGH ST

SO
U

T
H

G
A

T
E

SO
U

T
H

G
A

T
E

SO
U

TH
G

A
TE

ST. GEORGES SQ

QUEENSGATE

QUEENSGATE

Getting to Huddersfield

Car access to the site is provided via the A62 
(Southgate) and Northumberland Street. 
Due to the site’s location, areas within 
Huddersfield city centre are easily accessible.

The site is adjacent to Huddersfield Station 
– Situated on the North Trans-Pennine 
route, Huddersfield is well-connected by 
rail. The Integrated Rail Plan for the North 
and Midlands included full electrification 
and quadrupling of the track between 
Huddersfield and Westtown (Dewsbury).

The site is approximately equidistant from 
both Manchester and Leeds Bradford 
Airport, situated around 28 miles and 23 
miles away respectively, and both within 
around 50 minutes’ drive of the site. 

By Rail

By Road

By Air

P
age 152



5

6

8

9

10
11

Huddersfield Town Hall6

Piazza Shopping Centre7

Kingsgate Shopping Centre8

Huddersfield Library and Art Gallery9

University of Huddersfield10

12

13

14

15

Lawrence Batley Theatre11

KAL Leisure Centre12

Packhorse Shopping Centre13

Huddersfield Open Market14

Queensgate Shopping Centre15

16

17

18

19

1

2

4

John Smith’s Stadium5

The George Hotel1

St George’s Square2

Huddersfield Bus Station4

Huddersfield Train Station3

3

Kirklees College16

Byram Arcade17

Northern Quarter18

Health Innovation Campus (2024)19

Kirklees Cultural Heart Boundary

7

Huddersfield: The largest 
town by population  

in West Yorkshire

P
age 153



Huddersfield is a large market town and the 
administrative centre of the Metropolitan 
Borough of Kirklees, West Yorkshire. 

The town has an estimated metropolitan area 
population of 172,607 (2020) and is one of the 
largest towns in the UK yet to achieve city status.

Regeneration

Station Gateway The Cultural Heart

Huddersfield has a 10-year vision, known as “the Huddersfield 
BluePrint”, to create a thriving ‘Cultural Heart’ in the town 
centre. The regeneration was first proposed in 2019 and it is 
expected to complete in 2029. The total regeneration plan 
is valued at over £500 million and will involve £250 million of 
direct investment in the town centre, with further investment 
in the Southgate Medical Campus and Transpennine 
Upgrade. It will aim to further enhance the appeal of the town 
and to catalyse further inward investment. 

Other significant regeneration schemes include: The Civic 
Quarter which captures the site of current Civic buildings, the 
Magistrates’ Court and the Bus Station; New Street, a modern 
high street which is split into two distinct halves, New Street 
North and New Street South; and St. Peter’s which will see 
the creation of modern co-working spaces and studios within 
historic buildings to establish a growing creative hub.

Through its Property Investment Fund (PIF), the Council is 
working to improve on both the town’s leisure attractions and 
student accommodation, with the addition of a cinema in the 
Kingsgate Shopping Centre and the 120 student bedspaces in 
the former Co-op building on 103 New Street.

The Trans-Pennine Upgrade will provide opportunities 
to enhance the station with good quality waiting  
areas and a choice of eating, drinking and  
convenience shopping.

A new Station Square will provide an arrival space, drop 
off zone and new entrance to the station. Importantly, 
the lower levels of St George’s Warehouse (the adjacent 
building) can be converted into a car park, with the 
upper floors into office space or apartments. This will 
connect the warehouse to the town.

Built around Queensgate and the library buildings, the 
Cultural Heart will include a library, art gallery, museum 
and live music venue in the Piazza and Queensgate 
area. This will be supported by restaurants, bars, cafés 
and the Lawrence Batley Theatre. 

There will be an entirely new venue with a capacity of 
between 1,200 and 2,500, as well as a new food hall in 
the Piazza Centre and an urban park.

The Cultural Heart

Station Gateway

Current key initiatives and redevelopment 
schemes within Huddersfield include:

Huddersfield

P
age 154



Historically based around high quality 
products in engineering, textiles, chemicals 
and foodstuffs, in more recent years the local 
economy has diversified into a broader spread 
of manufacturing and service industries.

Business / Commercial

–  Huddersfield has an established reputation for 
manufacturing and engineering. 

–  Local design, process, electrical and mechanical 
engineering activities, as well as technical textiles, 
are critical to the automotive, energy and low carbon 
supply chains, providing items such as gears, valves, 
pumps and turbo chargers.

–  Manufacturing makes up a quarter of the Kirklees 
economy (Gross Value Added of £1.5 billion). This 
sector employs over 25,000 people, equating to 17% of 
jobs and the 3rd highest figure in England. 

–  Out of the 19,000 students who study at the University 
of Huddersfield, approximately 76% of graduates 
move into local employment. Given the presence of 
leading global companies such as Syngenta (now part 
of ChemChina), Cummins Turbo Technologies, VTL 
and David Brown, there is potential for the area to 
become an advanced technology / innovation hub. 
Since the sale of the former sports centre site to 
Huddersfield University, it is uniquely placed to take 
a leading role in its delivery of the National Health 
Innovation Campus, which will create the largest, most 
dynamic centre for workforce development in the 
North of England.

–  Over 2,000 businesses started in 2012, a figure above 
the national average. Over 40% of firms source more 
than half of their resources locally. 

–  Huddersfield is part of the Leeds City Region Growth 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Deal – a £1 billion 
package of government investment to accelerate 
growth and create jobs in the region.

–  The Huddersfield Incubation and Innovation Project 
(HIIP) will receive almost £3 million of funding from the 
Deal, which will prioritise SME support and access to 
new and emerging technologies. It is the intention that 
Huddersfield will take centre stage in driving forward a 
21st century smart manufacturing revolution in the UK.

Huddersfield has a strong heritage and link to Rugby 
League as the birthplace of the sport, which was 
founded at The George Hotel in 1895. Over the next 
ten years, the significant regeneration and investment 
planned for the town will transform Huddersfield, 
helping to stimulate and induce demand for domestic 
and international tourism. 

Hotel demand  
generators

Cummins

Established reputation for manufacturing

David Brown Santasalo

VTL

Smart manufacturing processesTechnical textile production

HIIP support across the region

P
age 155



Market Avenue

Huddersfield Library and Art Gallery

John Smith’s Stadium

Clock Tower at Ravensknowle Park

Huddersfield Town Hall

Huddersfield Narrow Canal

Castle Hill

Lion Statue atop Lion Chambers

Huddersfield Open Market

Greenhead Park

Leisure

–  Domestic tourism to Kirklees has increased in recent 
years, particularly in terms of the volume of visitor nights, 
which was recorded at an average of 845,000 per year 
in 2017-2019 (the latest available published data). 

–  Approximately 17% of tourists to West Yorkshire originate 
from overseas, highlighting not only the importance 
of the domestic visitor market, but also the appeal of 
attractions within the wider area to international visitors.

–  Huddersfield is well-located between two major tourist 
cities – Manchester and Leeds. The Peak District 
is situated south of Huddersfield, which attracts 
approximately 13.25 million visitors annually. 

–  The town has a strong sporting heritage and is home 
to the Huddersfield Giants rugby league team and 
Huddersfield Town Football Club. Both teams play at the 
John Smith’s Stadium, which has a capacity of 24,500. 
The multi-use stadium also plays host to a number of 
functions and events. 

–  The city offers a selection of event spaces including 
Oakwell Hall – which is licensed for civil ceremonies  
and partnerships. 

–  Huddersfield offers several museums and galleries,  
such as Tolson Museum, Bagshaw Museum and 
Huddersfield Art Gallery – with Francis Bacon and  
Henry Moore’s work on display. 

Marston Moor from Buckstone Edge

P
age 156



M62

M62

M62

M62

M62

A642

A629

A640

A629

A629

A646

A629

A629

A644

BROOKFOOT

SOUTHOWRAM

BRIGHOUSE

BRACKENHALL

ELLAND

GREETLAND

HOLLYWELL
GREENSTAINLAND

SOWOOD

OUTLANE

GOLCAR

SCAPEGOAT
HILL

LINTHWAITE

SLAITHWAITE

HELME

MELTHAM

HONLEY

BROCKHOLES

THUNDER
BRIDGE

FARNLEY
TYAS

ALMONDBURY

LEPTON
FENAY
BRIDGE

COWMES

GAWTHORPE

HOUSESHILL

KIRKBURTON

SHEPLEY

BLACKMOORFOOT

SOUTH
CROSSLAND

LIVERSEDGE

MIRFIELD

HUDDERSFIELD
+ THE GEORGE

–  The majority (64%) of hotels are independently owned and 
operated, with just over a third of hotels in the market area 
being nationally or internationally branded. 

–  Luxury and upscale properties in Huddersfield represent 
36% of the total hotel supply in the area, demonstrating high 
demand for this type of product. 

–  There are currently no hotels positioned within the upper 
upscale hotel, highlighting a market gap and potential 
opportunity for this type of hotel product at The George Hotel.

Source: CoStar Hotels Database (powered by STR)

HOTEL CLASS HOTELS ROOMS % OF ROOMS

Luxury 1 11 1.1%

Upscale 7 277 28.0%

Upper Midscale 6 319 32.3%

Midscale 2 62 6.3%

Economy 6 320 32.3%

TOTAL 22 989 100%

There are currently 22 hotels with 10 or more 
bedrooms within a 4-mile radius of The George Hotel. 

Hotels in Huddersfield are predominately situated on 
the outskirts of Huddersfield and close to the M62.

Current supply

P
age 157



–  The sample comprises of 7 hotels providing a total of 546 
rooms, all positioned within the upper midscale to upper 
upscale sectors. 

–  Prior to the onset of the global Covid-19 pandemic, occupancy 
for the set was recorded at around 69% to 73% between 2017 
and 2019, before falling to 46% for the periods when hotels 
were open and trading during 2020. 

–  Encouragingly, 2021 saw almost 40% growth in occupancy 
despite further periods of closure linked to national lockdowns, 
climbing to over 64% and reaching almost 90% of 2019 levels 
(based on data for the open and trading periods).

–  ADR for the set had been displaying positive growth prior to 
the pandemic, up from £50.98 in 2017 to £55.12 in 2019. In line 
with the regional UK market trend, the impact of the pandemic 
on ADR in 2020 was far less pronounced than on demand 
(occupancy), with local hoteliers largely holding rate despite 
significantly suppressed levels of demand. Positively, 2021 saw 
return to ADR growth, recorded at £58.86, surpassing that 
achieved in the few years prior to the pandemic. 

–  Overall, this resulted in a RevPAR of £37.90 in 2021, noticeable 
ahead of 2020 performance and reaching 95% of 2019 levels. 
We consider the future outlook for 2022 and 2023, in particular, 
to be highly positive for the local market, ad especially moving 
beyond this as the regeneration of Huddersfield evolves. 

–  Furthermore, due to the limited branded supply base, we would 
expect a nationally branded upscale plus lifestyle hotel to 
outperform the data set and induce local demand – achieving 
both an occupancy and ADR above the 2019 market average, 
particularly in terms of rate.

Occupancy

With a limited local hotel supply base, particularly 
with Huddersfield itself, we have commissioned a 
bespoke hotel data performance report from STR, 
a leading global provider of hotel benchmark data.

Local hotel  
performance

Source: STR (owned by CoStar)

Note: due to periods of national lockdown and data protection criteria to avoid an over-dominance or isolation 
of any one brand, sample sizes vary across the years. 2020 and 2021 are based on 10-month periods excluding 
November and December, when an insufficient number of hotels remained open and trading to report data. 

2017

73.3%
69.4%

72.1%

46.1%

2018 2019 2020 2021

100.0%£65.00

£55.00

£45.00

£35.00

£25.00

£15.00

90.0%

80.0%

70.0%

60.0%

50.0%

40.0%

30.0%

20.0%

10.0%

0.0%£5.00

£50.98

£53.0
7

£55.12

£54.45

£58.86

£37.37

£36.81

£39.74

£25.0
8

£37.90

64.4.1%

ADR

RevPAR

P
age 158



View of The George Hotel from St George’s Square

Current status of The George Hotel

Preliminary design and floorplans show the proposed 
hotel will comprise of the following facilities: 

–  92 bedrooms, with a broad mix of room types  
and sizes including suites and family rooms.

–  Banqueting / events space for approximately 140 covers 
(166 sqm) and a gym (40 sqm) at lower ground level.

–  A bar/ restaurant / dining experience (207 sqm) at 
mezzanine level, alongside a reception (30 sqm), 
conference room (76 sqm) and guest lounge (32 sqm).

–  Multi-purpose conference and private dining room  
(53 sqm) at first floor level. 

–  The total Gross Internal Area (GIA) of the proposed 
hotel site is 5117 sqm.

The proposed hotel will comprise of the restoration 
and renovation of the existing George Hotel 
building, alongside an extension to the rear and 
side, which will be constructed across six floors 
in line with the building’s existing configuration 
(subject to planning permission).

The proposed  
hotel scheme.

View of The George Hotel looking down John William Street

P
age 159



FE

Staff / Stores
43m²

Bin
Store
21m²

Service
Lift

FE

Store

Service
Lift

Kitchen
41m²

Bedroom 0:5
22m²

Bedroom 0:4
20m²

Bedroom 0:3
20m²

Bedroom 0:2
20m²

Bedroom 0:1
22m²

Lig
ht W

ell

FE

FE

JO
H

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

PROPOSED MEZZANINE FLOOR PLAN

RAILWAY STREET

ST
 G

E
O

R
G

E
'S SQ

U
A

R
E

Disabled
WC

Public Entrance

Main Entrance

R
is

er New 
Lift

New 
Lift

Bar / Restaurant / Dining
72m²

Bar / Restaurant / Dining
135m²

Conference Room
76m²

Reception 
30m²

Lounge
32m²

Store / Laundry
10m²

Fire Exit

Fire Exit

W
alk

w
ay

W
a

lk
w

a
y

Up

Dn
Dn

Dn

Dn

Up

Dn

Up

U
p

Up

Up

Dn

D
n

Up Up

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Hotel suites

Guest facilities / spaces

Back of house facilities

FLOOR USE NO. HOTEL SUITES TOTAL SPACE (SQ FT) TOTAL SPACE (SQ M)

Basement Facilities – 9978 927

Ground Facilities / Suites 5 9020 838

Mezzanine Facilities - 1184 110

First Suites 20 8923 829

Second Suites 23 8837 821

Third Suites 23 8773 815

Fourth Suites 21 7825 727

Roof Plant – 538 50

TOTAL 92 55078 5117

Schedule of  
accommodation (GIA)

View of The George Hotel looking up John William Street

All plans and areas are preliminary and subject to change.

P
age 160



JO
H

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

RAILWAY STREET

ST
 G

E
O

R
G

E
'S SQ

U
A

R
E

Service
Lift

R
is

er

New
Lift

New
Lift

FE

Store / cellar
33m²

Plant Room
34m²

Female Staff 
Changing Room

18m²

Male Staff 
Changing Room

18m²

Serving Kitchen
38m²

Gym
40m²

Office
20m²

Office
32m²

Male WC's

Lounge / Events Space

Store / Laundry
17m²

Location of existing 
terminated incomming

electric Supply

Female
WC's

Banqueting Bar /
Store / Cellar

58m²

FE

FE

Approx 140 covers

Banqueting / Events Space
53m²

Staff Room
38m²

Banqueting /
Events Space

113m²

Up

Up

U
p

Up

Up

JO
H

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

RAILWAY STREET

ST
 G

E
O

R
G

E
'S SQ

U
A

R
E

Bedroom 1:13
22m²

Bedroom 1:14
35m²

Bedroom 1:12
21m²

Riser

FE

Rise
r

Bedroom 1:8
22m²

Bedroom 1:10
23m²

Bedroom 1:11
24m²

Bedroom 1:9
23m²

New
Lift

W
alk

w
ay

Void

Void

W
a

lk
w

a
y

Bedroom 1:17
20m²

Bedroom 1:15
26m²

Bedroom 1:18
27m²

Bedroom 1:1
31m²

Bedroom 1:19
21m²

Bedroom 1:7
24m²

Bedroom 1:6
19m²

Bedroom 1:5
31m²

Conference Room / Private Dining Room 
53m²

Bedroom 1:4
27m²

Bedroom 1:3
24m²

Family Room 1:2
41m²

New
LiftR

is
er

Store

Store / Laundry
11m²

Bedroom 1:16
20m²

Lig
ht W

ell

Up

Dn Up

Up

Up

Up

Dn

Proposed First Floor PlanProposed Basement Plan

Hotel suites

Guest facilities / spaces

Back of house facilities

P
age 161



JO
H

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

RAILWAY STREET

ST
 G

E
O

R
G

E
'S SQ

U
A

R
E

Bedroom 3:16
23m²

Bedroom 3:17
35m²

FE

Bedroom 3:15
23m²

Bedroom 3:14
21m²

Bedroom 3:13
20m²

Bedroom 3:12
20m²

Bedroom 3:11
20m²

Bedroom 3:10
20m²

Bedroom 3:8
22m²

Bedroom 3:5
22m²

Bedroom 3:4
21m²

Bedroom 3:3
24m²

Bedroom 3:2
20m²

Bedroom 3:1
21m²

Bedroom 3:23
21m²

Bedroom 3:22
20m²

Bedroom 3:21
20m²

Bedroom 3:20
20m²

Bedroom 3:19
20m²

Bedroom 3:18
20m²

Bedroom 3:7
27m²

Bedroom 3:6
29m²

Bedroom 3:9
22m²

Store / Laundry
11m²

Riser

New
Lift

R
is

er

New
Lift

Void

Void

Rise
r

W
alk

w
ay

W
a

lk
w

a
y

Dn

Up

Dn

Up

Up

Up

Dn

JO
H

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

RAILWAY STREET

ST
 G

E
O

R
G

E
'S SQ

U
A

R
E

Bedroom 2:10
24m²

Bedroom 2:11
22m²

Bedroom 2:13
23m²

Bedroom 2:12
23m²

Bedroom 2:14
22m²

Bedroom 2:15
21m²

Bedroom 2:23
20m²

Bedroom 2:16
23m²

Bedroom 2:17
36m²

Bedroom 2:22
20m²

Bedroom 2:21
20m²

Bedroom 2:20
20m²

Bedroom 2:19
20m²

Bedroom 2:18
20m²

Bedroom 2:1
21m²

Bedroom 2:2
20m²

Bedroom 2:3
25m²

Bedroom 2:4
22m²

Bedroom 2:5
22m²

Bedroom 2:6
29m²

Bedroom 2.7
28m²

Bedroom 2:8
22m²

Bedroom 2:9
22m²

Riser

New
Lift

R
is

er

New
Lift

FE

Void

Void

Store

Store / Laundry
10m²

Rise
r

W
alk

w
ay

W
a

lk
w

a
y

Up

Dn Up

Up

Up

Up

Dn

Proposed Third Floor PlanProposed Second Floor Plan

Hotel suites

Back of house facilities

P
age 162



JO
H

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

RAILWAY STREET

ST
 G

E
O

R
G

E
'S SQ

U
A

R
E

Rise
r

FE

Roof Plant Area
50m²

R
is

er

Dn

Store / Laundry
9m²

Bedroom 4:16
28m²

FE

Bedroom 4:14
22m²

Bedroom 4:15
21m²

Bedroom 4:13
21m²

Bedroom 4:12
21m²

Bedroom 4:11
21m²

Bedroom 4:10
21m²

Bedroom 4:8
19m²

Bedroom 4:7
25m²Bedroom 4:6

22m²
Bedroom 4:5

21m²

Bedroom 4:4
18m²

Bedroom 4:3
23m²

Bedroom 4:1
21m²

Bedroom 4:1
22m²

Bedroom 4:21
21m²

Bedroom 4:20
21m²

Bedroom 4:19
21m²

Bedroom 4:18
21m²

Bedroom 4:17
21m²

Bedroom 4:2
19m²

Rise
r

New
Lift

R
is

er

New
Lift

Void

Void
Rise

r

W
alk

w
ay

W
a

lk
w

a
y

JO
H

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

RAILWAY STREET

ST
 G

E
O

R
G

E
'S SQ

U
A

R
E

Dn

Up

Dn

Proposed Roof PlanProposed Fourth Floor Plan

Hotel suites

Back of house facilities

P
age 163



Borough yards, Southwark

Friars Walk, Newport

Abbey Street Regeneration, Nuneaton

The Glass Works, Barnsley

Heart of the City, Sheffield

We are proud to be leaders in both public 
and private sector regeneration schemes, 
redevelopments and refurbishments.

Queensberry  
Real Estate.

P
age 164



At this early stage, the LOI  
should include the following:

– Expression of interest

–  Clarification of preferred operating structure

– Brand proposal for the hotel

–  Indicative development / conversion cost range per key

For a HMA

– Initial HMA commercial terms. 
– Indicative P&L projections. 
– FF&E reserve provisions.

For a Lease

– Initial lease commercial terms

– Indication of covenant strength

– Rental uplift provisions

marc.finney@colliers.com

Colliers International 
50 George Street 
London, W1U 7GA

Marc Finney, Director and Head of  
Hotels and Resorts Consulting at Colliers:

Interested parties are invited to submit a 
Letter of Interest by 5pm on Wednesday 
27th April 2022 for the attention of:

Process for any  
interested parties

P
age 165



For further information 
please contact:

Marc Finney 
Director and Head of  
Hotels and Resorts Consulting

+44 (0)20 7344 6601 
+44 (0)7825 602 797  
marc.finney@colliers.com

www.colliers.com/uk/hotels

DISCLAIMER:

Colliers International gives notice that these particulars are set out as a general outline only for the 
guidance of intending Purchasers or Lessees and do not constitute any part of an offer or contract. 
Details are given without any responsibility and any intending Purchasers, Lessees or Third Party 
should not rely on them as statements or representations of fact, but must satisfy themselves by 
inspection or otherwise as to the correctness of each of them. No person employed or engaged 
by Colliers International has any authority to make any representation or warranty whatsoever in 
relation to this property. All images and plans of the scheme are preliminary and subject to change.

Colliers International is the licensed trading name of Colliers International Property Consultants 
Limited. Company registered in England and Wales with registered number 7996509. Our 
registered office is at 50 George Street, London W1U 7GA. Document prepared March 2022.

Cherise Cochrane 
Associate Director,  
Hotels and Resorts Consulting

+44 (0)20 7344 6723 
+44 (0)7736 480 036 
cherise.cochrane@colliers.com

Presented in partnership with:

Please  
Disturb.

Page 166



THE
GEORGE
HOTEL

STAGE 2 REPORT
ISSUE DATE: 19th AUGUST 2022

P
age 167



2

1.0 EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW      03
1.1 INTRODUCTION
1.2 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
1.3 PROJECT DESIGN TEAM
1.4 DESIGN PROPOSALS

2.0 PROJECT OVERVIEW       04
2.1  OVERVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT TO DATE
2.2 STATUTORY CONSULTATION
2.3 DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

3.0 HERITAGE STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE   07
3.1 HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT
3.2 HISTORIC ENGLAND ASSESSMENT
3.3 SUBSEQUENT ASSESSMENT
3.4 PHASING PLANS

4.0 EXISTING INFORMATION      15
4.1 PLANS/SECTIONS/ELEVATIONS
4.2 SURVEYS - OVERVIEW HIGHLIGHTING ISSUES
4.3 ACCESS AND SITE CONSTRAINTS
4.4 LAND OWNERSHIP
4.5 EXISTING BUILDING USES

5.0 DESIGN PROPOSALS       21
5.1 KEY PRINCIPLES
5.2 LIMITATIONS/ASPIRATIONS
5.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
5.4 POSSIBLE 5TH FLOOR

6.0 SITE-WIDE STRATEGIES     27
6.1 HERITAGE ASSETS
6.2 ACCESSIBILITY
6.3 PRINCIPAL DESIGNER, HEALTH AND SAFETY
6.4 STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING
6.5 SUSTAINABILITY
6.6 CIVIL ENGINEERING
6.7 ABOVE GROUND FOUL DRAINAGE
6.8 ABOVE GROUND RAINWATER DRAINAGE
6.9 DOMESTIC COLD WATER SERVICES
6.10 FIRE SUPPRESSION
6.11  FIRE AND FIRE ENGINEERING
6.12 HEATING AND COOLING
6.13 MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL AND PLUMBING
6.14 INCOMING STATS
6.15 INTERIM VERTICAL TRANSPORTATION
6.16 ACOUSTIC

7.0 COST        45
7.1 KEY PRINCIPLES
7.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
7.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED

8.0 RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT     47
8.1 PROJECT RISK REGISTER

CONTENTS

P:\8662 - The George Hotel, Huddersfield\8662 - 02 Docs\P progress reports & programme\Stage 2 Report\8662-BOW-A0-XX-RP-A-0000-P2_Stage 2 Report

P
age 168



32

1.0 EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

1.1 INTRODUCTION

In August 2020, Kirklees Council purchased the George Hotel to kickstart the 
redevelopment of the building and the wider regeneration of St. George’s Square. 
The Council commissioned studies to explore the potential end use of the George, 
focusing on its potential for hotel and leisure use, or other forms of short-term 
accommodation. The fabric of the building, its state of repair, and the limitations 
and opportunity of its heritage architecture mean the development is challenging. In 
November 2021, the Council appointed Queensberry Estates to provide Development 
support in the redevelopment of the hotel. 

Kirklees’ aspiration is to restore the Grade 2* Listed George Hotel, and reinstate 
the George as a thriving, sustainable, hotel and hospitality development. An earlier 
options analysis, which focused on a 60 room Hotel with a Museum celebrating the 
Hotel’s role as the birthplace of the Rugby League, found that the market for a 60-
room hotel was saturated in the town, and that the commercial viability of such a 
development was uncertain. 

The Council is keen to develop the George as a mid to upper scale hotel. One which 
reflects the historic importance of the building, as well as the importance of the 
George to their current town centre regeneration plans. To this end, the Council has 
worked with Queensberry to explore options for development. The ambition is for a 
90 plus room development with ancillary hospitality offer. A hotel of this scale and 
quality is needed to secure a branded hotel operator interest.

This report summarises project progress to date (dictated by programme), within 
RIBA Stage 2 Concept Design. It has been authored by the design team and 
each section highlights ‘Key Design Principles’, ‘Limitations/Assumptions’ and 
‘Information Required’.  The content within the sub-headings present the current 
position of the project in relation to Stage 2 which will require completion and sign-
off in order to progress into stage 3.  

1.2 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

The purpose of the report is to present a scheme for the future use of The George 
Hotel site to Kirklees Council that fulfils the key points of the project brief and 
provides detail sufficient to demonstrate it’s viability with due regard to user/
operator requirements, costings within budget, and to comply with all relevant 
statutory and regulatory requirements. 

1.3 PROJECT DESIGN TEAM
• Architect, Heritage Consultant and Lead Consultant - Bowman Riley
• Civil and Structural Engineer – Ramboll UK
• Mechanical and Electrical Engineer – Ramboll UK
• Vertical Transport Engineer – Ramboll UK
• Quantity Surveyor – Turner and Townsend 
• BREEAM – Mott MacDonald
• Project Management – Queensberry Real Estate
• Fire Consultant – Mott MacDonald

1.4 DESIGN PROPOSALS

The ‘Project Brief’ has been developed with Kirklees and Queensberry Estates and 
accordingly confirmed the parameters of project viability. 

• Minimum 90 bedroom hotel.
• C. 100 covers banqueting suite.
• C. 70 covers food and beverage offer.
• Budget limitations.
• Design which is sensitive to the listed status of the site.
• Assessment of heritage significance of all aspects of the existing structures 

on site.
• Statutory and regulatory compliance.
• Considering sustainability in all aspects of design and servicing.

The design has been developed with reference to the above and the following 
decisions have been deemed required to achieve a viable project: 

• Basement levels have been reduced to achieve a usable minimum headroom 
in the banqueting area (Block C) with associated structural works to underpin 
walls to John William St (Block A) and the station car park.

• Block B is of low heritage value and is to be demolished, and a new block built 
to a similar foot-print.

• Block C has heritage value but is in such poor condition structurally, which 
coupled with the requirement to provide a minimum number of minimum sized 
bedrooms, and reduce the basement floor level, resulted in a scheme whereby 
the only way to fulfil the brief was to demolish and rebuild the internal floors 
and walls.

This report will demonstrate how the project has also developed and how the layout 
presented fulfils the brief. The layout is co-ordinated with structural, mechanical 
and electrical Stage 2 level strategies and the fire strategy has been developed to 
Stage 2 standard with compliance via a risk based assessment to BS 9999. 

The Stage 2 designs and reporting are limited by the extent of available information 
withing the prescribed timescales. Where surveys are pending or unavailable, best 
approximations and/or estimations have been assumed in order to proceed with 
design development. 

P
age 169



4

2.0 PROJECT OVERVIEW

2.1 OVERVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT TO DATE

Bowman Riley has provided conservation and architecture services to Kirklees 
Council on the George Hotel, an elegant Grade II* listed 1851 landmark with an 
Italianate façade designed by William Walker next to the railway station which 
was designed to meet the needs of the Victorian traveller.  In 2013, the 60-bed 
hotel closed due to competition from local budget hotels.  As an important part of 
Huddersfield’s history, the George was purchased by the Council.  

PHASE 1: ASBESTOS REMOVAL

Following the purchase of the building by Kirklees Council, an asbestos survey was 
undertaken and it was found to be present in the majority of the basement areas.  A 
contractor was appointed to remove the asbestos from the building and encapsulate 
any remaining fibres to make the building safe.

PHASE 2: CONSERVATION WORKS

Bowman Riley were appointed as Conservation Architects acting on behalf of 
Kirklees Council to assist the surveying team to identify and specify the external 
repair works.  A high level survey of the building was undertaken and a conservation 
approach developed for the repairs.  These works were tendered and William Birch 
were appointed as contractor.  The following works were identified and undertaken 
as part of the Phase 2 works which are currently ongoing:

MASONRY
• Consolidation of delaminated stonework
• Indent repairs and stone replacements 
• Removal of inappropriate cementitious repairs and re-pointing with lime 

mortar
• Lime mortar repairs to the holes and voids in the stonework from previous 

fixings
• Weather proofing to projecting elements with open joints
• Removal and replacement of inappropriate alterations/ferrous fixings to the 

elevations.

WINDOWS
• Replacement of decayed cills and glazing bars
• Replacement of plywood cills/window surrounds which had subsequently 

failed resulting in water ingress
• Restoration of inappropriate window replacements with sliding sashes to 

match existing
• Removal of secondary glazing
• Exposure of internal reveals 
• Re-balancing of sliding sashes to bring them back into use 
• Re-glazing of windows to replace single glazing with slimline double glazing

ROOF
• Replacement of modern imported slate with welsh slate
• Renewal of roof and mansard with new welsh slate
• Lead flashing replaced
• Repairs to decayed roof timbers
• Parapet gutter re-lined
• Flat roofs coverings replaced
• Rainwater Goods rationalised and replaced

PHASE 3: DEVELOPMENT PHASE

Kirklees Council appointed a development manager, Queensberry Real Estate, to 
undertake a preliminary assessment of the existing George Hotel.  The findings 
were that the building would need substantial changes in order to attract a reputable 
hotel chain that would provide a secure long-term future for the building.  Bowman 
Riley worked with Queensberry to prepare a feasibility study which focused on the 
alterations that would be needed in order to create a 90-100 bed hotel.
It became apparent that substantial changes would need to be made and following 
a review of the heritage significance of the building it was agreed that the 1930’s 
wing had the most capacity for change, followed by the John William Street Range 
to the east.  The original 1850’s building to the south was identified as having the 
least capacity for change.

Plans were developed that will result in the demolition of the 1930’s wing and 
substantial alterations to the John William Street Range which, in principle achieved 
the 90 bed offering required.

2.2 STATUTORY CONSULTATION

A meeting was held with Historic England to review the findings of the initial 
assessment and the scope for removal of the 1930’s wing in order to achieve a 
viable future for the building.  Historic England understood the need for change 
and were keen to see this heritage asset brought back into use as a hotel.  Further 
design development would need to take place and a robust justification for the 
extensive alterations provided.

P
age 170



54

B

C

A

2

B

C

A

2

2.3 DESIGN DEVELOPMENT 

The initial brief was to demolish Block B and rebuild with hotel rooms from first 
floor upwards due to the location of the retaining wall with ancillary accommodation 
at ground and basement levels. Blocks A and C would be adapted to create further 
ancillary accommodation at ground and basement with hotel rooms at first and 
above. This option required the roof to Block C to be raised in order to create usable 
space resulting in a scheme with 79 rooms which did not meet the brief. A further 
option was investigated which removed the roof of Block C completely with the 
addition of an extra floor creating an additional 6 rooms increasing the total to 85. 
Again, short of the target figure. 

Following discussions with Queensberry, the scheme evolved to include a light well 
adjacent to the retaining wall allowing the creation of 5 additional rooms at ground 
floor level and the amalgamation of some rooms within the original hotel Block 
A which increased the total to 92. Following discussions with various interested 
operators, 92 rooms was deemed to be an acceptable number with an absolute 
minimum of 90. 

Alongside ensuring that the minimum number of rooms being achieved, the ancillary 
accommodation for the ground and basement levels were refined to meet the 
requirements of any prospective operator.

All the initial layout designs for new hotel had been based on historical information 
prepared by a third party and it became obvious from our site visits that this wasn’t 
100% accurate therefore throughout this initial design process it was suggested 
that a full topographical and measured building survey be undertaken so that a 
realistic proposal could be prepared.

Bowman Riley were formally appointed by Kirklees Council to lead the design 
team in June 2022 as a result of a formal tender process. Following receipt of the 
measured building survey, the designs have been further developed.

P
age 171



76

The main difference between the pre and post survey schemes is that the apex of 
the site is slightly more constrained than initially thought. The solution has been 
to revise the arrangement of the central atrium and the floor layouts have been 
updated following the introduction of additional M and E risers, rationalisation of 
the bedrooms to accommodate continuous vertical bathroom risers, rationalisation 
of escape stairs and fire exits, re-introduction of a service lift. 

In the process of reviewing the layouts in conjunction with the survey information it 
became apparent that the existing window locations, internal walls and the rear and 
northern external walls of Block C were constraining some of the rooms such that 
the sizes were falling below the required minimum of 20sqm. In order to achieve 
the target room numbers, different options were investigated including the addition 
of an extra floor to blocks B and C however the preferred option from a practical 
and structural perspective was to remove the majority of the internal walls, floors 
and roof to Block C.  

It also became apparent from the survey information that the existing floor to ceiling 
heights in the basement would be insufficient for the function suite accommodation 
required in that location. Other locations were looked at as alternatives however these 
were ruled out due to lack of size. This led us to the current proposal of lowering the 
basement floor level by approximately 1m in order to create the necessary ceiling 
height. Retention of both the internal and external walls would have resulted in 
full scale underpinning of not only walls but concrete pad foundations to existing 
steelwork which was deemed impractical. As a result the external walls have been 
retained and the internal walls removed.

The above compromises have been reviewed against the retention of the historic 
fabric options and the conclusion we have arrived at is that they are required to be 
implemented in order to make the scheme commercially viable which would save 
the grade II* listed building and breathe new life into it for years to come.

We are now in a position whereby the Stage 2 layout designs have incorporated the 
initial design suggestions from the structural M and E and fire consultants and the 
minimum target number of rooms has been achieved.

Further development of these layouts is required to fully understand the implications 
of the proposals on the listed building, however given the time constraints of 
programme. This report should give a good indication that from a design perspective, 
the requirements of the brief to date can be achieved without any input from the 
end operator.

Visualisation

P
age 172



76

1850/51

19TH 
CENTURY

18TH 
CENTURY

3.1 HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT
Like many market towns in the West Riding of Yorkshire, Huddersfield grew exponentially in the 18th 
and 19th centuries, initially as a centre of the woollen trade and then as a place for manufacturing.
The development of both the town of Huddersfield and the George Hotel is linked to the Ramsden 
family who were almost the sole landlords in Huddersfield and its surrounding area from the 16th 
century to 1920.

The majority of Huddersfield, including the George Hotel, remained the property of the Ramsden 
Estate throughout the 19th century and into the 20th century. However, in 1920, after years of 
deteriorating relations between the town council and the Ramsden family, the council purchased 
the entire freehold estate from Sir John Frechville Ramsden, the 6th Baronet, via a proxy, earning 
Huddersfield the epithet of the town that bought itself.

By 1778 the town was expanding southwards with the construction of the Cloth Hall to the south of 
Westgate. Though much later, the aerial photo of Huddersfield from 1928 shows a block plan of the 
town, the appearance, massing and location of the Cloth Hall, now demolished.  

The George Hotel began life as the George Inn. Constructed by the Ramsden Family in 1726, and 
named in honour of George I, it was built to serve clothiers and merchants trading in Huddersfield’s 
Market place.

The original George Inn was demolished in 1787 to be rebuilt as a larger inn. The 1787 inn was 
eventually demolished. 

In common with coaching inns in other market towns, the earlier George Inn acted as a commercial 
and civic hub. Trade directories from 1822 (the earliest found) to 1847 demonstrate that the inn 
(hotel from 1842) also served as an excise office, posting house, and subscription newsroom.
The construction of the railway station in 1847 brought an opportunity for the Ramsden Estate to 
capitalise on the expected growth in trade and provided an opportunity to rebuild a larger hotel next 
to the station, taking advantage of the railway trade.

Huddersfield Railway Station was opened in 1847, starting a shift of the ‘commercial centre of 
gravity of the town’.  The Ramsden Estate saw this as an opportunity to develop a ‘New Town’ to the 
north of Westgate and east of the new station. To achieve this, a new street was required, leading 
from the marketplace to the new railway station. This necessitated the removal of Huddersfield’s 
principal inn, the George Hotel, which stood at the north end of the marketplace. The existing George 
Hotel was planned as a replacement for the former inn, and it was deliberately given a prominent site 
to take advantage of the new railway station.

The Main Range (Block A) is the original hotel building and dates from 1850/51.  Local archive 
research has provided a set of drawings showing the plan form of the hotel. 

Source: https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/archive/collections/aerial-photos/record/EPW024369

Basement Floor

Ground Floor

3.0 HERITAGE STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

P
age 173



8

1874

The ground floor of the East Wing (Block C) was constructed shortly after and was extant by 1853. 
An illustration or etching produced for an historic postcard, alongside an overlap of slight evidence 
from the historic plans gives a fair indication there was a single storey block here which was part 
of the hotel. 

By 1874 the East Wing (Block C) had a ground floor with “Lounge and dining rooms”, First floor with 
“Billiard Rooms” and a second floor containing “bedrooms”. 

A photo from the railway station facing the Main Range (Block A) shows the hotel in context.  The 
photo shows some glimpse of the East Wing (Block C) yet no presence of Block B. The photo shows 
no bow window on the west elevation of Block A but does show a staircase which was suggested to 
be a key or main entrance into the hotel from the train station. 

The Ground and First Floor of the West Wing (Block B) was constructed to act as ancillary 
accommodation to the hotel to house the laundry and the kitchens.  The historic plans from 1874 
shows the proposed alterations to Block A, adding a bow window, and proposed new extension of the 
West Wing (Block B). 

Third Floor

First Floor

Fourth Floor

Second Floor

1850/51
CONTINUED

Historic postcard

Photograph from railway station showing East Wing

Historic plansHistoric plans

P
age 174



98

20TH 
CENTURY1889 The 1889 historic layouts for the Ground and First floor show alterations to the Main Range (Block 

A), with work to the bow window included however unclear on what work. The premise of adjusting 
the ground floor and opening the central circulation appears as a key principle along with how the 
building operates and with what facilities. 

Rugby League was founded in the George Hotel in 1895. This originated from a divide by around 
1890, between largely middle-class teams based in the south of England, who were keen to maintain 
the amateur nature of the sport, and working-class teams in Yorkshire who needed compensation 
for work lost when playing games, known as broken time payment. The refusal of the Rugby Football 
Union to allow broken time payment, and the harsh punishment given to clubs and players who broke 
the rules, precipitated a crisis that came to a head with a meeting of 22 northern clubs at the George 
Hotel on 29th August 1895. The meeting saw the creation of the Northern Football Union allowing 
for the payment of ‘bona fide broken time’.  This group eventually became the Rugby Football League.

A photo from the late 19th century shows the key elevation of the Main Range (Block A) facing St. 
George’s square and provides some indication of how the space was occupied but also the lack of 
canopy above what is understood as the main entrance. 

A photo from 1912 shows the Main Range (Block A) in context with what appears to be a staircase from 
John William Street into the building. The staircase is shown on the 1889 layouts with indication the 
entrance is to be transformed.  This photo does not show an external canopy on the south elevation. 

A photo from 1928 shows the appearance and massing of West Wing (Block B) in relation to the 
Main Range (Block A) and the East wing (Block C).  The image also shows what appears to be an 
external covered area outside Block C and possible link between Block B and C.  A series of 1930’s 
drawings, both historic plans and sections, existing and those showing proposed alterations, suggest 
this is accurate and a fair assumption. This photo does show the external canopy on the south 
elevation, suggesting it was erected during 1912 and 1928. 

Photograph from late 19th century showing main elevation

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/archive/collections/aerial-photos/record/EPW024367

Photograph from 1912 showing Main elevation

Historic plans, ground floor Historic plans, first floor

P
age 175



1110

1930’S 1930’S
CONTINUEDIn the 1930s there were a series of major works which involved the remodelling and extension of the 

West Wing (Block B) to form bedrooms at second floor level and the infill of the central courtyard 
to form the ballroom.  The historic archive research has provided a set of information from various 
parts of the 1930’s yet most prominent to be true and comprehensive are the 1936 set.  There is a 
degree of inaccuracy such as the interior alterations. 

P
age 176



1110

1960’S

1960’S - 
PRESENT

There are drawings from the 1930’s which are believed to be structural engineer’s details based on 
the level of detail and information shown.  It provides a better understanding of the Basement area of 
Block B and C, any changes to circulation for the main range (Block A) and shows the function space 
and facilities on this level in East Wing (Block C). 

In the late 20th century, the West Wing (Block B) was extended to add a third-floor level to form a 
final range of bedrooms.  The photo from the railway line facing Block B appears different from what 
there is today and provides supporting evidence this was completed during this time. 

From the 1960’s to present day the hotel has remained in this use but there is physical evidence of 
alterations to the Main Range (Block A) internally and East Wing (Block C) on the upper floors where 
work is incomplete. There is no archive information of the 1960’s extension, therefore a physical 
assessment suggests some conclusions, such as layout alterations based on changing operation and 
en-suites added to rooms are later.

1930’S
CONTINUED

Basement plan 1936

Photograph from the railway line facing Block B

P
age 177



12

3.2 HISTORIC ENGLAND ASSESSMENT 

As part of the Heritage Action Zone grant funding scheme, Historic England 
undertook an assessment of the significance of the building.  In June 2021 
Architectural Investigators from Historic England visited the site and the findings 
were as follows:

AESTHETIC

The George Hotel is undoubtedly of high aesthetic significance, gained through 
consciously architectural design. The Main Range of the hotel was built as the 
centre piece of Huddersfield’s New Town with grand architectural pretensions in an 
Italianate style. Externally, the Main Range has undergone few major changes and 
appears as its architect William Wallen intended. The interior of the Main Range is 
also of high significance, especially where the original decorative scheme survives 
in the upper floors and in the high-status first-floor rooms. Although the ground floor 
has been substantially altered, the ‘Charter Suite’ and the 1930s lobby, ballroom, 
and dining room are highly significant.

Externally, the East Wing has moderate aesthetic value to its east elevation, its 
composition unbalanced compared to the Main Range. The courtyard elevations and 
those of the West Wing are purely utilitarian. Featuring coursed sandstone and regular 
Crittalll windows, the elevations do not detract from the building’s significance, nor 
do they offer any. The interiors of the rear wing guest accommodation date mostly 
to the late 20th century and add little to the aesthetic significance of the building.
The West Wing’s west elevation is also very utilitarian and is more visible now than 
in the past. When originally built, it would have only faced railway sidings. Although 
the large chimney gives the hotel a semi-industrial appearance from certain angles, 
it is something of a landmark and contributes moderate aesthetic significance to 
the building.

EVIDENTIAL

The George Hotel is a good example of the developmental link between coaching 
inns and hotels in the mid-nineteenth century, an area which is poorly understood. 
Apart from the ground floor, the Main Range retains much of its original layout and 
decorative scheme, providing evidence of both its own use and of the building type 
in general. Parts of the original layout and decorative scheme can also be discerned 
above false ceilings and later finishes which might provide further evidence of the 
building’s original layout, use and circulation patterns if later finishes are removed.
The rest of the building has been largely remodeled in the 1960s and contains little 
evidential value, although original ceilings and moldings survive on the first floor of 
the east range which provide evidence for its former layout and use.

HISTORICAL

The Hotel has high historical value gained from its strong association with, and 
central role in, the history of Huddersfield. The building is intrinsically linked to the 
arrival of the railway in Huddersfield and the Ramsden Estate’s development of the 
‘New Town’ planned around it. Taken as a whole, St George’s Square and the New 
Town both are highly historically significant.

The hotel is also strongly associated with the founding of Rugby League, having 
been founded at a meeting held at the hotel.

COMMUNAL

The public nature of the George Hotel leaves it with a very high communal value. 
The building occupies a prominent position flanking one of Huddersfield’s few open 
squares, and for millions of railway travellers the hotel has been one of the first 
buildings they see as they leave the station. The hotel has served innumerable 
guests, and for most of its history has functioned as a public house and restaurant. 
Additionally, the hotel has been at the centre of Huddersfield’s civic life, hosting 
auctions, meetings, dances and events. Having only closed its doors in 2013, many 
residents of Huddersfield and beyond will have strong memories of the George Hotel.

3.3 SUBSEQUENT ASSESSMENT 

Following the issue of the draft assessment by Historic England, Bowman Riley queried 
the relative importance of the aesthetic significance of the 1930’s interventions, in 
particular the entrance foyer as this is a much simpler design when compared to the 
decorative plasterwork contained within the dining room and the ballroom.  

Having reviewed the statement of significance Bowman Riley undertook an assessment 
of the capacity for change for each of the three “wings” which comprise the building in 
order to guide the overall development of the feasibility study. It was assessed that the 
historical association with the 19th century coaching inn, the prolific Ramsden family 
and the arrival of the railways into Huddersfield were all of considerable significance 
to the building and as such retaining the original use of the building as a hotel was 
deemed to be desirable for the retention and ability to interpret this significance.  The 
retention of the building as a hotel also retained the very high communal significance 
of the building as an entertainment and hospitality venue.

It was also agreed that the aesthetic significance associated with the early phases 
of the building (i.e. the main wing overlooking St Georges Square and the East wing 
which runs along John Williams Street) were also of considerable significance as 
this supported the historic and communal significance of the building as a landmark 
within the town centre of Huddersfield. 

In order to fully understand these phases of development a set of phasing drawings 
was prepared and the extent of alteration assessed against these plans in order to 
give an initial indication of impact.
















 













1

2

RAILWAY STREET

JO
H

N
 W

IL
L

IA
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

JO
H

N
 W

ILLIA
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

NORTHUMBERLAND STREET

Level 00 ground floor layout block plan

BLOCK A: 1851

BLOCK B: 1874 - 1930

2: KITCHEN/PUBLIC TOILETS

BLOCK C: 1851 - 1874

1: COURTYARD

3.4 PHASING PLANS

The decision has been made to best describe the building by block(s) and areas 
which relate to ranges of historic development.  Block A, B and C, Area 1 and 2. 

P
age 178



1312

A series of layout diagrams have been produced to demonstrate the phasing of 
the existing building.  The building fabric has been labelled into 5 phases, phase 1 
describing the 1851 development, phase 2 covering 1850-1874, phase 3 covering 
1874-1930, phase 4 describing the 1930’s development, phase 5 describing the 
1960’s development, with a further category added to note development from the 
1960’s to the present day.  

The diagrams were developed by researching from various sources.  This included 
a combination of historic layouts from the local archives, illustrations, and historic 
images such as photos.  Specific site visits were undertaken with the historic 
layouts as a tool to generally explore the site.  At this stage, the diagrams focus on 
historic fabric only, therefore comprise an outline assessment and are subject to 
further site investigation.   

The phasing does provide a better understanding from Block A to C.  For example, 
a clearer relationship between the 1851 construction and the 1930’s extension and 
alterations, they identify the partial remaining fabric from the 1851 to 1974 such as 
the bow window and outer wall to Block B, and shows the later 1960’s extension to 
the upper storeys of Block B. 




















































 

























 



























































































































































































































































































































































 




























 
















































































































































































































































































 





































































































Level -01 basement phasing diagram Level 00 phasing diagram

PHASE 1: 1851

PHASE 3: 1874 - 1930

PHASE 5: 1960’S

PHASE 5: 1960’S

PHASE 5: TO PRESENT DAY

PHASE 5: TO PRESENT DAY

PHASE 2: 1851 - 1874

PHASE 4: 1930’S

PHASE 4: 1930’S














































































































































































































































































































































P
age 179



14






























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































 























 












































































































































































































































































































































































Level 01 and 00/01 phasing diagram Level 02 floor phasing diagram Level 03 and 04 floor phasing diagram

Level 03 third floor

Level 00/01 mezzanine

Level 04 fourth floor

Level 01 first floor

P
age 180



�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

�� � �
�

����

�� � �
�

� � � �
�� ��

� �� �

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
��

��
��

� �� � �
�� � �

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

� �� � �
�� � �

� �� ��
�

� � � � ���

� � � �
�� �

� ��

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

� � � �
�

� �� � �� �

� � � �
�

� �� � �� �

� �� �
�� � �

� � � �
� � � �

�� � �
�

� ��� �
��

� �� �
�� ���

�� ���
� � ��

� �

� �� �
� �� �

�

� � � �
��

� �� � �� �

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

� � � � ��
� �

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

� ��� ��
�� �� �

� �� � �

� �� � �

� ��

� �� � �

� � � � ��
� �

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
� �� � �

� ��

� � � � ��
� �

�� �� �
� �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� ���

� �� �
� �

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� ���
��� �

�� �

� �� � �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � ��
� � ��

����

�����
� � � �

����

� �� � �

s liding folding

s creen over

bar fittin
g

D
oo

r

C E ILING

HAT CHC E IL ING

C OR NICE

C EILING

R OS E

C EILING

R OS E

C EILING

R OS E

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

T IMBE R

C UP BOAR D

B ar F itting

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

C E IL ING

C OR NICE

���
��
��
����

����������
��

����
��

�
��
��
��

� �� ����
�� �� �� ���

� ����
�� �� ��

�����
�������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

�������������
��

��

���������������������

�������������

��

��
��

������������������

�������������

�������������

���������������������

�����
����

�����
�����

�����
�����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

�����
�������

�����

�����
����

������������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

��

��

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������������������

�

�

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������
������������������

������������������

������������������

��

��

��

��

��

������
����

��������

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
���� �����

����

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

��������

��������
�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

�������� ��������

��������

��������

��������

������

������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������������

��������������

��������������

����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�����
����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�������������

�������������

�������������

�����
����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

�����
����

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

��������

��������

��

��

��

��

��������

��������

��������������

��������������

��

��������������

��������������

��������������

�����
����

��

��

�����
�������
��
�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

����
��

��

���

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������

��

��

���

��

��

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
�������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

��

��

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
��������� ���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

1514

4.0 EXISTING INFORMATION

4.1 PLANS/SECTIONS/ELEVATIONS 

The existing information helps demonstrate a building with various stages of 
historic development.  The building has been categorised generally into block(s) A 
to C.  Block A, the main range of the hotel, has four floors and a basement, Block 
B has three floors and a mezzanine level and a partial basement, Block C has three 
floors and basement.  The ground floor layout connects the three blocks with two 
further areas, the courtyard, and the kitchen and public toilets.  

����

� � � �
�� � �

������
��

�����
������

������
��� � �����

� �� � �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

�����
���

������

������
��

������
��

��
��

��
��
��
���
��

��
��

�
��
��
�

��
��

��
��
��
���
��

��
��

�
��
��
�

��
��

��
��
��
���
��

��
��

�
��
��
�

��
��

��
��
��
���
��

��
��

�
��
��
�

������
��������

�

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

������
�

������
�

������
�

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� ���
��� �

�� �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� ���
��� �

�� �

������
�

� � � � ��� ���
� ��� �

� � ��

� � ���
� � ��� �

� ��� ��
� � ��

�

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

������
��

������
��

� �� �
� ���

���

� �� �
�

� �� � �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� �� �
�

� �� �
�

� �� �
� �� �

� � ��
��

� � � �
� �� ��

�� ���
� � ��

� �� � �

� �� � �

� � � �
��� � �

� � �

� �� ����
� � �

�

� � ��
�� �

� �� ��
�

�� � ��
�

� � � ��

IN C OMIN G

S E R IVCE S

U N KOWN

�����
����

�����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

�����
����

�����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

�����
����

�����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

����
���� �����

�

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� ����
���� �

�����

� � ����
��

� �� �����
�

�� � ��
����

�����
����

�����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

�����
����

�����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

������
���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
�� � ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ����
��

������
�����

������

� ����
��

� ����
��

������
�����

�������

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

������
�����

�������

� ����
��

� ����
��

��� ��
������

�����
������

������
� � ��

�

� ����
��

� ����
������

�����
�����

�����

� ����
��

��� ��
������

������

� ����
��

� ����
������

������
�

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

��� ��
������

������

� ����
��

� ����
������

������
�

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��� ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
��� ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����
������

������
�����

� ����
��

� ����
� ������

������
�������

� ����
��

�����
������

������
�����

� ����
��

� ����
� ������

������
�������

� ����
��

� ����
� ������

������
�������

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
������

������
�

� ����
��

��� ��
������

������

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
� ������

������
�������

� ����
��

� ����
� ������

������
�������

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
� �����

�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

������
�����

�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
� �����

�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

Level -01  basement layout Level 00 ground floor layout

Block A is the most prominent with key elevations facing St. George’s square 
towards the south, the train station and the junction of John William Street, Railway 
Street to Northumberland Street.  Block B is towards the rear facing the railway 
station. Block C is along John William Street.  Block B and C triangulate to the north 
from the main entrance of Block A. 

The building is overall in disrepair or in poor condition which varies across the 
block(s) and areas, with spaces deemed unsafe and inaccessible. For example, the 
internal staircase is not fully functional due to excessive dry rot   , and Block C has 
spaces that cannot be entered such as the central former Ballroom at the centre 
of overall plan. There is currently work being undertaken to address some of the 
conservation work required to Block A but mostly external repairs.  

���
��
��
����

����������
��

����
��

�
��
��
��

� �� ����
�� �� �� ���

� ����
�� �� ��

�����
�������

������
������������

������������������

�������������

�������������

���������������������

�����
����

�����
�����

�����
�����

������������������

�����
����

������������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

������
������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������
������������������

������������������

������������������

��

��

��

��

��

������
����

��������

��������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
���� �����

����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

�������� ��������

��������

��������

��������

������

������

��������

��������������

����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�����
����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�������������

�������������

�������������

�����
����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

�����
����

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

��������

��������

��

��

��

��

��������

��������

��������������

��������������

��

��������������

��������������

��������������

�����
����

��

��

�����
�������
��
�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

����
��

��

���

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������

��

���

��

��

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
�������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

��

��

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
��������� ���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � � ��
� �

� �� �
� � �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� �� �
� � �

� �� �

� �� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� �� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� �� � �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � ��
� ���

� � � � ��
� �

�� � �
�

�� � �
�

� � � � ��
� �

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �

��� �

� �� �

� � � � ��
� �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �� � ��

� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

����

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � � ��
� �

� �� �
� � �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� �� �
� � �

� �� �

� �� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� �� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� �� � �

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � ��
� ���

� � � � ��
� �

�� � �
�

�� � �
�

� � � � ��
� �

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � � �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �

��� �

� �� �

� � � � ��
� �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �� � ��

� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

����

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
�

� � ��
����

��� �
� �� �

�

�� ��
�� ���

����
��� �

� � ��
����

�� � ��
��� �

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� ���
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� ���
��� ��

��

����
� ����� ������

� � ����
��

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

������
���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ��
����

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

������
���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ����
�����

������
������

������
������

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��� ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
�� � ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�� � �� �����
��� �

�� ��
��� �

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��� ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
�� � ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�� � �� �����
��� �

�� ��
��� �

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��� ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����
��

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

������

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�� � �
��� �

�� � �
�

� ��
� � � � ��

� �

� � � � ��� ��
�� ���

� ���
� �� �

� �

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� ���
��� �

�� �

� �� � �

� � ��
� � ��

����

�����
� � � �

����

s liding folding

s creen over

bar fittin
g

�����
����

�����������������������
�����

�����
�����

��

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

�����
����

��

��

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����
�

�����
� �����

�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

Level 01 and 00/01 layouts

P
age 181



16

���
��
��
����

����������
��

����
��

�
��
��
��

� �� ����
�� �� �� ���

� ����
�� �� ��

�����
�������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

�������������
��

��

���������������������

�������������

��

��

������������������

�������������

�������������

���������������������

�����
����

�����
�����

�����
�����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

�����
�������

�����
����

������������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

��

��

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������
������������������

������������������

������������������

��

��

��

��

��

������
����

��������

��������

��������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
���� �����

����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

�������� ��������

��������

��������

��������

������

������

��������

��������������

����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�����
����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�������������

�������������

�������������

�����
����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

�����
����

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

��������

��������

��

��

��

��

��������

��������

��������������

��������������

��

��������������

��������������

��������������

�����
����

��

��

�����
�������
��
�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

����
��

��

���

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������

��

��

���

��

��

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
�������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

��

��

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
��������� ���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � � � ��
� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �

������
����

������
����

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

�����

� �� �
� � �

�����

� � � � ��
� �

� � � � ��
� �

� � � � ��
� �

� � � � ��
� �

� � � � ��
� �

������
������

�����
���� �

������
�

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � ��
� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� �
� � �

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � ��
� ���� � ��

� ���

� � � �
�� � �

�����
� �� �

� � ��
�

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� � � �
��� �

� � ��
�� �

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

� �� � �
� �� � �

� � ��
�� �

� � ���
� � ���

�����
��� �

�� �

��� � �
��� �

� � �

�� � �
�� �

��������

� � � �
��� ��

�� ���
� �� ��

� � ��
� � � �

�����
�� ��

� � ��
�

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

�����
����

�����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� ���
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � �����

� � ��
����

���� �������
�����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

���� �����
������

����

�����
����

�����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� � � �
��

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

������
���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
�� � ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

������
���

� � ����
��������

���

� � ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

��

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

��

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

��

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

��

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
���� �

�����

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
�� � ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��� ����

��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����
�����

���

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
� �����

�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

������

�����
� �����

�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

���
��
��
����

����������
��

����
��

�
��
��
��

� �� ����
�� �� �� ���

� ����
�� �� ��

�����
�������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

�������������
��

��

���������������������

�������������

��

��
��

������������������

�������������

�������������

���������������������

�����
����

�����
�����

�����
�����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

�����
�������

�����
����

������������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

��

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������
������������������

������������������

������������������

��

��

��

��

��

������
����

��������

��������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
���� �����

����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

�������� ��������

��������

��������

��������

������

������

��������

��������������

����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�����
����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�������������

�������������

�������������

�����
����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

�����
����

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

��������

��������

��

��

��

��

��������

��������

��������������

��������������

��

��������������

��������������

��������������

�����
����

��

��

�����
�������
��
�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

����
��

��

���

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������

��

���

��

��

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
�������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

��

��

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
��������� ���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� � � � ��
� �

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � � ��
� �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � � ��
� �� �� �

� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � ��
� ���

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� � ��
� ���

� � � � ��
� �

� � � � ��
� �

� � � � ��
� �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

��������

� � � �
� � ��

� �� �

�� � �
�� �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

� �� �
� � �

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� �����

� � ����
��

� � ��
����

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

������
���

� � ����
��������

���

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� �����
�

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ���

� � ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

� ���
��� ��� �

��� �

�����

�����

�����

�����

� ����
��

� ����
��

�����

�����

�����

�����

����
��� �����

� � � �
� � ��

� �

�����

�� � ��
�����

�� � �
� � ��

��

�����

����
��� �����

� � � �
� � ��

� �

�����

�� � ��
�����

�� � �
� � ��

��

�����

�� � ��
�����

�� � �
� � ��

��

�����

�� � ��
�����

�� � �
� � ��

��

�����

�� � ��
�����

�� � �
� � ��

��

�����

�� � ��
�����

�� � �
� � ��

��

�����

� � ��� � �� ���� �
��

�����

�����

�����

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
� �����

�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����

�����
�

�����
�

�����
�

�����
������

�
�����

�

�����
�

���
��
��
����

����������
��

����
��

�
��
��
��

� �� ����
�� �� �� ���

� ����
�� �� ��

�����
�������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

�������������
��

��

�������������

��

������������������

�������������

�������������

���������������������

�����
����

�����
�����

�����
�����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

�����
�������

�����
����

������������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
�����

������
������������

������
������������

������
������������

�����
�����

�����
�����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������
������������������

������������������

������������������

��

��

��

��

��

������
����

��������

��������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
���� �����

����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

�������� ��������

��������

��������

��������

������

������

��������

��������������

����

������
�������

������
�������

�����
����

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

������
�������

�������������

�������������

�������������

�����
����

�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

�����
����

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

������������������

��������

��������

��

��

��

��

��������

��������

��������������

��������������

��

��������������

��������������

��������������

�����
����

��

��

�����
�������
��
�����
����

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

��������

����
��

��

���

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������������
�������������������
������������������
���������������
����������������

��������

��

���

��

��

��

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
�������

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

�����
����

��

��

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
��������� ���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

���

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

��������������
�����������
��������������
�����������
�����������
����������
���������

�����
�

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
��

�����
�� �����

��

�����
��

�����
��

Level 02 floor layout Level 03 floor layout Level 04 floor layout

P
age 182



1716

4.2 SURVEYS - OVERVIEW HIGHLIGHTING ISSUES

The existing building has had a measured survey to further understand the building.  
The survey was undertaken on a live building site during the Phase 2 conservation 
works, with scaffolding erected, hoarding and a site compound.  In parallel, the 
building has spaces with restricted access, deemed unsafe, inaccessible, and/or 
to be cleared of debris.  The condition of the building is therefore an issue. Given 
this limitation, the measured survey is missing certain elements such as spaces not 
accessible, elevations due to the scaffolding and roof layout based on current works. 

Each consultant in the design team has identified a series of surveys specific to 
their field appropriate for Stage 2 design development. 

4.3 ACCESS AND SITE CONSTRAINTS

The George Hotel is positioned on the junction of John William Street and Railway 
Street, the hotel’s main entrance is on Railway Street, leading upwards to the 
train station and car parking areas and is opposite St. George’s square which is a 
pedestrianised area.  The site triangulates to the north, to the west is car parking 
and the east is John William Street.  To the west, the mezzanine level in Block B on 
the west elevation provides secondary access from the car park level.  To the east, 
there are two further secondary points of ingress onto John William Street.  The is 
one further point of access into Block A adjacent to the main entrance located into 
one of the function areas.

There is a significant level change from east to west especially to the north of the 
site from the car park, and further level change from north to south along John 
William Street. There are railings around Block A to the west to address the level 
change and provide light to the ground floor.  

The George Hotel is Grade II* listed and there are several listing buildings around the 
site which contribute to the setting.  The railway station (Grade I) and the railings 
to the station yard (Grade II) are immediately adjacent to the west of the building.  
The George Hotel and surrounding buildings such as the Lion Buildings (Grade II*) 
along John William Street and junction of Northumberland Street provide a setting 
of heritage assets to be taken into consideration as a site constraint. 

The car park serving the railway station has a one-way route returning to John 
William Street and provides access to another car park.  There are six number trees 
dividing the parking spaces.  The pedestrian movement around the train station 
and associated vehicular drop off, St. George’s square as a public space, King’s 
Head public house, and the areas for pedestrian access around the perimeter of the 
building, along with the vehicular traffic is a site constraint.  There is a single storey 
substation Immediately adjacent to the Block B on the west facade. 

St. George Square

R ailway S treet

John W
illiam

 S
treet

Northumberland 

S treet

A
T1

T2

T3

T4

T5

Access to railway

B rook S treet

Ring Road / M62

Town
centre

B

C

D

T6

07

01

04

05

F

E

06

1

2

02

03

04

Site layout and site constraints

BLOCK A

SIGNIFICANT LAND CHANGE

Existing Sub Station

Short stay parking and drop-off

Long stay parking

Planting/trees (potted) and street furniture

Water feature

King’s Head Public House

Bus stop

BLOCK C

BUILDING ENTRANCE

PEDESTRIAN CROSSING

2. KITCHEN/PUBLIC TOILETS

EXISTING TREES (ROUTED)

BLOCK B

METAL RAILING

1. COURTYARD

BUILDING EXIT

PEDESTRIANISED AREA

Railings to Station Yard
HE ref: 1232086, Grade II Listing

B

Huddersfield Railway Station
HE ref: 1277385, Grade I Listing

A

Huddersfield Water Tower
WYHER ref.MWY7473 (Monument)

C

Lion Buildings
HE ref: 1134167, Grade II* Listing

D

64 and 66, John William Street 
HE ref: 1288959, Grade II Listing

E1

1 and 3, Northumberland Street
HE ref: 1279067, Grade II Listing

F

T

01

02

03

04

05

06

07

E2 68, John William Street
HE ref: 1134168, Grade II Listing

E3 70-78, John William Street
HE ref: 1313875, Grade II Listing

P
age 183



18

4.4 LAND OWNERSHIP

There are two landowners/leaseholders relevant to the site. Kirklees council own 
the George Hotel and the streets to the east, south and the area of the car park 
highlighted to the west.

The railway station is owned by Kirklees council and leased to Network Rail.

Network Rail own the car park area highlighted to the north and have a common 
boundary with the George Hotel site.





























RAILWAY STREET

JO
H

N
 W

IL
L

IA
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

JO
H

N
 W

ILLIA
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

NORTHUMBERLAND STREET

KIRKLEES COUNCIL

KIRKLEES COUNCIL LEASE TO NETWORK RAIL

NETWORK RAIL

00 ground floor layout

P
age 184



1918

Building Use level 00




















































 

























 



























































































































































































































































































































































 




























 
















































































































































































































































































 





































































































4.5 EXISTING BUILDING USES 

The George Hotel has been a hotel since the construction of Block A in 1851.  The 
existing building can be categorised into the following uses, function, bedroom, 
ensuite, facilities, circulation and ancillary and miscellaneous.  

Below ground the spaces are mostly ancillary and miscellaneous, with later 
alterations adding toilet facilities and a function space.  On Level 01 there is a 
further function room in Block A facing St. George’s square.

The existing ground floor at Level 00 layout shows the most amalgamation of Block 
A to C with a large central ballroom or function room.  Level 00 is mostly function 
space, with the relative facilities to serve those spaces such as bars and kitchen. 
Other spaces include mostly ‘back of house’ or with limited light into Block B.  There 
is a lift and numerous staircases, the primary staircase is central to Block A, the 
secondary staircases are to the basement and up into Block B.  There are several 
external fire escape stairs to the north of Block A and within the courtyard. 

Across Block A to C, the existing first, second, third and fourth floor on the 
associated levels are predominantly hotel bedrooms or suites, all with en-suite.  The 
layout of the hotel accommodation does vary between blocks.  Where most rooms 
are positioned facing outwards with circulation either towards the centre of the 
block or towards the courtyard, there are a number that face inwards towards the 
courtyard.  The circulation throughout the building has access to various ancillary 
and miscellaneous spaces.   

Parts of Block A has been partially renovated internally and on the third floor of 
Block B, the space has started construction but not completed therefore identified 
as miscellaneous.  This is mostly likely to be built for hotel bedroom accommodation.  
Under the current condition of the building, the measured survey undertaken was 
limited therefore not all spaces and their use have been identified. 

Building Use level -01
















































































































































































































































































































 


















































































































































































FUNCTION

FACILITIES

CIRCULATION

ANCILLARY/MISC.

BEDROOM

EN-SUITE

P
age 185



20

Building Use level 00_01 and 01 Building Use level 02






























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































 























 












































































































































































































































































































































































Building Use level 03 and 04

P
age 186



2120

5.0 DESIGN PROPOSALS

5.1 KEY PRINCIPLES
• Layouts based on the brief to achieve a minimum 90 bed hotel with rooms 

sized to a minimum 20m2.
• Block A structure retained as per original as far as practical with due regard 

to compliance.
• Block B entirely new build.
• Block C rebuild internal walls and floors as the only way to achieve 90 rooms 

of the minimum size.
• Block B and C step back on the upper levels to be subservient to the significant 

heritage aspects retained (Block A and Block C streetscape). 

5.2 LIMITATIONS/ASPIRATIONS
• It should be noted that the design is based on information available at the 

time. Intrusive surveys have not yet been completed which may impact on the 
structural design and layout.

• The structural approach to Block C has not been discussed with Historic 
England and their response may alter the strategic approach to the site (and 
impact upon project viability). 

• The layout requires access through the Network Rail car park for servicing and 
fire escape purposes. The right to access must be confirmed.

• The layout is based upon assumed requirements of a generic operator and will 
be subject to detailed review when the operator is known.

• Note 6 no. rooms are undersized due to the constraints of the existing structure 
retained in Block A.

5.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Outstanding surveys to inform detail design
• Reaction from Historic England of strategic approach to heritage assets
• Confirmation of the right of access through the Network Rail car park
• Operator requirements to inform detail design

SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION

GROUND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR SECOND FLOOR THIRD FLOOR FOURTH FLOOR
0.01 22.4 241.1 1.01 32.9 354.1 2.01 21.2 228.2 3.01 21.5 231.4 4.01 17.9 192.7
0.02 21.3 229.2 1.02 42.5 457.5 2.02 20.2 217.4 3.02 19.8 213.1 4.02 19.5 209.9
0.03 22.3 240.0 1.03 20.4 219.5 2.03 24.2 260.5 3.03 24.4 262.6 4.03 23.5 253.0
0.04 21.0 226.0 1.04 27.2 292.8 2.04 20 215.3 3.04 19 204.5 4.04 19.3 207.7
0.05 20.4 219.6 1.05 29.7 319.7 2.05 24.2 260.5 3.05 27 290.6 4.05 25.3 272.3

1.06 19.2 206.7 2.06 26.3 283.1 3.06 25.6 275.6 4.06 23.7 255.1
1.07 22 236.8 2.07 27 290.6 3.07 27.9 300.3 4.07 25.8 277.7
1.08 22.5 242.2 2.08 23.3 250.8 3.08 23.5 253.0 4.08 21.6 232.5
1.09 20 215.3 2.09 23.9 257.3 3.09 23.3 250.8 4.09 23.2 249.7
1.10 20 215.3 2.10 21.3 229.3 3.10 20 215.3 4.10 21.9 235.7
1.11 23.2 249.7 2.11 21.1 227.1 3.11 20 215.3 4.11 20.2 217.4
1.12 20 215.3 2.12 20 215.3 3.12 20 215.3 4.12 20.2 217.4
1.13 20 215.3 2.13 21.7 233.6 3.13 20 215.3 4.13 23.5 252.9
1.14 20.2 217.4 2.14 21.1 227.1 3.14 20 215.3 4.14 22 236.8
1.15 22.4 241.1 2.15 20.2 217.4 3.15 20.2 217.4 4.15 28.8 310.0
1.16 21.3 229.2 2.16 20.9 224.9 3.16 20.9 224.9 4.16 21.2 228.1
1.17 22.3 240.0 2.17 24.1 259.4 3.17 24.1 259.4 4.17 20 215.2
1.18 21.0 226.0 2.18 22.9 246.5 3.18 22.9 246.5 4.18 20 215.2
1.19 20.3 218.5 2.19 21.5 231.4 3.19 21.5 231.4 4.19 20 215.2

2.20 21.5 231.4 3.20 21.5 231.4 4.20 20 215.2
2.21 20 215.3 3.21 20 215.3 4.21 21.5 231.4
2.22 21.5 231.4 3.22 21.5 231.4
2.23 20 215.3 3.23 20.1 216.4
2.23 20 215.3 3.23 20.1 216.4

TOTALS
5 107.5 1157.1 19 443.6 4775 23 504.6 5431.5 23 493.3 5309.9 21 459.7 4948.2

TOTAL NO. ROOMS - 91 (TARGET 90). NOTE - 6 NO. UNDERSIZED HIGHLIGHTED (BLOCK A DUE TO EXISTING STRUCTURE)P
age 187



22
Basement -01 Ground floor 00

FUNCTION

FACILITIES

CIRCULATION

ANCILLARY/MISC.

BEDROOM

EN-SUITE

SCHEDULE OF BEDROOMS
FLOOR NO. OF ROOMS
Basement 0

Ground 5

First 19

Second 23

Third 23

Fourth 21

Total 91

P
age 188



2322

Level 01 Level 02

P
age 189



24

Level 04Level 03

P
age 190



2524

Roof plan Section AA

P
age 191



26

Proposed 5th floor layout

5.4 POSSIBLE 5TH FLOOR
• Bowman Riley have been requested to consider the option of adding a 5th floor 

to the proposals.
• We have assumed the location for the 5th floor would be at the apex of the site 

at the junction of blocks B and C as this would have the least impact on the 
primary heritage asset of Block A.

• The layout proposed is limited by there being no alternate means of escape 
• The introduction of a 5th floor in this location will take the 5th floor level over 

18m and accordingly the fire strategy would be upgraded to suit.
• Note – the addition of a 5th floor was proposed late and the implications have 

not been considered by the whole design team. We expect material impact on 
levels 1 - 4 to affect the number of bedrooms on these levels. 

P
age 192



2726

6.0 SITE WIDE STRATEGIES

6.1 HERITAGE ASSETS 

6.1.1 KEY PRINCIPLES
•  The proposal of the existing building ensures to maintain its existing use as a 

hotel.
• The design process includes an assessment of the existing building to ensure 

its significance is identified.
• The heritage strategy emphasises to advise and assess accordingly to minimise 

harm to the heritage asset.
• The heritage strategy emphasises to advise and assess accordingly to retain 

what is significant.

6.1.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• Though the findings from the archive research have provided strong evidence 

of historic information suitable to inform an understanding of the buildings 
phasing, it is not certain if or what works were undertaken from the shown.

• The ability to fully understand the existing building has been limited as parts 
of the building are deemed unsafe and/or inaccessible.

• The process of assessing the building to indicate its significance has been 
limited to a visual assessment only and is subject to pending opening-up and 
further site investigations.

• The information produced by Bowman Riley for this report have been developed 
within the limits of the measured survey, this includes any assessment of 
impact of the proposal given what is proposed also makes some assumptions 
to develop the design. 

• The information produced by Bowman Riley for this report is limited to the 
fabric only and excludes other building components (such as doors and 
windows) and its condition. 

• The heritage strategy assumes moving from Stage 2 to stage 3 that a full 
assessment of the built fabric following intrusive surveys is to be undertaken.

6.1.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• To fully understand the extent of the historic fabric to assess the existing 

building today, details and outcomes from the intrusive site investigations and 
opening up scope of work requested by either the design team consultants or 
highlighted by the BR heritage team, are to be provided (for example, opening 
up of the modern ceilings to investigate and determine any historic ceilings).

• The heritage strategy requires a coordination with any surveys requested by 
other consultants.

• The recent measured survey provided is to be completed to include more 
information which was unavailable at the time of survey, this includes a roof 
layout, external wall thickness, inaccessible spaces, detail elevations. 

• There is an expectation to receive and review design development from all 
consultants to assess the impact of the proposal and provide any heritage 
advice and feedback. 

• The proposal is subject to the confirmation of the Hotel Operator and their 
requirements which will inform the design development such as the buildings 
acoustic performance and fire separation.

• The heritage strategy places an expectation for further advise, input and 
collaboration with stakeholders such as the planning team from the local 
authority and other key stakeholders such as Historic England. 

6.1.4 SUMMARY 

A key objective of the proposal for The George Hotel is to prioritise that it remains 
as a hotel and find its best course of viability to retain its use moving forward.  

Up to Stage 2 and for the purpose of this report, the understanding of the buildings 
phasing of historic development, the assessment both the buildings significance as 
a heritage asset and the assessment of impact of the proposal, has been an outline 
but informed review appropriate for Stage 2.  This is subject to further development 
and site investigation.  

For Stage 2, the assessment of impact of the heritage asset based on the current 
proposal is as follows. 

The proposed demolition and alteration of any 1930’s and 1960’s fabric as shown in 
plan form, such as Block B, is less than substantial harm.  There is sufficient evidence 
especially given the period of construction to show Block B is predominantly from 
the 1930’s with the potential for the outer external wall to be 1874-1930. 

The impact of any proposed alterations or loss of fabric to the 1851-74 phase is 
minimum or less than substantial harm apart from the loss of fabric located on the 
Ground Floor dining room which has been shown to be of substantial harm.  

The proposed demolition and alteration of any 1850/51 fabric is to be considered 
substantial harm however the proposal has limited impact being located mostly 
to the north facing elevation or courtyard, or the proposal has work in areas with 
potential for alteration of the plan form previously. 

In conclusion for up to Stage 2, the assessment of impact of the proposal for the 
whole building is less than substantial harm. 

The heritage strategy identifies that a detailed assessment of a proposal coordinated 
with all the design team consultants is required.  This includes the opportunity for 
the heritage team to provide advice and feedback to minimise harm of the existing 
building and retain what is significant and assisting to justify the future viability to 
continue its use as a hotel.

P
age 193



28

6.4 STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING 

6.4.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 

OPTIONS APPRAISAL

DESIGN CRITERIA

To enable the process of option selection, a series of design criteria for which 
options could be appraised against was developed. Differentiation between primary 
and secondary design criteria has been included in the table below. 

CRITERIA PRIMARY/
SECONDARY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Sustainability Primary Undertake a Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) by 
providing three options for the substructure/
superstructure to feed into the LCA process

Retention of 
Listed Façade

Primary The scheme must enable the retention of the 
listed façade along John William Street

Enabling 
achievement of 
masterplan

Primary The commercial model for the hotel requires a 
minimum number of hotel rooms. The structural 
layout must accommodation this through clear 
spaces as required

Cost Primary Overall project cost a key consideration for 
the overall commercial model to be a viable 
proposition

Scope and 
complexity of 
permanent/
temporary works

Primary A key consideration is the complexity of any 
associated temporary works and the sequencing 
challenges presented by constructing the 
permanent scheme

Structural depth Secondary Limiting the structural zone to allow level access 
with the retained building

BREEAM Secondary Opportunities for BREEAM credits within the 
chosen scheme

Modern methods 
of construction 
(MMC)

Secondary Opportunities to adopt MMC in the design

Supply chain and 
coordination

Secondary General constraints etc. around the supply chain 
associated with various construction forms

6.2 ACCESSIBILITY 

VERTICAL ACCESS

Compliant level access is achieved throughout the site via lift or ramp. Staircases 
throughout the retained section of the building (Block A) are rationalised. The 
existing heritage main stair in Block A is retained and a fire escape stair introduced 
in the new extension to the northern end of the building. The newly formed central 
atrium houses a new feature stair to allow access from ground level to the function 
suite at basement level.

A new accessible lift will be installed within the existing lift shaft in Block A, allowing 
access to all levels,. In addition to this, a feature glazed lift will allow guest access 
from basement level to all levels allowing views into the atrium space on ascent.

HORIZONTAL ACCESS

Compliant level access is achieved from Railway St/St George’s Square into the 
main reception of the new hotel. Automatic doors allow access from the front lobby 
into main reception. The new extension to the building will, where possible have level 
access from the existing Block A.  At ground floor level a level change is unavoidable 
due to the window locations of the retained façade in Block C, the glazed lift allows 
horizontal access between blocks B and C at this point. At basement level the new 
extension floor level is lower than the existing Block A level to achieve the required 
headroom to function spaces, a combination of a ramp and heritage ‘steplift ‘ 
platform will allow free movement between the two areas.

SERVICE ACCESS

Bin storage is proposed to the northern apex end of the building at an intermediate 
level between basement and ground floor. This allows level access to John William 
Street for bin access out of the building for kerbside collection by the authority. 
Internal access to the bin storage area is provided by a service lift which can be 
accessed at each  level. 

Deliveries to the building are anticipated from the Network Rail car park. Level 
access is achieved at this level via a mezzanine within the stair enclosure.  This also 
serves as the fire escape from the adjacent stair. The through service lift is lobbied 
at each level of the building and is sufficient in size to accommodate linen trolley 
and food/bar deliveries in addition to furniture removal where required .

FIRE ESCAPE EGRESS

Compliant and level access fire escape exits are located direct out onto John William 
Street, St George’s Square and the Network Rail Car Park.  Internal refuge points 
are included at each level adjacent to escape stairs.

6.3 PRINCIPAL DESIGNER, HEATH AND SAFETY

6.3.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 

CONFIRMATION OF PRINCIPAL DESIGNER ACTIONS UNDERTAKEN TO DATE:
• Attended initial ‘start meeting’ via teams for awareness of project team and 

project particulars.
• Initial site visit undertaken on 9th June 2022 guided by Helen Walker.
• Collating existing pre-construction information in draft. 
• Review of existing available pre-construction information, surveys, and 

drawings.

6.3.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• TBC - full review to be undertaken once all documents are collated.

6.3.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Return of Client signed letter of appointment of the Principal Designer Under 

the CDM Regulations 2015.
• Copies of all existing and new site information currently being procured to be 

sent to the Principal Designer soon as received.
• Initial Design Risk Assessments to be provided by all designers.
• Provide information as detailed in the tender pack and below table.

6.3.4 SUMMARY 

The draft Pre-Construction Information pack is prepared, full review of existing and 
new documents is to be undertaken

DOCUMENT NAME AUTHOR

Phase 1 Environment Report Watts

Building Inspection Report Watts

Structural Condition Survey Ramboll

Topographic Survey MOBCAD

Drainage Survey Jet Aire Services

Asbestos survey pack Kirklees and Bradleys Environmental 

P
age 194



2928

PRIMARY OPTIONS PROPOSED

Based on the criteria presented above, several options for the primary superstructure 
were considered as part of the study. Structural options considered applicable were:

• In situ traditional reinforced concrete frame
• Composite steel deck on steel down stand beams
• Glulam and Cross laminated timber slab
• Pre-cast concrete columns with lattice slab
• Modular (prefabricated)
• Met frame structural framing system with composite floors

SCHEME OPTIONS

IN SITU CONCRETE

MODULAR

STEEL FRAME

PRECAST

TIMBER/GLULAM

METFRAME

RECOMMENDATION

At this stage, following the completion of an option appraisal, a steel frame concept 
scheme has been presented to allow a cost comparison to be carried out by the cost 
consultant. Primary reasons for the selection include:

• Flexibility with non-uniform floorplate
• Interface details with listed facade
• Sequencing with façade retention
• Lightweight – minimising substructure loads/sizes
• Efficiency for grid spacing proposed

It is recommended that other construction types presented are reviewed in further 
detail to arrive at a comprehensive RIBA 2 submission prior to progressing to a 
defined concept into RIBA Stage 3.  

PRIMARY SUPERSTRUCTURE

The proposed primary superstructure of the building comprises traditional down 
stand steel beams with a composite RC slab on a permanent steel deck. The steel 
grid is typically 6m x 7m. Secondary beams span the long direction and are at 
approximately 3m centres. Typically, both the secondary beams and primary beams 
are circa 350mm deep. The edge beams are standard UB 305. The composite deck 
is composed of a 1mm re-entrant steel profile, and a 140mm thick normal weight 
concrete slab cast in situ. 

LATERAL STABILITY

Lateral stability is addressed through the provision of vertical braced bays providing 
stability against wind loads. These would primarily be located around stair cores and 
wall partitions to coordinate with the architectural proposals. Further coordination 
is a required to complete RIBA Stage 2.

INTERFACE DETAILS WITH BLOCK A

The new build component will be designed as independent structure in relation 
to Block A. This will help reduce any issues arising from differential movement 
between the existing building and new proposed structure. 

VIBRATION RESPONSE

Acoustics and vibration are noted as important design criteria due to the proposed 
usage of the building. Floor accelerations will be limited to provide an appropriate 
level of comfort to building occupants or if the occupancy requires particular limits 
to be achieved.

ATRIUM SUPPORT

General Walkways (Parallel to Room Partitions) 
The walkways to the central atrium are proposed to cantilever from the steel frame 
which follows the corridor partition line as indicated in the figure below. This 
mitigates the need for structural support columns in the main atrium space. 

Any interfaces between the cantilevered walkways and potential temporary fire 
curtains are to be reviewed at a later design stage in terms of additional loading etc. 

Primary Superstructure – typical floor plate

Typical structural configuration

P
age 195



30

SUBSTRUCTURE

DESKTOP REVIEW/ANTICIPATED GROUND STRATA

A desktop-based review has been completed of the historical borehole data available 
from the BGS. The ground conditions are shown to comprise glacial head deposits 
(clay, silt sand and gravel) overlying bedrock of the Pennine Lower Coal Measures.
The Coal Authority show that the site is within a Development High risk Area. The 
implication of this designation is that a Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA) is 
likely to be required as part of the planning process. There are exemptions for works 
associated with listed buildings however discussion with the planners and/or Coal 
Authority may be worthwhile bearing in mind the proposed demolition works and 
construction of new structures as part of the development.

The designation is associated with an area of ‘probable workings’, which is 
designated for the majority of Huddersfield town centre area. The Coal Authority 
define ‘probable workings’ essentially as an area where there are known coal seams 
that could have been worked in the past, but they have no evidence of any such 
workings.

SUBSTRUCTURE PROPOSAL

Due to the ground conditions expected at the site, together with the column loads 
identified during the initial analysis stages, a piled foundation solution has been 
proposed. Initial estimates of pile capacity have been based on historic geotechnical 
information available from the British Geological Society for boreholes in close 
proximity to the site.

Using this information, 450mm diameter piles have been proposed for the new 
building. The typical layout of these is two or three piles below each typical column 
(dependant on location and resultant load). A series of ground beams also are 
provided to act as ties to the two-pile caps and provide the support to the reinforced 
concrete suspended floor slab.

FAÇADE RETENTION/BASEMENT LEVEL REDUCTION

The retention of the listed building façade along John William Street introduces a 
number of complexities and sequencing considerations for the project. At this stage, 
a high-level study has been completed in order to consider possible sequences for 
the works and understand some of the key considerations and challenges.

Possible methods presented will require significant further coordination with a 
temporary works specialist/contractor to understand their viability. Options have 
been developed in the absence of any intrusive survey information on the basement 
retaining structures, which is critical information to obtain prior to developing any 
potential scheme.

Central atrium support structure

Typical section through walkway

CENTRAL WALKWAY BETWEEN WINGS

To provide the necessary structural support to the central atrium between Block 
B/C it is proposed to provide structural steelwork as illustrated in the figure 
below. Additional secondary steel would be included to frame around the lift etc. as 
required. The structural beam would clear span across void between the two blocks 
providing a column free space below. 

Allowance should be made in the connection design to enable sufficient horizontal 
movement to accommodate for any differential deflection between the two blocks. 
This will be reviewed in further detail at a later design stage.

ATRIUM ROOF SUPPORT

At this stage it is assumed that the roof to the atrium is to be a specialist sub-
contractor designed item. Therefore, at this stage no allowance has been included 
for structural support. It is envisaged that the preferred option for the roof form is 
likely to be a lightweight glazed framing solution. For cost estimation purposes, it is 
recommended to include for an allowance for structural support if this is introduced 
at a later design stage. 

P
age 196



3130

Two primary retention façade options are presented below.
• Internal Façade Retention
• External Façade Retention

INTERNAL FAÇADE RETENTION

Sequence
• Mini piling rig to install a series of piles at basement level. This is subject 

to achieving the required access to undertake the piling activities safely. It 
should be noted that it may not be possible to get a piling rig into the basement 
to complete these works.

• Partial demolition of existing floor structure to enable the temporary retention 
structure to be threaded in.

• Installation of complete façade retention structure.
• To minimise any adverse impact on the façade, the listed façade would be 

restrained to the support steelwork through a clamping detail through the 
existing windows. This would mitigate the need to use mechanical fixing into 
the listed façade in the temporary case.

• Methodology to be develop for lowering of the basement by approximately 
600-1000mm. We have not currently been able to identify a robust concept 
for how this would be undertaken with the façade retention in place.

KEY CONSIDERATIONS AND CHALLENGES
• Uncommon approach – Typically any façade retention scheme provides 

temporary support outside the building envelope. Adoption of an uncommon 
design approach may result in additional design work/cost. This approach 
however may be adopted in tight city centre sites which may feature adjacent 
buildings etc in close proximity.

• Ensuring temporary stability of steel frame during the erection would be 
challenging.

• Erection of the permanent steelwork scheme – This would be difficult with the 
presence of the façade retention structure. It may be preferred to design the 
façade retention structure to become the permanent structure in this area. 
This would need to be investigated in more detail to understand if viable.

• Issues obtaining required waterproofing classification for basement – Any 
basement scheme would be more difficult to achieve the required Grade 3 
status when compared with a piled wall solution (piled wall acts as a barrier to 
water ingress on top of drained cavity).

• Retains free pedestrian movement along John William Street.

KEY CONSIDERATIONS AND CHALLENGES
• Disruption/Potential closure of John William Street – Introduction of a façade 

retention scheme will result in the site boundary increasing into the footway of 
John William Street. This introduces the potential for disruption to the footpath 
whilst the façade retention works are in place. Erection of the retention system 
made also have a level of disruption to the carriageway.

• Large quantities of material/logistics – In order to create the piling mat, a 
significant volume of imported material would be required. This would result 
in a significant volume of construction vehicles arriving at the site to deposit 
materials. Given the usage of the site, this may create some conflict in 
particular with the railway station.

• Significant reduction of usable space at basement level – Installation of a 
contiguous piled wall and associated drained cavity/facing wall would reduce 
the usable space in the basement.

• Ground Anchors within Network Rail (NR) land – This would require agreement 
with NR and likely a significant approvals process to achieve sign-off.

• Additional Surcharge loading from façade retention structure – Additional 
weight from the structure would add additional load to the existing structure, 
which would need to be carefully considered.

• Protection to façade during backfill process – A level of protection would be 
required to assure no damage to the listed façade.

• Achieves required basement grade (waterproofing) – This scheme would 
enable more resilient waterproofing details to be achieved.

• Piling next to existing retaining wall – Requires further understanding of the 
impact of piling in close proximity to the existing wall with respect to vibration 
etc.

• Expensive rotary piling may be required dependant on rock strength to achieve 
adequate socket.

• Protection to Retaining Wall – Due to the unknown condition and construction 
form for this wall, careful measures would need to be implemented to ensure 
the stability and condition of this existing wall.

• Sequencing of the basement reduction – Although both schemes offer 
challenges with respect to lowering the basement, the temporary works 
associated in this scenario are likely to be significant and we have not been 
able to identify a sensible sequence to lower the basement with the temporary 
works in place.

• Integration of temporary works solution into the permanent scheme – To aid 
efficient in the design process, it would be recommended to investigate if the 
temporary retention steelwork and or foundations can be utilised to support 
the building in the permanent case.

• Overall, with the complexity and challenges presented by this option, it is 
likely that it would not be a viable solution.

EXTERNAL FAÇADE RETENTION

Sequence
• Installation of ground anchors to western retaining wall to provide lateral 

restraint to enable removal of floor (floor currently propping wall providing 
restraint). This would require approvals from the adjacent landowner.

• Installation of temporary façade retention structure in the footway of John 
William Street (subject to required licenses). Structure would possibly be 
designed as a tunnel to retain pedestrian movements during the works. It 
should be noted there may be a level of disruption associated with this and 
potential temporary closures etc.

• Demolition of existing structure – This existing construction would be removed 
to enable the new build structure.

• Building footprint backfilled with imported material to create piling mat and 
provide support to retaining wall. Piling mat level to approximately match 
existing ground floor level.

• Contiguous piled wall installed along each side of the building (slightly 
inbound from existing basement walls) to suit piling rig offsets and existing 
wall foundations.

• Piling rig used to install all piled foundations within building footprint.
• Once all piles installed, over excavate material to create need formation level. 

Once formation level achieved, cast new ground beams and slabs onto piles. 
Piles cropped down to suit final cut off levels.

• Construction of new basement slab and in situ RC ground floor.
• Temporary façade retention removed and installation of new steel frame.

P
age 197



32

External facade retention - potential sequence Example facade retention scheme

P
age 198



3332

6.4.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS

Limitations and assumptions specific to the structural design of the building are 
included below.

GEOTECHNICAL
• Design is based on limited information on the likely ground conditions. 

Foundation scheme presented subject to change following detailed ground 
investigation.

• No information on potential obstructions/buried services which may conflict 
with the proposed foundation arrangement.

• No information is provided on the potential geo-environmental risks associated 
with items such as ground gas or ground contamination.

STRUCTURAL DESIGN
• The structural option presented in this report represents an initial level of 

detail and should be subject to further development prior to progression into 
RIBA Stage 3.

• Basement level reduction – The high-level scheme presented for the basement 
level reduction should not be progressed to the next design stage without 
further coordination and design. It is recommended that a specialist temporary 
works designer and or contractor is engaged to help understand the viability of 
the potential scheme presented as part of this report.

• Current framing arrangement based on assumption that basement level 
architectural layout can be adjusted to suit. Current arrangement provides no 
transfer structures, however results in columns penetrating room spaces at 
basement level.

• The scheme assumes the partial closure of John William Street in the temporary 
case – subject to liaison with the local authority etc.

• No studies have been completed of the embodied carbon for the respective 
options. Prior to progressing into the next design stage, a complete 
sustainability assessment should be undertaken.

6.4.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED

With respect to the structural engineering philosophy for the scheme, the following 
information is required.

• Findings of intrusive surveys and ground investigation to help inform feasibility 
studies of basement level reduction.

• Coordination with temporary works specialist around the basement level 
reduction.

• Confirmation on the viability of reducing basement size to accommodate the 
contiguous piled wall which is required as part of the basement reduction 
works.

6.4.4 SUMMARY

Initial review of the architectural proposals suggest that the scheme is well suited 
to a steel frame solution due to the irregular grid and interfaces with the existing 
building. The proposed basement level reduction and associated façade retention 
is likely to involve significant temporary works which will need to be reviewed in a 
high level of detail to understand the complexities involved and the overall viability 
as part of the full RIBA Stage 2 Report.

P
age 199



34

6.5 SUSTAINABILITY 

6.5.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 

We recognise the significant potential impact that the structures that we design 
can have on the environment, whether that be through global warming potential, 
resource depletion or water usage. We also see this as a huge opportunity for us to 
help our clients to find the most pragmatic ways to reduce those impacts. Therefore, 
it is imperative that sustainability is embedded into the decision-making process at 
RIBA 2.

A key aspect of the sustainability design philosophy relates to understanding the 
life of the building, it’s materials and components:

• What are the future scenarios? Change of use? New owners?
• What is the design life? And how long can it actually be used for?
• Does it need to be flexible? Adaptable? Reconfigurable? What do these words 

mean for our client?
• Will it be extended? Down, up, across – do we need to think about this now?
• How will it be de-constructed and re-used? How do we maximise potential 

re-use?
• How will the MEP systems change, and the façade, does the structure need to 

consider future changes in other disciplines?

It should be noted that the information presented below reflects an RIBA stage 
2 submission. To ensure a comprehensive approach to sustainability is adopted, 
the following information should be reviewed upon the completion of the RIBA 2 
submission.

BREEAM OPPORTUNITIES

It is noted that the project will be looking to achieve BREEAM accreditation and as 
such the following list of opportunities have been identified: 

• Mat 01 – Life Cycle Assessment - Undertake a Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) 
by providing three options for the substructure and three options for the 
superstructure to feed into the LCA process.

• 2. Mat 06 – Material efficiency - A number of measures have been considered 
to optimise the material efficiency of the structure and the impact of the 
structure on the other design aspects, such as the façade.

• 3. Wst 05 – Adaptation to Climate Change - Carry out a project specific risk 
assessment relating to the impact of climate change on the building design 

and how to adapt the design to ensure that it is resilient to the effects of 
climate change.

• 4. Wst 06 – Design for disassembly and adaptability - Consideration for 
future disassembly and adaptation. For example, the vast majority of steel 
frame connections are likely to be simple connections and therefore bolted 
connections are anticipated. Therefore, the steel frame can be considered for 
disassembly, and this will be considered further in the following stages.

The initial design discussions and decisions made at RIBA stage 2 will be further 
developed and clarified during RIBA stage 3. 

BREEAM good to very good can generally be achieved by ensuring early adoption 
of BREEAM focused management methodologies, and stringently adhering to the 
current building regulations whilst having due regard to the opportunities identified 
below however the design team will be reviewing the various options in order to 
maximise the sustainability that can be incorporated into the building. Examples of 
this could include:-

• Air source heat pumps for heat recovery
• Utilising MVHR systems (Mechanical Ventilation with Heat Recovery)
• Installation of Photovoltaics if deemed meaningful.
• Replacement of existing single glazing within Block A with Insulated glass 

units (IGUs) Vacuum Glass
• Investigation of use of sustainable materials for the new structural frame
• Consideration of the building fixtures, fittings, material choices and finishes 

specifications
• Consideration of all mechanical and electrical systems

P
age 200



35

6.6 CIVIL ENGINEERING 

6.6.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 

KEY DESIGN DRIVERS

The following key drivers for the design of the proposed development have been 
identified.

• To develop an efficient drainage solution for the site.
• To re-use (if appropriate) the existing connection to the sewer in John William 

Street.
• To retain and re-use the existing below ground drainage system where 

appropriate, depending on the results of the Survey.
• To separate the foul and surface water systems to future proof the design.
• To engineer a sustainable approach to surface water discharge within the 

limitations of the site.

EXISTING BELOW GROUND DRAINAGE SYSTEM

Currently the below ground drainage within the site is a combined system, taking 
both surface water and foul water drainage from the hotel. Pending the results of 
a CCTV Drainage survey, the current intent is to retain the existing below ground 
drainage system, providing the system is in good condition and suitable for modern 
day design criteria.

Due to the topography of the site, the basement, and thus the below ground drainage, 
is situated above the level of the sewer in John William Street. This enables the 
building in its entirety to be drained by gravity, obviating the need for pumped 
discharge.

PROPOSED FOUL WATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM

The proposal is to create separate systems within the basement – keeping foul 
water and surface water separated, combining them externally, prior to the sewer 
connection. Foul drainage from the building will be collected from the above ground 
drainage, connecting into drain points, to be conveyed into the sewer in John William 
Street.

Pending the results of the survey, it is intended to create a new system for the foul 
water drainage, which if deeper can collect drainage from the new, lowered area of 
the basement.

6.5.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS

It should be noted that the information presented below reflects what we have been 
able to collate and review in the prescribed timescale. To ensure a comprehensive 
approach to sustainability is adopted, the following information should be reviewed 
prior to commencment of RIBA stage 3.

6.5.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED

• Prepare initial materials estimates (concrete volumes, rebar/steelwork 
tonnage), review embodied CO2 and environmental impact (life cycle 
assessment) of key materials used in the superstructure and substructure.

• Choose appropriate structural form and material.
• Optimise grid to reduce material usage.
• Review transfer structures through coordination with other disciplines. Look 

to minimise transfer structures to aid efficiency.
• Include any sustainability criteria in the Stage 2 specification.
• Review options for modular or off-site construction methods.

6.5.4 SUMMARY

We recognise the significant potential impact that the George Hotel building 
may have on the environment and as such the importance of understanding the 
sustainability credentials of any potential structure. This also presents a huge 
opportunity for us to help to find the most pragmatic ways to reduce environment 
impacts and strive for a sustainable design solution. Therefore, it is imperative 
that sustainability is embedded into the decision-making process at RIBA 2 and as 
previously mentioned should be investigated in further detail prior to progressing 
into the next design phase.

PROPOSED SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM

As noted above, the proposal is to create separate foul and surface water drainage 
systems within the basement, combining them externally, prior to the sewer 
connection. It is proposed that the scheme be drained in a block-wise manner.

BLOCK A

As Block A is to be retained, at this stage it is not proposed to provide any flow 
control or attenuation as this is to be a like-for-like system – pending validation via 
calculations. It is proposed to use the existing system where possible. It should be 
noted that at present, key stakeholders (Yorkshire Water and Kirklees Council) have 
not been engaged and as such this element has not been accepted.

BLOCK B

Block B is to be demolished and a new structure built in its place. As such it is likely 
that surface water from this block will need attenuating to achieve greenfield runoff 
rates and using the current climate change coefficient of 40%. It is proposed above 
ground attenuation tanks are used either in the basement or geocrates below the 
atrium courtyard. The reduced flowrate from the outlet is to connect to the main 
system.

BLOCK C

Block C’s structure is to be a façade retention scheme, and a new structure built 
behind. As such, authorities will likely deem this as a new build from a drainage 
perspective so it is likely that surface water from this block will need attenuating 
to achieve greenfield runoff rates, and also using the current climate change 
coefficient of 40%. It is proposed above ground attenuation tanks are used either in 
the basement or geocrates below the atrium courtyard. The reduced flowrate from 
the outlet is to connect to the main system to discharge into the Yorkshire Water 
sewer in John William Street.

P
age 201



36

6.7.4 SUMMARY 

Overall, the above ground foul ground drainage is to be a primary ventilated system, 
where the intent is to connect to the below ground drainage system similar to 
the existing system. Above ground, the rainwater and foul drainage shall remain 
separate. Architectural and MEP coordination with the drainage is ongoing and will 
continue into Stage 3.

6.6.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• At the time of writing, no survey information has been received, the current 

condition and layout of the existing system is unknown. Historic drainage 
drawings do show the layout of the below ground system; however it is unknown 
if this has been modified. As such, no tangible progress can be made on the 
design of the below ground drainage system, as a key part of the strategy is to 
retain the existing where possible.

• At present, no formal discussions have been opened with the main stakeholders 
regarding attenuation requirements, as such it is assumed that the surface 
water from Blocks B and C are to be attenuated, and Block A is to remain as-is. 
There is a risk that the stakeholders may require the full site to be attenuated 
prior to connection to the sewer.

6.6.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Below Ground Drainage CCTV Survey report.
• Complete Above Ground architectural layouts to determine foul and surface 

water flowrates/areas.
• Outcomes of preliminary discussions between Bowman Riley and Kirklees 

Council regarding surface water attenuation.

6.6.4 SUMMARY

Overall, the below ground drainage intent is to exit the building at the existing 
location, with the addition of a new system within the building for foul or surface 
water pending the outcome of the survey report and architectural layouts. A new 
demarcation manhole chamber will be required externally prior to the existing sewer 
connection. It is anticipated that blocks B and C will require attenuated surface 
water flowrates, therefore requiring storage in a location TBC. There is potential for 
the storage for both blocks to be combined rather than dedicated storage for blocks 
B and C. It is assumed that Block A can remain as-is, however this is to be confirmed 
upon agreement with the stakeholders. At present, the drainage survey information 
and provisional attenuation agreement with stakeholders is required to progress the 
design of the below ground drainage.

6.7 ABOVE GROUND FOUL DRAINAGE 

6.7.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 
• Generally, it is anticipated that the building shall be drained via gravity to 

connect to drain points within the basement. Where drainage stacks serve 
over five floors, or as deemed necessary, stub stacks will be introduced to 
alleviate pressure within the system.

• Grease-laden wastewater from the kitchen shall be collected and conveyed 
via a dedicated system before pass through a grease trap, located within the 
basement, prior to connection to the overall foul drainage system.

• All vertical drainage shall remain plumb throughout the building, with no 
offsets.

• Due to restricted head height within the basement, drainage drops from ground 
floor to basement shall be such that no offset is required within the basement.

• Pipework shall generally not run within bedrooms, nor shall it offset over them.
• The drainage system shall be a modified primary ventilated system. All 

drainage pipework shall vent to atmosphere at roof level.
• Within the basement there are proposals for WC’s in the Block A basement not 

in the current position, there are proposed staff changing and a tank room in 
Block B requiring some drainage within the footprint of the basement.

6.7.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• It is assumed at present that the bedroom risers can run unimpeded throughout 

the building, and there is ongoing coordination to achieve this.
• At present, no structural ‘no-go’ zones have been highlighted where drainage 

penetrations are proposed, however this is ongoing coordination.

6.7.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Roofscape drawings to facilitate and determine the practicality of vent pipe 

terminations.
• Below ground drainage survey and strategy.
• Complete Above Ground architectural layouts to determine foul flowrates.

P
age 202



3736

6.8.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Below Ground Drainage Survey report.
• Complete Above Ground architectural layouts to determine surface water 

flowrates/areas.
• Outcomes of preliminary discussions between Bowman Riley and Kirklees 

Council regarding surface water attenuation.

6.8.4 SUMMARY 

Overall, the rainwater drainage intent is to drain all roof areas via gravity. Block A 
shall have the existing stripped out and a new system installed to ensure compliance 
with current standards and regulations. It is the architectural desire to keep 
rainwater drainage pipework external, as such the design will be in line with this 
strategy where possible. Blocks B an C shall have a new rainwater system installed; 
however, it is likely that the flowrates will be attenuated prior to discharge to the 
sewer, this is pending discussions with Yorkshire Water and Kirklees Council.

6.8 ABOVE GROUND RAINWATER DRAINAGE 

6.8.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 
• A dedicated rainwater drainage system shall drain all roof areas of the 

buildings.
•  It is currently anticipated that all existing rainwater drainage in Block A will be 

stripped out and replaced with new. Where it is exposed, this will be heritage 
style, subject to architectural approval.

• Where possible, the current strategy is to keep rainwater pipework external 
to the building, however this is subject to the extent of the basement and the 
below ground drainage design.

• To maintain an efficient drainage system, it is proposed that roof outlets in 
unoccupied areas are untrapped.

• All above ground rainwater drainage shall be kept separate from the foul water 
drainage.

• As there is likely a requirement for surface water from blocks B and C to be 
attenuated, they too shall be maintained as separate systems prior to any 
attenuation and flow control. 

• Where rainwater drainage runs internally, it shall not pass-through bedroom 
areas, instead it shall pass through risers in landlord areas associated with 
bathroom drainage.

6.8.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• At the time of writing, no survey information has been received, the current 

condition and layout of the existing system is unknown. Historic drainage 
drawings do show the layouts of the below ground system pup ups for 
connection; however, it is unknown if this has been modified. As such, no 
tangible progress has been made on the design of the rainwater drainage 
system, as a key part of the below ground strategy is to retain the existing 
where possible.

• At present, no formal discussions have been opened with the main stakeholders 
regarding attenuation requirements, as such it is assumed that the surface 
water from Blocks B and C are to be attenuated, and Block A is to remain as-is. 
There is a risk that the stakeholders may require the full site to be attenuated 
prior to connection to the sewer.

6.9 DOMESTIC COLD WATER SERVICES 

6.9.1 KEY PRINCIPLES
• Water shall be taken from the water main located within John William Street. 

Investigations are underway to determine if the size and capacity is sufficient 
for the proposed redevelopment.

• The incoming supply shall be metered upon entry to the building and shall be 
routed to serve a cold-water storage tank located in the basement.

• Water shall be distributed to all areas of the building via a cold-water booster 
pump set and UV disinfection to prevent proliferation of legionella and other 
biofilms. Pipework will utilise the bedroom risers to serve the bathrooms on 
the hotel floors.

• Where category 5 backflow protection is required, this shall be provided by 
means of packaged tanks and pump sets.

• As the water supply to Huddersfield is soft water, there is no current plan to 
provide water softening plant and a dedicated softened water supply to the 
bedrooms.

• Water from the boosted cold water service system will also serve the domestic 
hot water generation plant at roof level via a water conditioner, to prevent 
scale formation.

6.9.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• It is assumed at present that the bedroom risers can run unimpeded throughout 

the building, and there is ongoing coordination to achieve this.
• The daily demands for cold water are taken from IOP guidance for a 4* hotel, 

however this may be subject to change should a hotel operator require a 
turnkey development with specific ERs.

6.9.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Engagement with the kitchen specialist is required to determine the equipment 

to be used.

6.9.4 SUMMARY 
• The proposed strategy is to supply the hotel with a boosted cold-water 

system. Water is to be stored in the basement and boosted to the points of 
use. Distribution routes shall be coordinated with the architecture and risers 
where possible. Dead legs shall be kept to a minimum to minimise stagnation 
and prevent the formation of legionella coliforms and biofilms.

P
age 203



38

6.10 FIRE SUPPRESSION 

6.10.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 
• From meeting minutes between Bowman Riley and the Fire Engineer it is not 

currently proposed to have sprinkler protection within the building. However, 
this should be confirmed upon receipt of the Fire Engineer’s Strategy report.

• The building shall be provided with dry risers in line with BS 9990.
• The dry risers within the building shall be located adjacent to fire protected 

stairwells and their locations agreed with both Bowman Riley and the local 
fire brigade.

• Dry riser breeching inlet boxes shall be provided in sensitive locations and 
agreed with Bowman Riley and the local fire brigade.

6.10.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• Due to the heritage nature of the building, engagement with the relevant 

historic authorities should be sought when determining the location of the 
cabinets.

6.10.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• BR, Fire Brigade and Heritage England approval.

6.10.4 SUMMARY 

At present, the building shall not be sprinkler protected in line with the current 
fire strategy. However, this should remain an option and open for discussion. The 
building shall be provided with dry risers for firefighting purposes in accordance 
with BS 9990.

6.11 FIRE AND FIRE ENGINEERING

6.11.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 
• The George Hotel will be designed to meet the functional requirements B1 to 

B5 of Schedule 1 of the Building Regulations 2010 as well as regulations 6(3), 
7(2) and 38; and the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 
2015.  In order to meet the functional requirements of Part B of the Building 
Regulations 2010 (as amended 2018), the building will be designed in 
accordance with BS 9999:2017 ‘Fire safety in the design, management and 
use of buildings – Code of practice’. 

• Post construction, the building will be subject to the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005.

• The  proposed development  aims  to  preserve  and  enhance the George Hotel 
which  is  a  Grade  II  Listed  Building.  The  development  would  secure  a  
viable  use  for  the  building  and  therein  maintain  the  upkeep  of  the historic  
building. The  design  proposals  are  intended  to  be  sympathetic  to  the  
heritage requirements and as such strict compliance with BS 9999 may not 
be appropriate and alternative methods for compliance are proposed. 

• Where BS 9999 is not followed prescriptively, a performance-based 
design will be offered that will provide at least the same level of safety as 
a fully code compliant design. Any part of a design that deviates from the 
recommendations found within BS 9999 (and other appropriate British 
Standard document) will have to be justified by the designers and approved by 
Building Control.  Demonstrating suitable fire engineering justifications will 
be achieved by following the framework of BS 7974:2019 - ‘Application of fire 
safety engineering principles to the design of buildings.’

• Property protection shall also be a consideration. It should be noted that the 
additional provisions required for property protection are not considerable 
once life safety principles have been established.  The detail of the extent 
of property protection measures can be assessed when we have Operator’s 
requirements and any Insurer’s requirements.

B1 - MEANS OF WARNING AND ESCAPE

REQUIREMENT B2 & B3: INTERNAL FIRE SPREAD

CHARACTERISTIC DESIGN PROPOSAL

Smoke detection A fully addressable smoke detection system is to be installed 
in all areas, as a Type L1 (and therefore also a P and M) 
system with manual call points adjacent to each exit. The 
atria area is to be protected by an aspirating system. 

CHARACTERISTIC DESIGN PROPOSAL

Sprinkler 
Protection

BS 9999 recommends a sprinkler system be installed 
throughout the hotel as a result of the open balcony atria 
that is proposed. If the building owner and operator chose 
to omit sprinkler protection further fire safety engineering 
analysis is to be undertaken to review the resulting risk (e.g. 
fire temperatures and smoke spread) in order to provide an 
alternative to the installation of sprinklers whilst achieving 
the functional requirements of the Building Regulations.

Structural Fire 
Resistance

60 minutes fire resisting elements of structure with 
compartment floors at every level will be provided.

Means of Escape Means of escape will be via a simultaneous evacuation. The 
hotel will be provided with two lobby protected stairs. All 
means of escape including exit widths and stair widths are 
to be in accordance with BS 9999. Escape signage is to be 
installed to the BS 5499 suite of standards. 

Refuges & PRM Disabled refuges will be provided at all levels and at all 
storey exits. It is proposed to include an evacuation lift 
within the hotel serving all levels. Disabled to be provided 
with EVC.

Means of Warning A PA/VA system is to be installed in accordance with BS 
5839-8 throughout the hotel. In areas where there is 
high background noise (e.g. plant rooms), flashing lights 
(strobes) are to be installed.  The George Hotel may 
consider the use of coded messages as part of an initial 
management response to an alarm. Guest rooms should 
have combined detector/sounder devices. The sounder 
should provide 75 dB at the head of the bed.  Consideration 
of fire alarm warnings for deaf guests will be made when 
the Operator is determined, using products such as Deaf 
Alerter (or similar approved).

Emergency 
Lighting

Emergency lighting will be installed to BS 5266-1 and BS 
EN 1838 throughout the building. 

P
age 204



3938

6.11.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• It should be noted that this is the first review and development of the fire safety 

principles for George Hotel. Formal discussions with the relevant stakeholders 
and approving authorities have not been undertaken.

• It is assumed that there are no enhancements required for life safety or 
property protection over and above the Building Regulations specific fire 
safety requirements apart from that associated with the approvals process in 
order to satisfy Building Control and English Heritage. 

•  It is necessary that the hotel Operator and Insurer agree with all principles 
within the fire strategy and it should be noted that they been contacted at this 
point in time. Any additional requirements that they may require have not been 
incorporated. 

6.11.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Further discussions should begin to observe if the hotel operator has any other 

requirements above and beyond those found within the Building Regulations. 
It will be necessary to liaise with the Operator’s Insurer to identify if they 
will increase premiums for reducing the level of active fire protection (and 
replacing with passive fire protection). 

Atrium Smoke 
Control

By utilising a smoke and temperature control system 
within the atrium, in combination with glazing and smoke 
curtains at balcony corridors, a fire engineered solution 
will be developed to review if the appropriate tenability 
criteria can be suitably maintained to allow safe evacuation. 
Glazing to the atrium will be toughened and laminated glass 
and capable of withstanding the expected temperatures 
resulting from any fire and smoke in this space.  Extract 
will be at high level, e.g. atrium roof, with supply at the 
lowest level, e.g. basement level.

Atrium and 
Basement 
Interface

Portions of the basement have direct connection to the 
outside that can be used to vent heat and smoke.  Portions 
of the basement that do not have direct connection to 
outside will utilise mechanical means or the atrium smoke 
control system which will mitigate the risk of heat and 
smoke exiting via stairways. As sprinklers are not currently 
proposed, those areas that are subject to smoke control will 
be subject to detailed fire safety engineering calculation 
in order to determine the design characteristics for these 
systems. Means of providing make up air into the lower 
parts of the atrium space requires fire engineering analysis 
due to the quantities of free area or supply rate required at 
low level.

CHARACTERISTIC DESIGN PROPOSAL

Facade In accordance with BS 9999, external walls of the building 
shall adequately resist the spread of fire over the walls and 
from one building to another. Detailed external fire spread 
calculations will be undertaken as part for the design. The 
externals walls will be limited combustibility, and insulation 
and filler materials used in the construction of the external 
wall should be class A2-s1, d0 or better as per BS EN 13501-
1. 

Roof The roof of the building shall adequately resist the spread of 
fire over the roof and from one building to another, and have 
BROOF(t4) classification in accordance with BS EN 13101-5.

CHARACTERISTIC DESIGN PROPOSAL

Fire Fighting 
Facilities

Due to the building height and the depth of the basement 
levels, it is not required or proposed to have a fire fighting 
lift within the building. Dry risers serving every level of the 
hotel will be located within all escape stairs/lobbies. A 1.0 
m² openable vent will be provided at the top of each escape 
stair to assist with fire fighter operations. Both escape stairs 
will be lobbied at every level.

Fire Fighting 
Access 

Vehicle access is provided around the majority of the 
perimeter of the site. Vehicle hardstands are to be located 
within 18 m (and in sight of) the dry riser inlet. Hardstands 
are to be in accordance with the requirements within BS 
9999 which are considered to be satisfactory due to the 
roadway construction being proposed. Access and proximity 
to street hydrants will be received to achieve compliance 
with BS 9990.

REQUIREMENT B4: EXTERNAL FIRE SPREAD

REQUIREMENT B5: ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR THE FIRE SERVICE 6.11.4 SUMMARY 

The details within this section outline the preliminary fire strategy principles for 
the George Hotel to satisfy the functional requirements of the Building Regulations. 
It will be necessary to agree with Building Control on all matters that deviate from 
the guidance documents, e.g. the currently proposed exclusion of automatic fire 
suppression. The fire engineering strategy will be evolving as the design is refined, 
although the key aspects are expected to be as the content of this section.

P
age 205



40

6.12 MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL AND PLUMBING 

6.12.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 
• The MEP services will be fully stripped out and disconnected. Allowing for full 

refurbishment of Block A, and demolition of blocks B and C (with the Block C 
façade being retained).

• Full new MEP services will be installed to serve the new and refurbished 
building.

• The development will progress via a “fabric first” approach, reducing the 
energy requirements of the building by improving thermal properties, before 
employing low energy and low carbon energy efficient and sustainable MEP 
solutions for heating, cooling, and hot water generation.

• To provide an MEP strategy which is non reliant on fossil fuels putting The 
George Hotel on the pathway to decarbonisation in terms of operational carbon 
emissions.

• To provide an MEP strategy in accordance with current standards, guidance 
and in-line with the hotel operators standards and specifications.

• To provide an MEP strategy which is sensitive to the listed status of the 
building.

• To provide an MEP strategy that contributes to a BREEAM very good 
certification.

6.12.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS
• The listed nature of Block A and façade of Block C limits some of the 

opportunities and routes for plant and equipment.
• As the layouts are not yet fixed, there are some limitations on what is certain 

to be achievable, but also opportunity to use alternate routings.
• Upgrading of thermal insulation may be limited in certain areas, due to the 

listed nature of Block A and the façade of Block C.
• Sufficient plant space, riser provision and horizontal distribution can be 

accommodated within building.
• As all systems are proposed to be new, there are no limitations on existing 

equipment.

6.12.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED
• Complete architectural layouts, sectional, and elevational proposals.
• Structural proposals.
• Building thermal properties.
• Operator brand standards and specifications.

6.12.4 SUMMARY 

ELECTRICAL

The previous electrical consumption of the George Hotel will not align with the 
electrical consumption required following the refurbishment. Therefore, the current 
power supply and associated infrastructure will no longer be suitable. An upgrade of 
the incoming electrical infrastructure will be required in order to allow the scheme 
to progress as intended and move away from the use of fossil fuels and electrify 
the hotel.

The new intended supply will enter a dedicated electrical switch room in the 
basement of Block A, in turn feeding a whole new electrical distribution network 
and installation throughout the building.

In a similar location, there is also designed space for a comms room. The actual 
requirements of the systems in the building are as yet unknown, and will be 
confirmed in following design stages. At this point, capacities are designed on rule-
of-thumbs, and space for equipment has been allowed for.

The electrical systems will be designed on low-energy principles, incorporating 
items such as LED lighting and automatic controls, as well as a Building Energy 
Management System (BEMS) in order to efficiently control plant and equipment, and 
reduce overall energy consumption, and therefore carbon emissions.

Electrical requirements on top of those required for the new plant and equipment are 
based upon rule-of-thumb guidance until the operator’s specifications are available.

GAS

As the scheme is intended to move away from fossil fuels, it is not intended that 
the gas supply will be utilised or renewed. However, it may be required for some 
of the kitchen equipment, should this be specified by the operator’s kitchen fit out 
requirements.

Should gas not be required for the kitchen, the existing gas connection will be 
disconnected, and the entirety of the building will utilise electricity as the only 
energy source.

HEATING AND COOLING

The heating and cooling strategy is to condition all bedroom areas utilising fan 
coil units (FCU). These units will have refrigerant pipework from Air Source Heat 
Pump(s) (ASHP) located on the roof deck above Block B. This will allow simultaneous 
heating and cooling of different zones, allowing local control, based on occupant 

requirements. In areas with central ventilation (see section 1.4.4), the ventilation 
system will be connected directly to the FCU, bringing fresh air into the back of the 
unit where it is conditioned to suit the required environmental conditions, before 
being pushed into the room.

In areas with local mechanical ventilation heat recovery (MVHR) (see section 1.4.4), 
the MVHR unit and FCU will be a single combined unit, saving both energy and 
space.

Whilst all areas will have localised environmental control, the systems will be fed 
back to a central controller and BEMS in order to allow a centralised override and 
set points of zones to be modified for the entire system, or individual areas as 
required.

VENTILATION

Multiple ventilation systems are proposed to operate within the building, producing 
a mixed-mode strategy.

All areas within the building, other than the central atrium, are proposed to be 
mechanically ventilated. 

The atrium is proposed to be naturally ventilated via the use of louvres at the bottom 
of the light well to allow low level air entry, and louvres at the top, allowing an air 
path through the area.

At this early stage, it seems unlikely that smoke clearance for this area can be 
met utilising a natural solution, so a fan for this specific purpose needs to be 
incorporated at high level. This item will be resolved through further dialogue with 
the fire consultant, across the coming stages of design.
All mechanical ventilation systems employed in the building will employ heat 
recovery technology, in order to reduce the heating and cooling demand on areas, 
and therefore reduce energy requirements. Having a mechanically ventilated 
building also ensures that all areas are adequately ventilated at all times, and allows 
for windows to be non-openable, should that be required due to factors such as air 
quality or noise.

Due the inability to penetrate the façade, the entirety of the basement and Block A, 
along with the ground, first, and second floors of Block C are going to be connected 
to central supply and extract systems. Ductwork will rise through the building in 
different riser locations, which are still being resolved at this stage. All ductwork 
will rise to roof mounted air handling units. Within the bedrooms, ductwork will be 
connected directly to the fan coil units, allowing tempering of the air, and control of 
the room conditions within each area.P

age 206



4140

Within Block B, and the third and fourth floors of Block C, a slightly different 
solution is proposed. As the façade is not an issue on these elevations, rather than 
a centralised system, local mechanical ventilation heat recovery (MVHR) units will 
be located within the bulkheads. These units will be ducted directly through the 
external façade. Unlike the central extract system, this will not be connected to the 
fan coil unit in bedrooms, but rather will be a single unit incorporating the MVHR 
and the fan coil, saving both energy and space within the void.

WATER

In the basement plant room, the mains cold water (MCW) will enter, and connect to 
a 12,000 litre break tank. This stored water will then be fed through a booster set, 
providing boosted cold water (BCW) to all outlets within the building, as well as to 
feed calorifiers which will be located on the roof deck, next to the ASHP.

An ASHP system will provide the necessary generation to boost the temperature 
of the BCW system to provide hot water suitable for applications throughout the 
building, such as washing, and kitchen requirements.

Hot water will be stored in calorifiers on the roof deck, which will then be distributed 
throughout the entire building via a hot water pump set.

BUILDING ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (BEMS)

A centralised BEMS will monitor and control the individual MEP systems, in order to 
maximise operational performance of the systems and provide feedback to the hotel 
facilities management team.

6.13 INTERIM VERTICAL TRANSPORTATION 

6.13.1 KEY PRINCIPLES 
• Analysing the vertical transportation in the George hotel and the proposed three 

lifts, and the feasibility of utilising the current lift well for a new passenger 
lift.  Ramboll has reviewed the Vertical Transport design requirements and 
evaluated the lift arrangements shown in the architectural drawings. 

• The information available for Stage 2 are from the Bowman Riley architects 
which is summarised below:
• BOW – A1-00-DR-0013 P1 Stage 2
• BOW – A1-00-DR-0014 P1 Stage 2
• BOW – A1-00-DR-0015 P1 Stage 2
• BOW – A1-00-DR-0016 P1 Stage 2
• BOW – A1-00-DR-0017 P1 Stage 2
• BOW – A1-00-DR-0018 P1 Stage 2

• The analysis has allowed us to review the lift cores and the proposed 
arrangement of the new lifts, Ramboll attended site on the 28th of July 2022, 
to survey PL1 which is in an existing lift well. 

• In the Stage 2 report the common standards will be  considered for lifts in the 
George Hotel. 

• The building has three proposed lift wells in the hotel, as shown in the GA 
opposite, PL1, PL2 and GL3.

VT image 1 planP
age 207



42

GENERAL CONSIDERATION FOR HOTELS

Hotel lifts are critical for the circulation of guests and hotel staff. The current 
recommendations are for at least one passenger lift per 100 guests in a medium 
quality hotel, and one dedicated goods lift when there are two passenger lifts. 

The internal circulation in a building should have primary and secondary circulation 
routes. People should be able to see a clear route to take with good signage.  

Consideration should be taken to understand the levels of occupancy to allow free 
movement of people and goods. To prevent bottlenecks from occurring consideration 
needs to be given to the use of major open spaces, such as meeting rooms, eateries, 
and conference rooms for example.

• CIBSE Guide D provide design criteria for hotel buildings. A summary of the 
key criteria used is provided below:

TYPICAL OCCUPANCY

Hotels usually have their own brand standards for estimating guests, once the brand 
is known this should be checked against their typical occupancy and the design 
criteria.

TYPICAL DESIGN CRITERIA

HOTEL TYPE GUEST PER ROOM

Business (Professional) 1.0

Transit (Short Term, Airport) 1.5

Holiday (Many Days) 2.0

BUILDING TYPE PASSENGER ARRIVAL 
RATE %

RECOMMENDED 
INTERVAL

Hotel Uppeak 12 <60

• Traffic templates found within CIBSE Guide D. The passenger demand rises and 
falls during the defined peak periods and the results for the worst 5 minutes of 
the simulation should meet the CIBSE Guide D criteria.

In addition, CIBSE Guide D makes the following recommendations: 
• Allowance 0.4m2 per person per (75kg) person to allow or baggage
• Lifts fill to no more than 80% by area

The traffic calculations will be performed undertaken using Elevate Lift Traffic 
Analysis software following CIBSE Guide D design criteria, utilising various 
scenarios with a baseline of the standard recommendations. 

6.13.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS

In the George Hotel is an existing lift and the design is to provide a further two new 
lifts in new lift wells to serve the guests and staff. The buildings current passenger 
lift which has been abandoned for many years which currently serves floor levels B, 
G, 1, 2, 3, 4.

This stage 2 report assumes that it is feasible to utilise the current lift well for a 
new passenger lift.

CIBSE hotel morning peak traffic template

Inside lift car  Lift car top

GENERAL

The lift was manufactured and installed by Otis in approximately the 1960’s and is 
therefore over 60 years old.

The lift is installed within a brick lift well structure and all entrances are to front 
the of the lift. The lift has a ‘machine above’ configuration with the machinery and 
control equipment located within a dedicated machine room above the lift well, 
which at the time of survey was not able to be surveyed due to concerns with safety 
on the roof.

The lift is currently totally redundant, with no power to the building and lift is in a 
bad state of repair and totally unusable.

LIFT WELL DATA

The lift well is in a bad state of repair, and a full structural survey is recommended 
to check the integrity of being used to install a new passenger lift. The construction 
would seem to be engineering brick with patches of plaster. From the survey, we 
noted two steel beams at the rear of the lift well which if removed could increase 
the depth of the well by approx. 250mm.

In the survey, the dimensions on the basement and fourth floor were checked for 
how plumb the lift well is by measuring the lift guides.  From the survey, the shaft 
was approx. 60mm out on the width and form the centre guides, there is a 260mm 
difference in the verticality.

P
age 208



4342

Top of lift well

LIFT PL1

Usage Passenger
Lift Type Electric traction Machine Above
Capacity (lbs/per) N/A
Number of floors 10
Open front/rear (Y/N) N
Floors served (front) B, G, 1, 2, 3, 4
Floors served (rear) LB (Loading Bay)
Approximate travel (m) TBA
Door width (mm) 900 approx.
Door height (mm) 2100 approx.
Door Configuration Side Opening 
Car width (mm) Unable to survey
Car depth (mm) Unable to survey
Car height (mm) Unable to survey
Well width (mm) 1700
Well depth (mm) 2400
Pit depth (mm) 1080 (Pit Full of Water)
Headroom (mm) 3725 approx.

The lift pit was full of water which needs to be drained to survey the exact depth, 
using a dip stick we ascertained it was roughly 1080mm.

VT Image 1 Plan

Lift Pit

Section through existing lift shaft

It was noted during our survey that the lift doors are mounted on a series of brackets 
and are hanging in the lift well, by approximately 340mm.

P
age 209



44

6.13.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED

• Latest CAD Drawings/Revit Model (if available)
• Brand Standards

6.13.4 SUMMARY 

PL1 SUMMARY

From the survey undertook only one option would be available which would be to 
replace remove and replace the lift.

REPLACEMENT
a. Decommission the lift and remove all redundant materials.
b. Drain the pit, carry out a full structural survey and repair the lift well.
c. Replace the existing installation with a machine-room-less (MRL) type lift 

installation.

It is possible that a new lift could be installed with the headroom height taken to 
the underside of the existing ceiling without the need to interfere with the existing 
building envelope. 

The approximate internal dimensions of the replacement lift would be approximately 
1100 mm wide x 2000 mm deep which would provide approximately a 12 person lift 
car, which would be fully complaint with Building Regulations Part M.

Once the current lift is removed a further lift well survey can be carried out, but 
from initial inspection the lift well is capable to have a new MRL installed which 
would bring the following benefits: 

• All existing obsolete equipment is removed and replaced
• The lift car size/capacity will be maximised within the space available
• Fully automatic power operated doors will be provided
• The building envelope should be relatively unchanged
• The new lift will be fully compliant with modern standards

NEXT STEPS
• PL2 to be a scenic lift (Glass)
• Movement of goods, correct size of lift
• Plant Replacement, including plant level access
• Considerations of lift car finishes
• Use of the lift for evacuation purposes
• Use of roof as an occupied space
• Lift Lobby sizing, 2100mm depth in front of lift minimum

6.14 ACOUSTICS

Report to follow. 

LIFT/KG USE SPEED 
M/S

CAR 
WIDTH

CAR 
DEPTH

CAR 
HEIGHT

DOOR 
TYPE

DOOR SIZE WELL 
WIDTH

WALL 
DEPTH

HEADROOM PIT 
DEPTH

12p/900 Pass PL1 1.0 1100 2000 2300 Side 900 x 2100 1700 2400 3725

13p/1000 Pass PL2 1.0 1600 1400 2300 Centre 900 x 2000 2200 2000 4000

13p/1000 Goods/Pass GL3 1.0 1100 2100 2300 Side 900 x 2000 1700 2500 4000

P
age 210



4544

7.0 COST

7.1 KEY PRINCIPALS 

COST PLAN AND PROCUREMENT DOCUMENT PRODUCTION TIMESCALES
• In order to provide an accurate and thorough cost plan or pricing document, 

Turner & Townsend must apply resources to the relevant stage. 
• A detailed breakdown of the information expected at this stage from each 

discipline including Architect, Structural and M&E consultants etc can be 
found under the detailed cost plan submitted by Turner and Townsend for this 
Stage 2 element of the scheme.

RIBA STAGE 2 – FORMAL COST PLAN ONE
• Turner & Townsend will require a minimum of three working weeks from receipt 

of all information to produce formal cost plan one, with a further three working 
weeks required for review with the design team and value improvement if 
required.

• Formal cost plan one actualises the baseline by element to give a realistic and 
challenging target and constraint for value improvement and cost control.

The main objectives of Stage 2 can be summarised as follows:
• To develop the brief within the constraints of the business case.
• To develop the elemental cost plan as a baseline to measure cost performance 

against.
• To value improve the project where required to ensure the design meets the 

constraints of the cost plan.
• To further develop the asset appearance, layout, choice of materials and choice 

of building services technologies.
• To gain client approval of the outline level briefs and designs relative to the 

overall cost envelop.

7.2 LIMITATIONS/ASSUMPTIONS

• A detailed list of inclusions, exclusions and assumptions can be found in the 
Turner and Townsend cost plan submission.

• Due to the scheme design still being developed and the list of the below 
‘Information Required’ still under development the current cost plan will be 
made up with a number of assumptions.

• Block A (the original building) will be maintained and refurbished whilst blocks 
B and C will be completely demolished with one elevation on John Williams St 
having facade retention.

• All cost data provided will be taken from similar schemes based on a 3-4 star 
hotel standard new build for blocks B&C.

• Block A is Grade 2 listed, however it is currently allowed that the internal 
refurbishment will not be listed status and can be renovated using modern 
construction methods and materials.

• Contiguous piles will be allowed for two elevations of the new build element 
of the works.

• The new build elements will be constructed using steel from and concrete 
floors.

• A nominal value has been allowed for Asbestos removal and ground conditions 
due to the surveys not being readily available at the current time. 

• Assumptions have been allowed for temporary service diversions inclusions.
• Provisional sums have been allowed for external works due to design under 

development.
• The hotel is currently designed for 91 rooms.

7.3 INFORMATION REQUIRED

Coordinated Building Information Models in line with the requirements of the BIM 
Execution Plan and agreed Model Production Delivery Table.

Concept design drawings (model extracted where BIM is utilised) to a suitable 
scale, comprising:

ARCHITECT
•  general arrangement plans (for all floors, including basement levels, and roofs)
• general elevations (with materials clearly annotated)
• general sections
• external landscaping – general arrangement plan(s)
• plans of key building functions
• detailed elevations showing construction of external walls, roofs, ground floor 

construction and upper floor construction
• sketches showing key details/interfaces (e.g. interface between curtain 

walling system and structure, balconies and the like)
• concept design for rooms and common areas; and site constraints plan

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

Reports based on desktop studies, including:
• environmental contamination (Phase 1 audit – i.e. to establish the nature of 

any subsurface contaminated soil and/or groundwater)
• geotechnical properties
• bombs

P
age 211



46

EMPLOYER
• procurement strategy, including phasing of construction works, temporary 

access requirements and the like
• contract strategy
• phasing, including requirements relating to decanting, temporary access and 

the like
• facilitating works, including demolition, preparatory site works, and early 

infrastructure works (e.g. mains services connections and roadworks)
• treatment of project/design team fees
• insurances
• approach to dealing with other development/project costs (e.g. Section 106 

contributions, party wall works and decanting costs)
• planning contribution requirements (e.g. and Section 106 and 278 

requirements) required to be incorporated in the building design and/or 
building works contract(s)

• treatment of employer’s risks
• treatment of inflation
• treatment of Value Added Tax (VAT)
• other considerations (e.g. approach to dealing with capital allowances, land 

remediation allowances and grants)

MEP SERVICES ENGINEER
• general arrangement for each main system
• schematic diagrams for each major system
• plant room layouts, including roof plant layout
• single line diagrams showing primary service routes
• typical layouts of landlord’s areas, service areas and cores
• mechanical services
• electrical services
• transportation systems (e.g. lifts, hoists and escalators)
• protective installations
• communication, security and control systems
• special installations
•  plant/equipment schedule (for primary plant/equipment)P

age 212



4746

8.0 RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT

8.1 PROJECT RISK REGISTER 

The project risk register is a live document to track key project risks and highlights 
the severity and likelihood of the risk to provide a rating. Through periodic review the 
project leader will assign specific actions required to mitigate the risks identified. 

The following is a summary at the time of writing:

PROJECT RISK REGISTER
09.08.22

Issue revision - 01 Date
09/08/22

Severity L'hood
Risk

Rating

1 25.07.22
Block C. Historic England objecting to demolition of majority of block 
C including floors and all internal walls whilst retaining JWS facade

Project viability open 5 3 15
Full justification of project viability required by design team. 
BR(Heritage) to lead from heritage team. QRE to lead re. operator 
requirements.

Heritage / BR

2 25.07.23
Block B - objection by HE to demolition of whole block resulting in 
retention of some elements ie Chimney

Project viability open 5 2 10
If chimney required to be retained this would result in loss of 
bedrooms therefore early justification required with HE

Heritage / BR

3 25.07.22
Inability to service from Network Rail Car Park re. 3rd party land 
ownership and right of access

Design open 4 2 8 Alternative access required off John Williams Street QRE

4 25.07.22
Inability to create fire escape onto Network Rail Car Park. re. 3rd 
party land ownership and right of access (noted existing fire escape 
across car park)

Design open 3 2 6 Alternative access required off John Williams Street QRE / BR

5 08.08.22
Unknown footings / extent of existing underpinning to retaining walls 
(NR Carpark and JWS).

Programme / 
cost

open 3 4 12

Proposal is for new build structure adjacent to retaining walls with 
reduction in basement level of approx 1m. This may undermine/clash 
with the existing footings requiring redesign of basement floor. 
Existing Stage 2 approach is to allow for underpinning but results of 
intrusive surveys required to assess proposed basement proposals 
fully

RUK

6 08.08.22

Unknown condition of existing retaining walls - NR retaining wall 
hidden from view by existing building, may have various phases of 
construction and may vary in condition. Existing building for 
demolition may interface / prop the retaining wall

Programme /  
cost

open 4 4 16

Existing retaining walls may require significant temporary works 
during construction to enable the safe demolition of the adjacent 
existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can then be 
undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

7 08.08.22

Unknown condition of existing retaining walls - JWS retaining wall 
hidden from view by finishes, may have various phases of 
construction and may vary in condition. Existing building for 
demolition may interface / prop the retaining wall

Programme / 
cost

open 4 3 12

Existing retaining walls may require significant temporary works 
during construction to enable the safe demolition of the adjacent 
existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can then be 
undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

8 08.08.22
Unknown existing footings to Block A. Proposal is for new build 
structure adjacent with reduction in basement level of approx 1m

Programme / 
cost

open 3 3 9

Proposal is for new build structure adjacent to Block A external wall, 
with reduction in basement level of approx 1m. This may 
undermine/clash with the existing footings requiring redesign of 
basement floor. Existing Stage 2 approach is to allow for 
underpinning but results of intrusive surveys required to assess 
proposed basement proposals fully

RUK

9 08.08.22 Block A not as structurally sound as anticipated for like for like use
Programme / 

cost
open 3 4 12

Floor structures have performed as hotel floors previously, however 
condition is unknown. Phase 1 and 2 intrusive surveys of floor 
structure required to confirm like for like approach is acceptable.

RUK / Heritage / 
BR

10 08.08.22
Unknown ground conditions in area of George Hotel (including 
contamination, UXO's, coal mining)

Programme open 4 3 12

Current proposals are based on historic information from a BH. It is 
likely that the ground strata build up will be different around the 
George Hotel and the risk of contamination is unknown. SI to be 
undertaken to inform design and allowance for UXO survey and Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment needs to be made (likely required for 
planning) Existing footprint of building not unchanged in proposed 
scheme however piling solution may be impacted if ground report 
flags up any issues.

RUK

11 08.08.22 Condition / stability of façade to be retained on JWS
Programme / 

cost
open 3 4 12

Existing façade to be retained may require significant temporary 
works during construction to enable the safe demolition of the 
adjacent existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can 
then be undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

12 08.08.22

Available area in the basement for occupancy may not be enough 
since internal retaining wall/contiguous piled wall with underpinning 
may be required in front of existing retaining walls to enable 
basement slab to be lowered. Approx 1.2m zone required to internal 
basement elevations to JWS and NR carpark wall

Project viability open 4 4 16

Intrusive surveys will provide information on existing footings (depths 
/ extents) and ground conditions to enable assessment of potential 
piled wall zone required. Current scheme takes into account 
additional space required for contiguous piled solution. End users 
input required into reduction in floor space.

QRE/RUK / BR

13 08.08.22
Incompleteness of measured building survey information as some 
areas have yet to be surveyed due to scaffolding and inaccessible 
rooms?

Project viability open 3 3 9
Design changes may be required if survey information is not 
accurate. Survey company to return to site once areas are accessible

BR

14 08.08.22
Current below ground drainage strategy has been defined to use 
current below ground drainage infrastructure where possible. This 
has been derived with no information on existing condition

Programme / 
Cost

open 3 4 12
CCTV survey to be complete and design reviewed. This is also to be 
discussed and reviewed with Yorkshire Water.

RUK

15 08.08.22
Current attenuation strategy is assuming that we can incorporate 
water storage volumes below ground

Programme / 
Cost

open 3 4 12
Discuss attenuation requirements with Kirklees Council and review 
viability of attenuation strategy

RUK

16 08.08.22
Unclear if alignment of risers through building is possible. Issues with 
distribution of services

Project viability open 3 3 9
Discussion within design team if aligning risers throughout the 
building is possible, alternatives if not

ALL

17 08.08.22
Head height in basement due to crossing services may render some 
areas unusable by public

open 2 4 8
Discussion within design team of strategies to enable routing of 
services away from public areas

ALL

18 08.08.22
Lack of plant space requires plant to be on roof. Ensure building can 
take weight structurally.

Project viability open 4 2 8
Most plant is placed on new build section. Ensure detail of weight is 
passed to structural team

RUK

19 08.08.22
Existing incoming electrical supply insufficient. New supply required. 
Unknown available power from DNO

cost open 3 3 9 Engage DNO to request new supply RUK

20 25.07.23 Requirement from HE to retain wall / floor / ceiling finishes in Block A Cost open 2 2 4 Justification statement for removal required Heritage

21 25.07.24
Requirement from HE to deny removal of internal walls within Block 
A

Cost & 
operation

open 3 2 6 Justification statement for removal required Heritage

22 25.07.25 Requirement from HE to retain plant room at FF stair landing
Cost & 

operation
open 3 2 6 Would result in loss of a bedroom. Early liaison with HE required Heritage

23 25.07.26
Inability to create fire lobbies on Block A staircase due to HE 
requirement to retain features/make no amends

Operation open 3 3 9 Early liaison with HE required Heritage

Risk Category Design Stage Action to Mitigate Risk
Potential (1-5)

Ref Description of Risk
Date 

Identified
Status Action By

THE GEORGE HOTEL
Project Risk Register

Job no : 8662

Description Rating Proposed Mitigation Action

8662 - George Hotel project risk register 220819.xlsx 1of2 19/08/2022

P
age 213



48

PROJECT RISK REGISTER
09.08.22

Issue revision - 01 Date
09/08/22

Severity L'hood
Risk

Rating

1 25.07.22
Block C. Historic England objecting to demolition of majority of block 
C including floors and all internal walls whilst retaining JWS facade

Project viability open 5 3 15
Full justification of project viability required by design team. 
BR(Heritage) to lead from heritage team. QRE to lead re. operator 
requirements.

Heritage / BR

2 25.07.23
Block B - objection by HE to demolition of whole block resulting in 
retention of some elements ie Chimney

Project viability open 5 2 10
If chimney required to be retained this would result in loss of 
bedrooms therefore early justification required with HE

Heritage / BR

3 25.07.22
Inability to service from Network Rail Car Park re. 3rd party land 
ownership and right of access

Design open 4 2 8 Alternative access required off John Williams Street QRE

4 25.07.22
Inability to create fire escape onto Network Rail Car Park. re. 3rd 
party land ownership and right of access (noted existing fire escape 
across car park)

Design open 3 2 6 Alternative access required off John Williams Street QRE / BR

5 08.08.22
Unknown footings / extent of existing underpinning to retaining walls 
(NR Carpark and JWS).

Programme / 
cost

open 3 4 12

Proposal is for new build structure adjacent to retaining walls with 
reduction in basement level of approx 1m. This may undermine/clash 
with the existing footings requiring redesign of basement floor. 
Existing Stage 2 approach is to allow for underpinning but results of 
intrusive surveys required to assess proposed basement proposals 
fully

RUK

6 08.08.22

Unknown condition of existing retaining walls - NR retaining wall 
hidden from view by existing building, may have various phases of 
construction and may vary in condition. Existing building for 
demolition may interface / prop the retaining wall

Programme /  
cost

open 4 4 16

Existing retaining walls may require significant temporary works 
during construction to enable the safe demolition of the adjacent 
existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can then be 
undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

7 08.08.22

Unknown condition of existing retaining walls - JWS retaining wall 
hidden from view by finishes, may have various phases of 
construction and may vary in condition. Existing building for 
demolition may interface / prop the retaining wall

Programme / 
cost

open 4 3 12

Existing retaining walls may require significant temporary works 
during construction to enable the safe demolition of the adjacent 
existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can then be 
undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

8 08.08.22
Unknown existing footings to Block A. Proposal is for new build 
structure adjacent with reduction in basement level of approx 1m

Programme / 
cost

open 3 3 9

Proposal is for new build structure adjacent to Block A external wall, 
with reduction in basement level of approx 1m. This may 
undermine/clash with the existing footings requiring redesign of 
basement floor. Existing Stage 2 approach is to allow for 
underpinning but results of intrusive surveys required to assess 
proposed basement proposals fully

RUK

9 08.08.22 Block A not as structurally sound as anticipated for like for like use
Programme / 

cost
open 3 4 12

Floor structures have performed as hotel floors previously, however 
condition is unknown. Phase 1 and 2 intrusive surveys of floor 
structure required to confirm like for like approach is acceptable.

RUK / Heritage / 
BR

10 08.08.22
Unknown ground conditions in area of George Hotel (including 
contamination, UXO's, coal mining)

Programme open 4 3 12

Current proposals are based on historic information from a BH. It is 
likely that the ground strata build up will be different around the 
George Hotel and the risk of contamination is unknown. SI to be 
undertaken to inform design and allowance for UXO survey and Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment needs to be made (likely required for 
planning) Existing footprint of building not unchanged in proposed 
scheme however piling solution may be impacted if ground report 
flags up any issues.

RUK

11 08.08.22 Condition / stability of façade to be retained on JWS
Programme / 

cost
open 3 4 12

Existing façade to be retained may require significant temporary 
works during construction to enable the safe demolition of the 
adjacent existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can 
then be undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

12 08.08.22

Available area in the basement for occupancy may not be enough 
since internal retaining wall/contiguous piled wall with underpinning 
may be required in front of existing retaining walls to enable 
basement slab to be lowered. Approx 1.2m zone required to internal 
basement elevations to JWS and NR carpark wall

Project viability open 4 4 16

Intrusive surveys will provide information on existing footings (depths 
/ extents) and ground conditions to enable assessment of potential 
piled wall zone required. Current scheme takes into account 
additional space required for contiguous piled solution. End users 
input required into reduction in floor space.

QRE/RUK / BR

13 08.08.22
Incompleteness of measured building survey information as some 
areas have yet to be surveyed due to scaffolding and inaccessible 
rooms?

Project viability open 3 3 9
Design changes may be required if survey information is not 
accurate. Survey company to return to site once areas are accessible

BR

14 08.08.22
Current below ground drainage strategy has been defined to use 
current below ground drainage infrastructure where possible. This 
has been derived with no information on existing condition

Programme / 
Cost

open 3 4 12
CCTV survey to be complete and design reviewed. This is also to be 
discussed and reviewed with Yorkshire Water.

RUK

15 08.08.22
Current attenuation strategy is assuming that we can incorporate 
water storage volumes below ground

Programme / 
Cost

open 3 4 12
Discuss attenuation requirements with Kirklees Council and review 
viability of attenuation strategy

RUK

16 08.08.22
Unclear if alignment of risers through building is possible. Issues with 
distribution of services

Project viability open 3 3 9
Discussion within design team if aligning risers throughout the 
building is possible, alternatives if not

ALL

17 08.08.22
Head height in basement due to crossing services may render some 
areas unusable by public

open 2 4 8
Discussion within design team of strategies to enable routing of 
services away from public areas

ALL

18 08.08.22
Lack of plant space requires plant to be on roof. Ensure building can 
take weight structurally.

Project viability open 4 2 8
Most plant is placed on new build section. Ensure detail of weight is 
passed to structural team

RUK

19 08.08.22
Existing incoming electrical supply insufficient. New supply required. 
Unknown available power from DNO

cost open 3 3 9 Engage DNO to request new supply RUK

20 25.07.23 Requirement from HE to retain wall / floor / ceiling finishes in Block A Cost open 2 2 4 Justification statement for removal required Heritage

21 25.07.24
Requirement from HE to deny removal of internal walls within Block 
A

Cost & 
operation

open 3 2 6 Justification statement for removal required Heritage

22 25.07.25 Requirement from HE to retain plant room at FF stair landing
Cost & 

operation
open 3 2 6 Would result in loss of a bedroom. Early liaison with HE required Heritage

23 25.07.26
Inability to create fire lobbies on Block A staircase due to HE 
requirement to retain features/make no amends

Operation open 3 3 9 Early liaison with HE required Heritage

Risk Category Design Stage Action to Mitigate Risk
Potential (1-5)

Ref Description of Risk
Date 

Identified
Status Action By

THE GEORGE HOTEL
Project Risk Register

Job no : 8662

Description Rating Proposed Mitigation Action

8662 - George Hotel project risk register 220819.xlsx 1of2 19/08/2022

PROJECT RISK REGISTER
09.08.22

Issue revision - 01 Date
09/08/22

Severity L'hood
Risk

Rating

1 25.07.22
Block C. Historic England objecting to demolition of majority of block 
C including floors and all internal walls whilst retaining JWS facade

Project viability open 5 3 15
Full justification of project viability required by design team. 
BR(Heritage) to lead from heritage team. QRE to lead re. operator 
requirements.

Heritage / BR

2 25.07.23
Block B - objection by HE to demolition of whole block resulting in 
retention of some elements ie Chimney

Project viability open 5 2 10
If chimney required to be retained this would result in loss of 
bedrooms therefore early justification required with HE

Heritage / BR

3 25.07.22
Inability to service from Network Rail Car Park re. 3rd party land 
ownership and right of access

Design open 4 2 8 Alternative access required off John Williams Street QRE

4 25.07.22
Inability to create fire escape onto Network Rail Car Park. re. 3rd 
party land ownership and right of access (noted existing fire escape 
across car park)

Design open 3 2 6 Alternative access required off John Williams Street QRE / BR

5 08.08.22
Unknown footings / extent of existing underpinning to retaining walls 
(NR Carpark and JWS).

Programme / 
cost

open 3 4 12

Proposal is for new build structure adjacent to retaining walls with 
reduction in basement level of approx 1m. This may undermine/clash 
with the existing footings requiring redesign of basement floor. 
Existing Stage 2 approach is to allow for underpinning but results of 
intrusive surveys required to assess proposed basement proposals 
fully

RUK

6 08.08.22

Unknown condition of existing retaining walls - NR retaining wall 
hidden from view by existing building, may have various phases of 
construction and may vary in condition. Existing building for 
demolition may interface / prop the retaining wall

Programme /  
cost

open 4 4 16

Existing retaining walls may require significant temporary works 
during construction to enable the safe demolition of the adjacent 
existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can then be 
undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

7 08.08.22

Unknown condition of existing retaining walls - JWS retaining wall 
hidden from view by finishes, may have various phases of 
construction and may vary in condition. Existing building for 
demolition may interface / prop the retaining wall

Programme / 
cost

open 4 3 12

Existing retaining walls may require significant temporary works 
during construction to enable the safe demolition of the adjacent 
existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can then be 
undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

8 08.08.22
Unknown existing footings to Block A. Proposal is for new build 
structure adjacent with reduction in basement level of approx 1m

Programme / 
cost

open 3 3 9

Proposal is for new build structure adjacent to Block A external wall, 
with reduction in basement level of approx 1m. This may 
undermine/clash with the existing footings requiring redesign of 
basement floor. Existing Stage 2 approach is to allow for 
underpinning but results of intrusive surveys required to assess 
proposed basement proposals fully

RUK

9 08.08.22 Block A not as structurally sound as anticipated for like for like use
Programme / 

cost
open 3 4 12

Floor structures have performed as hotel floors previously, however 
condition is unknown. Phase 1 and 2 intrusive surveys of floor 
structure required to confirm like for like approach is acceptable.

RUK / Heritage / 
BR

10 08.08.22
Unknown ground conditions in area of George Hotel (including 
contamination, UXO's, coal mining)

Programme open 4 3 12

Current proposals are based on historic information from a BH. It is 
likely that the ground strata build up will be different around the 
George Hotel and the risk of contamination is unknown. SI to be 
undertaken to inform design and allowance for UXO survey and Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment needs to be made (likely required for 
planning) Existing footprint of building not unchanged in proposed 
scheme however piling solution may be impacted if ground report 
flags up any issues.

RUK

11 08.08.22 Condition / stability of façade to be retained on JWS
Programme / 

cost
open 3 4 12

Existing façade to be retained may require significant temporary 
works during construction to enable the safe demolition of the 
adjacent existing structures. Full assessment of the condition can 
then be undertaken, but likely some repairs will be required

RUK

12 08.08.22

Available area in the basement for occupancy may not be enough 
since internal retaining wall/contiguous piled wall with underpinning 
may be required in front of existing retaining walls to enable 
basement slab to be lowered. Approx 1.2m zone required to internal 
basement elevations to JWS and NR carpark wall

Project viability open 4 4 16

Intrusive surveys will provide information on existing footings (depths 
/ extents) and ground conditions to enable assessment of potential 
piled wall zone required. Current scheme takes into account 
additional space required for contiguous piled solution. End users 
input required into reduction in floor space.

QRE/RUK / BR

13 08.08.22
Incompleteness of measured building survey information as some 
areas have yet to be surveyed due to scaffolding and inaccessible 
rooms?

Project viability open 3 3 9
Design changes may be required if survey information is not 
accurate. Survey company to return to site once areas are accessible

BR

14 08.08.22
Current below ground drainage strategy has been defined to use 
current below ground drainage infrastructure where possible. This 
has been derived with no information on existing condition

Programme / 
Cost

open 3 4 12
CCTV survey to be complete and design reviewed. This is also to be 
discussed and reviewed with Yorkshire Water.

RUK

15 08.08.22
Current attenuation strategy is assuming that we can incorporate 
water storage volumes below ground

Programme / 
Cost

open 3 4 12
Discuss attenuation requirements with Kirklees Council and review 
viability of attenuation strategy

RUK

16 08.08.22
Unclear if alignment of risers through building is possible. Issues with 
distribution of services

Project viability open 3 3 9
Discussion within design team if aligning risers throughout the 
building is possible, alternatives if not

ALL

17 08.08.22
Head height in basement due to crossing services may render some 
areas unusable by public

open 2 4 8
Discussion within design team of strategies to enable routing of 
services away from public areas

ALL

18 08.08.22
Lack of plant space requires plant to be on roof. Ensure building can 
take weight structurally.

Project viability open 4 2 8
Most plant is placed on new build section. Ensure detail of weight is 
passed to structural team

RUK

19 08.08.22
Existing incoming electrical supply insufficient. New supply required. 
Unknown available power from DNO

cost open 3 3 9 Engage DNO to request new supply RUK

20 25.07.23 Requirement from HE to retain wall / floor / ceiling finishes in Block A Cost open 2 2 4 Justification statement for removal required Heritage

21 25.07.24
Requirement from HE to deny removal of internal walls within Block 
A

Cost & 
operation

open 3 2 6 Justification statement for removal required Heritage

22 25.07.25 Requirement from HE to retain plant room at FF stair landing
Cost & 

operation
open 3 2 6 Would result in loss of a bedroom. Early liaison with HE required Heritage

23 25.07.26
Inability to create fire lobbies on Block A staircase due to HE 
requirement to retain features/make no amends

Operation open 3 3 9 Early liaison with HE required Heritage

Risk Category Design Stage Action to Mitigate Risk
Potential (1-5)

Ref Description of Risk
Date 

Identified
Status Action By

THE GEORGE HOTEL
Project Risk Register

Job no : 8662

Description Rating Proposed Mitigation Action

8662 - George Hotel project risk register 220819.xlsx 1of2 19/08/2022

PROJECT RISK REGISTER
09.08.22

Issue revision - 01 Date
09/08/22

Severity L'hood
Risk

Rating
Risk Category Design Stage Action to Mitigate Risk

Potential (1-5)
Ref Description of Risk

Date 
Identified

Status Action By

THE GEORGE HOTEL
Project Risk Register

Job no : 8662

Description Rating Proposed Mitigation Action

24 25.07.27 Insertion of new risers, horizontal service runs for SVP's etc in block A Operation open 4 3 12 Full survey of existing and early liaison with HE required Heritage

25 09.08.22
Block C. Historic England objecting to inclusion of additional window 
in retained JWS facade

Project viability open 5 3 15

Full justification of project viability required by design team. 
BR(Heritage) to lead from heritage team. QRE to lead re. operator 
requirements. Possible creation of larger room/suite reduction in 
room numbers to 90

Heritage

26 09.08.22
New Extension Block- apex bedroom L4 - service duct access required 
via room

Design open 2 4 8
Operator to comment. Possible wall realignment will compromise the 
room layout and size.

QRE/BR

27 09.08.22 Bedroom en-suite access 4.06, 3.08,2.08 through chimney wall
Design/ 

structural/ 
heritage

open 4 3 12 Chimney structural survey required. Heritage /BR

28 09.08.22
Brief is for min 90 rooms @ min 20m2. Current design has 91 rooms 
although 6 no. are less than the min size. Multiple factors that could 
result in the loss of rooms

Project viability open 4 3 12

Risks assessed to date as far as is possible with limited information 
and with due regard to required building servicing. Keep under 
review as further information is available. Re. 6 no. rooms below 
20m2 these are mostly in block A. To  be reviewed with operator

QRE

29 09.08.22
HE response to acoustic and fire separation, associated detail and 
impact on heritage elements within block A

Design/ 
heritage

open 3 4 12 Early liaison with HE required. Detail tbc at stage 3 Heritage

30 09.08.22
Fire strategy generally. Risk based fire engineered solution via BS 
9999. Requirement for fire brigade and other stakeholders @ Kirklees 
to accept strategy. Current strategy is based on not exceeding 18m.

Design/ 
heritage

open 5 3 15
Liaison with fire brigade and other stakeholders following agreement 
of strategy to be followed. 

BR / MM

31 09.08.22
Occupancy numbers to be assessed against existing MOE doors in 
block A. Potential for doors to be widened. HE reaction tbc

Design/ 
structural/ 

heritage
open 3 3 9

Determine occupancy numbers and review against existing. Agree 
approach with fire brigade and with regard to BS 9999

BR / MM

32 09.08.22
Atrium fire strategy. Multiple potential issues with venting space. 
Location for suitable ductwork etc

Design open 3 4 12
Ductwork to run through BOH areas @ high level. Detail design 
required. Possible back up solution via sprinklers. Stage 2 review to 
be completed however potential solution being investigated

RUK / MM / BR

33 09.08.22
Unknown use/operational requirements for the kitchens and all 
other BOH areas

Design open 3 3 9
Liaison with incoming operator required asap to inform designs. 
Extract etc based on typical hotel kitchen of this size

BR/RUK/QRE

34 09.08.22 Land registry plans do not align with red-line boundary
Design/ 

Construction
open 3 3 9

Further enquiries to be made around land ownership and rights for 
access/ maintenance.

QRE

35 09.08.22 Further discovery of asbestos or other contaminants
Temp works/ 
Construction

open 3 3 9
Surveys to be completed for outstanding areas and appropriate risk 
mitigation/ remedial works to be undertaken.

RUK / BR

36 09.08.22
Drain running along north side of St George's Sq would appear to be 
outside the red-line site boundary

Design/ 
Construction

open 3 3 9
Further enquiries to be made around land ownership and rights for 
access/ maintenance.

QRE / RUK

8662 - George Hotel project risk register 220819.xlsx 2of2 19/08/2022

P
age 214



P
age 215



T
his page is intentionally left blank



George Hotel
Queensberry25/05/2022 Andrew Davison

Drawn by: Andrew Davison Dwg No. 3 Revision No. Rev 2 Notes: RIBA Stages with Approvals

Project Ref. C:\Users\user\Documents\Asta Easyplan\Projects\George Hotel Rev2.pp Planned by Asta Easyplan

Line Name Duration Start Date Finish Date

2022 20232021 2024
1 8 15 22 29 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4

November December January February March April May June July August September October November December January February March April May June July August September October November December January February March April May June July August September October Nov
6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28 30 32 34 36 38 40 42 44 46 48 50 52 54 56 58 60 62 64 66 68 70 72 74 76 78 80 82 84 86 88 90 92 94 96 98 100 102 104 106 108 110 112 114 116 118 120 122 124 126 128 130 132 134 136 138 140 142 144 146 148 150 152 154 156 158 160 162

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

Stage 1

Review of Existing Strategy

Set Out The Project Brief and Target Market

Present Project Brief and Strategy To Stakeholders

Project Brief Set and Instruction to move to
procurement of operator and design disciplines 

Stage 1/2

Develop P&L models for review 

Prepare Operator Tender & discussions

Procure required design disciplines

Undertake required initial surveys

Commence Initial Concept Design

Initial Concept Design 

Obtain provisional HE and planning advice

Initial Cost Plan/Appraisail

Present cost plan and initial design and set overall
budget

Prepare design team tender

Proceed to operator tender 

Stage 2

Issue Operator Tender

Issue Design team tender

Design team tender period

Operator Tender Period

Round 1 Review 

Round 2 Review 

Intention to Appoint Operator 

Review Design Team Tenders

Appoint Design Team

Stage 2 Review and Input from new design team

Prepare stage 2 cost plan

Finalise stage 2 Cost Plan

Issue Stage 2 Final Report

Stage 3 A including Planning
preparation and Cabinet approval

Prepare cabinet report 

Issue cabinet report

Present Cabinet report 

Obtain approval to proceed

Commence Stage 3 design

Stage 3 Design stage 1

Prepare Planning Application Inc. pre application
consultation
Undertake Cost Checking and develop full cost
plan and overall budget

Finalise cost plan

Stage 3 B, Planning Period, Contractor
Procurement and HMA legals 

Submit for Planning 

Commence HMA Legals 

Planning Period 

HMA legal process

Complete HMA/Lease

Receive Planning Approval

Stage 3 Design stage 2 with operator 

Prepare Construction Tender

Issue Tender

Construction Tender Period

Construction Tender Review

Recommendation and Stakeholder Approval 

Contractor Appointment 

Stage 4, 5, 6

Contractor mobilisation & signing of contract

Commence Construction 

Construction Period

PC

Hotel Mobilisation and Opening

Hotel Mobilisation  

Hotel Open 

4w

2w

1w

1w

70d

4w

9w

7w

7w

9w

4w

4w

1w

5w

19w 1d

5w

5w

4w

4w

4w 1d

10w

8w

2w

42w

2w

6w

12w

10w

10w

2w

34w

17w

12w

8w

8w

8w

4w

2w

64w

4w

60w

7w

7w

01/11/2021

01/11/2021

15/11/2021

22/11/2021

29/11/2021

29/11/2021

29/11/2021

10/01/2022

29/11/2021

29/11/2021

29/11/2021

29/11/2021

10/12/2021

31/01/2022

28/02/2022

14/02/2022

21/03/2022

21/03/2022

21/03/2022

21/03/2022

21/03/2022

21/03/2022

27/04/2022

26/05/2022

24/06/2022

27/04/2022

27/05/2022

27/05/2022

27/05/2022

25/07/2022

08/08/2022

25/07/2022

25/07/2022

08/08/2022

08/08/2022

20/09/2022

20/09/2022

20/09/2022

20/09/2022

20/09/2022

29/11/2022

20/09/2022

13/12/2022

20/09/2022

13/12/2022

20/09/2022

13/12/2022

27/04/2023

13/12/2022

13/12/2022

21/02/2023

21/02/2023

20/04/2023

19/05/2023

05/06/2023

05/06/2023

05/06/2023

03/07/2023

03/07/2023

17/09/2024

17/09/2024

17/09/2024

05/11/2024

29/11/2021

12/11/2021

19/11/2021

26/11/2021

29/11/2021

21/03/2022

24/12/2021

11/03/2022

28/01/2022

28/01/2022

29/11/2021

11/02/2022

20/01/2022

25/02/2022

04/03/2022

18/03/2022

21/03/2022

08/08/2022

21/03/2022

21/03/2022

26/04/2022

26/04/2022

25/05/2022

23/06/2022

24/06/2022

26/05/2022

27/05/2022

05/08/2022

22/07/2022

05/08/2022

08/08/2022

05/06/2023

05/08/2022

08/08/2022

19/09/2022

20/09/2022

20/09/2022

12/12/2022

28/11/2022

28/11/2022

12/12/2022

05/06/2023

13/12/2022

20/09/2022

26/04/2023

12/12/2022

13/12/2022

27/04/2023

20/02/2023

20/02/2023

21/02/2023

19/04/2023

18/05/2023

02/06/2023

05/06/2023

17/09/2024

30/06/2023

03/07/2023

16/09/2024

17/09/2024

05/11/2024

04/11/2024

05/11/2024

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Name of meeting:              Cabinet  
Date:    11 October 2022 
Title of report:- Fieldhouse, 15, Wellington Road Dewsbury - Grant 

offer to Mood Developments Limited/Station 
Apartments Limited 

 
Purpose of report 
 
To agree grant support for the Fieldhouse project.    
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Yes  
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?) 
 

Yes - Published  1st September 2022 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning? 

David Shepherd 20th  September 2022 
 
 
Eamonn Croston  20th September 2022 
 
 
Julie Muscroft 21st September 2022 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Eric Firth Town Centres Portfolio Holder & 
Cllr Graham Turner Regeneration Portfolio 
Holder  

 
Electoral wards affected: Dewsbury East  
 
Ward councillors consulted: Cllr Firth  
 
Public report with private Appendix 6.    
 
(Have you considered GDPR?) Yes. 
 
Public with private appendix 6  in accordance with Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 namely it 
contains information relating to the financial and business affairs of third parties (including the 
Authority holding that information).  It is considered that the disclosure of the information would 
adversely prejudice those third parties commercial interests including the Authority and therefore the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption, which would protect the rights of an individual or the 
Authority, outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information and providing greater openness 
and transparency in relation to public expenditure in the Authority’s decision making. 
  

Page 219

Agenda Item 14:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 Fieldhouse is a 4 storey Grade 2 listed building and is part of a group of individual listed 

buildings that face Dewsbury ring road and towards Dewsbury Railway station. It 
occupies a prominent position and is within the Dewsbury Town Centre Conservation 
Area, the Dewsbury Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) and the HAZ priority Area. The 
building has been vacant for over 3 years. 
 

1.2 Fieldhouse is one of the key projects identified in the Dewsbury Blueprint and is 
included in the Town Investment Plan which was approved by the Government in June 
2021.  Additionally, it is one of the priority buildings identified in Project 7 (Repurposing 
Historic Buildings) in the HAZ Delivery Plan. There is a strong strategic case for 
supporting the proposal for converting this historic building into residential/commercial 
use.  

 
The Scheme 
 

1.3 Mood Developments Ltd purchased the building in 2018 and obtained detailed planning 
permission and listed building consent for the proposed project in December 2019. The 
scheme comprises the high quality conversion of the existing vacant grade 2 listed 
building into 23 apartments and commercial space totalling 2,607 sqm, of which 
1,835sq m is residential and the balance (772sqm) is commercial use. The residential 
units are generous in size, all above the national space standards and in many cases 
substantially above. Full details can be found in the planning documents 
(2019/62/92962/E). The commercial uses will occupy part of the ground floor and the 
basement, while the residential is part of the ground floor, the 3 upper floors plus an 
additional floor at the top of the building, within a new mansard roof. 
 

1.4 The project will potentially form the first phase of the much larger plans to introduce 
new high quality housing into the Daisy Hill/Bond street area. The aim is to create a 
new residential area that will improve this part of the town, making the most of its 
heritage assets and supporting the town centre economy. The new neighbourhood will 
be achieved by a combination of conversions of existing historic buildings and new 
build.  

 
1.5 Due to a combination of the abnormal costs of converting a listed building and relatively 

low property values compared to construction costs, the project is not commercially 
viable without grant support. This report seeks approval to provide grant aid to the 
project which will enable it to go ahead.  
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 

Property Details 
 

2.1 Fieldhouse is located on Wellington Road, Dewsbury opposite the Railway Station (see 
Appendix One). The building is a vacant 4 storey Grade 2 listed building facing 
Dewsbury ring road and railway station. Having previously been used for offices it has 
been vacant for over 3 years. It is in a prominent position and lies within the Dewsbury 
Town Centre Conservation Area, the HAZ and the HAZ priority Area. 

 
 
 

Page 220



 
 
Strategic Context 
 
Dewsbury Blueprint 

 
2.2 The Dewsbury Blueprint which was launched by the Council on 5th February 2020 and 

has a number of themes/objectives including:- 
 

 Business Town 

 Learning town 

 Leisure Town 

 Living Town 

 Shoppers Town 

 Heritage Town 

 Greener town 

 Creative Town 

 Connected Town 
 

2.3 The Fieldhouse  project will contribute to the themes around living, heritage and leisure. 
The Blueprint includes Fieldhouse as one of the key projects.  
 
Town Deal (Town Investment Plan) 
 

2.4 The Town Investment Plan was approved by Cabinet on 19th January 2021. Fieldhouse 
is one of the key projects within the Dewsbury Town Investment Plan and is part of the 
wider Daisy Hill Neighbourhood project. The Town Deal programme was approved in 
principle by Government in June 2021 and Government approved the Daisy Hill 
Neighbourhood project in March 2022.  The package included a specific allocation of 
£1.38M of Town Fund for the Fieldhouse project.  
 
Dewsbury Town Centre Strategic Development Framework 2018 
 

2.5 The Blueprint draws on the Dewsbury Town Centre Strategic Development Framework 
and the accompanying Delivery Programme which was approved by Cabinet on the 
22nd January 2019. Its three strategic aims are to increase activity, make the town 
more attractive and improve accessibility. The Fieldhouse project contributes strongly 
to two of these objectives.  
 
Heritage Action Zone 
 

2.6 The Dewsbury Town Centre Conservation Area (DTCAA) was awarded Heritage Action 
Zone (HAZ) status by Historic England in December 2017. The award of HAZ status 
was partly a reflection of the fact that Historic England regard the DTCCA as ‘being at 
risk’ as a result of the high number of historic buildings that are vacant and underused 
and therefore at risk of further deterioration. The aim of the HAZ is to help drive the 
Council’s ambitions for the regeneration of the town centre by halting and reversing the 
decline of heritage assets. Fieldhouse is one of a number of key heritage buildings in 
the town that are vacant and require action to get it back into active use. 
 
 
 
 

Page 221



Kirklees Economic Strategy 2019-2025 
 

2.7 One of the 5 priorities of the Kirklees Economic Strategy is ‘Revitalised Centres’ and 
one of the 12 action programmes relates to North Kirklees and Dewsbury; with one of 
the 5 big wins being revitalising Huddersfield and Dewsbury town centres.  The 
Fieldhouse project and the wider Daisy Hill Neighbourhood project within which it sits 
will contribute significantly to regenerating Dewsbury Town Centre.  
 
Council Plan  
 

2.8 The Council’s approach outlined in the Council Plan 2021/3 is focussed on three 
themes:-  

 

 People – we work with people, we don’t do things to them 

 Partners – we work with and alongside our partners 

 Place based working – we recognise the unique identities of our local places, 
their strengths and aspirations.  We know that one size doesn’t fit all.   

 
2.9 It should be noted that Mood Developments have previously invested in the town and 

officers have worked closely with them over the last 3 years to encourage them to 
invest further in the town. The Fieldhouse project supports the corporate approach for 
two of these themes.  
 
The Project 
 

2.10 The scheme comprises the high quality conversion of the existing vacant grade 2 listed 
building into 23 apartments and restaurant/bar. The latter will occupy the ground floor 
(part) and basement. The residential units are generous in size and will occupy part of 
the ground floor, the 3 upper floors plus an additional floor at the top of the building 
within a new mansard roof as follows:-  
 

Table 1: Proposed Apartments by type and floor 

      

Floor Ground First Second Third/Fourth 
Duplex 

Total 

1 bed 2 4 4  10 

2 bed  3 3 6 12 

3 bed    1 1 

All 2 7 7 7 23 

 
 

2.11 An artist impression of the completed scheme is included at Appendix 2. In design 
terms, this is considered an excellent scheme that would set a new benchmark for 
residential quality in Dewsbury Town Centre. It provides accommodation that should be 
attractive to those with higher disposable incomes and therefore help drive more 
spending power into the town centre. The works will restore and highlight the heritage 
of this prominent listed building. Appendix 3 has summary details of the Business Plan 
for the development.  
 
Planning 

 
2.12 Detailed planning and Listed Building Consents approvals was granted on the 11th  

December 2019. The permission has a 3 year life and without a start on site before this 

Page 222



date the permission will lapse. Appendix 4 contains a link to the full application 
documents (2019/62/92962/E).  
 
Project Management   
 

2.13 The developers have assembled a professional team, led by DLA Architects of Leeds 
and have established a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) to undertake the project. The 
SPV, ‘Station Apartments Limited’ is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mood 
Developments. Moods have appointed agents and a communications company to 
market the units under the title of ‘Station Apartments’. The intention is that once 
physical completion of the project has taken place then the individual apartments will 
be sold to purchasers and a management company established to manage the 
property. 
 

2.14 Due to the time constraint related to the expiry of the planning permission, the 
developer has gone out to tender for the project in advance of a Cabinet decision. This 
has been done at the developers own risk. An agreed tender figure was not available in 
time for the conclusion of this report and therefore the costs are based on pre tender 
estimates.  
   

3. Implications for the Council 
 

Working with People 
 
3.1   The Dewsbury Blueprint was subject to public consultation in February 2020, which 

highlighted the importance that local people placed on bringing empty buildings, 
particularly historic ones back into use.  The Blueprint draws from the Strategic 
Development Framework approved by Cabinet on the 22nd January 2019; which in turn 
draws upon the earlier Strategic Development Framework produced in 2010. This was 
a result of extensive public engagement and highlighted the importance local people 
place on having an attractive and vibrant town centre. The Fieldhouse project was 
subject to public consultation as part of the planning application process.  
 
Working with Partners 

 
3.2    As part of the developing the proposals for the project officers have worked closely with 

the developer (Mood) and Historic England to agree a scheme that would both be 
attractive to potential purchasers and respects the historic fabric of the building.  
 
Place Based Working 
 

3.3 The Dewsbury Blueprint is based on the idea of working with local people and 
businesses to improve the town centre and this has been taken forward in the 
Dewsbury Town Investment Plan. The Strategic Development Framework approved by 
Cabinet on the 22nd January 2019 draws upon the earlier Strategic Development 
Framework produced in 2010. This was also a result of extensive public engagement 
and highlighted the importance local people place on having an attractive and vibrant 
town centre. The consultation carried out by the consultants ‘Social’ for the Dewsbury 
Town Deal in late 2020 provides further support to these conclusions.  
 
 
 
 

Page 223



Climate Change and Air Quality 
 

3.4 The repair and conversion of Fieldhouse for residential use will contribute to town 
centre regeneration and conservation of the town’s heritage. The building is very well 
located for public transport and this will encourage greater use of sustainable modes of 
travel of the residents, potentially reducing the number of journeys and production of 
carbon. The M&E specifications for Station Apartments will meet the Building 
Regulation requirements for energy efficiency, in so far as is possible for a listed 
Victorian building and limitations of value for money. 
 
Improving outcomes for children 

 
3.5 The scheme has both two and three bed apartments which would be suitable for some  

families.   
 
Financial Implications for the people living or working in Kirklees.  
 

3.6 The scheme will make good quality residential accommodation available within central 
Dewsbury and in so far as local residents purchase and/or rent the apartments, then it 
will have financial implications for those individuals. 

 
Public Sector Equalities Duty  

 
3.7 A condition of Town Deal funding the Government requires that an equalities 

assessment is undertaken for each project supported by the fund. Under section 149 of 
the Equality Act 2010, the Council (as a public authority) has a duty to have ‘due 
regard’ to the need to: - eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 
other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act, - advance equality of opportunity 
between persons with a protected characteristic and those without - foster good 
relations between persons with protected characteristics and those without. The 
‘protected characteristics’ are age, race, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 
and maternity, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

3.8 An impact assessment has been completed for the Daisy Hill/Fieldhouse project, this 
can be found at Appendix 5. Overall the project, has on balance, a positive impact.   

 
Legal  
 

3.9 External legal advice has been sought from DWF LLP regarding arrangements for 
public subsidy funding to Mood Developments Limited for this project in accordance 
with the provisions of the  EU-UK Trade and Co-operation Agreement (TCA) and 
complies with the six common principles set out in chapter 3 to the TCA.  
 

3.10 Upon Cabinet approval of public subsidy funding for this project, it is intended that 
formal agreements between the Council and Mood Developments Limited and/or its 
subsidiary, will be completed to include provisions for the issue and conditional 
recovery of the public subsidy funding and overage arrangements should the project 
achieve values greater than those anticipated.  

 
3.11 The legal basis for the grant is section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 which gives the 

Council a general power of competence to do anything that individuals generally may 
do, subject to specified restrictions and limitations imposed by other statutes. Council 

Page 224



officers have complied with Financial Procedure Rules (May 2022) No. 22 relating to 
grants. 

 
Finance 

 
3.12 The latest estimated capital costs based on costs supplied by the developer are 

summarised in the confidential appendix 6, along with the calculation of the viability gap 
and other commentary on the finances of the development. The scheme requires a 
significant grant in order to be commercially viable. The grant to be approved will be the 
minimum necessary for the scheme to go ahead. Based on information and 
assessments currently available the viability gap is £2.83m and on this basis the total 
level of grant awarded will therefore be £2.83m.  

 
Risks 

 
3.13 This project has a number of risks that Cabinet need to be aware of when considering 

the recommendation to approve the grant.   
 

Table 2: Risks 

    

Key Risks  Impact RAG Mitigation 

    

Not starting on site before 
Planning permission expires 

Delay to 
programme, 
with  
additional 
costs and 
possible 
larger 
deficit.  

Amber  Tendering at risk prior to a 
decision on funding/grant. 
Early report to Cabinet for 
decision on grant. Preparation 
of grant agreement at risk 
prior to a decision/ 
confirmation of funding.   

Not achieving the values 
(GDV) anticipated. 

Developer 
makes no 
profit/loss – 
SPV into 
receivership. 

Amber Ensure suitable legal charges 
in place to ensure that 
ownership can be obtained by 
funders so that the building is 
effectively managed.  

Costs increase prior to 
signing grant agreement.  

Viability gap 
increases, 
more grant 
required.  

Red Obtain flexibility to the 
approval. Option to not to 
proceed with grant; or the 
project for the foreseeable 
future.  

Cost increase once 
contractors are on site- due 
to inflation, or unanticipated 
issues in refurbishment 

Viability gap 
widens. 
Developer 
makes no 
profit/loss – 
SPV into 
receivership 

Amber Developers have detailed 
specification, fixed price 
contract, contingency in place.  

    

 
3.14 Projects of this nature and at this time will have a certain degree of risk. However it is 

considered that the risks can be managed, to a degree and on balance the potential 
benefits justify the support being provided.  

  

Page 225



4.    Consultees and their opinions 
 
4.1 Historic England are supportive of the proposal as it achieves the HAZ objectives. The 

Town Deal Board support the scheme and Government have approved the overall 
Daisy Hill Neighbourhood project, of which Fieldhouse is a part. The project has a valid 
planning permission which was subject to public consultation. Cabinet, on two 
occasions, in 2021 have considered the Town Investment Plan, which Daisy Hill 
Neighbourhood and Fieldhouse form a part and have approved the programme and 
schemes within it. Following the Cabinet approval on 12th October 2021 the project has 
been through the agreed assurance process and been approved by the relevant 
officers and portfolio holders.  
 

5. Next steps and timelines 
 
5.1 Following a decision by Cabinet, officers will undertake all the necessary legal and 

other work required to agree the Grant Agreement and finalise the final grant figure.  
 

Table 3: Indicative Programme 

  

Action  Timescale/Date 

  

Tender Out July 2022 

Tender Return  w/c 12 September 2022 

Cabinet Decision 11 October 2022 

Grant Agreement - signing October 2022 

Appointment of Contractor  November 2022 

Construction starts on site November 2022 

Completion  Early 2024 

  

 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
 It is recommended that Cabinet :-  

 
(i) Approves providing a grant to Mood Development Limited (an/or its subsidiary 

company) of £2.83m towards the Fieldhouse project, as described in this report 
and in the private Appendix 6 and for officers to publish details of the subsidy 
on the national transparency database. 
 
Reason: To enable the delivery of the project.  
 

(ii) Delegates authority to the Strategic Director (Growth and Regeneration) in 
conjunction with the Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning, 
to agree and complete the grant agreement and other documentation 
necessary to enable the project to proceed 
 
Reason: Effective project delivery 
 

(iii) In the case that the viability gap should change, give delegated authority to the 
Strategic Director (Growth and Regeneration) in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder responsible for Dewsbury Town Centre, the ability to vary the amount of 
grant in line with the conditions set out at paragraph 1.6 of the private appendix 

Page 226



6 attached to this report and to be subject to the funds being found from within 
existing Dewsbury Town Centre Action Plan programme resources.  
 
Reason: Effective project delivery 
 

7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 
7.1 The Portfolio Holders for both Regeneration and Town Centres support the proposals 

in the report.  
 

8. Contact officer  
 

Peter Thompson: ER Project Manager  
peterr.thompson@kirklees.gov.uk 
01484 221000 
 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 

Planning Approval & details 2019/62/92962/E - Planning application details | Kirklees 
Council 
 
Report to Cabinet 21st August 2018: Dewsbury Heritage Action Zone.  
 
Report to Cabinet 22nd January 2019: Dewsbury Town Centre Strategic Development 
Framework. 
 
Report to Cabinet 19th January 2021: Dewsbury Town Deal – Town Investment Plan. 
 
Report to Cabinet 12th October 2021:  Dewsbury Town Deal Next Steps 
 

10. Strategic Director responsible   
 
 David Shepherd 
 Strategic Director Growth and Regeneration 
 david.shepherd@kirklees.gov.uk 

01484 221000 
 

11   List of Appendices  
 
1. Location Plan 
2. Artist Impression of the Project 
3. Planning Application 
4. Business Plan 
5. Public Sector Equalities Statement 
6. Private Appendix 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 227

mailto:peterr.thompson@kirklees.gov.uk
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2019/92962
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2019/92962
mailto:david.shepherd@kirklees.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 228



 

APPENDIX 1: LOCATION PLAN 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 229



APPENDIX TWO: ARTIST IMPRESSION OF THE PROJECT 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



APPENDIX 3: FIELD HOUSE BUSINESS PLAN 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 231



 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 232



 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 233



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 234



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 235



 
  

Page 236



APPENDIX 4: PLANNING PERMISSION - Application No: 2019/62/92962 
 
First Page of decision Notice 

 
 
Link to application details inc full decision notice:- 
 
Planning application details | Kirklees Council 

 
 

  

Page 237

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2019/92962


APPENDIX 5: PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITIES STATEMENT  
 
 

Name of project:  Daisy Hill 

Project objectives:  
(describe the project’s aim as it 
relates to protected 
characteristics)  

The Daisy Hill neighbourhood will undertake the critical first 
steps on the road to creating a new neighbourhood of circa 
200 homes at the heart of Dewsbury.  It comprises of two 
parts the first being the conversion of a Grade 2 listed building 
Field House into 23 apartments. The second part is the 
acquisition of land and buildings to create a single 
development opportunity of a scale necessary to deliver the 
desired outcome. 

The Daisy Hill neighbourhood relates to some of the protected 
characteristics set out in the Equality Act 2010, these include: 

 Disability 

 Age 
In terms of Disability the Daisy Hill project will set a new 
standard of quality residential accommodation in Dewsbury 
Town Centre. Consideration will be needed to ensure the 
environment is inclusive so that it can be used by everyone 
regardless of disability.  

Regarding the Age characteristic the aim of the scheme is to 
provide quality residential accommodation that will attract 
occupiers with higher disposable incomes that will support the 
wider aims of regeneration in Dewsbury town centre. 
Therefore, the type of residents the scheme wishes to attract 
is within the younger/professional population that are more 
likely to have a higher disposable income. 

 

  

 

Age 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Age Population 
The Kirklees Observatory 2020 data notes the 
population for all Dewsbury Wards as 61,894. The 
population of Dewsbury East where the Arcade is 
situated is 20,130, Dewsbury West 22,505 and 
Dewsbury South 19,259.  
 
The population figures for Dewsbury East based on 
the age group 0-15yrs stands at 20.8%, Dewsbury 
West 28.5% and Dewsbury South 23.1%. All the 
figures for all three wards are above the national 
average for England which is set at 19.2% and for 
Kirklees which is set at 20.3%.  
 

Page 238



Consideration Response 

The population figures for Dewsbury East based on 
age group 16-64 stands at 63%, Dewsbury West 
62.5% and Dewsbury South 62.3%. All the figures 
for all three wards are either above or inline with 
the national average for England which is set at 
62.3%. 
 
The population figures for Dewsbury East based on 
age above 65+ stands at 16.2% (3,262), Dewsbury 
West 9.1% and Dewsbury South 14.6%. All the 
figures for all three wards are below the national 
average for England which is set at 18.5% and for 
Kirklees which is set at 17.9%.  
 
The data is telling us that Dewsbury’s population 
within the 0-15 and 16-64 age group is higher than 
the national average. This means that there could 
be a higher demand from this age group for 
accommodation in the town centre.  
  

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

As noted above in the aim section the Daisy Hill 
project will have a positive effect on this 
characteristic as it will provide good quality 
residential accommodation for young professionals 
that choose to live in the town centre. At present 
Dewsbury has a limited number of high-quality 
accommodations. The majority of the 
accommodation is rented and at lower rentals 
levels which is reflected in the quality and standard 
of the accommodation on offer.  

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

Positive 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 
 
 

Page 239



 
 

Disability 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Disability 
The percentage of people who have a long-term 
illness or disability (that limits a person’s day to day 
activities and has lasted or is expected to last at 
least 12 months and includes problems related to 
old age) in Dewsbury East is in circa of 3,643 
(19.3%) compared with England that has 17.6%.  
As for Dewsbury West the figure recorded is 3,591 
(17.9%) and Dewsbury South 3,491 (18.6%)  
 
The data indicates that there is a higher percentage 
of the Dewsbury East population that may have a 
long-term illness or disability.  
 
 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

As noted above there is a higher percentage of 
people with a Disability in the Dewsbury East ward 
where the Daisy Hill neighborhood will be created. 
The scheme could have a positive effect on the 
protected characteristic. There will be key pieces of 
legislation that will need to be followed when 
developing the neighborhood which comes from 
the Planning Building Regulations. Space 
standards and access arrangements would be 
considered under this regulation. This is important 
to ensure that a percentage of the new homes 
developed are made accessible and adaptable for 
people with restricted mobility and occupants with 
different needs.  

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

Positive 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

Page 240



Consideration Response 

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 

Gender reassignment 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Not applicable to this project as there are no effects 
on the protected characteristic 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 

Marriage and civil partnership (note, this is a protected characteristic only in 
regard to eliminating discrimination) 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Not applicable to this project as there are no effects 
on the protected characteristic 

Page 241



Consideration Response 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Not applicable to this project as there are no effects 
on the protected characteristic 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

Page 242



Consideration Response 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 

Race 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Not applicable to this project as there are no effects 
on the protected characteristic 
 
 
 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

N/A 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 

Region or belief 
 

Page 243



Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Not applicable to this project as there are no effects 
on the protected characteristic 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

Sex 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Not applicable to this project as there are no effects 
on the protected characteristic 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  
Y / N 

Page 244



Consideration Response 

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 
 
 

Sexual orientation 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

Not applicable to this project as there are no effects 
on the protected characteristic 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

Page 245



Consideration Response 

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 

Family Test (if used) 
 

Consideration Response 

Baseline situation  
(describe only where different to the national 
average, or where otherwise relevant) 

 

Assessment text  
(summary of how the proposed project affects 
the protected characteristic) 

 

Is the effect positive/negative/mixed? 
(add an explanation) 

+VE / M / -VE 

 

If the effect is negative or mixed:  

Is the effect significant? 
(add an explanation) 

Y / N 

 

What embedded mitigation does the project 
contain? 

 

What residual significant effects remain?  

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

In-combination effects 
 

Consideration Response 

Is there an in-combination effect across 
multiple protected characteristics? 
(e.g. the proposed project has minor effects 
across several protected characteristics which, 
when considered together, have a more 
significant impact) 

None 

Page 246



Consideration Response 

What action is required? Who will be 
accountable for it? 
(this could include further mitigation measures 
or re-prioritisation of projects) 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 247



 
 
 
 

Page 248



Document is Restricted

Page 249

Agenda Item 16:
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 253

Agenda Item 17:
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 263

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 269

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 323

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 341

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2: Declarations of Interest
	3: Minutes of Previous Meetings
	6. 21.09.22 Minutes

	8: Kirklees Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise) Investment Strategy and 'We are Working Alongside' Shared Values
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	9: Food Safety Service Plan 2022
	Food Safety Service Plan 2022

	10: Proposals for Additional Household Support in 2022/23
	11: 2022/23 - 2023/24 Corporate Landlord Asset Investment Capital Plans - Proposed Allocation of Capital Funding
	Corporate Landlord Capital Programmes  2022-23 - 2023-24 - Themed Appendix A to the report

	12: UK Shared Prosperity Fund
	13: The refurbishment and redevelopment of the George in Huddersfield Town Centre to transform this building into a new hotel as part of the Huddersfield Blueprint
	Appendix A George_HotelBrochure_Colliers
	Appendix D RIBA Stage 2 Report
	Appendix H Programme with RIBA and Approvals REV 2

	14: Fieldhouse, 15, Wellington Road Dewsbury - Grant offer to Mood Developments Limited/Station Apartments Limited
	16: Fieldhouse, 15, Wellington Road Dewsbury - Grant offer to Mood Developments Limited/Station Apartments Limited
	17: The refurbishment and redevelopment of the George in Huddersfield Town Centre to transform this building into a new hotel as part of the Huddersfield Blueprint
	Appendix C Draft Heads of Terms
	Appendix E Stage 2 Cost Plan 190822
	Appendix F - Queensberry Report on Viability Sept 22 Issue v2.3
	Appendix G George Hotel Risk Register


